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Sixt3r -First I~egisla tt1re. 

STATE OF M·AINE, 

IN HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,(_ 
February 6, 1883, 5 

ORDERED, That 7 50 copies of the testimony taken by the 
Investigating Commission on the Reform School be printed 
and stitched as a House Document, and that the State Printers 
be ordered to have the same ready for distribution on or 
before February 21, 1883. 

Passed. ORAMANDAL SMITH, Clerk. 

A true copy. Attest : 

ORAMANDAL SMITH, Clerk .. 
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Commission to Investigate Treatment of Boys in the Reform 

School, under the dil'ection of the Governor and Committee 

of the Executive Council, met at the Reform School, Thurs­

day, October 19th, at 3 o'clock P. M. 
Present, Frederick Fox, vVilliam E. Gould and Thomas 

H. Haskell, Commissioners; also Roscoe L. Bowers of tho 

Governor's Council. 

Ordered, That Reuel Small of Portland, he appointc,cl 

Clerk and Stenographer of said Commi~sion. 

Ordered, That the examination of witnesses he under oath. 

Mr. Fox stated that he had received a eommunieution from 

the Governor, as follows : 

PORTLAND, ME., Oct. 4, 1882. 
GENTLEMEN: In the matter of the investigation of the 

Reform School by you under the '' direction of the Governor 

and Committee of the Council on the Reform Sehool," it is 

agreed on the part of the Governor and said Committee, that 

the scope and manner of conducting the investigation be left 

to your discretion, with this under:::;tanding- that you notify 

the Chairman of the Committee of the Council on the Reform 

School, Hon. Roscoe L. Bowers, Saco, of the time and place 

of holding the investigation; and further, that in case you 
deem it expedient to summon witnesses from a distance, you 
are to notify the Governor of that fact, and the Governor 

and said Committee of the Council will determine the ques­

tion whether or not it be expedient to summon the s:iid 

witnesses. 

I have the honor to he, very repectfnlly, 

Your obrdient sei·vant, 

[Signed] H. M. PLAISTED. 

Frederick Fox, ~Tillinm E. Gould, Thomas H. Haskell, 

Commission to Investigate Reform School. 

Mr. Fox stated that in compliance with the above com­

munication from the Governor, he duly notified the Governor 

and the Committee on the Reform School by mail, on Mon­

day, October 16. 1882, of this meeting. 
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Report of Evidence taken by the Commission to Investigate 
the treatment of Boys in the Reform School, under ·the 
directi"on of the Governo1· and Oommittee of the Executive 
Oouncil. 

FREDERICK Fox, ~ . 
WILLIAM E. GouLD, Commissioners. 
THOMAS H. HASKELL, 

REDEL SMALL, Clerk and Stenographer. 

REFORM SCHOOL, Oct. 19, 1882, 3 o'clock, P. M. 

Present-Frederick Fox, William E. Gould and Thomas 
H. Haskell, Commissioners; also Hon. Roscoe L. Bowers of 
the Executive Council, and Owen B. Chadbourn, President of 
the Board of Trustees. 

Joseph R. Farrington, sworn by the chairman, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been connected with the school as 

superintendent. 
A. I began here the 14th of April, 1880. 
Q. I suppose there are certain hooks connected with the 

reform scLool. '1'.,.ill you be kind enough to produce them. 
I mean the more recent books. 

A. I have the books here. They are '' Book of Visits of 

the Trustees." It is the first book of the kind that has been 
kept as far as I know. It commences Jan. 31st, 1882. The 
next book is the "History of the Boys" (two volumes-) and 
the index. It begins March, 1865, and covers all of the 
present inmates. Here is the '' Grade Book of the Boys," 
the" Daily Register of the School," from January, 1871, to 
date; the" Record of Punishments," from August, 1871, to 

August, 1882. 
Q. Does the Boy's History contain the discharge of a boy 

if he has been discharged. 
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A. It does. It contains the entire; history of the boy while 
he was connected with the school and when he left. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Have you the Trustees' Records. 
A. I have not and never had them. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How many employees are there here who have charge of 

the boys. 
A. If you include the carpenter, who occasionally has a 

boy under his direction, sometimes two, but usua11y works 
alone, there are eighteen. 

Q. Are the same employees here now that were here when 
you came here. 

A.· They are not the same. Mrs. Farrington, Mr. E. P. 
Wentworth, l\fr. E. L. Babbidge are the only ones that have 
been here a11 the time I have been here. 

Q. "\Vhat employees have gone away from here since you 
have been here, say within a year. 

A. I have here the report of the school for 1881; starting 
from that point there are Mr. and Mrs. Nathaniel Davis, who 
are just moving to Auburn. I think they are now down in 
the farm house connected with the institution, packing their 
furniture. 

Q. He was the shoemaker. 
A. Yes, he used to be and he has been employed as gar­

dener and man of all work. Then there are Mrs. Nora. 
Frankie, D. "\V. Freeze, W. E. Ferguson, D. ,vyman and 
J. B. Bartlett; also Miss M. A. Robinson. These persons 
were here the 30th of last November. 

Q. What officers employed since Nov. 30 and are not here 
now, if any. 

A. Miss Susan C. Kelley of Orono I think is the only one. 
Q. How many boys are there now here: 
A. One hundred and nine. 
Q. How many have been discharged within the last six 

months. 
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A. I can only tell by reference to the hooks. Excepting 
boys who were delivered to the courts, there has not been a 
boy sent out within six months who were not allowed t9 go 
out on leave because of good character and because their 
position and rank in school was such as to entitle them to go. 

Q. Do you mean that they had the right to leave; that 
their time was up. 

A. All boys are sentenced during minority, but the trus­
tees are authorized by statute to discharge boys or let them 
out on leave when they consider them reformed. 

Q. Under what law is that permission given. 
A. Chapter 56 of the laws of 1881. 
Q. Do I understand you to say that all those who have 

left the institution within the last six months have been for 
good behavior or else have been sent to the court. 

A. Yes, and I am very sure that within the last six months 
no one has been sent to. the court. Taking this book and 
running backward in dates, the following have been discharged 
or let out on leave : 

Oct. 6, Edward E. Parker, out on leave with his parents 
in Portland. 

Oct. 5, William C. Winter. out on leave with his mother 
in Portland. 

Sept. 18, Charles Barnes, discharged as illegally com­
mitted. 

Sept. 1, Harry Milliken, out on leave for good behavior 
by direction of the trustees. 

Aug. 15, J. C. Burnette, out on leave with John Hutchin­
son of Buxton, a farmer. 

Aug. 5, Simeon Taylor of Gardiner, discharged for good 
behavior. 

July 14, William Thompson, discharged at the expiration 
of sentence. 

June 28th, Fred Moffitt, out on leave for good behavior; 

went with bis friends in Calais. 
June 14th, Frank E. Emerson, out on leave with John Q. 

Dennett, of Biddeford. 
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June 10th, Griffin Georgins, of Portland, out on leave 
·with his mother. The real reason was ill health. He has 

since died at his home. 
June 8th, vVilliam Copp, out on leave with James Kelsey, 

of Pownal. He has since gone with his father to Augusta 
at his father's earnest request and by consent of the trnstees. 

May 20th, Alfred Ross, out on leave with his parents at 
Boston, Mass. 

May 9th, John L. Holt, out on leave with friends in Au­
gusta. He has a sister there. I don't know what other 

friends . 

.May 4th, Frank B. Vining, out on leave with William 
True, of Yarmouth. 

April 16th, Im Hatch, discharged by expiration of sen­
tence. 

April 27th, Harry Austin, out on leave with Mr. Reddy, 

of Portland. 
April 26th, William Lancaster, out on leave with 'William 

IlO\ve, of Strong. 
April 22, George Prinn, out on leave with his parents in 

Portland. 
April 18th, Clearmont Dyer, out on leave with Mr. Lufkin, 

of North Yarmouth. He has since returned voluntarily, and 
is now he1•e because he liked the school better than where he 
was. 

March 30th, Eli vVhitten died at the school of congestion 
of the brain. He was 17 years old ; was committed to the 
school Aug. 13th, 1877, for lnrceny of $1.50. He was from 
Parsonsfield. 

March 27th, vVilliam Iceton out on leave with his parents 
in Portland. 

March 17th, Everett Cunningham out on leave with Mr. 
Brackett, of Saco. 

March 15th, John Winn died at the school, aged 12. He 
was committed to the school June 4th, 1880, for larceny of 
property valued at one dollar. He was from Portland. 



( 7 ) 

March 15th, Michael Pendergrass out on leave with his 
mother in Portland. 

March 13th, Joseph Ladd out on leave with Mr. Haley, of 
Kennebunk. 

January 14th, John Haskell discharged for good behavior. 
He went with his grandmother who, as far as I know, is the 
only living rehtive he had, in Portland. 

January 7th, Walter McDonald out on leave with his 
mother in Bangor. He has not been brought back as he was 
improperly committed. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Upon what principle are the boys allowed to go out on 

leave. 
A. The boys are supposed to be reformed and they are 

allowed to go out on leave as a trial of their characters, and 
they are placed with their friends or with some person who 
agrees to look after them, that they may have a good home 
and begin to act for themseves in life. 

Q. Is the leave given by the board of trustees. 
A. It is. 
Q. Is that a matter of record on the trustees' book. 
A. Yes; but a boy in order to obtain this leave must be 

"in honor," that is, in the first grade. 
Q. Is that absolutely adhered to. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Is there any system of report:; in use whereby the 

superintendent and trustees are kept informed of the boy and 
his conduct until he is finally discharged. 

A. There is. The person with whom the boy goes is re­
quired to report. 

Q. Is that done. 
A. It is. Whenever a report is made to me I put it on 

record. Some of the boys report to the trustees. Most of 
the boys in Portland report to Mr. Donahue. 
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Q. Are boys ever discharged by a vote of the trustees 
at the solicitation of their friends. 

A. There are very few boys here who have friends whose 
friends do not solicit their discharge. I am not aware how 
much the trustees are influenced by such solicitations. Cer­
tainly they are never influenced to go beyond their rules. 

Q. Do you have mstances where the conduct of the boy is 
such that by a vote of the trustees he is got rid of, turned 
over to the State prison, and do you keep a record of that. 

A. If there have been any such cases there is a record 
made of it. 

Q. Have there been any such cases since you have been 
here. 

A. One boy was sent home to Waterville as demented. 
Charles Bran alias Eben Trask, committed April 4th, 1877, 
was on May 28th, 1881, discharged as an improper subject for 
the school. 

Q. Is that the only instance while you have been here that 
a boy has been discharged on account of idiocy or something 

of that kind. Have any boys been turned over to the State 
prison or sent to another place because you could not control 
them. 

A. If you mean remanded to their alternate sentence, I do 
not r~co11ect such a case. 

Q. Have you by your rules and regulations always been 
able to control the boys. 

A. There have been no boys remanded to their alternate 

sentence. There have been several instances in which boys 
committed crimes at the school for which they were turned 
over to the court. 

Q. I mean have your rules and regulations in aH instances 
been sufficient for the government of the boys, so that you 
did not have to appeal to any other tribunal. 

A. That is so. 
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By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Has any boy been allowed to go on leave, except he 

was a fit subject for discharge. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What system is there of reporting whereby you know 

whether a boy is conducting himself as well outside of the 
school as in the school. 

A. We get reports from all the guardians with whom the 
boys are placed, but not so regular or full as we could wish. 

Q. Do you require such reports. 
A. We do. 
Q. Have there been cases where the boys have not con­

ducted themselves as well as if here. 
A. That is a hard question to answer. There have been 

cases where the boys have committed crimes, and ran away, 
and have behaved so they have been returned to school. 

Q. Suppose a boy runs away from his guardian, what do 
you do. 

A. If he returns to the school and reports himself, and. the 
guardian with whom he has been has no fault to find with 
him, he is allowed to assume in the school the same grade 
that he held when he left it. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you correspond with the gentlemen with whom the 

boys are placed. 
A. I do where the boys are committed to me. The trus­

tees vote upon the boys who are to be discharged, or let out 
on leave, and one trustee takes charge of such boys as he 
can look after conveniently, and another such boy-. as he can 
look after, and some boys are committed to me; and I cor­
respond with the parties holding the boys committed to my 
care. 

Q. Are there boys out on leave that you know nothing 
whatever about. 

A. There are. 
Q. How many. 
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A. I cannot tell exactly, but I guess a half a dozen. They 

are hoys who have run away from parties to whom they were 
indentured, and lost sight of. 

By Mr. Gonld: 

Q. A re they indenture<l. Are they inmates of this school, 

or are they discharged. 

A. They are inma.tes of the school. 

Q. If the boy runs away, isn't it your husiness to get him 
back. 

A. If I can. 

Q. Suppose the trustee at Cherryfield ngrees to look after 

a boy, what evidence is there that the boy is conducting him­

self well and being reported to tho school. 

A. At the meeting of the bourd these cases are all called 

np and the several trustees report the cases committed to 

them, and I presume the secretary of the board makes a 
record of it. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. If they run away from those persons to whom they 

hnve been consigned and are lost sight of, uo one hunts them 
up. 

A. Not nlways. Some of them that have run away we 

have recovered. 
Q. Do you or the State go after them. 

A. Yes, when we know where they are. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Is there any rule enforced by the trustees whereby 

the boy is discharged after he has been away from the school 

a certain number of months. 

A. I am not aware of any. But after the boys have been 

away long enough and have done well, so that the trustees 

are satisfied that they ure reformed, they do discharge them. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. "When a boy comes here, do you uniform him. 

A. We clothe him., 
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Q. Is there :my mark by which he can be distinguished 
from other boys. · 

A. The boys are clothed ns nearly alike as possible. 
Q. Are they clothed like other boys on the road between 

here and Portland, or is there a uniform of any kind. 
A. We put on the boy~, in the summer, a suit of clothes 

which are made here, consisting of a sack coat, a pair of 
pants, a striped cotton shirt and a hat. They are uniform in 
color, a grayish brown, still they are not clothes that would 
distinguish n boy if be should go to Bango;·, or off at a dis­
tance from school where reform school boys are not known. 

Q. You put clothing upon the new boy that is sent here­
what is the next step with him. 

A. Our school is graded into three classes-first, second 
and third. The first class is composed of boys who are 
trustworthy and who, by their good conduct, have elevated 
themselves to that position. The second class is composed 
of boys ,vhose character or conduct is medium, neither very 
good nor very bad. The third class is of boys who are 
habitually bad, or of boys who for some serious offence have 
been placed there. Frequently, hoys who have been placed 
in the third class for some serious offence, begin to work out 
of it and do not stop there long. 

Q. How do you know where to put the new boy that 
comes here. 

A. Each class is divided into three grades, A, B and C­
A being the highest, B the middle and C the lowest grade in 
the class. The grnde B, of the second class, is the middle 
position in the school, and every new boy is put into that 
grade. He ranks immediately upon coming here, ~1 Second 
Class, B." He has explained to him the matter of grades, 
and is told as plainly and kindly as we can tell him, how he 
can benefit himself and what privileges the higher grades 
enjoy and the degradation visited upon those who persist in 
being bad, and we encourage him to do well. Then, with 
what watchfulness we can give him as he goes along, he is 
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left as one of the boys of the E,chool. That is his introduc­
tion to the school. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Has intelligence or mental capacity anything to do with 

the grade. 
A. Nothing. Deportment is the only thing taken into 

account in grading the boys. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. You have got the hoy in B of the second class-what 

about the hours you give him for exercise, schoofo1g or em­
ployment, and what do you do about giving him a trade. 

A. The boy is introduced into the chair shop and placed 
under the care of an o·fficer; and in that portion of the shop 

where beginners are located, is a boy thoroughly acquainted 
with chairmaking, who is monitor over the beginners, teach­
ing them, under the direction of the overseer of the shop, 
how to make chairs. The hoy is kept there until he learns 
how to make a chair by himself, and then he is placed in the 
shop with the other boys. 

Q. How long, usually, does it take a boy t~ learn. 
A. That depends wholly on the capacity of the hoy. A 

boy of average capacity will learn how to make a chair in 
from two to six ·weeks. We have had boys here a year that 
couldn't make a good one. 

Q. During those two or six weeks, what part of the time 
is he kept at work. 

A. The same hours that the other boys are kept at work. 
Q. What time does he get up and what time does he go 

into the shop. 
A. The time for rising changes with the season. The hell 

is.rung now for the boys to rise at ten minutes of six. They 
are allowed time to dress and make their beds and then they 
go down to the bath room, where they ·wash; they then pass 
to the yards ·where they use the closets and exercise for a 
few minutes, and then pass into the school room and prepare 
~hemselves for breakfast. They then pass down to breakfast 
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in forty minutes after they are awakened in the morning, 
which at present would be half-past six o'clock. They are 
allowed twenty-five minutes at the table. They' then pass 
into the yard, remain about ten minutes, and then pass into 
the shop or other parts of the building where they are em­
ployed. Those who are employed in the shops and inside 
the building work until nine o'clock, when they have a recess 
of twenty minutes in the yards ; then they pass into the shop 
or other place8 of employment and remain until twenty min­
utes of twelve, when they again pass into the yards and have 
a recess until twelve o'clock; then they pass into the din.ing 
room and remain until ten minutes of one when they pass into 
the shop and remain until ten minutes past two, when they 
have a recess of twenty minutes in the yard. Then they go 
into the school room and are called to order at half-past two. 
They remain in the school roc~m until ten minutes past five, 
when they pass to the yards for another recess, and at half­
past five go to supper. They have twenty-five minutes at 
the supper table and from there to the yards and into the 
school room at six. They remain in the school room until 
half past seven then they have a recess, and at a quarter of 
eight they are called to the school room again and we have 

the evening exercises, which consist of singing some song, 
usually a religious song, by the boys, led by one of the 
teachers ; then they repeat a passage from the Scriptures, 
the Superintendent leads in prayer and at the close the boys 
all join in the Lord's prayer, and at eight o'clock they pass 
up to the dormitory for the night. In the dormitory they 
are under the care of the watchman through the night, and 
in the morning the routine is commenced again. 

Q. Describe the dormitory. 
A. It is a large hall, perhaps -- in length, some forty 

feet in width and twenty-five feet, at least, in height to the 
ceiling. In the ceiling are three large ventilators, some three 
feet square, opening directly up through the peak of the roof. 
There are large windows on two sides and one end, through 
which the sunlight and air are freely admitted. On the end 
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adjoining the main building there are sma1ler windows, some 
of which open into the hospital and others into a large room 
which we call the '' bucket room." 

The boys in the dormitory sleep in single bedsteads of 
iron. Each boy has a straw sack, or a sack of straw, rather, 
two sheets, a pillow stuffed with curled hair, and such other 
additional clothing as the season of the year requires. There 
are two large steam coils in the dormitory by which the tem­
perature is ·regulated in the winter. vVe do not allow the 
temperature to go below 55° or 58°. Of course there are 
times when it drops below, but it is never allowed to stay 
there. 

Q. How many beds are there in the dormitory. 
A. One hundred and nine now; a bed for every boy. 

The distinction of classes is kept up in the dormitory. The 
boys in the first class sleep by themselves in the more desira­
ble portions of the room, the second class a little nearer the 
officer and the third class close to the officer. Until recently 
the third class has slept upon what we call the corridor, which 
is a sort of stage erected in the centre of the room, some ten 
feet above the floor occupied by the other classes. They 
could not be so well cared for there, and it was the cause of 
a good deal of thought and anxiety how we could make the 
change which should benefit the boys, and at last this method 
was adopted of putting them all on one floor, which requires 
the beds to be placed a little nearer together but not so as to 
crowd them. · 

Q. What provision is there for watching the boys in the 
night. 

A. A man is employed whose sole business is to watch 
them. He sits in the dormitory and is required to pass 
around among the boys frequently. If any hoy is sick, ailing 
or in trou hle, he has to look after him. There are bells that 
he can ring-one leading to my room-and he has orders to 
ring it at any hour or any moment that he wants to consult 
me in regard to any boy who may be sick, or in case of 
insubordination. In addition to this care which the watch-
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man has over the boys, my sleeping room adjoins the dormi­
tory and there are small lights of glass through which I can 
look, and it is very seldom a night passes that I do not look 
through those lights once, twice or three times. 

Q. Is this watchman armed in any way? 
A. Not that I am aware of. 
Q. Carries no kind of a weapon. 
A. I do not know that he does. I never asked him. 
Q. Is there any other employment for the ·boys besides 

making chairs. 
A. There is a large amount of work to be done on the farm 

in the summer. There is no other trade unless farming can 
be -called a trade. Cooking is also done by the boys and 
clothing made by them. One boy, who had been several 
years in the sewing room) went into a tailor's shop in Port­
land and fo a year he took the place of a man in the shop 
who was receiving $14 a week . 

.[ At this point the Commissioners were conducted over the 
building by Superintendent Farrington and Assistant Super­
intendent Wentworth, and were shown the different rooms 
and departments of the institution. They witnessed the boys 
in the school room and saw them at the supper table, after 
which they returned to the Trustees' room and the examina­
tion of Superintendent Farrington was continued. J 
By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. How many boys do you say there are now in the insti-
tution. 

A. One hundred and nine. 
Q. ·what is the- average age as near as yon can judge. 
A. Fourteen or fifteen. 
Q. In the school room we saw about eighty boys; those 

boys were under what age. 
A. I can't tell you; they rnnge from nine to eighteen, arn1 

one was upwards of twenty. The great majority of them 
was under fifteen. 

Q. Where were the other boys at this time. 
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A. They were at the barn, the most of them and about the 
farm. You saw them when they came in with the farmer. 

Q. Are these boys that you allow to go to work under the 
charge of the farmer about the farm taken. promiscuously 
from the boyR, or only such as you can rely upon. 

A. They are taken from the first class, and are the better 
boys, the more trusty and capable boys of the class. 

Q. Can you tell what proportion of the one hundred and 
nine boys confined here are of American parentage. 

A. I could only tell by going over the books. 
Q. Give us your judgment as to the proportion. 
A. A good deal more than half are of foreign parentage 

and principally Irish. There are some English and one 
Scotch hoy and some Canadian French. 

Q. I noticed in passing through the building places for 
confinement; how many of those are there in the institution. 

A. In the room yon saw there are four cells; then the 
room opening from the dormitory is sometimes used; five in 
all. 

Q. Describe them as nearly as you can. 
A. Four of them are cells enclosed with boards, that is 

the walls are boards ; th Py are about eight feet long, four 
feet wide and seven feet high. They are closed with doors 
made of iron rods securely locked. 

Q. What conveniences are contained in these cells. 
A. When boys are placed in there they are furnii,hed with 

a vessel, a dish of water and bedding. One cell has a bench 
in it, but ~n the others there is no furniture beyond that I 
have mentioned. 

Q. For what are those cells used and in what cases. 
A. ·when boys escape from the institution and are recov­

ered they are_ placed in the cell from two to seven days. 
When a boy is obstinate and incorrigible for a time he is 
sometimes confined there from half a day 11rfour or five days~ 
according to the offence. _ Then boys ,vho for months have 
refused to do their stints in the shop, and upon whom I have 
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exhausted my ingenuity to stop their persistent dalliance, I 
have placed there and given them a stint that they can ac­
complish in two thirds the time assigned them. They are 
put in the cell and given this stint after the other boys are 
collected for prayers. If the stint is not accomplished the;y 
are confined there until the next morning, with clothing 
enough to keep them warm. When the boys in the dormitory 
get up, and before they go to the bathing room, these boys 
are put into the dormitory with them and spend the day as 
all the rest do. 

Q. If the boy does not perform his stint in the workshop 
the work goes with him to the cell. 

A. Yes, the same work. 
Q. And he is put there to complete it. 
A. Yes ; but these boys that are put there are only boys 

that are incorrigible. 
Q. Do you mean that boys that are kept there from two 

to seven days, as you have stated, remain there all the time. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How about their food. 
A. It is carried to them. 
Q. By what rule and by whose direction are boys confined 

in these cells for offences. 
A. By a rule I found in existence when I came here and 

which I adopted as my own, and thP-y are put there by my 
direction. 

Q. Is that rule a written or a printed rule. 
A. No, sir, I think not. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. Are the cases or punishments of that kind reported 

upon this book of punishments. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Does the subordinate officer r~pQr,t the;. oJ(ence to you 

which leads to the confinement in the, cell.,. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has any other officer, or does any other person about 

2 
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the school exercise the authority of confining boys in the 
cell besides yourself. 

A. If I was away and a runaway should be brought in, Mr. ,v entworth would put him in the cell and report to me imme­
<.1,iately, and I would determine how long he should remain 
there. 

Q. Is the punishment in the cells wholly guided and di­
rected by the superintendent. 

A. It is. 
Q. Have subordinates authority, or do they exercise it, of 

confining boys there without your abjudication in the matter. 
A. They have no authority and do not exercise it. They 

are not allowed to and do not in fact do it. 
Q. Please describe the method by which the refractory 

boy is brought to punishment. 
A. v\,' e have blanks which we call punishment blanks, and 

which are distributed to the officers. If a boy commits an 
offence for which the officer considers him deserving being 
reported to the superintendent, he writes the offence on one 
of these blanks. When a boy is reported to me on one of 
these, as soon as may he I call him up. If he can read 
writing I show him the blank which contains the specific 
charge, the date when it was committed, the officer under 
whom it was committed and the nature of it. If he cannot 
read I read it to him. I ask the boy what about it and hear 
his story. Sometimes the boy will deny it utterly, and in 
case he does, I hear the officer. If the two are simply in 
opposition, the officer making one assertion and the boy 
another, I learn from the officer who was concerned with the 
boy and I call up those boys and talk with them about it and 
examine as carefully as I can the circumstances, spending 
sometimes an hour or more, always quite a number of min­
utes, until I can satisfy myself of the truth of the matter. 
Then I give such punishment as I think the offence deserves. 

Q. Is the punishment prescribed by any rule or regulations 
or-is it-such punishment as you think is suitable and proper. 
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A. There are no written rules or regulations governing the 

punishment. It is such as in my judgment I think proper. 

Q. vVhen a charge is handed you by an officer do you 
enter it upon any book. 

i\.. The blanks are all preserved and if the boy receives 

eorporal punishment the charge is entered in the book and a 

record made of it at the end of each quarter. Each officer· 

signs the record of the punishment given to the boys reported 

hy him to the superintendent. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. What other corporal punishments are inflicted besides­
confinement in the cells. 

A. Feruling with a ruler upon the hand and sometimes--­

upon the posterior, as I put it on the blanks. 

ci. When the punishment by feruling is ordered, by whom, 

is it inflicted. 

A. 1 inflict it. In cases where I am away or sick, and it 
is advi~able that the punishment be inflicted promptly, I au-­
thorize Mr. Wentworth to do it. 

Q. State whether or not the punishment is always inflicted; 
under your immediate supervision and direction. 

A. It is ahvays inflicted under my immediate supervisio.n. or· 
by my direction. · 

Q. Do you allow your subordinate officers to punish boys. 

for infriugemeut of the rules without your adjudication upon 

it. 
A. I do not. 
Q. As ma~ter of fact is it done by the under officers,. to 

your knowledge. 
A. There have been a few cases_ in which it has come to 

my knowledge that it was done, but it is never done with my 
knowledge or approval without my having first investigated 

and ascertained about it, unless as I said before, I am away 

or sick, and then I delegate Mr. Wentworth my authodty 

and he afterwards reports to me. 
Q. While boys are confined in these cells what is. their 

diet. 
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A. Their principal diet is bread and water. They are 
sometimes given moat and other food in addition to the bread 
and water, but bread and water is their principal diet. 

Q. Will you please state about the length of confinement 
for given offences in these cells as near as you. can. For 
instance, upon this blank which you handed me is the charge 
of "whispering and laughing in meditation class, and also 
being saucy." ·what would he the usual punishment for an 
offence of that sort. 

A. If the hoy has committed the offence a great many 
times, and has heen reported for it, and I have talked with 
him and used my best efforts to reform him and failed, I give 
him from four to eight blows on the hand. 

Q. What class of offences are punished with confinement 
in the cells, and what is the period of confinement. 

A. Escaping from the school, violently resisting an officer, 
planning" to escape from the school and assisting others to 
escape. The last two are not always punished by confine­
ment in the cells; it depends a great deal upon whether the 
offence is an aggravated one or not. 

Q. Sometimes do you confine them for incorrigi'hle idle­
ness. 

A. I have employed boys in the cell, giving them work to 
do, for incorrigible idleness. I never confine them there 
without work for idleness. 

Q. In these cases of confinement in the cells, about what 
length of time is the confinement. 

A. From an hour and a half to six days. I have in one or 
two instances kept a boy at work there for six days but not 
longer than that. 

Q. What light is there provided for the cells. 
A. There is a window in the room out of which the cells 

open which gives sufficient light for the boys to work in the 
daytime. ·when they work in the evening there are two 
large lamps lighted, one furnished with a large reflector, 
throwing light through the doors of the cell. 
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By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Are the iron doors and wooden doors to the cells ever 

both closed. 
A. They are never both closed. I did not consider it 

healthy for the boys to be in there with the wooden · doors 
closed. I have been up sometimes when the boys themselves 
have closed them but I always charge them not to do it. 

By Mr. Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have the boys been kept on bread and water. 
A. Some of them during their confinement. 
Q. Give us the longest time. 
A. As far as I can recall eight days. 
Q. At the end of eight days would the boy give in. 
A. A boy never holds out as long as that; that is, resisting 

and refusing to obey. If a boy is kept there that time 'it is a 

matter of punishment for the offence. 
Q; Don't yon find it injurious to the boys' health keeping 

them so long a time on bread and water. 
A. Not at all. 
Q. Is the boy able to go about his work after that. 
A. He is. 
Q. You speak about punishing them with three, four or 

five blows. Were those blows given with a ruler. 
A. A ruler, or ferule. 
Q. Have the boys ever sustained any injury by such punish­

ment that you know of. 
A. Not that I know of. 

By "Mr. Gould: 
Q. Have there been any cases where punishment has been 

inflicted by a subordinate officer without your approval, and 
where you subsequently chided the officer or discharged him. 

A. There have. 
Q. More than one case of that kind. 
A. Only one case where I discharged the officer. 

There have been several slight cases where the officer ex-
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ceeded the bounds or limits of his authority and I reproved 

him and charged him not to repeat it. 

Q. vVhat case was it ·where you discharged the man-how 

aggravated a case. 

A. As nearly as I could ascertain in regard to it, it was 

striking boys at different times with a piece of window cord. 
Striking them upon the legs, usually. 

Q. With their pants on or naked. 

A. With only their shirts on. It was the watchman in 

the dormitory. It was a matter the boys did not report to 

me at the time, and as soon as I learned of it the officer was 

discharged. 

Q. What was the nature of the offence committed Ly the 

boy. 
A. One case was of a boy who got up, as he claimed, in 

his sleep and the watchman strnck him with the piece of cord 

three times, I think, to wake him up and, as he said, to break 

him of the habit. There were one or two cnses where boys 
were noisy and disobedient and the officer struck them. 

There are anywhere from fifteen to twenty boys who have to 

be 'waked several times in the night to go to the ''can" or 

else they will wet the bed. They are exeeedingly hard to 
wake up and sometimes the watchman would strilrn them 

with this coi·d to make them get up promptly. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How old was the hoy that was kept in the cell s1x 

days. 
A. There have been several such cases ; the' boys ranging 

in age from 14 to 18. 
Q. vYhat were the offences. 

A. Escaping from the institution, for violently resistiBg or 

attacking an officer, and the cases I mentioned to you for 

incorrigible idleness. I presume an examination of the 

records will show offences I have not mentioned. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. In these cases is the term of their confinement fixea 

beforehand. 
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A. It is rot. They are placed in the cell and kept there 
until I think it is proper to relieve them. 

Q. When they are relieved does the record show how long 
they were there. · 

A. It does. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Who has the care of the boys in the cells. 
A. I visit them frequently and the Assistant Superintend­

ent visits them the last thing before he goes to bed. · They 
are fed in the morning, and the vessels emptied and cleansed 
by the watchman. They are fed at other times by the third 
class officer or by Mr. W cntworth. The boys are invariably 
visited several times a day, and if they are in need of any­
thing they make it known by thumping on the walls of the 
cells. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. In regard to the clothing of the boys, how many suits 

have they; how many kinds of clothing. 
A. They have a suit for summer wear which has been made 

since I have been here, of what dealers call Kentucky Jean, 
consisting of jacket and pants. The color is a dark brownish 
gray. They have suspenders made of elastic webbing. In 
the spring or fall they have either woolen or cotton stock­
ings. The boys who work in the shop and sewing room go 
barefooted through the warm summer months. They have a 
shirt of striped cotton and during the ,vannest weather a 
palm leaf hat. 

Q. Do they have shoes. 
A. They do. The clothing for cold weather consists of 

jacket and pants of heavy all wool cassimere, either a woolen 
cap or a wool hat, thick woolen stockings, stout double-soled 

brogans, and what is ca1led a mixed woolen shirt for winter. 
Besides these suits they have a Sunday suit consisting of a 
coat and pants of ,v-est Point blue cloth, a very nice material. 
thick and firm. Every boy is furnished with a collnr and 
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cap. They have stockings, shoes and shirts as they have 
every day, and every Sunday their shoes are blacked. 

Q. Are they provided with anything for the hands. 
A. Only the outside boys are furnished with mittens; those 

that work about the barn and farm with the team. 
Q. Does each hoy have his own suit of clothes, or is the 

clothing in common. 
A. Each boy has his own Emit of Sunday clothes. 
Q. •Does that suit remain for his own private use until it it) 

worn out . 
. A. Until he outgrows it. 
Q. Then what becomes of it. 
A. It is passed over to a younger boy if a younger boy 

needs it. 
Q. How is it about the every day clothing. 
A. Every morning the boys are called for inspection. The 

first and second classes pass into the first class chair shop and 
Htand at "attention" in line around the room. An officer 
passes around and examines their clothing minutely; their 
hats, buttons on their clothes-whether any are needed or 
not,--whether their shirts are torn or not, whether jackets 
are in good repair, whether their pants are sound and whole, 
whether their shoes need mending; nnd each boy who knows 
of any part of his clothing that needs repair is at liberty, in 
fact is required, to tell the officer of it. Each officer is fur­
nished with blanks, upon which he writes the name of the 
boy who needs the article of clothing, and what that article 
is. These blanks are then handed to the assistant superin­
tendent. The boys whose names are on the blanks go to the 
school-room with the assistant superintendent and stand in 
line, and he passes them to the clothing room, and there 
they receive such articles as they need. Having received the 
articles, they pass to the shop and commence work. In the 
third class shop it is the duty of the officer to inspect the 
boys and, if a boy needs clothing, he puts his name on the 
blank and furnishes it to Mr. Wentworth. 
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Q. Suppose a boy, on inspection, informs the officer that 
his pants or shirt needs repairing, and he passes with the offi­
cer to the school room, what does he receive in exchange for 

the torn garment. 

A. If it is a shirt, it is one that has been washed and 
ironed. 

Q. Is it a new one, or one that has been previously worn. 

A. Usually it is one that has been previously worn. 
Q. By the same boy or other boys. 
A. If it is a shirt, it is his own or one that he retains there­

after. Every boy's name is sewed on his shirt. 
Q. Do any of the boys wear other shirts than those which 

have been appropriated to them. 

A. They do not. 
Q. How is it in regard to other articles of clothing. 
A. The pants ,vhich a boy leaves in the clothing room are 

carried to the sewing room. If they are soiled they are sent 

to the laundry and washed and ironed, and sent back to the 
sewing room, where they are repaired and then sent to the 
clothing room. If they ne€d only slight repairs, and are 
clean, they are repaired and returned from the sewing room 
to the clothing room, and placed in store for use as they are 

needed. 
Q. What is given the boy in place of the pants he surren­

ders. 
A. The article is taken from the general stock in the cloth­

mg room. 
Q. Is the stock both new and old. 
A. Both new and old. The boys in the first class are giv­

en the new clothing as far a,s possible, and the other classes 
take the older clothing. 

Q. When the articles arn cleansed and repaired and go 
hack to the clothing room are they dealt out to the same boys 
that wore them before, or just as it happens. 

A. Just as they fit the boys. 

Q. Is it the same in regard to stockings and shoes. 
A. The same in regard to stockings, shoes and coats. 
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Q. So that the clothing, except the shirts, is kept in com­
mon stock and the boys wear it promiscuously. 

A. Yes. 
Q. A boy has no specific suit which he wears as his own 

property, to his own use all the time, other than the shirt. 
A. Other than the shirt and Sunday s·uit, no. 
Q. The other clothing is all in common. 
A. It is. 
Q. And worn by any boy, as it happens to be called for, 

according to size and fit. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Bowers: 
Q. The boy takes a snit of new clothes and wears it until 

it needs to be repaired, does he not. 
A. Yes. 
Q. It is only when it goes to the l'flpair shop that there 

may be a change. 
A. Certainly. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. How is it in regard to the stockings; are they washed 

in common stock and dealt out promiscuously. 
A. They are, according to sizes, unless some boy has 

stockings that he has purchased or his friends have provided 
him, and then those are his own property. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Would not that apply to other clothing if it was sent 

to them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are they allowed to receive clothing. 
A. We do not object to it~ but it is very seldom that their 

friends send anything except caps, or scarfs, or shoes. 
Q. Are the shoes kept in common stock. 
A. They are, with the exception mentioned. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. So the boys do not get the same pair of shoes to wear 

all the time. 
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A. ·when a boy's shoes come to repairing he is given what­
ever shoes may fit him-the first class boys having the better 
shoes. They wear the same pair until they are given up for 
repair. When he surrenders those he b)kes another pair 
from the common stock. 

Q. When they go into the repair shop they come back 
common stock and are distributed just as it happens. 

A. They do. 
Q. Please give us the bill of fare served to the boys at 

breakfast, and the changes throughout the week. 
A. For breakfast the boys all have bread and milk or 

bread and coffee; nine times out of ten it is bread and 
milk, but when the milk is short we give them coffee. In 
addition to that the first class have either meat, or hash, or 
beans, or brownbread and butter, or gingerbread, or dough­
nuts. The other classes occasionally have one of these, hut 
not as a rule. 

Q. How often do you mean by "occasionally." 
A. Once or twice a week. 
Q. More than one kind of bread. 
A. I put in hrownbread as an extra to the first class. 
Q. Now give u-. the dinners. 
A. For Monday, vd1en I came here, and for a year and a 

half or more after, they had for dinner on :Mondays boiled 
corned beef and vegetables in their season. The boys didn't 
like the corned meat and petitioned me several times to give 
them bread and molasses instead. I fin_ally consented to 
grant their request on this condition, that all of them wanted 
it, and that at any time they wanted to change back to meat 
to let me know and they should have it. I told the trustees 
of the change. That change has been kept up, and the boys 
now have for dinner on Monday bread and molasses. 

Tuesday they have soup, and the boys have petitioned me 
to change from soup to bread and molasses; but while I 
should make the change for myself, I have n~t felt authorized 
to make it for the boys. The soup is a meat soup, with veg­
etables, and is not a watery soup, but a good, rich soup. 
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Wednesday they have stewed beans. Each boy has a 
platefull, and if he needs· more the officer is instructed to 
give it to him. 

Q. • '.N eecL," more or wants more. 
A. Both. 

Thursdays they have roast beef. It is fresh beef cooked in 
one of these steam kettles, and served with gravr and pota­
toes. It is good meat. The officers have their meat from 
the same lot. It is all brought here together and the officers 
take one piece and the boys a dozen. It is not shank pieces, 
hut a good quality of beef. They have boiled potatoes, as 
many ns they need. They are put upon plates, where each 
boy can help himself. The gravy is put into the plate with 
the meat before the boys sit down, and it is such gravy as we 
have upon our table. 

Friday they usually have codfish and potatoes, and in the 
season they have vegetables with it. 

Saturday baked beans in abundance, and all the pork they 
will ent and sometimes more. 

Sunday bread and butter or bread and cheese, with dough­
nuts and gingerbread. 

Q. Are these rations for dinner placed on the table before 
they are seated. 

A. They are. 
Q. After they hnve eaten their rations are they allowed to 

have more if they desire it. 
A. If there is any left over the officer in charge of the 

table has power, and frequently docs send out a boy whose 
business it is to do such work, to bring such a supply as the 
boys need. 

Q. Don't you always have enough left over so as to give 
ally boy that wants it more. 

A. That is the rule, but I don't know but there may be 
exceptions. There is always plenty of bread and nearly 
always the chief article at dinner. Bread is served at dinner 
in unlimited quantities. There is a boy who stand8 ready at 
every meal to give every boy at the table all the bread he 
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will eat. His instructions are to do so. The instructions to 
the officer in charge of the table arc that he shall see that it 
is done. In ord~r to obtain bread all a boy has to do is to 
raise his hand. 

Q. Do these instrnctions apply to the three meals. 
A. Yes, and seven days in the week. 
Q. What about supper. 
A. Supper is very similar to the breakfast, with this ex­

ception, that the second and third classes seldom get an extra. 
Sabbath evening they have a doughnut all round; the differ­
ence between the first class and other classes being that the 
first class gets two doughnuts and the other boys one. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you ever give them fruit of any kind. 
A. ,v e do; we raised on the farm last year 125 bushels of 

apples ; the officers had some of them and the boys the rest. 
I distribute fruit at the tahle, go around and give each boy 
one, two or three, always making a distinction in favor of the 
first class, giving them the larger and better fruit. 

Q. vVhat fruit do you raise besides apples. 
A. Strawberries. The boys always have strawberries m 

their season. 
Q. Do they have pears. 
A. We raised very few pears this season. I gave them 

pears once last year. 
Q. Do you give them other berries besides strawberries. 
A. I give them blueberries in the season of them; but 

when we buy fruit we cannot afford to go into it very largely. 
In regard to vegetables, the boys have sweet corn during the 
season, and green peas and green beans frequently. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Do you give the boys onions. 
A. We do; that is a standard ingredient of the soup. 
Q. How often do you bake bread. 
A. Five days in the week. 
Q. What is the price of the flour that you give the boys. 
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A. The last bill was for what is called (t Roller Process 
Flour"; $6.35 per barrel. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know what you pay for this beef you roast. 
A. I have not seen the bill lately; probably ten or twelve 

cents. We buy it at wholesale prices. We get the corned 
meat, such as I use on onr table, for seven cents a pound. It 
is brought out, so many pounds a week, from the wholesale 
dealer. He corns it and brings it here. It is a better grade 
of beef than that which is barrelled. One fault the boys 
found with the corned beef was that it was too fat. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. In the school room were four boys standing up, facing 

the wall. What is tL.e rule about disciplining t~e boys in the 
school room other than punishing them with a ferule. 

A. The teachers frequently, when boys arc. disorderly, 
have them stand in the floor. 

Q. They are not allowed to stand in any unnatural position. 
A. Not for any length of time. 
Q. Any more than what is found in any public school. 
A. Nothing more than in any public school, as far as my 

experience and observation have gone. A boy is sometimes 
stood in the floor, and he does not stand still, and the teacher 
makes him touch his toes for a little while. 

Q. On what occasions are boys deprived of a meal. 
A. Boys in the cells are given food twice a day, and are 

given enough to supply them during the day. Every boy is 
given all he wants, and if the officer thinks he does not ask 
for enough he leaves more. Aside from that, boys are never 
deprived of meals. The instructions to the officers are plain, 
and explicit, and unmistakable, that upon no occasion, and 
for no offence, are they ever to deprive boys of food. 

Q. Are boys ever stood up in the dining room, away from 
the table. 

A. Yes; but never without food. They have been stood 
up without food, but that practice I abolished months ago; 
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a good while ago. I found it in existence when I came here, 
and I very soon put a stop to it, but I allowed the practice of 
standing boys in the floor to go on for some months, but re­
quiring in every case the boys should be offered food. If 
they wouldn't take it it was their own choice. Then I for­
hade that, and required that every boy should have his full 
meal. I allowed this, that if a boy wouldn't be quiet at the 
table the officer might stand him hy the side of the room, 
giving him his full meal, and let him eat it there. There is a 

ledge running around the side of the room, and boys have, 
sometimes, very rarely, been stood there, but were given 
their full supply of food. 

Q. The rule is that every boy shall have his regular meal 
at the regular time. 

A. It is, and punishment inflicted in some other way. 
Boys in the cells are given bread and water, but never, in any 
other place, are they allowed to be given food different from 
the regular supply. 

-Q. Outside of that, and outside of the striking the boys 
with the cord, for which yon discharged the man, and outside 
of feruling the boys and standing them i~ the floor there is 
no other corporal punishment. 

A. I don't think of any, unless I have shaken a boy pretty 
violently sometimes, when he deserved it. 

Q. Suppose a boy says (( I am sick ;" what do you do with 
him. 

A. We attend to him immediately. 
Q. Who is the physician here. 
A. Dr. Charles E. Webster is the regular physician. 
Q. If a boy is sick do you send for him, or does he come 

every day. 
A. He comes only when sent for. We can call him by 

telephone. Every night, after the boys have come in from 
recess, and before prayers, the boys are called out by sections, 
beginning with section 1, which is the row of seats on the 
right hand side of the school room, and any boy who needs 
medicine is expected to come out and say so. I sit at a desk 
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and he comes and tells me what he wants, and I pass upon 
his case. My sister, who has charge of the dormitory, and 
is also nurse, has an array of simple medicines at the 
table in the second class school room, and if I decide that a 

boy needs anything he passes through and she gives him 
what he wants. And so on through the nine sections. If a 

boy needs any special treatment I usually tell him I will see 
him in the dormitory. Boys frequently have, at this season 
of the year and in the spring, sore lungs, and I apply a mus­
tard poultice and use what simple remedies I can. If, under 
what treatment we can give the boy here, he does not speedi­
ly mend we send for Dr. ·we bster. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Suppose to-morrow morning a boy says to the watch­

man "I am too sick to get up." 
A. The watchman is to let him remain, and immediately 

informs Mr. Wentworth, who most always passes to the 
school room through the dormitory, and as soon as possible 
he. informs me and I go in immediately and see the boy. 

Q. Do you put the boy in the hospital before the doctor 
comes. 

A. If it is only a slight ailment and the boy is trusty we 
leave him in the dormitory if he prefers it, and most of them 
do. 

Q. Who takes charge of the boy while he is sick. 
A. The nurse or dormitory woman; but we never leave 

the responsibility with her; Mr. Wentworth and myself both 
look after the sick boys. She administers the medicine and 
provides the sick with food, but the responsibility is on me, 
and I feel it and take it. 

Q. Who sees to the hoy during the night. 
A. If he is very sick one of the older and more cnreful 

boys is detailed to sit up with him, and the watchman is in­
structed to look after him and see thnt the medicine is given 
him at proper times. If the hoy is not very sick, or is lame 
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or something of that sort, he remains in the hospital with nc 
attendant but the watchman in the adjoining room. 

Q. If he is very sick you have your eye upon him, but he 
is entrusted to one of the boys and watchman. 

A. Yes, and the watchman is instructed to call me in case 
of any change, and if the boy is very sick I al ways instruct 
the watchman to call me at a certain hour or hours during the 
night. 

Q. That same watchman is the watchman in the dormitory. 
A. He is ; and he is as near the sick boy as most fathers 

and mothers are to their sick children. 
By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. I noticed a hoy in the school with his eyes bandaged. 
Who has the care of him. 

A. Dr. Webster; and he was out to see him last night, I 
think. 

Q. Where is he kept and cared for. 
A. He is in the shop; he is well all but his eyes. 
Q. What is the matter with his eyes. 
A. It began with a tendency to ulceration, but the treat­

ment the doctor gave him cured that, and the disease now 
takes the form of conjunctivilis, or inflammation of the mem­
brane surrounding the eye. He sleeps with the other boys in 
the dormitory and is in the third class. 

Q. Does he receive any lotion for the eyes during the 
night. 

A. The doctor has not ordered any. He receives lotions 
during the day. The doctor ordered the medicine, for which 
he gave the prescription, put into bis eye two or three times 
a day, but none during the night. "\Ve are following the 
doctor's directions. 

Q. Describe the hospital accommodations. 
A The hospital is a room adjoining and opening into the 

dormitory. It is 17 by 21J feet and 11 feet from the fl.001· 

to the ceiling. It has one large window about 6 feet by 11 
feet (I have not measured that) opening to the southwest. 
There are three transom windows opening from the hospital 

3 



( 34:) 

to the dormitory and there is a]so ventilation from the hospital 

into the chimney. The room is furnished with a bureau and 
sink, a small table an<l a case of shelves. There are t-w'o 

wooden bedsteads with good beds and bed clothes and in case 

of need there are other bedsteads that can be put in the 

room. 
Q. What kind of heels are they. 
A. Straw beds covered with mattret':!ses i:nade of quilted 

cotton. 
Q. How many doors are there. 

A. Two doors, one opening into the bucket room, so-called, 

and one into the dormitory. The walls are plastered and 

unpainted. The side towards the dormitory is of sheathed 

boards. 
Q. What is at the window for shade. 

A. There is a curtain of yellow cambric. It is one that 

has been there all the time. There is no b]ind, but we have 
pinned up blanket:;; when the light has been too strong. 

Q. How many boys have you known in there at one time. 

A. I do uot now recollect any time when there has been more 
than three. 

Q. ·what were the diseases. 

A. They were colds and incipient fevers. 

Q. Do you allow a person sick with typhoid fever to be 
put in there with persons sick with other diseases. 

A. I am positive that we have had no case of typhoid fever 

since I have been here, and if we had we should not do it. 

There have been cases of colds where there were some 
typhoid symptoms manifest at first and Dr. Webster has 

ordered them into the hospital separate from the other boys, 
but we have had no case among the boys which proved to be 

typhoid fever. 

Q. Ho'IV many boys have died in the institution smce you 
have been here. 

A. Five. The first one died suddenly July 3d, 1880, from 
tuberculosis and we had a post-mortem examination. The 

next one died May 4th, 1881, of emoolism of the artery. 
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The next one died October 1st, 1881, of tubercular menin­
~itis. The next one was March 15th. 1882, of consumption; 
the final ending of his life ,vas cansed by tubercular menin­
gitis. The last died March 30th, 1882, of congestion of the 
brain. 

Adjourned until Friday afternoon, three o'clock, Oct. 20th. 

FRIDAY, OCTOBER 20th, 3 P. M. 

Met pursuant to adjournment, at the reform school. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell; also 
Roscoe L. Bowers, of the executive council; Owen B. Chad­
bourn, president of the hoard of trustees, and Albion Little,, 
ex-member of the hoard of trustees. 

The examination of Superintendent Farrington was con.-­
thrned. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. vVhat convcrnencrns do the boys have for play and' 

exercise. 
A. There are three yards designated as the classes are 

designated, first, second arnJ third class yards. The second• 
and third clnss yards are 8urrounded by a high fence, a tight 
hoard fence about fifteen feet high. The third class yard is 
104 feet wide and 114 feet deep. The second class yard is 
the same-104 feet by 114 feet. The first class yard is 165 
feet by 185 feet, and is surrounded on two sides by an open. 
picket fence five and a half feet high. The first and second 
elass yards adjoin each other and the fence separating them is 
wholly of boards. The fence on the backside of the second: 
and third class yards is for about six feet from the ground a 
1-tone wall and that is surmounted by a board fence the top of 
which is fifteen feet from the ground. On the east side of 
the third class yard is a row of closets built of brick and1 

stone and these occupy about three-quarters of the length of 
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the east side of thA third class ya.rd. They arc roofed over, 

the point of the roof being next to the yard and of the same 

height as the fence on the other sides of the yard. For the 

other portion of that side of the yard about one-half is stone 

wall surmounted by a plank into which are fastened sharpened 

nails; the other portions are of board from the ground up. 

These yards are for the recreation of the boys. 

Q. \Vhat boys are allowed in the large yard with the 

low picket fence. 

A. The boys of the first class as a rule. vVe have several 

times this summer taken boys from the first class and the 
other clases out there and drilled them in military tactics. 

Q. What is the surface of the ground in the large yard. 

A. Turf; the other yards is for the larger part sand or 

gravel. In each yard there is a large space paved with bricks 
for the boys to play upon in muddy or snowy weather. 

These bricks are kept clear of snow in winter. 

Q. Are boys other than the first clm,s allowed outside of 
the two small yards. 

A. Boys from the second class nre sometimes employed 
upon the farm when the demand for work exceeds the supply 
that the first class can furnish, and in some instances boys 
.even from the third class have been al]owed to visit their 
friends who were sick or to attend their funerals. 

Q. Are boys from the second and third classes allowed to 
play outside of the two small yards. 

A. No, except in the cases I have mentioned. 
By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Have you m~•de any change in the yards since you came 
l1ere or are they as you found them. 

A. I have made no material changes heyond keeping them 
in repair and good order,, improving the drainage and matters 
of that sort. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Why arc the second and third classes not a1lowed outside 
the yards except as you have stated. 



( 37) 

A. If I was to answer that fully I should go back to the 
beginning of the graded system and go over the whole thing. 

Q. Very ·well, yon may do so. 
A. Before I became acquainted or connected with the school 

as superintendent I had a conversation with members of the 
board of trustees, particularly with the chairman of the board, 
Mr. Albion Little of Portland. He stated to me minutely 

and at length the end which the trustees were very desirous 
to attain : that they wished the school conducted as a reform­
atory institution and not as a penal institution; that while the 
trustees recognized the fact that every boy sent here was 
convicted of some crime by a court of justice they recognized 
also the fact that boys sent here were thought to be capable 
of reform, and that the efforts of all connected with the in­
stitution should be directed to that end. That they wished 
so far as possible to dispense with corporal punishment and 
influence the boys by moral means. 

To this end the trustees had adopted a grade system, not 
perfect but capable of improvement and improvement they 
were very desirous to make. The design of the graded sys­
tem was to place boys in different clnsses or grades in the 
school according to their deportment. The hoy's mental 
ability should have nothing to do with his rank in the classes; 
that he should be placed according as his deportment here 
and his efforts at reform entitled him to be placed. 

As the views of the trustees were stated to me they seemed 
to me to Le eminently fitting and right, and I entered on my 
duties here with a full determination to carry out these views 
to the best of my ab1lity. 

,vhen I entered on my duties there were three classes, 
fin,t, second and third classes. In these classes there were 
no gmdes; there was no system by which the right of a boy 
to be raised in his grade could be determined or the justice 
of his degradation in his standing could be determined. The 
system seemed to be to put boys up or down in their grades 
according as the general impression which the officer received 
from his connection with the boys justified. Very soon after 
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I became connected with the school, blanks were provided 
for the officers, upon which they were to keep an account, 
giving the boy's name and demerits for offences as they saw 
fit. The blank is dated at the top and signed by the ofiicer. 
In addition to this, each officer was required to keep on a 
common time hook a record of these demerits so that at the 
end of each month the grade of the hoy was determined: 
whether he should be kept in the grade he then occupied, 
advanced to a higher grade or put lower in his standing. As 
time went on and our experience taught us new lessons, the 
system was enlarged by dividing each class into three grades 
denominated "A" "B" and '•C," "A" being the highest grade 
in each class. Boys were given to understand that their 
daily deportment decided the grade they should occupy. 

"\,Ve afterwards changed the form of the monthly report to 
this form. [Witness exhibits a blank. J 

The officers having charge of the boys keep these and are 
required to keep a record of the boys' demerits opposite the 
name of each boy, and at the end of the month the total is 
made up by the officer and banded in to the assistant super­
intendent. In order to interest the boys in their own advance­
ment and make them feel more· forcibly that their rank und 
the privileges they enjoyed depended upon themselves, we 
still further perfected the system of grading, by allowing 
boys merits as well as demerits. 

Up to the time of introducing this improvement in the 
system, boys had been demerited hut never merited, They 
had been told "If you <lo wrong you will receive such a 
punishment," and they had also been told '' If you do well 
you sha11 he raised," but no system had been devised hy 
·which they could note the steps they took in their advance­
ment. 

The improved system continues the three grades in the 
three clnsses, or rather, the division of each class into three 
grades, und we give to ench boy for every day that passes 
two merits. It makes no difference what the deportment of 
the buy is, he knows he is to receive two merits and that 
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these two merits will be reckoned to his credit when at the 
end of the month the standing is made up. During each 
month each boy receives sixty merits, and if at the end of 
the month he has received fifty demerits he still bus ten mer­
its to his credit. When at the end of the month any boy has 
fifty merits to his credit he is advanced one letter in his 
grade. If he has more than fifty and less than one hundred, 
those in e·xcess of fifty are credited to him and allowed on 
his count at the end of the next month. For instance, if a 
boy at the end of May has seventy-five merits, he is advanced 
one letter arid credited with twenty-five merits. If, during 
the next month his standing is such that for the month he has 
but twenty-five merits, that is added to the twenty-five com­
ing over from the last month, and he is still advanced one 

letter in his grade. 
In addition to this, boys for special good conduct are al­

lowed extra merits beyond those of two a day which come to 
each hoy alike. If a boy keeps hi:::i hafr combed and his 
general appearance neat, and he is respectful, polite and 
gentlemanly in his conduct he is allowed ten merits. For 
very meritorious conduct any boy may be entitled to merits. 
Most of the boys that get merits in that way get them by 
going through the month without receiving a demerit or hav­
ing been spoken to on account of his conduct. 

If a boy knows of any plot or plan for evil that is going 
on among other boys, and rep_orts it he receives merits for 
that. In that ·way it is possible for a boy to have at the end 
of the month eighty merits to his credit. 

I speak of these things to show the efforts we have made 
to impress upon the boys that their standing in the school 
depends upon themselves and that by doing very well and 
showing themselves to be thoroughly good they can ol.Jtain a 
reward that is tangible and which they can appreciate. 

In addition to giving the boys these merits we allow boys 
who are in the first class extra privileges and opportunities 
for enjoyment. One of these privileges is, play in the first 
class yard which is large, open, pleasant, covered with green 



( 40) 

turf rrnd nn exceedingly pleasant place for boys to play, and 
we make the hours they spend there as attractive and enjoy­
able as possible, allowing them games with footballs and base­
ball, and they are allowed to run, jump, and are at perfect 
liberty to enjoy themselves in any proper way that they 
dwose. Why boys in the second und third classes are not 
allowed to play in the first class yard and play m::ouud the 
building, is because their conduct has not heen sueh as to 
warrant us in nllowiug them these privileges. 

Q. Do I understand that it is because it is not allowed 
under your method and system of discipline, or is there a 

practical difficulty in allowing them ontside of the small yard 
from the fact that they would run away. 

A. I mean to say that the methods we employ for encour­
aging boys to good behavior are so nearly perfect that any 
hoy who deserves the privilege of being outside the yards 
will very soon put himself in a position where he can avail 
himself of these oppmtuuities. It is not true of every hoy 
in the :;econd class thnt if he was placed out here under ordi­
rntry supervision he lvcmld start to run away. 

Q. Is it essential or necessary that boys in the second and 
third classes should be confined to the building and these 
yards in order to secure their attendnnce at the institution. 

A. Under the present system of conducting the school 
what is called the graded system, where the boys are for a 

portion of the time under one officer, and another portion 
under another,-persons who differ in their method of man­
agement of boys and in their capacity to manage them and 
ability to understand them,-it is necessary that boys in the 
third class and most of the boys in the second class should be 
confined within the building or the yards in order to secure 
their attendance at the school. 

Q. So that so far as they are concerned, until they them­
selves voluntarily undertake to relieve their own condition, it 
is virtually a penal institution, is it not. 

A. I think it is a reformatory institution for every boy 
here. 
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Q. But the reformation depends upon the boy's own choice, 

and if he elects not to avail himself of the opportunities 

,vhich are giv'en him he simply gets the result of confinement. 

A. Precisely. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Do the boys acknowledge the justice of this system of 

gra<ling, or not. 

A. They do. I have never known any boy to object to it 

in theleast. 

Q. They approve of it as fair to themselves. 

A. They do as far as I know. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. When the boys are discharged from the institution are 

they furnished with any money or means, or during their 

stay here have they :my opportunity of gaining any money in 
any way. 

A. Boys who work in the building are given certain tasks 

which they arc to perform within a certain specified time. 

These tasks are such that they can invariably perform them 

within considerable less than the time allowed. vVhen these 

tasks are clone ench boy has the privilege of doing extra 
work, for whiuh he receives pay. In that way boys can and 

do earn sum.s of money. A boy in the chair shop has a stint 

that he can finish by Friday noon. He then has Friday after­
noon and Saturday forenoon to work for himself, and on an 

average a boy, in that time, can earn from ten to twenty 

cents. 

Q. As matter of fact, do they work extra. 

A. A great many do; some never do. Boys are like men; 

some are provident and others utterly improvident, and care 

for nothing in the way of gaining money for themselves or 
what money ·will buy. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Do the boys generally save the money so earned. 

A. They spend it for some purpose. Sometimes it is for 

articles of wearing apparel as caps, slippers, mittens, scarfs, 
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very freqnently for pocket handkerchiefs, usually a cambric 

or linen handkerchief, sometimes a silk one, and they furnish 
themselves with a pocket glass and pocket cori1b. Boys ex­
pecting to go home will lay in money to pay their fore home 
or to carry with them when they go. One hoy bought a good 
watch, for which he paid twelve dollars of his own earnings. 

Q. If they remain during their minority, or are sooner dis­

charged, they carry nothing from the institution unless they 
have saved it. Money, I mean. 

A. There has been but one case, and that boy had money 
which he had earned. I don't recollect how much, and he 
carried it with him. Before he went I procured a place for 

him in Portland, where he earned $4.25 a week, enough to 
board himself and buy some articles of clothing-. He went 

to the evening school on Free street. His wages were after­

wards raised to $5. 

Q. When they are discharged they are giveu a suit of 
clothes. 

A. They are. Every boy is given what we call a freedom 
suit, if he will wait for it, made from such cloth as the Com­
missioners saw in the clothing room yesterday. 

Q. About how many boys are employed in the outside 
work ,vhcn work can be carried on. 

A. From fifteen to twenty. There are times, in planting, 
hoeing, harvesting and haying, when for a few days we have 
to take out a large number of boy::;. During the greater por­
tion of the farming season we- have about twenty boys out. 

Q. Do the boys like to go out to work upon the farm. 
A. Yes; it is one of the best inducements I can place be­

fore a boy to do well, is the hope of working upon the for~n. 
Q. It is never looked upon as drudgery. 
A. I never kuew it to be. I could get twenty boys to fill 

the place of a boy that wanted to come in. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. About what proportion of the whole school do not avail 

themselves of the privileges of the first class yard and other 
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privileges; that is, what is the average proportion that never 
reaches the :first class. 

A. From five to eight per cent. They vibrate between 
the second arnl third classes, but never get into the first. 

Q. Can you tell about how long it takes, on an average, 
for a boy, after he is taken in here, to reach the fii·::;t class. 

A. I cannot answer that; it would be a guess. ,v e have 

had boys reach the first clai:,s in two months, and others that 
didn't reach it in two years. 

By Mr. Gould : 

Q. Can you tell the size of the three classes to-day. 
A. I can tell you what they were the first of the month : 

73 in the first class, 1G in the second class and 21 in the third 
class. 

Q. Is that about the average proportion as it runs along 
from month to month. 

A. vVhen I came here the first class numbered 35 or 40, in 
a school of 120. Since that time, with an occasional ebbing 
and flowing, it has steadily increased. It has never been so 
large as now. 

Q. Have the commitments during the last year averaged as 
large as before. 

A. I should think not. 
Q. In regard to the class of offences for which boys have 

been committed since you took the school, have they increased 
in heinousness or are they milder. 

A. I cannot answer that without examining the books. 
My impression is that there has not been much change. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. Is the monthly report of the behavior of the boys sub-

mitted to the trustees. 
A. It is open to their inspection. 
Q. Do they meet here once a month. 
A. As a board they are required to meet once in three 

month~. One member of the board comes every month, and 
among the books presented to them is the grade book, ·which 
contains ths monthly record of the standing of the boyf:l. 
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Q. If a hoy has done well or ill is the account of that boy 

given to the trustees by you or some one for you. 

A. Our gra<le book shows whether the boy has done well 
or ill, and it is always before the trnstees. 

(-l, Is their attention called to individual cases of good or 
bad behavio1·. 

A. It il:l. 
(l How many merits does it take, or in what position 

must the boy be to receive a recommendation, or reward, or 

whatever it may he, from the trustees. 

A. I understand the trnstees have a rule that they will 

consider the case of no boy with reference to his discharge, 

until he has been here two years. At the expiration of that 

time, if his standi1w is in the first class and his record has .::, 

been a worthy one, they eonsicler and weigh the case, and de­

cide as they consider for the best interest of the boy. 

Q. Have those boys that are now out on leave been here 
two years. 

A. None less than that time. 

Q. A8 I understood you yesterday, there are some boys 
out on leave that their whereabouts are not known to the in­
stitution. 

A. That is true. 

Q. Arc these boys all cognizant ot these rules in relation 
to the grueling system. 

A. ,v e do our best to make it very plain to them. They 

are frequently spoken to in regard to the grades and the con­

ditiom; upon which the grades are based. They are spoken 

to as a school and as individuals. 

Q. And you think that they regard working on the farm as 

a higher and more desirable employment than work in the 

laundry or elsewhere. 

A. They do. 
Q. When this boy is finally allowed to go from the institu­

tion on leave, or is discharged, what does he receive from 

you or the trustees so that he has an opportunity to go out 

into the world not disgraced. Does he get any recommenda-
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tion from you or the trustees. In other words, is there any 
wny given to that boy by which everyone does not say 1T ou 
are a graduate of the Reform School." 

A. It is impossible to put the boy in such a position that 
those who wish cannot say he is a graduate of the Reform 
School. He is a graduate of the Reform School. 

Q. Do you ever give them a recommendation. 
A. We do. A bciy that goes out from the Reform School 

fa always recommended; not always in the same way. Al­
ways, if he wishes it, he is given a letter of recommendation. 

Q. Is it a printed letter. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Signed by you or by whom. 
A. Signed sometimes by me, sometimes by Mr. vVent­

worth, and sometimes by both of us. But the fact that the 
boy gets out of the school is a recommendation, since, under 
the present management and method of discharges· he can 
only go out when he is considered by the trustees reformed. 

Q. Is any exertion made to procure ths boy a place. 
A. Since I have been connected with the school no boy has 

gone out from it by honorable discharge or honorable leave 
without having a place or a home to go to. 

Q. You say the boys leave the institution without any mon­
ey unless they earn it. 

A. They are always provided with transportation to their 
homes or the place where they are to live. 

Q. Do boys sometimes object to going back to their homes 
where they formerly lived. 

A. Yes. I know one such case. 
Q. Do they generally desire to go back to the home from 

whence they came. 
A. They do. 
Q. What information have you to show that this institution 

reforms these boyr; that are discharged. 
A. I know from the record these boys discharged from 

the institution have made for themselves, since I have heen 
here. Further than that, I know in regard to many of the 
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boys discharged from the school before I came here, that a 

good proportion of them have made respectable citizens. 
Those discharged since I came here can hardly be called cit­
izens yet. 

Q. Have you heard from them so you are satisfied that 
they are leading an honest and upright life. 

A. Some of them, and some have gone to the bad. 
Q. ·what proportion have become goo9- citizens. 
A. Three-quarters of them. 
Q. Do they attribute it to the education they received here. 
A. Some of them do, but I have not interested myself to 

know in regard to that point. I know that boys who are 
sent here were not sent here because they were too good to 
stay at home, and I know that boys who are doing well out 
of here are better than they were before they came. It 
matters little to me what influences made the change so long 
as it exists. 

Q. Do they write to you after they leave here how they 
are doing. 

A. Boys who are committed to my care do. 
Q. You refer to those out on leave. 
A. Yes; and some that are discharged write to us. 
Q. Is there a writing given to a boy out on leave that he 

is out on leave by permission of the trustees. 
A. There is now. I submitted to the commissioners, yes­

terday, a form of blank which is filled up and given to the 
boy. 

Q. When was tlrnt first issued. 
A. Last spring. 
Q. Is that the same with a boy discharged from the insti­

tution. 
A. It is not. A hoy discharged from the institution is not 

afterwards responsible to the institution, and has no more 
connection with it than as if he had never been to it; but the 
boy out on leave is still connected with the institution and 
accountable to it. 
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Q. Here is a boy out on leave and neither you nor the trus­
tees know where he is, and he is leading a bad life, how do 
you or the trnstees get hold of him, or what steps are taken 
to bring him back here. 

A. Information comes to us in different ways, sometimes 
when it is sought for and sometimes through channels in 
which we are not expecting it, and the boy is brought hack 
by some officer of the institution or by some magistrate in the 
town or vicinity of where the boy is. 

Q. Is an effort made by the officers of the institution or 
by the trustees to bring back the boy if they hear that he is 
not doing as he ought to. 

A. If we know where he is. 
Q. But still there are boys out, belonging to the institu­

tion, that nobc,dy, so far as you know, really knows anything 
about them. 

A. No one connected with the institution, so far as I am 
aware of, knows anything about them. 

ci. Are the boys allowed to write letters to their friends. 
A. They are and required to~ 
Q. Are they allowed to receive letters. 
A. They are. 
Q. Do they take their letters from the mail-bag. 
A. They do not. All letters and papers, all reading mat­

ter coming to a boy in the school must first pass through the 
hands of myself or Mr. Wentworth. 

Q. Are they kept back from the boy if you think best. 

A. They are. 
Q. And if proper they are delivered to the boy. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Are the :mswers to these letters under your inspection. 
A. They are, and are all inspected by Mr. Wentworth or 

myself, usually by Mr. Wentworth. 
Q. Have there been any complaints of the treatment the 

hoys had received from any of employees of the institution 

to you. 
A. There have been. 
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Q. State what the boys complained of and give us a his­

tory of it as it occurred. 
A. I cannot promise to give you all that has occurred, and 

I cannot give the names, but I do know that complaints like 
this have come to me. A boy will say: "Mr. Farrington, 
has an officer any right to choke me?" I immediately look 
up the case and never have found that the hoy's version of 
the story was correct. I have never known of an instance 
where an officer has choked a hoy. If any complaint is made 
to me I always look it up. 
- Q. Was that the case that I have heard of where the en­

gineer had trouble with a boy. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Was not the engineer charged with, or complained_ of 

for choking a boy, or injuring a boy. 
A. No, sir, no complaint of that sort has ever been made 

to me by any hoy or any person connected with the institu­
tion. It was from outside. 

Q. Was it from the parents or guardian of the boy. 
A. It was not. It was from a man employed in painting 

the institution. 
Q. Did you investigate it. 
A. I did. 
Q. vVhat was the complaint made to you, what investiga­

tion did you make and what was tho result of it. 
A. On my return from Portland one day soon after noon, 

Mr. vVentworth, the assistant superintendent, said to me 
that Rankins, a boy employed in the back kitchen, had been 
insubordinate, had refused to obey the officer in charge of 
him and when, as I h~d previously requested, another officer 
interfered to prevent harm to the lady officer who had charge 
of the boy, he violently assaulted the officer who \vas tho en­
gineer. The engineer in self-defense and for the mainten­
ance of order seized hold of the boy, not hy the throat hut 
by the collar, and held him, and without using other violence 
than was necessary to restrain the boy sent immediately for 
the assistant superintendent, who promptly answered the 
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summons, when the engineer delivered the boy to him, and 
stated the case to him. Mr. Wentworth put the boy in con­
finement and reported the case to me. My investigation 

' ~ 
sustained the representations made to me by Mr. Wentworth. 
I considered the officer perfectly justified in what he did and 
so far from reproving him I repeated the directions that I 
had given him before-that in case it was necessary to pre­
vent violence in the rooµi where he has charge he should in­
terfere and inform as soon as possible the superior officers. 

Q. What was it that Rankins did. 
A. It was some misdemeanor which I do not now recall. 

The punishment book shows that he was impudent to Miss 
Swan, assaulted Mr. Griggs and used threatening language 
before. He was confined in the cell one week and given 
twelve blows on the hand by the assistant superintendent. 

Q. What was the nature of the assault upon the engineer. 
A. He came at the engineer threatening him in such a way 

that for his own protection the engineer took hold of the boy 
to prevent bodily harm to himself. 

Q. Was Rankins armed with anything. 
A. I do not remember; I don't know. 
Q. Is he a large, stout boy or a small boy. 
A. He is a large hoy. I don't mean ov,ergrown, but a. 

good sized boy about 17 years old. 
Q. Could the engineer handle him easily. 
A. He could handle him. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. What class was Rankins in. 
A. First class. 
Q. Was his language to Miss Swan impudent, profane or. 

vulgar language. 
A. I think she told hirp to sit down and he refnsed with 

insolent languag~ .. 

4 
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By Mr. Fox: 
Q. He then, U$ you riay, assaulted the enp:ineer and used 

imp1·opcr language towards him. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And he was punished by imprisonment for a week. 

Was that one of the instances in which he was put upon bread. 
and water. 

A. I am not aware that he had anything more. 
Q. Had Rankins made trouble before. 
A. He is a rebellious boy who at times has been quite 

troublesome. 
Q. How has he been since this confinement. 
A. He has conducted himself quite well. 
Q. What is he here for. 
A. The history shows, '' Alonzo Rankins, Hallowell, Me. 

Age, 10 years. Committed Sept. 20, 1876, by the municipal 
court. Height, 4 feet 5 inches. Offence, larceny of one 
dollar. Sentenced to Reform School during mmority. Alter­
nate sentence thirty days in jttil." 

Q. What is his grade within the last month. 
A. Sept.ember 1st his grade was Second Class "A," 15 

merits. October 1st, First Class "C," 20 merits. 
Q. · Have there been complaints made to you by guardians 

and parents of the boys in relation to their food and treat­
ment. 

A. The only instance of a complaint about food that I can 
recall is one that occurred soon after the papers began to 
publish certain statements that Gov. Plaisted made in differ­
ent towns and cities in regard to the treatment of the boys in 
the school. A mother came to visit her boy. She came up 
the steps shedding- tears, came in weeping and wanted to see 
her boy. The •0officer in attendance brought the boy in. As 
soon as the boy came in she rushed to him and weeping upon 
his neck btlgan to say: " How poor you are; there is hardly 
anything left of you," and making similar remarks. Her 
talk was such that the officer in charge sent for me. She 
began to speak of the sickly appearance of her boy, how 
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emanciated he was. I told her I thought the boy was very 
healthy. ''O !" she says, '' he don't have enough to eat; his 
looks show it." ",vhy ," said I, patting his face, '' he has 
good, full, ruddy cheeks, I'm sure, and looks well." I asked 
the boy if he was1·1't well -and he said he was. I asked 
him if he had enough to eat. He Raid he did. ''O, well," 
said she, "he was always a wise boy; he will not say he 
didn't have enough to eat before you. He iR a wise boy." I 
hid him to tell his mother what he had for dinner, and he 
told. I told him to tell her what he had for breakfast, and 
he told-bread and milk. "How much milk?" "A bowlful." 
'~ All you wanted?" ''Yes." "Did you have all the bread you 
wanted?" 1'Yes." "If you wanted more could you have had 
it?" "Yes." "vYas the bread and milk good?" "Yes." 
''Did you have anything else•?" "Yes, doughnuts." I then 
told him to tell his mother what he had the night before for 
1,upper. He said bread and milk, all he wanted; that it was 
good, and if he had wanted more he could have had it. I 
asked him if there was more on the table, and he didn't know, 
hut said if he had wanted more McGovern would have· 
brought him some. McGovern is the hoy whose business it 
i:-; to see that the boys are all supplied with what bread they 
"'ill eat. I asked him if he had anything else for supper, and 
he said "Yes, a doughnut.'' I turned to his mother nnd snys, 
·~ You sec your· hoy hns enough to eat, isn't it good food?"· 
She said she thought it was. She evidently felt better, but 
she says, "They are talking about it and there must be some-· 
thing in it." "Well," said I, "here is the boy, and he speaks 
for himself." She says, "The Governor wouldn't say so if· 
it was not so." I told her, to my knowledge, all the boys 
had enough to eat and of good and suitable food; that I was 
responsible for the feeding of the boys, and I knew that they 
were well fed, hut I was not responsible for what the Gover­
nor said. I don't rernemh('r of any other instance where par­

t'nts have complained of the food that their boys had. 
Q. How about the treatment. 
A. I recall two cases in which the mothers have complained 

that their boys were put down in their grade or given dcmer-
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its for insufficient reasons. I don't recall that any parent or 
guardian has ever complained to me of the corporal punish­
ment that any hoy has received. Expressiolls like this have 
been used, such an officer" is down on my boy and gives him 
demerits, so he can't get up in his grade" and in one case 
where I gave the demerits myself and it pnt the hoy down 
from the first to second class, the mother \Vas very sure that 
I was unjust and unkind. I said to her, '' your boy is put in 
my care, he is capable of making a good honest man. You 
have failed in your treatment of the boy and I must pursue 
methods in his training which my own judg1nent approves, 
and I shall do it. I am sure that my treatment of him, 
although it seems to you severe, is really kind, and while I 
-sympathize with you in your feelings, I must and shall do 
what I think is right." 

Q. Thesp, are all the complaints that have been made to 
you by guardians, parents or persons having the care of these 
boys. 

A. I recall no other complaints. 
Q. Have not the boys made complaints in relation to their 

treatment while they were sleeping, by the watchman. 
A. I am not aware that they have made any complaints to 

me of their treatment while sleeping, by the watchman. 
Q. Have not instances occurred in which the boys have 

he€n awakened by being struck or whipped in some way. 
A. It came to my knowledge that boys had been awakened 

by the watchman by striking them. As soon as it came to 
my knowledge, or as soon after as I could do so, I removed 
the watchman and supplied his place. 

Q. By the one th:1t is holding his position now. 
A. The same. For some time we were obliged to fill the 

place among us by doing extra duty. I watched in the dor­
mitory myself two whole nigl1ts. 

Q. Have not the boys at times, when asleep, been pulled 
out of bed. 
, A. There are from 15 to 25 boys, the number varies, whom 
we must awaken from one to three times during the night 
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and see that they use the can, or urinal. to prevent their wet­
ting the bed. You know how soundly boys sleep, and how 
difficult it is to wake them up, and they must be awake or 

else they cannot go to the can and use it. They must be 

sufficiently awake to conduct themselves intelligently while 

there, or they urinate on the floor. There are usually twenty 

such boys, and it takes time to awaken each one and see that 

he goes to the can and uses it intelligently and properly. 

The officers are instructed to use the boys as kindly and 

gently as the discharge of their duties will permit. If a boy 

cannot be awakened by lightly touching him he must be 

shaken, and if that does not do it he must be taken from the 
bed and stood on his feet and held there and talked to until 

he is a wake enough to walk to the can. I have done this so 

many times myself that I speak from experience. 
Q. Has undue violence been used in awakening the boys. 

A. Except in the case of the watchman, not at all so far as 

I know; and in that case I am confident no boy ever com­

plained to me of his treatment of him. Indeed, a senrch ing 
investigation was made, and every boy said he had never men­
tioned it to tL.e assistant superintendent nor the superinten­
dent. 

Q. ·w us that the case that has been mentioned of the 
watchman using a vvindow cord. 

A. It is. 
Q. ·what wns his name. 
A. D. W. Freese. 
Q. Suppose a boy thinks he is wronged in this institution 

by the food he receives, as to quantity or quality, or that he 

has been treated unjustly, or assaulted in any wny, and he 

writes that in a letter to send to his parents or guar<lian, is 
that in anyway suppressed by you or any officer of the in­

stitution. 
A. No officer in the institution has authority to suppress 

any letter or written communication, exceptrng Mr. Went­
worth or myself. No officer in the institution has any right 

to pass any letter or written communication from any boy to 
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and party outside. All such communications must go through 

Mr vV entworth or myself. Boys have sometimes written in 

these letters statements, and have made requests which they 

were not allowed to send off. 
Q. What was the nature of them. 

A. Some boys have a begging nature and wish to impor­

tune their friends for things which it would not be proper for 
them to have here, and in other cases for articles which the 

institution provides in abundance. I don't know that in any 

case we allow them to send for these articles. A boy has 

been known to invite his friends to come here, telling them 

they could stay at the institution, and he· was required to 

change that so it did not contain that statement. I cannot re­

call any instance in which boys have complained of their 

treatment, but I think it is very possible that they have done 

it, and I am sure if they have put such expressions into their 

letters they were not allowed to go. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. vVould the letter be destroyed, or returned to the boy. 
A. Returned to the l~oy to be re-l\Titten. Every hoy i:s 

required to write home once a month, or to some friend. In 
case the boy cannot write he has to dictate a letter to some 

hoy who can write. 
Q. Is there any inst:rnce of a boy making a complaint 

about his treatment or food which you have suppressed. 

A. NoJ sir, not that I recollect of. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. Is there any instance where you have called the boy's 

attention to it, and asked him why he undertook to send out 

such a communication. 

A. None that I recollect of. 

Q. Those that you say were suppressed, did the boy 

destroy the letter, or what was done with it. 

A. The letter was retained and a new copy 1-ent. The 

original was destroyed by the officer. 
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Q. Was the new letter written in place of it, dictated by 
the officer or the boy. 

A. ,v e never dictate letters. Boys that cannot write let­
ters sometimes have a model put on the board for them to 
follow. 

Q. ,vhen the boy wrote a letter that was suppressed and 
wrote another, wasn't his attention called to the fact that he 
had made a misstatement. 

A. Yes ; that he had misrepresented. 
Q. Wasn't he punishe<l for that. 
A. He was not ; he was reproved and required to write 

the letter properly. 
Q. After the assertions of Governor Plaisted were pub­

lished in the papers, did the boys in any way obtain informa­
tion of it. 

A. They did not obtain definite information in regard to 
it, to my knmvledge, until within n, week, and they obtained 
it then through a paper that was placed over the fkrwers in 
the btds to protect them from frost. It had been taken 
off and laid besi<le the plants that it covered during the 
night, and the wind blew it out into the roadway. The 
farmer came along with his boys from their work, and one of 

the boys picked up the paper, saying, "Mr. vVoodward, may 
I have thi.;;?" He said yes, and the boy read it. It chanced 
to contain some editorial comments upon statements the gov­
ernor had made in regard to the school. 

Q. Did the boy communicate it to the other boys. 
A. The paper went the rounds of the school. 
Q. To your knowledge, were there any remarks made by 

the boys as to whether the statements of the governor were 
false or true. 

A. The boys made no remarks to me about it; all the in­
formation l had 'was hearsay. 

Q. Was there any attempt on the part of any of the offi­
cers to suppress the informntion, or not to allow the boys to 
converse about it. 

A. Not any. 
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Q. They were allowed to talk about that the same as about 

other things. 
A. I do not know of any officer that interfered. 

Q. You don't know whether it wus a matter of particular 

conversation or not. 

A. I know that it was. 

Q. Did it go into all classes. 

A. I have every reason to believe it did. 

Q. Do you know, from your own knowledge, from these 

boys, whether they ever acted in any way upon what is con­

tained in the paper the boy read, and if so, what conclusions 

they came to about it? What information or impressions 

have you about it. 

A. My information about it is this: The article contained 

in the paper was an editorial treating the statements of the 

governor sarcastically, an<l it went on to say that srnce only 

good boys are sent to this institution they should, of course, 

he :1llowed the liberty of the buildings and grounds, and no 
door should he locked; more than that, the boys should be 
fumished with keys, so if a door was locked they could go 

wherever they wished. The article spoke of the school as 

the " Starvation School," and of the neglect of the sick boy, 
and touched upon most of the statements the governor made. 
The paper wns iThe Portland Press." The boys took the 

article in earnest and thought the governor believed the boys 

shoulJ have keys and that that was his attitude towards the 

school; that instead of the school caring for the boys they 

were to nm the school. The whole thing was ridiculous and 

laughable, although it had a serious aspect. 

Q. From that communication which the boys read, has 

there been anything since showing that they took sides­

believing that the governor was their friend and other parties 

were not their friends. 

A. There has nothing developed so far as I know which 
can be called the taking of sides on the part of the boys, 

setting themselves against the school and with the governor. 

The clannish spirit which existed here two years and a half 
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ago, and which had this occurred at that time would have 

nearly broken up the school, is dead, and the boys do not 
range themselve::, into parties as against the school and 
officers and against the discipline. They receive such state­
ments as that when they can get them and comment upon 
them, tnlk about it among themselves and of course they 
enjoy it. 

Q. They do not, so far as you know or surmise, think that 
the governor is any more their friend than you are. 

A. I imagine they think him less their friend than I am, 

for every man, be he as wicked as he may, knows that the 
man who encourages him in wickedness is not his friend, 
however much he may like it. He also knows that the man 

who tries to make him a better boy, little as he may like to 
be made a better boy, is his friend. 

Q. You do not wish to he understood as saying that Gov­
ernor Plaisted encourages them in wickedness. 

A. I do not change my remark. 
Q. I want to get at what has grown out of this if anything. 

Has it led the boys to feel that they have got a portion of the 
community to side as their friends and others opposed to 
them. 

A. Had these statements gone into the school immediately 
after they were made, and been allowed to go through the 
school as they went through the community outside, the boys 
would have snid: '' The governor is our friend, we can do as 

we are a mind to, the officers are enemies holding us under 
improper restraint, treating us improperly, don't give us 
sufficient food, don't grant us the opportunities we ought to 
have," and they would immediately have ranged themselves 

against the school, and, as they would fancy, whether right 

or wrong in that opinion, with the governor. 
Q. That being your view of it, you took means to prevent 

the statements of the governor getting into the school, and 

as for as you know they were succesi:-ful until about a week 

ago. 
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A. Yes. I took the papers as they came :rnd put them 

awny. One day I told my son to get some papers to cover 

up the plants, never imagining that he would gPt one of these 

papers I had put away, but among the papers he_ brought out 

was this one. 

Q. There is no political or religious creed or test in the 

school, is thern. 

A. There is nothing of a political or religious test encour­

aged in this school. 

Q. Has any hoy to your knowledge ever been punL,hed for 
taking sides politically. 

A. I know that since the 14th day of April, 1880, no boy 

has lwen punished, or in any way reproved, or in any way 

frowned upon, or made to feel that anyone disapproved of 

any political or religious opinions, preferences, likes or dis­

likes that he may have or claim to have. 

By Mr. Bowers: 

Q. Yuu fix that date, the 14th day of April hecause that 

was the beginning of your service as superintendent. 

A. Yes, that is the day I came here. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are any of the boys that come here unable to read or 

write. 
A. They are. 
Q. The school hours here are about five hours a day. 

A. Yes. 

Q. vVhen a boy leaves the institution, if he is a boy of any 

intellect, what is the highest study he has pursued. 

A. The studies pursued are reading, arithmetic, grammar, 
geograi)!iy, book-keeping, writing, nnd particular attention is 

given to letter writing, teaching the boys to compose and 

constrnct sentences properly. 
Q. Are these compositions and the studies brought to the 

a.ttentiou of the trustees. 

A. They are. 
Q. How often. 
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A. I cannot answer that question specifically. When the 
trustees meet they visit the school and are given such facili­
ties of examination as they may wish. 

Q. One of the trustees is supposed to visit the institution 
every month. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does he make a record of it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. I see by this book containing the trustees~ visits, that 

they do not run right along consecutively. Is this the only 
book of the kind. 
. A. That is the only book I have. There have been cases 
where a trustee has been here, gone aw~y unexpectedly and 
deferred making his record there until another time. 

Q. Are these studies and the proficiency of the boys in 
them brought to the attention of the trnstees. 

A. The trustees come here and examine the institution; 
their nrc supposed to know their duties and perform them; 
they arc supposed to go through the building and around 
outside, thrnugh the schools and ::;hops and make snch inves­
tigation and observation and ask such questions as shall assist 
them in thoroughly understanding the condition and state of 

the school. They follow their own judgment I presume in 
regard to that. 

Q. They are presumed to kn.ow what is going on in the 
institution, and also know the treatment of the boys and 
everything about them. 

A. There is no reason why they should not and I presume 
they do. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Since you have been here have there been any investi­

gations by the trustees as to the treatment of the boys, to 
your knowledge. 

A. There has been. 
Q. How many times. 
A. On one occasion. 
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Q. ·when was that. 

A. TuC'sday, September 5th, 1882. 

Q. Do you know whether they made uny report. 

A. I am not aware that they made any report. I do not 
know the action. 

Q. ,vould you prefer to make any statements of the mat­
ters investigated by them and make any explanations or wait 
until there is other testimony about it, if there is any. 

A. So for as I know their investigation covered the case 

of Rankins and the engineer, of which I have told you all 

that I know, the case of the watchman and his treatment of 

the boys of which I have given you the substance. In regar<;l 

to the investigation of the treatmrnt of the boys by the 

watchman, every boy was asked if he had said anything 

about it to the superintendent or assistant superintendent, 

and they nll said: ''No." Upon being asked if they were 
nfraid to tell them, they invariably replied, '1 No, they 

felt that he was their friend." They were asked if they 
fenred the re~mlt of their speaking to him, :ind the rcp]y was, 
"No, we hnve nothing to f€ar." They were u~ked if they 
supposPd their complaints would have been noticed if they 
spoke to the superintelldent, and they invariahly replied, 
'~ That they thought it would." "\Vhen asked why they didn't 
make complaints, one boy said the watchman always treated 
them well before and he didn't want to say anything against 

him. Other boys said, '1 I don't know; havn't auy reason." 

But it was clearly brought out that they were perfectly free 

to mention such matters to the superintendent and the assist­
ant P.upcrintendent, that thPy frequently did go to these 
officers nnd received a kind and attentive hearing, and their 

complaints were noticed, the grounds of them looked up and 

justice done. They were asked if they supposed or had 
ren~on to believe in case they made complaint to tlie super­
intendent or the assistant superintendent, their complaints 
would he noticed and corrected, and they invariably stated 

that they did believe if they had mentioned the matter 
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to either of us we ~hould have looked into it and protected 
the boys. 

ci. Had you at any time allowed yourself to talk with these 
boys in relation to the investigation or what they should tes­
ti(y to. 

A. Never, in any form or way. 
Q. Nor any of the officers. 
A. I know of no officer that did it, and I don't believe 

they ever did. 
Q. Here is an article cut from a newspaper, containing 

this assertion :-
''Mr. Higgins has seP.n as many as twelve boys standing in 

the dormito~ at a time, where they had to remain un.til 12 
o'clock at night, many of them bent over so that their hands 
would touch their toes, and others looking directly at one 
object, without taking their eyes off. This is called ''medi­
tation," and the punishment was because the boys whispered 
while on parade. Others have to stand on the line, as it is 
called, not daring to move a muscle, for hours at a time. 

* * * * * * 
"Boys are also compelled to stand in the dining room look­

ing at the tables, but are forbidden to touch food, being de­
prived of their dinners a week at a time." What have you 
to say about that. 

A. The watchman has nothing to do with the boys on pa­
rade. One of the rules of the institution is that no officer 
shall put his boys under the care of another officer to be ptin­
ished by him. For instance, if one of the yard officers wishes 
some boy to receive a light punishment for disorder on parade 
he has no right to stand them up in the dormitory under the 

watchman. 
' We have a class called the "class in meditation," and it is 

held in the school room. It is for boys who have been dis­
orderly in the dining room and failed to do their weekly 
stints. The boys are deprived· of their play for a certain 
time, and to deprive them of their play they stand in the 
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large room, under the care of an officer, while the other boys 
are at play. 

Q. liow are they compelled to stand. 
A. They stand quietly, not Iooki1~g at any one. point, and 

not in any constrained position. If a boy on the line, m the 
class of meditation, is very disorderly, the officer frequently 
tells him to stoop and touch his toes, and he is required to 
remain in that position for some minutes, until he has learned 
to do better. When boys are standing in the class in medi­
tation they frequently ask to be allowed to touch their toes. 
"Why?" "I am tired standing, and I rather touch my toes." 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. How long does a boy have to stand in tha~position. 
A. It depends altogether on the incorrigibility of the boy. 
Q. Give the limits of the time if you can. 
A. Possibly, in the most aggarvated cases a boy may stand 

twenty or thirty minutes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do boy:; in that position ever complain of vertigo or 

faintness. 
A. Never. If he is tired and wants to get up, he raises 

his hand and we usually allow him to git up and rest. If a 

boy is put in that position it is because he compels the officer 
to do it. 

Q. Look at the other charges in the article and see if you 
have anything to say further. 

[Witness takes the printed slip and reads.] 

A. "Others looking directly at one object without taking 
their eyes off." If that was true it was where the boy bad 
been looking round and would not be quiet, and he was told 
to look at one object for a time to keep him quiet. He is not 
compel]ed to do it long enough to cause him pnin, but only 
to keep him in a quiet position. '' Others have to stand on 
the line, as it is called, not daring to move a muscle, for 
hours at a time." I have no doubt that boys have stood on a 
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line for hours, but that they <.lid not dare to move a muscle is 
false. 

Q. Are they compelled to toe a line. 
A. \'Ve require them to stand on a line as you would a 

class in spelling, but not to keep their toes to one mark. 
"Boys are also compelled to stand in the dining roc>m look­

ing at the tables, but are forbidden to touch food, being de­
prived of their dinners a week at a time." That is utterly 
false; not one word of truth in it. 

''The boys in the chair shop are given a certain stint to do, 
and if they fall behind they are compelled to work over 
hours and go without food." They are never compel1ed to go 
without food. Tney are sometimes allowed to work over 
hours to make up their stint, at their own request, and as I 
explained last evening in regard to boys who work in the 
cells, they are compelled to work over hours simply because 
they will not work during working hours. 

Last year, a year ago this summer, I tried for a few eve­
nings putting boys that were behind on their stints in the two 
chair shops under their officers for an honr or two in the eve­
nin_g-. The boys laughed about it, and said they liked it and 
had good times; and, really, the danger was, that most of 
the boys in the shop would fall behind and go in with them. 
It proved to be also a tax on the officers, which they could 
not stnnd, and it was given up. It was simply an experi­
ment of which I speak so as to tell the whole truth. 

"One of the boys had some trouble with the watchman 
and was given an extra year's sentence." I do not know what 
that means. We have no pmver, neither have the trustees, 
nor has any tribunal, court or officer in the State, the power 
to prolong or extend a boy's sentence. Of course that is 
utterly false. 

"The boys are supposed to wake at a certain hour in the 
morning. The watchman goes through the dormitory and 
hits each boy a rap on the head with a piece of rope to wake 
them, instead of quietly touching them; that would be too 
humane." There is not even the semblance of truth in that. 
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It is utterly false. The watchman never did it; he could not 
do it. He rings a bell and the boys all over the dormitory 
get up. Certain boys are appointed monitors, and if any boy 
is not awakened by the bell, these monitors awaken them; 
and from the time the bell is rung the watchman stands in 
one position where he can observe the whole of them and see 
that they maintain order; that is all he can do. Conduct 
like this mentioned in this article is simply impossible. 

"Bread so sour the boys could not eat it was often placed 
on the table." That is false; the boys have good hread. 
The commissioners have seen the bread which the boys have, 
and it is a fair average sample of the bread. 

Q. Is there any unwholesome character about any of the 
food that you give the boys that you know of. 

A. None so far as I know. If I knew of any it would he 
righted and would not be allowed. 

Q. Any of it tainted. 
A. I never heard any complaint in regard to any meat or 

food of any sort being tainted. As to the meat, we use from 
the same lot .. 

Q. Has the treatment of these boys been changed by you 
• or any one under you, or have any different regulations been 

adopted by you or the trustees since Governor Plaisted made 
the charges. 

A. vVe are continually making improvements in our man­
agement of the school and some of our changes may haYe 
occurred since Governor Plaisted made his charges against 
the school, but the charges of the governor have not influ­
enced us in our maPagemcnt of the school at all. 

Q. Arc you any more severe in your treatment of the boys 
or any more lenient because of these charges. 

A. I am not. 
Q. Have you directly or indirectly any knowledge of any 

person suppressing any facts or any kind of information that 
we should have to aid us in this investigation. 

A. I have no knowledge or suspicion. 
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Q. Has any boy been allowed to leave the school, or any 
officer allowed to leave it, that could give us any information 
in regard to these charges as to the treatment of the boys. 

A. No officer or boy connected with this institution has 
been sent away or allowed to go away from the institution 
because they could give you information with regard to any 
occurrences in the school. It is fair to presume that officers 
and boys who have been connected with the school would, 
were they here, be able to tell you some things that have oc­
curred in the school. Mr. Freese could, of course, tell you 
something about the charges, for he was sent away for the 
things that he did. 

Q. Can Mr. Freese or any boys that are away give us any 
information that will tend to .substantiate any of the charges 
that have been read from this article in the newspaper. 

A. No, sir. I have pronounced them utterly fals~, and 
false statements cannot be substantiated. 

Q. So far as you n,re concerned you are perfectly wi~ling 
that we should call upon any of the parties that are out on 
leave or that have been employed here. 

A. Perfectly. 

By Mr.- Haskell: 
Q. I have here the book of punishments, beginning the 

first of May. w· ere these punishments all inflicted. 
A. They were. 
Q. Are the offences properly and fairly described upon 

which the punishments followed. 
A. So far as I know they are. They might be fuller, hut 

they are as fairly defined ns can be done by the number of 
words used. 

Q. The first one I see here is the case of Bain. The 
record is this: '' May 4th, D. W. Freese, watchman. Night 
after night this l,oy was reported for disorder in the dormitory 
and there seems to be no way to prevent this disorder hut to 
isolate him from the rest of the boys, a1,1d so one of the cells 
was prepared for his occupancy, and being fitted up with a 

5 
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bu11k and suitable bedding, he slept in that place two 

months-being placed there at bed-time and removed early 

in the moming. Although this was not done for punishment 

but to keep him from the other bo_ys and out of temptation, 

it is thought to be prudent to make this entry." · What was 

the nature of that disorder. 
A. The boy at that time was in the third class and they 

slept in the corridor. You can see that boys sleeping there 

were out from under the imriiediate eye of the officer in 
charge of the dormitory. Bain is one of those irrepressible 

boys who cannot be controlled by words and whose word is 

not always to be depended upon, and he was accustomed 

when passing by the beds of the boys to snatch off the 

clothes or pull a boy's hair and annoy them in a great many 

ways. He disturbed and troubled them to such an extent 

that it became necessary for the comfort of the boys sleeping 

on the corridor with him and for the maintenance of order, 
to devise some way by which he ·could be kept quiet. We 
wished to put him in some place where he would be wnrm 
and comfortable, perfectly secure from harm and in safe 
keeping. The only place available was one of the cells. 

Q. vYhat did he have for a bed. 
A. A wooden bench. 
Q. A straw sack. 

A. He did not; he had blankets and a pillow. He had as 

many blankets as he needed to make him comfortable. 

Q. I see here, June 3d, Goyette and Hamill escaped from 

the dormitory; did they get away from the grounds. 
A. They escaped from the dormitory in the night; they 

got a way from the school but were brought back early the 
next forenoon. 

Q. Did you or your officers retake them. 
A. One of ihe officers retook them. 
Q. How old are they. 

A. Hamill is about fourteen and Goyette fifteen. 
Q. What class were they in. 
A. The first class. 
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Q. tTuly 22d, Bain is punished again by confinement in the 
towt•r every night and the watchman releasing him, every 
morning. ,¥hat were his quarters in the tower. 

A. It is an octagon room about twelve feet in diameter. 
Q. What did he have to sleep on. 
A. Blankets on the floor. 
Q. Any bed. 
A. No. 
Q. Any pillow. 
A. No other· than blankets. 
Q. How many blankets. 
A. I cannot say from personal knowledge but all h,e, asked'. 

for. 
Q. It seems that he was allowed to resume his place in the­

dormitory on promise of good behavior, August 2d. 
A. Yes~ about that time a change was made in the position, 

the third class occupied in the dormitory; they were removed 
to trH' lal'ge hall on the floor occupied by the othee classes. 

Q. vVas the room in the tower uncomfortably warm. at 
that time of year. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. vVhat class is Bain in now. 
A. The third class. 
Q. Has he ever earned any merit marks beside the two, 

merits a day tlrnt is allowed every boy. 
A. The Assistant Superintendent can inform. you; 1 can-

not. 

Q. What was he sent here for. 
A. Truancy. 
Q. Are there any unusual punishments C6ntainecl' in·this 

hook since the date I have read, that you are aw.are of. 
A. None that I am aware of. 
Q. I see this record ends July 31st, 1882; is. there anything 

to ,supplement it. 
A. The record is made up quarterly. Here are the punish­

ment blanks for August and September, from which the rec­
ord is made up. [Witness produces two packag_es of papers. J 
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Q. Are the punishments contained in this hook, from May 
to August 1st, about as they average. 

A. They are. 
Q. Here is a punishment slip ·which says that Douglass was 

confined in the tower three days, and the offence ·was plan­
ning to run away, getting up from bed and running down 
stairs to see where the watchman was. 

A. He was a third class boy, and was caught running 
down stairs to see where the watchman was. He said he was 
planning to escape. 

Q. ·will you have copied for us the record of punishments 
from May 1st to August 1st, as a sample of what is inflicted 
in the school. 

A. I will. 

E. P. Wentworth sworn by Mr. Fox, testified as follows: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been connected with the institution. 
A. Since the 10th of March, 1878 with the exception of 

five months in 1879 and 1880. 
Q. Do you know of any cases of severe punishment that 

any of these boys have received within the last year or so. 
A. I do not. I have known of slight things being done 

which I thought should not be done and those I have invari­
ably reported to the superintendent. I have never known 
of a case where a hoy ·was abm,ed in any way. 

Q. Do you know of any case where a boy has been disa­
bled for a time by the punh-hincnt he received. 

A. I know that no boy has ever heen disabled by any 
punishment. 

Q. Is the boy that is punished upon the hand able to pros­
ecute his work immediately after the punishment. 

A. I never knew one instance ·where he was not able to go 
to work immediately after being punished. 

Q. Ever know the skin to be broken or blood to be brought 
by any blows. 
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A. I never have. 
Q. Have you witnessed any punishment upon the person 

of the boys other than by the ferule. 
A. I never have. 

Q. That is the only punishment upon the person that you 
know of. 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. Have any of the other employees punished the boys in 

any other way that you know of. 

A. I <lo not know of any employee ever punishing boys 
except on one occasion when the superintendent was sick 

abed an<l I was sick abed. I think some officer was author-• 

ized in a very few instances to inflict punishment with a ruler 

upon the hand. That was within a month or two of .Mr. 
Farrington's coming here. 

Q. How is it about the boys being punished, if you know 

anything about it, by any of the persons that have been 

discharged. 
A. All I know in reference to that is what Mr. Farrington 

has already stated. I was present when these facts came to 

Mr. Farrington's notice and they came to my notice at the 
same time and in the same way. The watchman had a piece 
of ·window cord with which he sometimes struck the boys. 

I learned of it at the same time the superintendent did. 
Q. Do yon know whether the boys were awake or asleep 

at the time he struck them. 
A. I think asleep,-all of them. 
Q. Did the boys suffer in their person at all from the blows. 

A. Not much, they did some. 

Q. Were they lame. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Blood brought. 
A. No sir, the skin wasn't injured at all. 

Q. vVho is the Higgins that was here and who is mentioned 

in the article which Mr. Farrington has testified about. 

A. He was a painter in the employ of .Mr. Doughty, who 

had the contract to paint the building. 
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Q. How long was he about here. 
A. The most of the time for a month or more. 
Q. Did he converse with the boys from day to day. 
A. I don't know that I have observed him conversing with 

them, but I know that he did from what I heard people say. 
Q. You have read his statements in relation to choking the 

boy by the engineer, do you know anything about it of your 
own knowledge. 

A. One morning I was going into the first class chair shop 
and the watchman came to me and said that Mr. Griggs 
wanted me in the kitchen, wanted to see me in reference to a 
boy. I was just going into the chair shop to attend tc another 
duty and I told him I would be there as soon as I could at~ 
tend to that. Then I thought there might be a hurry about 
it, although the watchman didn't appear to be in .1 hurry, and 
I asked if he wanted to see me right away and he said he 
guessed he did, for he was holding a boy and waiting for me 
to come. Upon hearing that I started immediately for the 
kitchen and when I arrived there the lwy was on the floor and 
the engineer holding him there. 

Q. In what way was he holding him. 
A. I am not positive; be bad his hands on the upper part of 

his body, he might have had 'his bands on his shoulders. 
A. Did he have him by the throat. 
Q. I can't say whether he did or not. I didn't see that he 

did. The boy was kicking violently and I heard Mr. Grigg~ 
say to him as I went round the corner, ~~ I will let you up if 

you wiH be quiet," and the boy says, ~~ If I get up 1'11 mur<lcr 
you." I stepped along aucl told Mr. Griggs to let the hoy 
get up, ·which he did, and I took the boy to the cell and locked 
him in. Then I went to l\lr. Farrington'::, room to ascertain 
jf he was up, and found he was. He had been sick. I rP­
lated the circumstances to him and he said he thought the 
boy· deserved punishment in addition to being lock8d up, 
and told me to take the ruler and give him such punishment 
as I thought he deserved. I talked with Mr. Fanington in 
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relation to it and then went up and gave him twelve blows on 
the hand. 

Q,. Did the boy cry. 
A. I don't think he did. He promised that he would be a 

good boy. 
Q. Ha_d Higgins an opportunity to see this fracas. 
A. He might have been in the doorway, or he may have 

been looking through the window. He was not in the room. 
Q. Who was ~~ Jumbo," spoken of in the article. 
A. The watchman. 
Q. Higgins charges that "Jumbo" used profane language, 

and said he would have killed the boy, or words to that 
effect. 

A. Higgins says he used such language, but I know noth­
ing in reference to that. I never heard the watchman make 
use of such language. He didn't say anything of the kind 
when I was there. 

Q. Do you know what this boy, Perkins, did, or what he 

had said. 
A. As soon as I locked the boy up I took Mr. Griggs out 

and talked with him about it, and I had asked Mr. Griggs 
something about it before locking the boy up. He told me 
the boy was very abusive to Miss Swtm; that she told him 
to sit down and stop hi::, talk, but he continued abusive ; that 
then he, Griggs, stepped out and told the boy he better sit 
down and keep quiet, whereupon the boy sprang" upon him 
and used threatening language; but" I have forgotten what 
the language was. The idea was that he just as lief murder 
him as not. 

Q. Did the hoy touch Griggs. 
A. I think Griggs told me he sprang as though he meant 

t0 seize him, not to strike him, but to seize him by the throat. 
That was theimpression I got'from Mr. Griggs. 

Q. Did you have any conversation with Miss Swan. 
A. I did. 
Q. Did she corroborate this statement. 
A. She did. 
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Q. Diel you talk with the boy. 

A. I did. 

Q. Diel he deny or confess it. 
A. He admitted the statement-the greater part of it. I 

don't know that he denied any part of it. He admitted using 

the language. 

Q. The boy was not armed when he sprang toward Griggs, 

was he. 
A. Not that I know of, hut Mr. Griggs was afraid he 

would he armed because there are al ways utensils around that 

he might seize. Mr. Griggs told me at the time particularly, 

that he didn't strike the boy, hnt all he did to him was to 

hold him until I came. He said he was afraid if he let him 

get up he might get something and go at him, because the 

boy said he would murder him if he got up. 

Q. "\Vho, of the boys were there at the time. 

A. I think all the kitchen boys were there. There are six 

kitchen boys, and the other five were probably there. Some 

of them were in the room. 
Q. Any other employees there. 

A. Mr. Bahbidge was there and saw a part of it. 
Q. Diel these boys that were there inform the other boys 

of it and what Rankins was locked up for. 

A. I have no doubt of it; they always do do so. I don't 

think a boy is ever punished but what every other boy knows 
what it is for and all about it. 

Q. Are the punishments made public in any way. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. If punishment is inflicted upon a boy is it known by 

anyone except those present unless the boy tells of it. 

A. Quite often a good many boys are talked with hi 
reference to it. For im,tance, a boy commits an offence and 

in ascertaining the facts about it a dozen boys may be talked 

with, and they may be informed that this boy has been pun­

ished. vV e do not make it a rule to go round and notify the 
boys that another boy has been punished. 
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By }\fr. Haskell: 
Q. Does the hoy know what punishment he is to receive 

before it is inflicted. 
A. Not usually, but a boy knows when he commits an 

offence what the punishment will probably be if he is de­
tected. 

By -:\fr. Gould: 
Q. Is the punishment private or public. 
A. It is ustrn}ly done in one of the school rooms, and 

sometimes boys are there and see it and sometimes not. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. In what way do these boys know the rules and regula­

tions; how do you instil it into their minds. 
A. vVe tell them a great many things. Every few days 

they are told something either in the school room or wherever 
they may be; they arc told what the rules arc. 

Q. Do you yourself ever tell them what the rules are. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you tell them that they have a perfect right to come 

to you or the superintendent and make complaints. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they come to you and make complaints. 
A. They do quite often. 
Q. ·what is the nature of the complaints. 
A. Usually very trivial, and usually it is a clear case that 

the boy himself is in the wrong. Oftentimes the hoy will 
afterwards come and admit that he told me an untruth. 

Q. Is he punished for that falsehood. 
A. No, sir; if a boy tells a falsehood and comes afterwards 

and tells me about it, I think the confession is punishment 
enough. I talk with him in regard to the wickedness of 
doing such things, and I think it has a better effect upon the 
boy than punishment would. 

Q. Have the boys at any time complained of the treatment 

they received from other boys. 
A. Sometimes. 
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Q. Has there been any cruelty practiced by one boy 
towards another. 

A. Once in a while two boys will get to fighting. For­
merly it was a frequent occurrence, but lately it is very 
seldom. 

Q. Is that at recess. 
A. U sunlly; and grows out of something connected with 

their play. 
Q. Are the boys that fight punished for it. 
A. Usually they are. 
Q. Punished severely. 
A. That depends upon circumstances. Often times I have 

stood two boys up in the corner together, telling them that 
they had fallen out over nothing and they might stand in the 
corner and play or talk but to stand there until they were 

good friends and then to let me know. They would stand 
there for a day or two while the others were at play, get to 
be friends, then come and tell me and go to play with the 
rest of the boys. vVhere a boy makes a desperate assault 
upon another boy, he would be turned over to the superin­
tendent to be punished by being whipped or such other 
punbhment as he saw fit. 

Q. Has there been any desperate assault hy one boy upon 
another. 

A. I do not recollect of any recently. I don't know as I 
do since :Mr. Farrington has been here. I know of instances 
before that. I remember of one instance where a boy took a 
chair frame and struck another on top of the hrn<l, cutting a 

long gash. The blow was sufficient to kill the boy, if it had 
struck him in a different place. 

Q. '\Yhat was the nature of that punishment. 
A. I think he was locked up in a cell and nftenvards 

remanded to his alternate sentence. That ,vas before Mr. 
Farrington came here. 

Q. Have the boys ever complained to you in relation to 
the food. 

A. They have. 
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Q. ·what was the nature of that complaint. 

A. They complained once that they didn't like corned beef; 
they said they had all the meat they wanted and they would 

rather have breal1 ai1d molasses. 

Q. Have you known of any instance in which the food was 

tainted, or not properly cooked. 

A. I have never known an instance where the meat was 

not properly cooked, and good meat .• I once went into the 
dining room and there was some bread on the table which I 
did not think was very good. A boy rnised his lrnnd and 

wanted to k11ow if they had got to eat that bread. I told the 

man in charge of the table that it wasn't suitable. I after­

,varcls learned that it got in there by mi.:5take. I immediately 

removed it and said in a tone loud enough to be heard by all 

the boys in the room, that no boy was expected to eat bread 

that was not good enough for anybody to eat. 
Q. How long ugo was this. 

A. A number of months. It was purely an accident that 
the bread got there. That is the only occasion I remember. 

Q. Do the boys complain of being cold in the winter, in 

the dormitory or other parts of the building. 
A. I have no recollection of any boy ever complaining of 

that. 
Q. Ever complain of their clothing and say they wanted 

more. 
A. No sir; I think I never knew a complaint in reference 

to their clothing. 
Yon were asking if I ever told the boys to report to me if 

they had any complaints to make. Every Sunday morning I 
have the boys from nine o'clock to twenty minutes of ten, 

and with the permission of the superintendent I told the boys 

that during that time every Sunday I should speak to them 

in reference to their intere~ts, and if any boy had any com­

plaint to make in rnforcnee to his treatment, food, or clothing, 

or anything else, whatever the nature of it might be, I would 

like to have him make it then and there, and we would 
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discuss the mtitter ~indly and honestly. It was there the boys 
spoke of having their dinner changed from corned beef to 

bread and molasses. Every Sunday morning I ask the boys 

if they have anything they want to say to me, or I did do so, 
and I kept up the practice until they stopped saying anything; 

said they had nothing to say. 

The boys have also been told that they had permission at 

all times to come there and meet the superintendent and make 
• 

any statement they pleased in reference to their treatment by 
boys or officers; and I told them their statements would be 

listened to and examined into, and that no officer had a right 

to prohibit them or try to prevent them from doing it, and 

that whatever they said should be strictly confidential. 

Q. I noticed to-night, in tho dormitory, some of tl~c boys 

put their clothes on the bed. I don't know what their object 

was. \Vas it because they were not warm enough. 

A. No sir; that is a matter of custom. Some boys will 

lay their clothing at the foot of the bed, some will roll it up 
carefully and put it under their pillovvs, while other boys, 

not sd neat and careful as they should be, throw them under 
the bed. 

Q. Then it is not because they need more bedding. 
A. No sir; that is not the reason. The watchman is in-

structed when the dormitory gets so cool, when the thermom­

eter indicates a certain degree of cold, to send at once for the 

engineer and have the steam put on-That is if it is in the 

morning; if it is at night the steam is on. 

Q. Yon have seen the statements alleged to come from 

Higgins : is there any truth in them. 

A. There is no truth in the charges in relation to cruelty 

or improper treatment nor in reference to the bread. 

Q. It is a matter of minor importance, but perhaps you 

would like to explain about the reference that is there made 

to the exhibition of ventriloquism. 
A. This Higgins was something of a ventriloqui1't and one 

or two of the boys said they would like to have him give an 



( 77) 

exhibition of his powers, and he said he would. I had heard 
the rnan use profane language in front of the house where he 
must know the boys could hear him, and I had been informed 
that he was a drinking man, often intoxicated, and that his 
exhibition of ventriloquism was full of vulgarity and profan­
ity. In view of these facts, the superintendent being away, 
I told him he could not give his exhibition that night. 

Q. Did he make :my trouble about it, say he was not 
treated right or any thing like that. 

A. No sir, nothing of the kind. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. There is a charge in the article that boys have to stand in 

the meditation class and frequently have to bend over and 
touch their toes for a time. Have you ever seen any ill 
effects upon the boys from that punishment. 

A. I never have. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. How long are they kept in that position. 
A. Usually only a very short time. 
Q. What is the longest time you have known them to re­

main in that position. 
A. I cannot state positively. I should'nt think I bad seen 

a boy in that position more than twenty or twenty-five 

minutes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you ever know one of the boys to faint away. 

A. I never did. 
Q. Or make any complaint about suffering from it. 
A. No sir. Whenever a boy wishes to change his attitude 

he raises his hand and I have never known an instance where 
the boy was not allowed to stand up when he asked to unless 
it was a clear case that he was doing it with the intention of 

cutting up more mischief. 
Q. Do you visit the boys when they are sick. 

A. I do. 
Q. What do you carry them, in the shape of delicacies. 
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A. As a rule when a boy is sick enough to be in the hos­
pital the doctor gives directions as to the food and it is pre­
pared by the lady who has charge of him. In addition to 
that, if the boy is able to eat such things he has oranges and 
lemons and often times pears. Quite often the friends of the 
boy will buy such things at their own expense. 

Q. Are the other boys allowed to visit him. 
A. If any boy wishes they are. 
Q. Do sick boys ever make request that other boys come 

and see them. 
A. Sometimes, and as a rule they are allowed to do so. 
Q. How often do you visit a sick boy. 
A. I depend on the nature of the sickness. Some boys I 

visit a good many times a day, especially if I happen to have 
the special charge of him. In some cases there is some one 
here to take special charge of the boy as it was in the case of 
the ,v-inn boy that was sick when the governor was here. 
The superintendent's son was here then; he had studied 
medieine and was taking care of the boy ; he was in the room 
nearly all the time and of course I did not visit the boy so 
often under such circumstances as I would if the boy was 
sick and I had the instructions directly from the physician 
what to do, and was caring for him on my own responsibility. 

Q. Do you visit them in the night. 
A. I seldom vh;it them in the night. I almost always go 

in the last thing before going to bed, and also the first thing 
in the morning. It was a part of the duty of the watchman 
to go in frequently in the night, and call either me or Mr. 
Farrington if there is any need of it. 

Q. Is there anyone with the boy besides the watchman. 
A. If the boy is sick enough he has another boy to sit up 

with him all night and sometimes two boys. 
Q. This boy Winn was a Catholic was he. 
A. He was. 
Q. Was the priest here. 
A. Yes, a number of times. The boy was sick I think 
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ten weeks, and I should think he might have been here four 
times in the ten weeks. 

Q. vVas the boy aware that he was to die, from the nature 
of his sickness. 

A. I think he was. 
Q. Did the priest also know that he was dangerously ill. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long was the priest here previous to his death. 
A. He must have been here nine or ten weeks before the 

boy died. He made the statement after seeing the boy that 
-he thought he never would get well. 

Q. vVas he notified just previous to the boy's death. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Who was with him at the time he died. 
A. I think Arthur Farrington was there. 
Q. Did the boy to your knowledge make any request that 

was not granted. 
A. He never did that I know of. 
Q. Did he have all the comforts that it was possible for 

him to have in this institution. 
A. Yes, he received the kindest care that we could bestow. 
Q. ·where did he come from. 
A. Portland. 
Q. Did he have any parents living. 
A. His father died of consumption and his mother had 

been in the Insane Hospital. She was living and came over 
occasionally to see the boy. 

Q. Was she notified of the dangerous sickness of the boy. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Was she notified immediately previous to his death. 
A. I can't say in reference to that. I think she knew in 

the latter part of his sickness that he was liable to die any 

day. The boy remained here at the request of Mr. Donahue, 
one of the trustees, who thought the boy was better off here 
than he would be at home. 

Q. "T ould he have been removed home by a vote of the 
trustees. 
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A. I think the trustees would have allowed him to go 
home. 

Q. \Y as any representatio.n made the trustees by the 
officers of the institution that the boy ought to be removed. 

A. I crumot say. Mr. Farrington and Mr. Donahue talked 
in reference to it, and Mr. Donahue said the boy ought not 
to go home but should remain here. 

Q. There was no complaint_ made by Mr. Donahue as to 
the treatment of the boy. 

A. I never knew a word of complaint having been made. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. vYhat time of year did the boy die. 
A. In March. 
Q. The statement was made in the paper that the room in 

which he was kept. was excessively hot, that the door was 
locked so that when a person wanted to go in it had to be 
unlocked, and that the air was bad. How is that. 

A. I should not suppose that could be so. I was not with 
the governor when he went in. I never went in and found 
the room so hot as to be dangerous to a si0k boy. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Is there a thermometer in the sick room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How was the temperature usually kept. 
A. Usually about 68°. 

Q. Diel you yourself look at the thermometer. 
A. I did frequently. If I found it above that I took means 

to have it lowered. I never found it lower than that. 
Q. vVere the transom windows kept open. 
A. Usually, and I think always. 
Q. "\Yas it customary to keep the hospital door locked. 
A. Yes, about half the time. Sometimes there are boys 

in the dormitory, and it is not prudent for them to go into 
the sick rnom, as they would do if they had the (1pportunity. 

[ Adjourned until Saturday, Oct. 21st, at 3 P. M. J 
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SATURDAY, OCTOBER 21st, 3 P. M. 

Met at the reform school pursuant to adjournment. 

Present-Commissioner~ Fox, Gould and Haskell; also 
Hon. Roscoe L. Bowers, of the executive council; Owen B. 
Chadbourn, president of the hoard of trustees; Thomas F. 
Donahue, secretary of the hoard of trustees; and Albion 
Little, Esq. 

The examination of Assistant Superintendent Wentworth 
was continued. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are the punishments now inflicted upon the boys greater 

or less than they were a year ago, or the same. 
A. I should say the same. 
Q. How is the deportment of the boys compared with what 

it was a year ago. 
A. Much better. 
Q. Is the class of boys that have lately been sent 

here any better than those formerly sent here. 
A. That is a difficult question to answer. It is question­

able whether or not boys coming into a school where the pub­
lic sentiment of the rest of the boys is good, will not do 
much better than boys coming into a school where the senti­
ment is bad, even if they are not as good boys. The general 
sentiment of the school is much better now than it was a year 
ago ; consequently the new boy will behave better now than 
he would then. 

Q. What do you ascribe the improvement to. 
A. I ascribe it to good management, tact, and discretion, . 

and a thousand little things. 
Q. On the part of the officers and employees._. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are the offences committed hy the boys of. a more seri­

ous nature than formerly, or less so. 
6 
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A. Some of them are more serious. We have two boys 
here for manslaughter, and until last year we had but one. 
There has been but one here since I have been here, until 
this second one was sent. 

Q. Are the offences committed by the boys while here, 
and for which they are punished, a!ways made a matter of 
record. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Are any of the offences of a very serious nature. 
A. Some of them are. 
Q. What is the most serious offence that has been commit­

ted in this institution by a boy or boys since Mr. Farrington 
has been here. 

A. The most serious offence was the assault made by sev­
eral boys on the watchman in the night time, one of them 
armed with a knife, with which, I have no doubt, he intended 
to kill the watchman. That was in July, 1881. 

Q. ,vhat was done with the boys. 
A. They were delivered to the court in Portland. The 

one armed with the knife was sentenced, by Judge Bonney:, 
to state prison, and the other three to the county jail. 

Q. What was the next most serious offence. 
A. The boy that set fire to the tower connected with the 

sewing room, with the evident intention of burning the 
building. 

Q. How was he punished. 
A.. By being placed in a cell and placed in the lowest grade 

in school. 
Q. Is that a matter of record. 
A. Yes. The cases where boys have been delivered to the 

court have not been put on the punishment book. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. How long was the hoy kept in the cell for setting the 

fire. 
A. Two weeks. The boy's name was Ferguson. He was 

committed here for making an assault upon a man with a 
weapon and threatening to shoot him. 
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Q. vVas this confinement in the cell solitary, or was sim­
ply the fron door closed. 

A. Simply the iron door closed. He could look into the 
yard, and see the other boys at play and sometimes he could' 
-communicate with them if he wished to. 

(l Was he supplied with bedding. 
A. A 11 he required. 
Q. Did he sleep on a bed or on the floor. 
A. On the floor. I should have stated this as the third" 

most serious offence. The second most serious offence was 
that of a boy named Butler, who set fire with intention of · 
burning the building, in September, 1880, about twenty 
minutes past six in the evening. 

Q. Did the fire get under way. 
A. Yes, so much so that it required several men and six: 

or eight boys to put it out. It filled the house with smoke. 
Q. What was done with him. 
A. Delivered to the court. 
Q. vVhat was the next most serious offence. 
A. I should say the next offence was by a boy b:r the name• 

of Noble, who concealed a knife on his person and·· claimed, 
and I believe truly, that he intended to stab another boy with 
whom he was angry. 

Q. Did he make any attempt to stab him. 
A. No; but he got the knife and sharpened it and had it 

on his person, and went to bed and told others he intended 
to do it, and afterwards told me so. 

Q. Was it a voluntary confession on his part, or how did 
you draw it out of him. 

A. In the first place, I searched him. I asked him if he 
had any knife and he said he had not. Then I searched him 
and found the knife. It wns after he went to bed, and I am 
now uncertain whether he had it concealed under his shirt or· 

in his hand. 
Q. You say that he admitted that he intended to kill this 

boy. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. How did you draw that out from him. 
A. I learned first, through the boys, that he stated he in­

tended to do this deed, and they informed me that he had 

this knife secreted. One boy said he was afraid if he didn't 
tell me, the boy might do it. I saw Mr. Farrington and told 

him about it, and then I. went to the dormitory and found the 

knife. He told me a good many wrong stories, and I told 
him I should put him in the cell, and I did put him in the 

cell, and he staid over night. The next day he told me this 
story of what he intended to do. He told the story without 
my pumping him; that is to say, I didn't tell him I knew for 

what purpose he had the knife. 

Q. Had you made any threats of punishment unless he did 
tell you. 

A. None whatever. 

Q. Nor any promises. 
A. No, unless I may have said, as I often do, that it is 

best for a boy to tell the truth. 
Q. What was the punishment inflicted on the boy for that 

offence . 
.A. Confined three days in the cell. Considerable lee-way 

was allowed the boy on the ground that he was not a bright 
boy. 

Q. Is the boy here still. 
A. He is. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. What do you mean by '' bright." 
A. I mean a stupid boy. 

Q. You do not mean that he was incapable of distinguish­

ing between right and wrong. 

A. No. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. What was the next most serious offence. 

A. I should say the assault on Mr. Griggs. 
Q. That we have had an account of. Now these boys that 
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committed these offences you have referred to, had they 
been punished previous to that. 

A. Not that I know of; not immediately previous. 
Q. Did you go over the building with Governor Plaisted 

when he was here. 
A. I did not. I was in the hospital, however, a short 

time after he was here. 
Q. How long at any one time was the boy Winn left alone 

while he was so feeble and sick. 
A. I am unable to state that he was alone at all ; that is to 

say I have no recollection of ever visiting the room when 
there was not some one there after he became quite sick. 

Q. How often did you go into the room to see him. 
A. Some days I went a great many times, and some days 

not so often-perhaps, on an average, a half ·a dozen times 
a day. 

Q. Did you see the boy both before and after the gover­
nor saw him. 

A. Yes; I saw him ,wery day he was sick, except a short 
time I was sick myself. 

Q. How lo~g before the governor was here that day did 
you see the boy. 

A. I cannot :::iay positively. I have no doubt I saw him 
within a half an hour or an hour previous to the governor's 
coming .here. 

Q. How long after the governor left before you saw him. 
A. About an hour and a half. 
Q. At either time you saw him was the boy delirious. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Did you touch the boy at all. 
A. I did frequently. 
Q. How were his hands. 
A. His hands were rather clammy in feeling, usually. 
Q. Did he know you. 
A. 0 ! yes ·indeed. 
Q. Have his senses. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Eyes glassy. 
A. No sir. His hand was quite thin and had the same 

appearance and feeling that a hand usually has of a person 
wasting away. 

Q. Do you remember anything that he said to you that 
day. 

A. I do not on that day. He used to tell me most every 
time I went in that he was better. He would say, '1 I am bet­
ter to-day, and I guess I shall be out in a day or two." 

Q. Are the boys better educated to-day than they were a 
year ago? Is the system of education improved. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Are they learning more. 
A. They :ire. 
Q. Take more interest in their studies. 
A. Yes; there has been a vast improvement in that respect. 
Q. When did you notice the improvement. 
A. More the past year-this identical year. 
Q. You think there has been a decided improvement in the 

moral and educational part of the school this past year. 
A. I do. I am certain of it~ If you would like I will 

show you the improvement the boys have made, in penman­
ship, for instance. 

[Witness exhibits to the commissioners samples of the 
boys' penmanship from time to time. J 
By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Is there auy organized hospital service connected with 
the institution. 

A. There is a lady who has charge of the room, and she 
keeps it comfortable, properly supplied with bedding, and 
everything that is necessary for the comfort of the boys. She 
acts as nurse. visiting the boy frequently, and supplies his 
food according to the directions of the physician. Either 
Mr. Farrington or myself attend the physician whenever 
there is a sick boy, and receive the instructions from the phy­
s1crn11. In some cnses I take especial charge of the sick boy, 
and in some cases the imperintendent does it. It- depends 
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somewhat upon circumstances, but invariably, whoever has 
the especial charge, the other one vi:sits the room frequently. 

Q. Is there any person whose duty it is in case of sickness 
to have special charge of the patient besides the general su­

. perintendence and care he receives from the superintendent 
and yourself. 

A. If the boy is sick enough to require some one to sit in 
the room that person is provided. 

Q. Is there any one person whose duty it is to take charge 
of patients. 

A. I don't know as I can say that there is any one person. 
In the forenoon the lady that has charge of the dormitory is 
always in the dormitory looking after it, or in one of the ad­
JOmmg rooms. All night the watchman is there, and in the 
afternoon such persons are provided as the superintendent 
sees fit. 

Q. Is it some person selected as occasion may require, or 
is there some person designated whose especial duty it is to 
look after the sick in the hotipital. 

A. It is the special duty of the woman in charge of the 

dormitory. 
Q. That is in addition to her regular duties in the dormi­

tory. 
A. Yes. They always receive medical treatment from the 

physician, Mr. Farrington or myself. Their food is always 
provided by this lady, and a boy or some officer connected 
with the school is extemporized to stay with the patient as a 

' watcher and attendant. 
Q. Are the boys allowed to converse together while about 

their work in the shop. 
A. The rule is for them not to, because if allowed to, they 

would soon get quite disorderly and troublesome; but if a 
boy asks another boy a simple question in regard to work and 
does not play or anything of that kind, I think the officer 
does not pay much attention to it. 

ci. Are they allowed to have any conversation at the table. 
A. No, sir. 
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Q. If a boy at the table speaks to his neighbor does he, 
under the rules of the institution, receive any demerit or 
punishment. 

A. Yes; he is demerited, and usually stands in the floor 
while in the school room as a punishment for it. 

Q. I see that some of these punishments are inflicted for 
disorder at the table, ten times. What is the nature of that 
disorder? Simply talking together. 

A. It might be talking together, and it might apply to 
worse disorder. 

Q. Out of the entire day how many hours of recreation do 
they have. 

A. That depends a good deal on the season of the year. I 
should think, in the winter time, a boy got four or five hours 
a day. In the summer time he would get three hours a day 
more. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Do you reckon the labor on the farm as recreation. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q, How many hours a day does the boy labor. 
A. In the winter something less than six hours a day. 
Q. How many hours of school. 
A. Four. They rise at six o'clock and go to bed at eight. 
Q. How much time is occupied by the three meals. 
A. An hour and a half; and that should come out of the 

time I gave for recreation. The boys are really not in the 
workshop six hours ; only about five and a half, and that 
would make about three hours for recreation. 

Q. While in the dormitory are they allowed to converse. 
A. They are not. On Saturdays the boys have all day for 

recreation. They play in the yards all day provided they 
work well through the week and get their stints done. Some 
of them, instead of playing, prefer to work in the shop on 
extra work, for which they receive pay. 

Q. What is the programme Sunday. 
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A. They rise at the usual time and spend all the time 
after breakfast in the yard until nine o'clock. I am giving 
the nsual programme; it has to be varied very often. At 
nine o'clock they come into the school room and I either read 
to them or talk to them until twenty minutes of ten, and then 
they go into the yard again. At ten o'clock they come in 

and we have Sunday school until twenty minutes of twelve. 
Then they go to the yard again and have dinner at twelve. 
After dinner they go into the yard and remain until a quarter 
of one and then they pass into the school room and the 
teachers either read to them or let them read or sit and talk 
in their seats. There are about fifty papers that are distrib­
uted to the boys at that time of day, which they read. About 

• two o'clock they go into the yard for a short recess and then 
they pass into the school room and are got ready for the 
Sabbath exercises in the chapel, which we have every Sabbath, 
usually preaching by some Portland mini-.ter. After that 
they pass to the school room, change their clothing and then 
go to the yards. In about twenty minutes the first class is 
taken to the reading room and spend the rest of the afternoon 
there. At ten minutes past five they are taken down to the 
yard and at hnlf past five they take their supper. After 
supper they go to the yard for a short recess and then pass 
into the school room, and the teachers there read and talk to 
them or let them read and talk, with the exception of the 
first class, who remain in the reading room until this time. 
Then comes the last recess and the evening devotions. 

Q. At any period of the year are any boys allowed to go 
outside of the enclosure or yards to spend any recreation 
about the grounds of the institution. 

A. Often times twenty or thirty boys are allowed out in 
that way. They are sometimes taken off, on occasions, for 
excursions to different places. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. Isn't there an overseer with them when they go out. 
A. There is usually. The farm boys are usually considered 
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trusty and the overseer is usually around but he is not al ways 
looking after the boys. 

Q. What is the class of persons employed to take charge 
of the boys ; I mean the under officers ; what are they as to 
intemgence and capacity. 

A. They are intelligent people and usually persons of 
capacity. We often get school teachers who have had expe­
rience in teaching school. 

Q. What pay do the overseers of the shops get. 
A. Twenty-five dollars a month and found. 
Q. What do the teachers get. 
A. Four dollars a week. 
Q. What does the watchman get. 
A. Twenty-five dollars a month. • 
Q. \Vhat does the engineer get. 
A. Sometimes twenty-five dollars a month and sometimes 

thirty dollars a month. 
Q. What does the farmer get. 
A. All the men get twenty-five dollars a month except the 

engineer who sometimes gets thirty. 
Q. What are the ages of the men employed. 
A. Some young men, some middle aged and once rn a 

while ·we have a man fifty years old. 
Q. Are the boys called upon to do the drudgery required 

to be done. 
A. Yes, they do the cleaning· but I don't know as it can 

properly be called drudgery, for the officers often take hold 
and do the same kind of work. 

Q. Arc there any persons employed to do that class of 
labor especially. 

A. No, sir, the boys do it all together. The boys assisted 
by their respective officers do it. 

Q. vYithout respect to grade. 
A. Yes, although as matter of fact the best boys usually 

like to do that kind of work. 
Q. Is there any distinction made as to the class of work 

between boys of the first class and lower grades. 
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A. No, sir, unless the work is of such a nature that it 
requires a pretty trusty boy. If the work was in front where 
a boy was to be left alone we take first class boys. 

Q. Because the employment is disagreeable it is not assigned 
to the lower class in preference to the upper class. 

A. NoJ and the boys do not consider it disagreeable. If a 

boy does not want to do it there is another ready to take his 
place and is allowed to do so. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. You say you were in the habit of going every day to 

the hospital when the boys were sick. Did you ever, find the 
hospital in an excessively heated condition. 

A. I never did. I have quite frequently opened a window 
to cool the room a little, or perhaps, put the steall) on to warm 
it a little, but I never savr it vary but a very little from 68°. 

Q. Why is it customary to keep the doors of the hospital 
locked. 

A. Usually we do it because in the forenoon there are boys 
in the dormitory whom it is not prudent to allow in the hos­

pital as they might disturb the sick boy. 

By Mr. Fox·: 
Q. Is there any one there at all times when the- door is 

locked. 
A. Usually there is someone there, but not alwnys. It 

depends on how sick the boy is. Sometimes boys are in 
• there with very slight ailments. 

Q. Generally, you say, there is someone in there when the 
door is locked. 

A. There is. 
Q. I think you stated there was a thermometer in the 

room and you looked at it and saw the temperature was sixty­
eight degrees. 

A. Yes, sixty-eight and seventy degrees. My impression 
is, at the time the ,vinn boy was sick the room was kept a 
little warmer than usual, by direction of the physician. 

Q. Did the boy make any complaint of heat or cold. 
A. No, sir. 



Q. No complaint at all, of anything. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Was he able to make any complaint if he wanted to. 
A. Certainly, he was able to talk. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Do the boys know this investigation is going on. 
A. I presume they do. I haven't heard the boys speak of 

it, except one boy who said there was to be 11 an inspection" 
here. That was before you arrived. He had evidently got 
wind of it. 

Q. You don't know whether it is generally known in the 
school or not. 

A. I have no doubt of it, although I have no positive 
knowledge. 

J. R. Farrington, recalled and testified as follows: 

By ~fr. Fox: 
Q. Do you remember the day the governor was here. 
A. I do. 
Q. ·was you here at the time. 
A. I vvas. 

Q. Did you receive him. 
A. I did. 
Q. Were you with him at all times while he was m the 

building. 
A. Not at all times. 
Q. After he came into the building will you state what 

the governor did so far as you yourself know. 
A. I met him at the door just at twelve o'clock. 
Q. Did you know he was coming. 
A. I did not. After greeting him and before be had re­

moved his wraps I sayst Governor, the boys are at dinner, 
wouldn't you like to see them?" I said it because I presumed 
his visit was to see the boys, and I wish.ed to give him every 
opportunity. I thought he would like to see the boys at 
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their meals. He said he would and immediately went with 
me to the dinning room. He passed in and I was particu­
larly careful not to follow him around. I did not wish to 
appear to stand between him and full intercourse with the 
boys. I had no desire to do so. He passed around con­
versing with different boys and spoke to a boy standing in 
the floor. He passed back and forth freely among the tables. 
From the dinning room he returned, I think, to this room, 
and soon after I think we took dinner. 

Q. Did you hear any of this conversation that the governor 
had with the boys. 

A. I heard none of it. I kept away from him pur­
posely. After dinner he went by my suggestion to visit the 
sick boy. 

Q. What occasioned you to say anything about the sick 
boy to the governor. 

A. I believed he was here to look over the school, and it 
was my wish to give him every facility to become acquainted 
with the institution just as it was. Colonel Merrill was with 
him at the time, and also Mr. Donahue, of the board of trus­
tees. Colonel Merrill and the governor and I went to the 
hospital. I don't recollect whether Mr. Donahue went or 
not. Governor Plaisted and myself went into the room 
where the sick boy laid. I noticed nothing in the appear­
ance of the boy that indicated delirium, fever, unconsciousness 
or anything unusual. The boy was sick, of course. I 
noticed nothing unusual in the temperature of the room that 
I recollect. 

Q. Did you look at the thermometer. 
A. I did not. 
Q. ~ ... as there a thermometer there. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Do you remember whether when you first went in there 

was any gush of heated air coming from the room. 
A. I do not. Nothing of the sort impressed itself upon 

me. 
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Q. Do you remember how the weather was out of doors 
that day. 

A. Very cold. I don't know the temperature but it must 
have been in the vicinity of zero. 

Q. vVas any conversation held by you with the boy in the 
presence of the governor or by the governor with the boy in 
your presence. 

A. Not that I recall. I did not remain in there with him. 
The boy was alone at the time and I told him the reason that 
the nurse had just gone out with the dishes from which he 
had eaten his dinner. I may have spoken to him of the fact 
my son, who was here for a few weeks at the time, and who 
took a deep interest in the boy, took especial care of the 
boy. 

By Mr. Eox: 
Q. How old was your son. 
A. Twenty-five. 
Q. Educated as a physician. 
A. He had studied medicine. He was a graduate of the 

State College at Orono, and afterward graduated as a veteri­
nary surgeon at Cornell University, and took, in connection 
with his veterinary studies, the study of general medicine, so 
that he was well prepared to care for the, boy. Indeed, he 
showed so great an interest in the boy that Dr. Webster, 
who noticed his interest and frequently spoke of it and of the 
intelligent and almost loving care that he took of the boy, 
advised him to enter upon the study of medicine with some 
physician. 

Q. How long was the governor in there with that boy. 
A. I should judge from five to ten minutes. 
Q. Where were you at the time. 
A. A part of the time in the room and a part of the time 

in the dormitory. I wished to leave the· governor entirely 
unembarrassed by my presence. 

Q. What did the governor do while you were in the room. 
A. As far as I can recollect he went up to the boy and 
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looked at him. I think he spoke to him. I remember noth­
ing of what was said by him or the boy, or whether the boy 
made any reply. 

Q. Was anything said to the boy by which he knew it was 
the governor. 

A. I cannot say. Had I known that anything was to be 
brought up again I should have taken notice and kept it in 
mind. As it was I didn't give it a second thought. 

Q. At that time, while yon were there, was the boy roll-
ing about. 

A. He was not. Had he been I should have noticed it. 
Q. Was he uneasy. 
A. I noticed nothing of the sort. I am positive he was 

not. 
Q. Did he complain of pain or suffering in any ~ay. 
A. He did not. 
Q. Do you think he knew you while you were there. 
A. I do. 
Q. Do you think be was conscious that someone else was 

in the room, a stranger. 
A. I am sure he was. 
Q. How much time had elapsed when the goverP.or went 

in since you had seen him last. 
A. I cannot say. I know I went to sec the boy several 

times every day. I visited him in the evening and the watch­
man was instructed to call me if the boy needed special care 
in the night. Several times in the night I have got up and 
gone in, unannounced and uncalled, to see the boy and look 
after him. 

Q. Was the boy delirious at any time. 
A. A few days before he died he was. 
Q. How many days before he died was the governor here. 
A. Twenty-five or thirty. 
Q. Was the governor in the institution after the fifteenth 

of February. 
A. I have not heard of his being here. 
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Q. In regard to the sun coming into the room, was it a 
bright, Rtaring light. 

A. It could not have been. 
Q. Were the curtains drawn. 
A. I don't remember whether the curtains were fully 

drawn, but the most of the window was covered by curtains. 
The curtains were there. 

Q. Was there any blanket put up. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you remember what kind of a day it was, so far as 

the sun was concerned. 
A. I do not. 
Q. ·was the sun shining directly into that room. 
A. It may have been shining directly into the room at the 

time the governor was there, but not upon the bed. 
Q. When had D:. Webster seen the boy, previous to that 

day or on that day. 
A. I can only tell by referring to Dr. vVebster's memo­

randum of the case. I knew he visited him as frequently as 
he thought the case demanded; and when we wished for him 
to come and he did not come of his own accord, we sent for 
him. While the boy was very sick he used to visit him as 
often as once a day, and at this time he visited him as often 
as every third day. 

Q. Did Dr. Webster give any instructions about the 
window and light. 

A. I know he regarded light in the sick room as very ben­
eficial and he encouraged us to keep the room as light as was 
prudent for the boy when he was sick. About the time the 
governor was here, the third Tuesday of February, Dr. 
Thompson, n, physician, one of the trustees, visited the hoy 
and directed me to allow all the sunlight in the room I could. 
He thought it was for the advantage of the boy. Let me say 
further, that from the position of the bed and the position of 
the window, it was impossible that the sun should have been 
shining upon the boy when the governor was there. 
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Q. Did the boy complain of the sunlight at all, that it dis-
turbed him. A. He never did. 

Q. Did Mrs. Farrington go in and out and visit the boy. 
A. Very often, from once to half a dozen times a day. 
Q. What did you give the boy for delicacies or anything 

of that kind. 
A. Just such delicacies as the doctor allowed us to give 

him. He had oranges and jellies and such simple food pre­
pared in a palatable manner, as the physician allowed and· 
directed us to give him. · 

Q. How was the room for ventilation on the day the gov­
ernor was here. 

A. The commissioners have seen the room. I am certain 
that the ventilating aperture into the chimney was open and 
I have reason to believe that the windows into the dormitory 
were open. 

Q. Is the dormitory aired every day. 
A. It has air constantly. 
Q. In what way. 
A. It is supplied with ventilators from the ceiling opening 

out upon the roof of the building, which is nearly seventy 
feet hjgh. It has several large windows through which the 
air comes. 

Q. Were there double windows at this time on all the 
windows. 

A. Yes, but even then a great deal of air gets into the 
room. 

Q. Were there any ventilators in these double windows so 
you could take in the air from outside. 

A. There were, and they were kept open except in case of 
a storm. 

Q. Do you know of your own knowledge that the transom 
windo,vs were open that day. 

A. I only know from my general knowledge or practice in 
that regard. Had they not been open I should have mcv­
itably noticed it. 

7 
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Q. WhP-n you left the room, did you leave with the gov-
ernor. 

A. I left the room before the governor did. 
(i. Did you go back again and come out with the governor. 
A. I am not aware whether I did or not. 
Q. The governor met you outside the door. 
A. He may have. 
Q. Where was Col. Merrill all that time. 
A. He went into the room with the governor, and I re­

member of seeing him out of the · room and speaking with 
him in the dormitory ,vhile the governor was in there. 

Q. Do you know why he cume out. 
A. Nd. 
Q. Did he tell you anything about the atmosphere. 
A. I have no recollection that he did. 
Q. Did he say anything about the bad odor in the room .. 
A. I have no recollection of it, and I am sure if he had I 

shonld have remembered it. 
Q. vVhen the governor came out did you lock the door. 
A. I did. 
Q. vYho was in charge of the boy. 
A. No one at the time. The nurse had just gone out with 

the dinner dishes, and I knew she would soon be back. The 
boy was only left alone a few moments at a time. 

Q. Was that so during the last few days and nights of his 
life. 

A. I don't know! that he was left alone at all then. We 
had a boy, or boys, with him, and the watchman gave him 
very close attention. Of course the watchman could not be 

in there all the time, but he looked to him as close as a father 
would after his sick son, sleeping in an adjoining room. 

Q. Were you with him the day he died. 
A. I was not with him at the time he died. I think I was 

away that day. 
Q. You don't know of your own knowledge what was said 

to the boys by the governor. 
A. No. 
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Q. Have yon tnlked with any of the boys he talked with 
about what the governor said to them. 

A. I have not. 

Q. Do you know the names of the boys that the governor 
talked with. 

A. I can give positively the name of but one. 
Q. Can you ascertain who he talked with. 
A. I can some of them. 

Q. Are all the boys he talked with here now. 
A. Not all of them. 

Q. Who are away. 

A. One boy I am sure he talked with-Ira Hatch--is away 
hy reason of expiration of his sentence. Another boy I am 
quite sure he talked with was a boy named William Thomp­
son, who is away by expiration of sentence. I think all the 

other boys are here. It may be that he talked with some 

that are a way on leave or for good conduct. 

Q. Where are the two boys you have just mentioned. 

A. I do not know. Assistant Superintendent W e11tworth. 
informs me that Hatch is in the county jail. 

Q. Where were they sent to. 
A. To their homes. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. 
A. 
Q. 
A. 
Cl 
A. 

vYhat class was Thompson in. 
Third class. 
Was Hatch a third clm;s boy. 

Yes. 
Where else did the governor go. 

I know he went about the building when I was not 
with him. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long did the governor remain in the building. 
A. About three hours. 

Q. Did he take dinner here. 

A. He did. 

Q. And Col. Merrill. 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Make any complaints to you. 

A. No; the govemor was unusually complimentary. 

Q. Have any conversation with you about what the boys 

had had. 

A. He asked me about standing boys in the floor, and I 

told him that boys were sometimes stood in the floor for mis­

conduct in the dining room, hut that boys were always of-• 

fered food. 

Cl Did he intimate to you at that time that boys had in-• 
formed him that they were compelled to go without food. 

A. I believe they so informed him; whether he spoke of it 

or not I can't say, but I knew from the boys with whom he 

was talking, especially the one I remember ---

Q. You don't know that of your own knowledge; it is 
simply an impression. 

A. An impression ; yes. 

Q. Did the governor tell you that he had been informed 

that these boys had been deprived of their food . 
. A. I knew he believed the boy st:m(hng in the floor had no 

food. 

Q. How do you know it. 

A. I cannot say whether he said it or named it in his 

question. 

Q. Did Col. Merrill say anything about it. A. No. 
Q. Did Mr. Donahue. 

A. He did not, except he said to me that the governor was 

dissatisfied. 

Q. Did you ask him in what. 

A. I might have; I think I did. 

Q. Didn't you have any conversation with the govemor in 

relation to it. A. I did not. 

Q. Didn't you have any conversation, or Col. Menill, 

with the governor in your presence about the hospital or 
about the boy. A. No. 

ci. Did the governor say anything about finding the boy'~, 

eyes glas~y, or say anything about the temperature of the 
room. 
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A. He did not. 
Q. The first you saw of it was in the papers. 
A. Yes, the first I knew of it was in the paper which pub­

lished the governor's address at Augusta. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. In what class were the greater part of the boys with 

whom the governor talked in the dining room. 
A. I should say in the second class and third class. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have any of the officers or any other person talked 

with the boys and communicated to you that information of 
what the boys said to the governor. 

A. One or more of the officers has said to me that the boys 
were laughing among themselves and joking because they 
stuffed the governor and told him yarns. 

Q. Some of the officers know who these boys are, evrry 
one of them, I suppose. 

A. I don't know whether they could tell you who every 
one of the boys was. The officer, F. P. Owen, who had 
charge of the table at the time is here. 

Q. Did he hear the conversation between the governor and 
the boy8 . 

..A. I can't say. 

Mr. Haskell. I am directed by the commissioners to say to 
you [Mr. Bowers J that the governor has written a letter to 
Mr. Gould saying that when the boys were examined he de­
sired to have them examined out of the presence of the 
superintendent and assistant superintendent. Now, as this 
investigation is under the direction of the governor and a 
committee of the exe,cutive council, the commissioners desire 
to know whether you as a member of that committee consent 
to that method of examination? 

Mr. Bowers. I am only one of the committee of three and 
I should want to confer with the other members. 

Mr. Fox. Is it a matter of sufficient importance to render 
it necessary for you to consult the rest of the committee? 
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Mr. Bowers. I think it is. I do not feel like taking the 
responsibility myself. 

Mr. Haskell. Then we will consider the examination of the 
boys postponed for the time being. 

Henry M. Griggs, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified as follows: 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. What is your age. 
A. 36. 
Q. How long have you been m the employ of the institu-

tion. 
A. About nine months. 
Q. In what capacity. 
A. Engineer. 
Q. What is your pay. 
A. Twenty-five dollars in the summer and thirty dollars 

in the winter a month. 
Q. As engineer ·what are your duties. 
A. I am employed to look after the steam and water pipes 

and pnmps and do the repairs and keep them in order. 
Q. Do you remember the occasion of the difficulty with 

Rankins. 
A. I do. 
Q. Can you tell when it was. 
A. I cannot the exact date, but it waR early in July, 1882, 

about the middle I think. 
Q. Where did it take place. 
A. In the boys' kitchen. 
Q. Who was present. 
A. Miss Swan a part of the time; Mr. Freese the watch-

man and Mr. Wentworth came in before it was through with. 
Q. In what position is Miss Swan serving the institution. 
A. Overseer of the boys' kitchen. 
Q. Is she in the institution now. 
A. She is at home on a vacation, in Bethel. 
Q. Do you know when she is to return. 
A. Sometime in about a week, I think. 
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Q. Now tell us in your own way all that took place at this 
time, all that occurred at the time of the trouble with Rankins. 

A. The boy had spells that he was extremely ugly. This 
was in the morni11g immediately after breakfast. He was 

· making a noise quarel1ing with some of the boys. It looked 
as though there might be a fight between them. 

Q. Where were they. 
A. In the boys' kitchen. 
Q. What were they doing. 
A. They were about their work but kept up the fighting. 

They were both kitchen boys. I told them to keep still and 
make less noise. Miss Swan had told him a number of times 
before that to keep quiet but he paid no attention to it. Mr. 
Farrington had told me that when they would not mind the 
women, to interfere if I thought it was necessary to preserve 
order. 

Q. Did you hear the boy make any remarks to Miss Swan. 
A. No, I don't think I did at that particular time. 
Q. What was the occasion of the trouble between him and 

you. 
A. I told him to keep quiet and behave himself. He said he 

would fix me and learn me not to interfere with him, and 
started toward me. He had nothing in his hand but appar­
ently was looking around to pick up some club or something. 

Q. How large a boy is he. 
A. Seventeen years old, 41,nd might weigh 125. 
Q. How much do you weigh. 
A. My weight is 17 5. There is a h~tchet and butcher 

knife in the kitchen that he might have got hold of if he had 
got where they were. 

Q. You saw him do what. 
A. Looking round as though he wanted to pick up a club 

or a knife. I went along and took hold of his collar and told 
him to sit down and behave himself. vVhen I took hold of 
him he strnck me in the face with his fist-not much of a 
blow, because he didn't have a chance to hit me very hard. 
I took hold of him to move him back, and he grabbed my coat 
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and tore it; he grabbed it right behind on the back of it. 

It wns a thin coat .. He said he would kill me if he could get 

hold of anything. I took hold of him and moved him back, 

and he kicked and struggled and kept saying he would kill 
me and kept trying to bite me. I tried to hold him by the 

hands, hut I could not, aud I had to take him by the throat-­

had to choke him in order to hold him. 

Q.. How did you choke him. 

A. I took right hold here (illustrating) with my hand 

across his throat. I asked him if he would behave himself, 

and he said ii No, I wont; I'll kill you." Every time I 
asked him he would make that reply. 

Q. How seriously did you choke him. 

A. Just enough to make him keep still; just enough to 

hold him. As soon as he would stop trying to strike and 

bite I would let up on him and ask him to keep still. 

Q. Did you choke him enough to make any discoloration 

in the face. 
A. No sir; and not enough to leave any murks on hi,~ 

throat. 

Q. How long did you hold him on the floor. 

A. I donrt know; as soon as I saw anyone. I saw Mr. 

Freese, the watchman, passing through the room, and I sent 
him for Mr. ""\Ventworth, and he cnme. 

Q. How long did you hold him on the floor before Mr. 
vV entworth came. 

A. I should think two minutes. Then Mr. Wentworth 

took him by the collar and carried him off. 
Q. Did you, in any way, strike him. 

A. I did not. 

Q. Or kick him. 

A. I did not. 

(i. Did yon do any other violence to him than what you 

have described. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Ever had any trouble with R;111kins before or since. 

A. No, sir. 
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Q. ·when you saw him ]ookiug around for something what 
did he say. 

A. ii I'll fix you so you wont interfere with me again." 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Was .Mr. Higgins here that day. 
A. I think he was. I think I noticed some man looking 

in at the window, but I cou1d not say who it was. 
Q. vVas Higgins looking into the window at the time of 

this trouble. 
A. He might have been, some of the parties were. 
Q. vVas the window open. 
A. It was shoved down at the top. 
Q. Did he hear what was said. 
A. He could not have heard the first of it becanse he was 

not there. 
Q. Could he hear any of it. 
A. He could after he came along and looked in. 
Q. Did you have any conversation with Higgins about it. 
A. I don't know that I have at all. 
Q. Did you with any of the parties. 
A. No, sir, not that I remember of. 
Q. Have you had occasion to use violence on any other 

Loy. 
A. No, ~r. • 
Q. Is that the only one that you have had occasion to re­

strain. 
A. It is the only one that I have had occasion to take hold 

of. Sometimes the boys get up on the steam pipes and pull 
them down and I tell them to get down and they mind me. 

Q. Do you report that to the superintendent. 
A. If they do it in play and get down when I speak to 

them I say no more about it. If they do any damage to the 
pipes I report them. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. Was Rankins obedient the moment Mr. Wentworth 

took him by the collar and walked him off. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. He did not attempt to attack Mr. Wentworth- or noth­
ing of the sort. 

A. No, sir, he did not. 

Superintendent J. R. Farrington addressed the commis­
sioners as follows : 

I was present when Mr. Haskell notified Mr. Bower~ of 
the request by Governor Plaisted that while the boys of the 
boys of the institution were being examined, the superinten­
tendent and assistant superintendent should be excluded. 
Now I wish to relieve_ Mr. Bowers of any embarrassment 
that he may be under, on my accotint at least, and place 
myself entirely plain and well understood before the com­
missioners. To do this I will say that I voluntarily and 
freely waive any right that I may have to be present at the 
examination of the boys and hope the commissioners will not 
regard themselves as excluding me against my will, or that I 
in any manner stand in the way of the commiBsioners carrying 
out the request of the governor. I have consulted with :\Ir. 
Wentworth, the assistant superintendent, and he on his part 
concurs and acquiesces in what I say. 

Mr. Bowers: 
VVhen the proposition was made to me to exclude the super­

intendent and the assistant superintendent during the exami­
nation of the boys I was nut willing to place myself in the 
position and take the responsibility of depriving Mr. Far­
ringto:r.1 and Mr. Wentworth of what I deemed to he their 
right to be present. But since they have voluntarily waived 
that right, I have no objection to the examination proceeding 
in that way. 

Thomas F. Donahue, sworn by Mr. Fox, testHied: 
By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are you one of the trustees of the reform school. 
A. I am. 
Q. vYhat position do you occupy on the board. 
A. I am secretary. 
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Q. Have you the recm·ds of the trustees. 
A. I have. [Witness produces the records. J 
Q. Does that book contain the record of any meeting of 

the trustees by which we can learn whether there has been 
any investigation since these statements have been made by 
Governor Plaisted. 

A. It does. 
Q. Will you be kind enough to let me see it. 
[Witness turns to the record under date of September 5, 

1882.] 
A. The following is the only portion pertaining to an in­

vestigation: 
'' An informal investigation of the boys and seve1~al of the 

officers took place, and so far as could be ascertained the 
ahuses were confined principally to the dormitory while in 
cl;ai·ge of the night watchman, Mr. Freese, who appeared to 
be entirely responsible for them. In justice to the officers 
we deem it necessary to state that the evidence failed to show 
that the superintendent bad any knowledge of this. The 
board recommended that the night watchman be discharged at 
once." 

Q. Is there any other investigation, or was there at that 
time, that does not appear on the record. 

A. Nothing more than the incidents connected with that. 
Q. Did any of the trustees at that time take minutes. 
A. None except myself. 
Q. Are the minutes of the testimony embodied in the 

repurt. 
A. No sir; that is simply the result of the investigation. 

The miuutes I took for my own information, so that I might 
pursue the investigation more correctly. 

Q. How many boys were examined. 
A. I can tell by referring to my minutes. Mr. Wentworth 

took notes in short hand, and mine heing in long hand are 
not so full. So far as I took mine, I will read them or sub­
mit them. 

Q. Please state what witnesses were examined. 
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A. Mr. Griggs, the engineer; Freese, the night watchman; 
Rankins, a boy ; George S. Patterson, a boy; Bahbidgc, an 
officer; Miss Fanjngton, a lady teacher; A. P. Whitten, a 
boy; Mrs. Farrington; Chambers, a hoy; Cady, a hoy; 
Louis Seguin, tt boy ; w· orthington, a boy; George Pendle­

ton, a boy; and Gillin, a boy. 

Q. Have you any objection to leaving your minutes in the 

hands of the commissioners. 

A. The commissioners will understand that they were 
written in great haste and are not full. ·with that under-· 

standing I have no objection. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. How is the board of trustees constituted, how is it 
organized. 

A. It consists of four members. It has a president, treas­

m·cr and secretary and two or three standing committees. 
Q. How often does the board hold its sessions. · 

A. Once every three months is the regular meeting, but a 

special meeting may be called at any time by the president. 

Q. Are any visitations made by members of the board, 
except at the quarterly meetings. 

A. Yes, members visit monthly in their turn according to 
assignments made alphabetically. 

Q. What is the nature and object of such visits. 
A. The object is to ascertain the condition of the school, 

of the boys and the general appearance of the institution, and 

make a record of it. 

Q. Is it the custom of the trustees to attend to the monthly 

visits and the quarterly sessions as well. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is a record made of these visits. 

A. Usually a record is made. 

Q. So, if the trustees are faithful in their duties, there is 

a record left and it shows it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. So, if anything was wrong jn the management of the 
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school, or there were any great 1rregularities, it would nat­
urally come_ to the notice of the trustees, would it not. 

A. If it is wrong at that particular time it would come 
under their notice in that way. The trustees have to take 
the condition of the school nnd report upon it as they find it. 
It is reported to them by the superintendent. 

Q. Is the board of trustees aware of any public statements 
affecting the management of the school. · 

A. In the newspapers? Yes. 
Q. vVhat notice was taken of it by the board of trustees, 

and what action, if any. 
A. The record of the meeting which I have just read, of 

September 5th, is the result partially of the statements in 
the public press. 

Q. vVas a special meeting called to consider the charges. 
A. Yes, called by the president for that purpose. 
Q. Was the meeting devoted principally to that business. 
A. Almost entirely. 
Q. How many hours did the meeting continue. 
A. The greater part of two days. 
Q. Was the investigation thorough at the time. 
A. So far as we went, pretty thorough I think. 
Q. There was no other matter discovered by the trustees 

that required comment ex0ept what you read from the record. 
A. Nothing that required especial comment. There were 

some irregularities but they did not seem to amount to much 
as far as we could ascertain. 

Q. Did the board of trustees pass any expression of opinion 
as to the truth of the charges which were published in the 
papers, other than what appears here upon the record. 

A. The result of the investigation and, as I understood 
it to he, the opinion of the board appears upon the record 
which has been read. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Did the trustees come to any other agreement concern­

ing the affairs of the institution which they investigated than 
what appears in the record. 
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A. No, sir, they did not. At the close of the meeting 
that was the result of the investigation. 

Q. vV ere there other matters investigated by the trustees 
upon which there was any difference of opinion and which is 
not covered by the record that has been read. 

A. Yes. 
Q. What was that concerning. What was the subject 

matter. 
A. After an investigation of several hours a statement was 

prepared by one of the trustees and submitted to me for en­
dorsement. I refused to endorse the statement, and when 
asked why, I said I could not agree to it as it read. Some 
correction was made in the statement and again submitted to 
me, and I still refused to endorse it. I said to Mr. Chad­
bourn who submitted it, '' I will meet your proposition by 
making another.'' He wanted to know what it ,vas. I said, 
" Let this evidence so far as it has been given here go to the 
public for what it is worth, without note or comment." He 
said, ,i_A._s trustees we are capable of making up our minds 
from what we have heard." I said, "I concede that, I am 
capable of making up my mind, and if you go to the public 
with that statement you have made I shall go with a counter 
statement." The president of the board could not under­
stand why I could not agree to the statement. I said, as 
nearly as I now recollect, "I am satisfied there are abuses in 
that dormitory." He said, "I am not." "Then," said I,, 
"with all due respect to you, it is for you to satisfy yourself." 
He said, ''I propose to do it," and the investigation was re­
opened at that stage with the result that is shown in the 
record. 

Q. You said th~re was a subject matter of investigation 
concerning which you did not agree. 

A. Up to a certain stage. 
Q. And that the record did not show the result. I asked 

you what particular abuse that concerned. 
A. I referred to the abuses that occurred in the dormitory 

while in charge of the night watchman. 
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Q. Then the trustees ,did agree upon it finally. 
A. Y cs; and the result is shown in the record. The in­

vestigation was reopened and continued for several hours 
longer in the evening. The president of the board said to 
me, ''Donahue, I am glad you have held out." Another 
member said, '1 If we had not discovered this I don't know 
what would have occurred here." At that stage the result 

· was agreed upon. The trustees were unanimous that abuses 
existed in the dormitory, and the watchman was discharged. 

(~. ·were there any other abuses in the school that you ex­
amined, and concerning which the trustees did not agree or 
come to a conclusion. 

A. The investigation began principally with references to 
the statements of Higgins, the painter, and the quarrel in the 
kitchen. We investigated that, and concluded there was a 
probable indiscretion on the part of the engineer in interfer­
ing in the quarrel that took place there, that it might have 
been controlled by the woman in charge. 

Q. 'W.,. as that the conclusion agreed to by the trustees. 
A. That is as I understood it. 
Q. That was not entered of record. 
A. No. 
Q. ·were there any other alleged abuses in the school con­

cerning which you examined other than those in the kitchen 
and the dormitory. 

A. No sir ; I think not. 
Q. Do you know of any case of ill treatment of a boy in 

this school other than those just specified. 
A. Only one case, the case of an officer having taken hold 

of a boy rather roughly in the chair shop one day. I came 
upon the scene while the parties were all ready to fly at each 
other again; the trouble had almost ended. 

Q. When was that. 
A. I think it.must have been eight or nine months ago. 
Q. Do you know who the officer was. 
A. I do; Mr. Owen, and Doyle was the boy. 
Q. Who was present. 
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A. All the boys in the shop were present and a gentleman 
out here .with me at the time. I came out to see the sick 
boy at the time. 

Q. Did you hear from the overseer and the boy any account 
of what had happened. 

A. I did. 
Q. What was it you saw or heard. 
A. The gentleman with me wished to look over the build­

ing and Mr. Farrington handed me his keys. Upon opening 
the door I saw the officer and boy standing in a fighting atti­
tude and the boy came up to me and sllid the officer had 
choked him. I asked the officer if he choked the boy and he 
said no, he did not choke him, he took him by the chin. I 
said ''You admit having taken hold of the boy?" He said 
'' I do, and I am willmg to take the consequences." The boy 
was standing perhaps three feet away and I left them there, 
and I think I came and saw the superintendent. The boy 
repeated his assertion that he choked him. 

Q. Did the officer say anything about it further. 
A. Nothing more than what I have said to you. He de­

nied it. 
. Q. Did you make any further inquiries. 

A. No, I came immediately to see the superintendent. 
Q. Do you know whether anything was done about it. 
A. Nothing that I am a ware of. 
Q. Is there any other subject matter concerning the school 

about which you can call our attention to, that will throw 
any light on the management or conduct of the school as 
regards the treatment of the boys. 

A. The only other fact that came to my knowledge, treat­
ment that I never endorsed, was confining boys in the tower. 
That I have repeatedly spoken to the superintendent about, 
and I spoke to Mr. Little, when he ·was president, about the 
same matter. • 

Q. About the severity of the punishment. 
A. The place of punishment. 
Q. Why did you object to the tower. 
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A. First, because the place is an unfit one for a boy to be 
confi'ned, because it is dark or nearly so night and day. • 

Q. Is it damp. 
A. I don't think it is. And because there exists in the 

city a terrible prejudice against the place on account of the 
use of it in former times. People have spoken to me fre­
quently about the tower. 

Q. The place is entered from what place. 
A. The dormitory. I only know one room in the tower 

used as a cell. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Were you here when Governor Plaisted and Colonel 

Merrill was here. 
A. I was. 
Q. Did you go round with him. 
A. I did. 
Q. Did you go into the dining room. 
A. I did. 
Q. Did you hear any conversation between the governor 

and the boys. 
A. I did not. I saw the governor go about among the 

boys, but did not follow him near enough to hear what took 
place. 

Q. You heard none of the conversation. 
A. I think none. I can't remember any that I could re-

peat. 
Q. Did you go up into the hospital. 
A. I did. 
Q. Were you in the hospital with the boy at the time the 

governor was there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What was the condition of the boy when you were 

there. 
A. As near as I can remember the boy was unconscious 

and not expected to live but a short time. 

8 
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Q. Did you notice the condition of his eyes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What was the condition. 
A. Glassy; appeared to be death struck. 
Q. Did the boy recognize you at all. 
A. I don't think he did. 
Q. Had he recognized you on former visits. 
A. I think two or three weeks before he showed some 

signs of recognition. 
Q. Did the governor take the boy by the hand. 
A. I think he did. 
Q. Do you know whether he had any conversation with 

the boy. 
A. I don't think he had because I believe the hoy was un­

conscious at the time. 
Q. What was the condition of the hospital as to tempera­

ture. 
A. I can't tell exactly. The room always appeared to me 

to be very warm. I spoke tc Mr. Farrington on one occa­
sion, and he referred to the thermometer and said it was at 
the proper temperature. 

Q. Did you look at the thermometer yourself. 
A. I did not. 
Q. Do you know whether the transom windows were open. 
A. I do not remember ; hut it is usually well ventilated I 

should think. 
Q. Was any one in the room when you entered the room. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Mr. Farrington unlocked the door. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How was the air there ; did you notice anything out of 

the way. 
A. Nothing but a little warm. 
Q. Was the air impure. 
A. No sir, I don't recollect that it was. 
Q. How long did the governor remain there. 
A. I should think perhaps from five to ten minutes. 
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Q. Did Col. Merrill go into the room. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Did he give any reason for not going in. 
A. I did not hear him give any. 
Q. You ,vere there with the governor how long. 
A. I remained with him during the time he wa.:; in the 

room, perhaps five or ten minutes. 
Q. Did the governor after he came out of the room make 

any remark concerning it. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Do you know whether he made any remark to any 

officer in respect to the condition he found the boy in. 
A. I don't know that. 
Q. Did he make any suggestion to you as to the condition 

he found the school in. 
A. ,vhen the governor came into this room [Trustee& 

room,] I said, '' Governor, I think the boys would like to. 
have you say something to them." He said, "What can I 
say to them? If I should go in and talk to those boys I should 
preach rebellion." I said no more to him in relation to the­
matter. 

Q. Did he introduce the subject again while he was here. 
A. I think he did not. I think Mr. Farrington came into·, 

the room immediately after, aud some pleasant conversation, 
took place. 

Q. Did he allude to the matter of what was said to him 
by the boys in the dining room. 

A. I think he made some reference to it, and asked him 
about the visits of the Trustees, and I informed him what 
the rule was. He thought they ought to be more frequent. 

Q. Did or not Governor Plaisted speak to you in your 
eapacity as trustee and tell you about the boys complaining 
of a want of food in the dining room. 

A. He said something about it in a general way. I don't 
remember what he did say; he referred to the matter. 

Q. Did you as trustee speak to your associates in regard 
to it. 
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A. At the next meeting of the trustees, which occurred 
soon after, I don't know but the day following, certainly 
within a week, I called the attention of the board to the 
matter, and the board at that time asked Mr. Faniugton 

several questions in regard to the diet and he explained very 

satis~tctorily what the bill of fare was and everything con­
nected with it, and then the question arose whether the boys 
were deprived of their meals, and I think Mr. Farrington 
said they were not and we had no knowledge that they were. 

Q. Had any of the trustees to you or you to them objected 
to that room as a hospital. 

A. No sir, I think it has never been objected to. 
Q. Have they considered it a proper room for the sick. 
A. I tl..ink they have. 

Q. And do to this day. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Is that the unanimous opinion of the board. 
A. So far as I know, it is. 
Q. Have the boys made any complaint to you m n'lation 

to the food. 

A. I do not remember of any boy ever complaining about 
food. 

Q. Do the boys have good and sufficient food in your 
opinion. 

A. Yes, I think they do. 

By Mr. Gould : 

Q. How long have you been a member of the board. 
A. I was appointed July 2, 1879. 
Q. Do you consider the present appearance of the boys as 

it was the day you first came here. 

A. I think in some respects the boys look much better. 
Q. Do you think there has been any improvement within 

the last six months. 

A. Yes, I think there has been. I think they are contin­
ually making m1provements here. \Ve almost al ways find 

some new change for the better when we meet. I speak with 
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reference to the school, some new feature in regard to the 
grading system or the clothing and such things as that. 

Q. What provision is made by the trustees for the relig­
ious educntion of the pupils. 

A. There are religious services held in the chapel every 
Sunday by one of the resident ministers of Portland. I think 
almost without interruption. 

Q. Without any distinction as to denominat10n. 
A. I think so. 
Q. All have equal rights and privileges. 
A. Yes, the utmost freedom is permitted the boys in the 

enjoyment of their religous preferences. 
Q. Have the trustees had occasion to find fault with the 

superintendent for not carrying out any suggestion ,vhich they 
have made in the way of improvement or change. 

A. So far as I know, any change suggested by the board 
as a whole ha::- been carried out as far as practicable by the 
superintendent. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know of any fact connected with the manage­

ment of this institution in regard to the treatment of the 
boys, from your own krnnvlcdge or from a source that you 
deem trustworthy, that ought to come to the knowledge of 
this commission. 

A. I know nothing reliable. I have heard several rumors, 
but when I started to get at the facts in every case I failed to 
get any reliable information. 

Q. As a trustee you have no knowledge of any fact that 
yon think ought to be laid before us. 

A. Nothing more than this, that I believe that abuses are 
likely to occur in any department under the charge of some 
of the officers without the superintendent's knowledge. In 
such cases I think the boys are more or less at the mercy of 
the officer in immediate charge. I think. the boys are at a 
disadvantage in that respect. 
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By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Isn't that true of any corporation, or large workshop, 

or factory. 
A. It is different in an institution of this kind, inasmuch as 

in a case of dispute between an officer and a boy, the officer 
is invariably believed, and_ the boy suffers; sometimes un­

justly. 
Q. Would that not be true of all reformatory and penal 

institutions. 
A. I don't know but that it might be. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know of any instance by which anything has 

been kept from you or attempted to have been kept from you 
by the effort of the employees or the superintendent. 

A. I do not know of anything material. I am not occu­
pying a position that would oblige the superintendent to re­
port to me directly. 

Q. So far as your connection with the board of trustees 
has been concerned, hns not Mr. Farrington and the various 
ladies and gentlemen connected with the institution, heen 
willing, at all times, to give you any knowledge they had so 
far as you know. 

A. In regard to Mr. Farrington, he has been most free and 
full in his answers, and seemed to have no desire to conceal 
anything. 

Q. Do you think the other offioers have. 
A. I never questioned them. As the officers are continu­

ally changing, I feel that Mr. Farrington is the proper person 
to consult, and so I invariably consult him. 

Q. Are those changes of officers that you allude to made 
by the board of trustees. 

A. No sir. 
Q. Can a chunge in the officers he made without the 

knowledge of the trustees. 
A. Yes. 
Q. After it is made isn't it ratified and affirmed by the 

trustees. 
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A. I don't know of any having been submitted for that 
purpose. I think the trustees have, from practice, vested the 
power in the superintend@t; they never objected to it at any 
rate. 

Q. Suppose the trustees recommend the discharge of an 
officer, and the superintendent says, "I don't propose to dis­
charge him." 

A. I suppose the trustees have the power to discharge a,u 

officer. In the only case of that kind that I have any knowl­
edge of, the superintendent promptly acquiesced. 

Q. The trustees' power is paramount to the superinten­
dent's. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Has the record you have read here been called to the 

attention of the board of trustees at any meeting of the 
board ; has it been finally adopted. 

A. No sir; it has not been submitted to the board for ap­
proval, because the meeting has not yet been held. 

Q. Who drew up the record. 
A. I drew it np from what I understood to be the sense of 

the board. It will not be acted upon until the next quarterly 
meeting unless a special meeting should be called sooner. 

Q. Is there anything more that you would like to say. 
A. Nothing more than this. I visited the sick boy fre­

quently-the boy that died-I think, on one occasion, twice 
in one day, and sometimes us often as twice a week. I think 
I visited him from the time he was taken sick until he died ; 
on an average twice a week, or rather once every two weeks. 
I must say, as a matter of simple justice, that the boy was 
as well cared for, if not better, than uny other boy I have 
known to be sick here. 

Q. Did the priest visit him when he saw fit. 
A. He did. 
Q. He had every attention, you think, that the boy ought 

to have had. 
A. Yes. I was notified within an hour of his denth, and 

wrote his relatives that evening, and arranged with them for 
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his funeral the next day, all with the entire approval of the 

superintendent. 

O. B. Chadbourn, sworn hy Mr. Fox, testified as follows: 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. You are the president of the board of trustees, I 

believe . • 
A. I am. 
Q. You have heard what Mr. Donahue has said; if yon 

have anything to add or any change to make you may state 

it. 
A. As far as the record is concerned I never saw it before. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Is it substantially correct. 
A. I haven't given the matter a close examination to see 

whether I should approve or object to any portion of it. 
Q. Do you dissent from it. 
A. No, I do not. I do not approve or dissent. 

By :Mr. Fox: 
Q. vYhat do you desire to add to or change in relation to the 

testimony of Mr. Donahue, anything. 
A. I do not recall anything now that I want to object to 

particularly. He views things from his own standpoint. I 
shouldn't be willing to say that I ngreed to all of it for I do 
not knmv anything about some of it. 

Q. Has he stated anything concerning th~ action of the 
trustees that you differ from. 

A. I don't think he has, anything that I was cognizant of. 
As far as the intemal affairs of the institution are concerned 

Mr. Donahue has visited it very much m~re than I have. He 
has been connected with the board longer than I have and 
been more particularly interest8d in the management of the 
school, its inmates, than I have. I am free to say that my 
attention has been taken up rather more with the outside 
working of the institution unless my attention was called to 
something inside especially. 
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By :Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Your attention and oupervision has been confined more 

particularly to the prudential affairs of the institution. 

A. Yes, more particular1y. 

[Adjourned until Monday, Oetober 23d, at3 P. M.J 

MONDAY, OCTOBER 23rd, 3 P. M. 

Met at the reform school pursuant to adjournment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell ; also 

Hon. Roscoe L. Bowers, of the executive council, Owen B. 
Chadbourn, of the board of trustees, and Dr. E. A. Thomp­

:mn, also a member of the board of trustees. 

During the examination of the following boys as witnesses, 

who are inmates of the reform school, Superintendent Far­

rington and Assistant Superintendent \'Y entworth were absent 
from the room. But one boy was called at a time nnd he 

was examined and dismissed before the next one ,vas called. 

Alonzo Rankins-Committed to the reform school by the 

municipal court of Hallowell in Sept., 1876. Is now 16 years 

old. Committed for the larceny of one dollar. Alternative 

• sentence 30 days in the Augusta jail. In first class C, with 

20 merits. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. Do you kno,v the nature of an oath. Do you know 

anything about being a witness in court. 

A. I never was a witness in court. 

Q. Do you know that if there is an oath administered to 

a person to tell the truth and he does not do so there is any 

punishment for him. 

A. Yes. 
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Q. What is the punishment. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you know whe~her there is a punishment in another 

world if a person tells an untruth. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What is the punishment. 
A. He is punished hereafter. 
Q. By whom. 
A. God. 
Q. I want you to hold up your hand and take the oath to 

tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth in 
answer to the questions which I and these gentlemen will ask 
you. You may answer the questions in your own way, use 
your own language and all these gentlemen will treat you 
kindly, only we want you to tell the truth and nothing but 
the truth. Do you understand it. 

A. Yes, sir. 
[The oath was then administered by Mr. Fox. J 

Q. "\Vhat is your name. 
A. Alonzo Rankins. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Going on seven years. 
Q. Do you remember what you were sent here for. 
A. Yes; stealing thirty pears. 
Q. What place did you come from. 
A. Hallowell. 
Q. Have you a father and mother. 
A. Yes. • 
Q. How old are you. 
A. In my seventeenth year. 
Q. When did you come here. 
A. About seven years ago. 
Q. Who was superintendent at that time. 
A. Mr. Wentworth. 
Q. After him who was superintendent. 
A. Mr. Buffum, I think. 
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Q. Then who? Mr. Parker. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here how have you 

been treated. 
A. Treated as well as I ought to be treated. 
Q. Have you ever been punished. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How were you punished. 
A. Whipped with a ferule on the hand. 
Q. Who by. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. How ma~y times did he strike you. 
A. Sometimes he gives me ten blows and sometimes 

twenty. 
Q. How often have you been punished. 
A. Three times since he has been here. 
Q. In what other way have you been punished besides the 

ruler. 
A. Put in the cell. 
Q. Who punished you with the ferule since Mr. Farrington 

has been here. 
A. Mr. Wentworth. 
Q. Each time for the three times. 
A. No. 
Q. Who punished you the second time. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Who punished you the third time . 
A. Mr. ,v entworth. 
Q. When you were punished the first time you were given 

ten or twelve blows on the hand. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did it blister your hand. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Break the skin. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Did you go to work after it. 
A. No, sir; he put me in the cell. 
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Q. How long did you stay there. 
A. A week. 
Q. What did you have. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. How often. 
A. Morning and night. 
Q. Who brought you the bread and water. 

A. Mr. Bartlett and Mr. Freese. 
Q. You staid there how long. 
A. Seven days and seven nights. 
Q. What did you have to sleep on. 
A. A blanket; one under me and one over me. 
Q. What time of year was it. 
A. July. 
Q. Did you ask to have any other food than bread and 

water at the time. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you make any complaint to Mr. Farrington or Mr. 
Wentworth about it, or any of the officers. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. vVhat were you punished for. 
A. I didn't mind an officer. 
Q. ·what officer was it. 
A. Mr. Griggs. 
Q. How did you disobey him; in what way. 

A. He told me to go uud sit down and I wouldn't. 
Q. How many times did he tell you to go and sit down. 
A. Once. 
Q. Where was this. 
A. In the kitchen. 
Q. Did you work in the kitchen. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Why didn't you mind him. 
A. I thought he didn't have charge of the kitchen. Miss 

Swan had charge of the kitchen. 
Q. ·what did he do. 
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A. He grabbed me by the collar and tried to throw me 
over. 

Q. ·what did you do. 
A. I wouldn't let him. 
Q. vVhat was done; tell me the whole of it in your own 

way. 

A. I grabbed him and he grabbed me. 
Q. How did you grab him. 
A. By the shoulders. 
Q. Did you take him by the coat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you tear his coat. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. How did he grab you. 
A. By the shoulders. 
Q. Then what took place. 
A. He tried to throw me down and I wouldn't let him. 
Q. What did he do. 
A. He threw me on the table and began to choke me. 
Q. How did he choke you ; in what way. 
A. vVith his hand. [Witness illustrates by clasping his 

throat with his hand. J 
Q. How long did he keep his hand there. 
A. Until Mr. Wentworth came up-five or ten minutes. 
Q. What did you then do. 
A. Nothing. Mr. Wentworth took me up stairs and give 

me a licking. 
Q. Had you said anything impudent to the cook, Miss 

Swan. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Didn't you undertake to hit Mr.· Griggs. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there anything there handy that you could have 

grabbed to strike him with. 
A. YeR. 
Q. What. 
A. Lots of sticks. 
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Q. There was a paddle and tin pails and dippers, and 
things like that. 

Q. Any knives there. 
A. Yes; two butcher knives. 
Q. Did you offer to get any knife or stick to strike him 

with. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you start for any. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you mean to hit him. 
A. No. 
Q. Didn't you intend to strike him with some stick or 

knife. 
A. No. 
Q. What did you say to the engineer. 
A. He told me to go and sit down and I told him I 

wouldn't. 
Q. What else was said. 
A. He swore and told me to go and sit down. I told him 

I wouldn't, and to keep 8till and mind his business. Miss 
Swan told me to go and set down, and I told her I would if 
he would go away and let me alone. He said he wouldn't 
let me alone. 

Q. What did you say. 
A. I said as soon as he let me alone I would sit down. 
Q. Had you used any profane language to the cook or en-

gineer. 
A. No. 
Q. What brought the struggle on. 
A. A couple of boys stole some sugar out of the bread 

room ~nd Miss Swan said I stole it. 
Q. What were her words. 
A. She asked me at first if I stole the sugar. I told her 

no. She said as how I did. I told her the two boys that 
stole it. 

Q. Did you tell her the truth. 
A. Yes. She said how she would report them. 
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Q. Then what was said. 
A. She didn't say anything else and I went into the dining 

room and turned the faucet to put the steam on, and the en­
gineer came in and told me to let it alone. I told him it was 
my business to turn the steam on to the dining room, to 
have it warm when the boys came in. He said it was not, 
and I told him it was, and Miss Swan told me to. Then he 
went around growling at me and kept telling me he would 
carry me up in the school room and get me a licking if I did 
not let that alone. 

Q. What did yon say. 
A. I told him I would do everything Miss Swan told me 

to. He said I wouldn't touch the faucet. He said just as 

soon as I touched it he would carry me up in the school room. 
Q. Then came the conver1::;ation that you have related and 

the struggle took place. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And that is why you were punished by impriswment 

in the cell for six days. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you mean that you were going to turn the steam on 

to the dining room. 
A. Yes, the steam coil is down there. 
Q. Did you turn the steam on that the room might be warm. 
A. Yes. 
Q. That is correct is it-you let the steam on in the month 

of July. . 
A. Yes, there was a little steam coming through there. 
Q. Did you have a vessel in your cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How often was the ves::;el cleansed. 
A. Every morning. 
Q. Who did it. 
A. The night watchman brought a boy up. 
Q. You wasn't allowed to go out of the cell at all. 
A. No sir. 
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Q. ·were you tied or fastened in any way while you were 
in the cell. 

A. No sir. There is a brake to the iron door that locks it. 
Q. Did you work while you was in the cell. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Have anything to read. 
A. No. 
Q. Who did you talk with while in the cell. 
A. I had no one to talk with. 
Q. Did anyone come up to see you. 
A. Mr. Wentworth came up once in a while. 
Q. What for. 
A. To see how I was getting along. 
Q. Did he say anything to you but ai:;k you how you were 

getting along. 
A. No. 
Q. ·what did yon have under you to sleep on. 
A. A blanket on the floor. 
Q. Have a blanket over you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Any bench in the cell. 
A. No. 
Q. The second time how many blows did you get on the 

hand when you were punished with the ferule the second time. 
A. Ten. 
Q. Who gave them to you. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
ci. Imprison you after that. 
A. No. 
Q. What were you punished for. 
A. Whispering in the chair shop. 
Q. How did you happen to whisper. 
A. I can't remember. 
Q. Did he draw any blood. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you go right to work after thnt making chnir bot­

toms. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. The third time you were punished what did you do. 
A. ·whispered on parade. I asked the boy next to me if 

he was going into school after supper and he said no. 
Q. How was you punished at that time. 
A. Eight cracks on the hand. 
Q. Who gave you those. 
A. Mr. Wentworth. 
Q. Did he bring blood. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Break the skin in any way. 
A. No. 
Q. Make the hand black and blue. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you go to work immediately after the blows. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you know about the rules and regulations of the 

school. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who told you about it. 
A. Mr. Wentworth reads them to the boys. 
Q. When. 
A. Once in a while. 
Q. Did you know when you whispered it was against the 

rules. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you know when you was impudent to Miss Swan, 

or resisted the officer, that it was against the rules. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did anyone talk with you about your coming in here this 

afternoon. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you know you were coming. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you had any talk with anybody about this rnves- . 

tigation. 
9 
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A. No, sir. 
Q. Haven't you talked with any of the boys about it. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you know anything about it. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you know these gentlemen were here. 
A. I saw four come this afternoon. 
Q,. See them come last week. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you know what they were here for. 
A. No. 
Q. Haven't any of the officers talked with you about it. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. When you were called in here who spoke to you. 
A. Mr. ,v entworth. 
Q. Where were you. 
A. In the shop at work. 
Q. Did you know where you were going when he called 

you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How did you know. 
A. I knew he was going to take me in here because I saw 

him in here. 
Q. How did you know you were coming in here. 
A. Because he always calls boys up and takes them in 

here when they come out. 
Q. What shop do you work in. 
A. First class chair shop. 
Q. Do you get enough to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is the food good. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you ever made any complaint about the food. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you any·complaints, to make at all. 
A. No, sir. 
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Q. How are you treated in this institution. Do you want to 
have any change made in the treatment of you by the officers. 

A. No, Rir; not that I know of. 
Q. Are they kind to you. 
A. I think all the officers use the boys right when they 

behave themselves. I have always been treated right 
since I have hefn here. 

Q. If you have been punished it is because you have bro-. 
ken the rules and regulations. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Have you ever been cold nights in bed. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Always had bed clothing enough. 
A.Yes, sir. 
Q. Room been warm. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Have you ever been whipped up in the dormitory.· ... 

A. No. 
Q. Have you been compelled to get up nights and use the, 

can. 
A. Ye8. 
Q. How did the watchman wake you up. 
A. He pulls the clothes off and tells the hoy to go. to the: 

can. 
Q. Did he ever strike you at all when he waked yo.1.1 up. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you ever see the officer strike any of the boys .. 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q ... What officer. 

A. Mr. Freese. 
Q. Seen any other officer strike them. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. What did you see Mr. Freese strike them with. 

A. A strap. 
Q. Ever seen him strike them with a rope. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How large a rope. 



A. About as big as half a c1othes line with knots tied in 
it. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Is Mr. Freese here now. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. vYhcn these boys were struck by Mr. Freese were they 

in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he strike them to wake them up. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Struck them with a strap or cord. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever see him do anything else to the boys. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did Mr. Freese ever punish them by making them get 

up and stand on a line. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did they have to stand on a line. 
A. 'Till twelve o'clock. 
Q. From what hour. 
A. Eight o'clock. 
Q. vVhat is ~~ standing on a line." 
A. You have to stand in the floor in front of his dPsk. 

Q. Why did they have to stand from 8 till 12 o'clock. 
A. Because they whispered at the table. 
Q. Who told Mr. Freese to do that, or don't yon know. 
A. No. sir. 
Q. How many boys have you sPen puni:-,hed in that way. 

A. A good many; most all the school. 
Q. Do they punish boys so there now. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. I don't know how long this night watchman makes 

thelJl stand. 
Q. ·what is the latest you have seen boys stand there. 
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A. Seen them stand up all night. McGowen and Dyer 
stood up all night once. 

Q. When was that. 
A. ,,v-11011 Mr. Freese was here. 
Q. What did they stand up all night for. 
A. Whispering 
Q. How do you know they stood up all night. 
A. Because when I went to bed they stood out in the floor, 

and in the morning when I waked up they were standing 
there. 

Q. How long ago was it. 
A. Quite a while ago. 
Q. A month, or six months, or how long. 
A. I don't know exactly; it was last winter some time. 
Q. Do you know that a boy stood up all night for whis-

pering. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And didn't go to bed at all. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What night watchman was in charge when the boys 

stood up all night. 
A. nfr. Freese. 
Q. Do you say that the practice 1s still continued under 

the present watchman. 
A. Yes. 

John McGovern, committed by the Supreme Judicial Court 
in Calais. Is now 17 years old. Committed for breaking 
and entering, with intent to steal. Alternate sentehce two 
years in state prison. Is in first class, ~~ B." 

By :Mr. Fox: 
Q. How old are you. 
A. Going on eighteen. 
Q. ,v ere you ever a witness in court. 
A. No. 
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Q. Do you know anything about giving testimony under 
oath. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know what the punishment is for telling a 

wrong story under oath. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you understand anything about God; did you ever 

hear of Him except in this institution. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where; down home. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Well, taking an oath is calling upon God to witnes8 

that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 
the truth. You understand what it is to tell the truth, do 
you. 

A. Yes. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Four years. 
Q. Where did yon come from. 
A. Calais. 
Q. Are your parents living. 
A. Father and mother is dead. 
Q. Were they dead when you came here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you do down in Calais. 
A. Breaking and entering. 
Q. Did JOU have a lawyer to take care of your case. 
A. No. 
Q. How have you been treated since you have been here. 
A. Sometimes I have been treated kind and sometimes I 

haint. 
Q. What was the first punishment you got. 
A. I gave pepper to them fellers that went for Flint up in 

the dormitory, and they put me down in the third class for it. 
Q. Did they punish you in any other way. 
A. Yes; I got lickings. 
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Q. Where did you get the pepper. 
A. In the kitchen. 
Q. Who gave it to you. 
A. I took it. 
Q. Without leave. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And carried it up into the dormitory. 
A. No, sir; I took it out in the yard. I didn't know what 

they were gomg to do with it, or J wouldn't have given it to 
them. 

Q. How did you get found out. 
A. I suppose some of the fellers told on me. 
Q. You were put into the third class. 
A. Third class, "C." 
Q. ·who was superintendent. 
A. Same super we have now. 
Q. Were you punished beside that at that time. 
A. No. 
Q. The second time how were you punished. 
A. I can't remember. 
Q. Can you remember any one punishment you had ex-• 

cepting that. 
A. I have been working in the kitchen and been saucy to 

the officer, and I have been carried up stairs and licked for 
that. 

Q. What was the punishment. 
A. Ten cracks on each hand and fifteen demerits. 
Q. vVho gave you the cracks. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Did he hurt. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Break the skin. 
A. No. 
Q. Make the hand black and blue. 
A. Yes, a little. 
Q. Did you go right to work after he had licked you. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. What kind of work. 
A. Cooking. 
Q. Was you ever put in the cell. 
A. No, sir. I have been locked up in the entry and staid 

there one day. 
Q. vVhat entry. 
A. It is a kind of dungeon. 
Q. Do you go through the dormitory to get to it. 
A. No, it is right undei; the dormitory, this side of the 

third class school room, right back of where they pile up the 
chairs. 

Q. How large an entry is it. 
A. About three feet wide and four feet loug. 
(i. Any windows in it. 
A. A few air holes way up to the top, but you can't see 

your hand before you. I was put in there without my dinner. 
Q. Didn't you have anything to eat at all. 
A. I was put in there once and never got anything to eat 

at all. 
Q. How many hours have they kept you without food. 
A. From ten o'clock in the forenoon until supper time. 
Q. ·what did you have at supper. 
A. I can't remember. 
Q. Did you lose your grade. 
A. I was put down from the first class into the second. 
Q. vVas you ever punished in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. I have stood up all night in the dormitory for 

fighting. 
Q. Didn't you go to bed at all. 
A. No, sir. I didn't have a bit of sleep and had to work 

all the next day. 
Q. ·who wns you fighting with. 
A. Chnrlie Dyer. 
Q. When was the fight. 
A. Lnst fall. 
Q. What time of day. 
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A. At night, just as we were going up into the dormitory. 

l\fr. Freese caught us and :-:;tood us up in the dormitory until 
morning. 

Q. What part of the dormitory. 

A. Right where these men were standing the other night 
when we l)()ys went to bed. 

Q. 'Where was Dyer. 

A. vVith me standing up within four feet of me. 

Q. Did Mr. Farrington know it. 

A. Yes. 

Q. How do you know that he knew it. 

A. Because he saw us, and Mr. Freese told him how we 

were fighting and Mr. Fanington says, ~1 This is a pretty 
good night for them." 

Q. What else did he say. 
A. He didn't say anything; he walked right off. 
Q. vVas the standing you up all night done by Mr. Freese 

or Mr. Farrington. 

A. Mr. Frnese. 

Q. Did ~fr. Freese tell Mr. Farrington what he was going 
to do. 

A. He told him he wns going to stand us up. 
Q. Did he tell him how long. 
A. No. 
Q. Mr. Farrington didn't know how long. 

A. No; hut :Miss Frankie told him in the morning how I 
stood up all night, and he knew it then. 

Q. Did he say anything. 
A. No; he laughed a little. 

Q. Diel you go to breakfast after that .. 

A. Yes, I went down and ate my breakfast and then went 

to work, and went to school in the afternoon. 

Q. vVhat kind of work. 

A. Cooking in the kitchen. 
Q. Did you have nny punishment in the <lormitory besideH 

that. 
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A. Yes, I have stood up until 12 o'clock for whispering 

in the dormitory. We are not allowed to whisper. 

Q. That night you say you stood up all night, didn't you lie 

down at all. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Sit down. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Walk round. 

A. No, sir, I stood up straight, and it was cold too. 

Q. What month was it. 

A. It was in the winter time, about December. It was 
last winter. 

Q. vYas Mr. FreeRe awake all the time. 

A. He shut his eyes five or ten minutes at a time. 

Q. Was he the only watchman. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you tell him you were cold. 

A. No good to tell him, he wouldn't mind you. 

Q. Did you tell him. 
A. Yes, I told him I was cold and asked him five or six 

times if I could go to bed and he wouldn't let me. 
Q. Did you ever have to get up and go to the can. 
A. Yes, one night I aRked him if I could get up and go 

to the can, nnd he said if I was a mind to stand up two hours 

he would let me go to the can, and I went and he stood me 

up two hours. 

Q. Did you want to go to the can. 

A. Yes, and I wanted to go bad. 

Q. You went to bed at eight o'clock. 

A. Yes. 

Q. What time did you want to use the can. 

A. About 3 o'clock in the morning. 

Q. Had you used the can just before going to bed. 

A. No sir; I used it out in the yard-went to the water 

closet. 
Q. At three o'clock did you tell Mr. Freese you wanted to 

use the can. 
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A. Y cs, and he told me if I was a mind to stand up two 
hours he would let me go to the can. 

Q. Did he ever do that more than once. 
A. No, sir. I never asked him again. 
Q. ·was you ever struck in the dormitory. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever see him strike anybody. 
A. Yes, he had a strap and a rope he used to hit them with. 
Q. How often did you see him strike them. 
A. About every night. 
Q. ·what did he want to strike them for. 
A. They would not behave. I suppose. 
Q. Do you know whether he used to strike them to wake 

them up. 
A. Yes, to go to the can. 
Q. Did he strike them to wake them up in the morning. 
A. No, we had a bell to wake us up. If a boy wet the 

bed he ·would strike him with this rope just because he wet 
the bed when he couldn't help it. 

Q. Have yon seen any boys struck since Mr. Freese went 
away. 

A. No. 
Q. Do you think you are treated pretty well here. 
A. \Ve be by some officers. 
Q. ·what officer don't treat you well. 
A. Mr. Owen. He has the second class chair shop. 
Q. What does he do to you. 
A. No longer ago than yesterday a lot of boys were mak­

ing a noise in the school room and he called Mr. vVentworth 
in and said it was me and I--- making the noise, and we 
didn't make a hit of the noise. 

Q. Did you tell Mr. Wentworth. 
A. He stood me out in the floor with my arms folded. 
Q. How long did you stay there. 
A. Half an hour. 
Q. What else has Mr. Owen done. 
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A. He took my name down at the table for whbipering and 

I hnd to stand up from 8 till 10 o'clock: for it. 
Q. Do you have enough to eat. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Good food. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Bread good. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Ever give yon any bread that was sour. 
A. No. 

Q. What kind of meat du you get. 
A. Roast meat. 

Q. How often do you have it. 
A. Once a week. 

Q. Have all you want. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Well, that is pretty good isn't it, to have all tho roast 
lwef rou want. 

A. I snppose there are some boys that don't get all they 
-want; but I work in the kitchen, so I get all I want. 

Q. What else do you get. 

A. I get luncheons and the other boys don't. 
Q. vVhat do you get them for. 
A. I work in the kitchen. 

Q. Anythi ug else. 

A. I get a11 the apples I want, and the other boys don't 

get all they want. 

Q. How many boys work in the kitchen. 

A. Six. 
Q. Do you like to attend school. 

A. Yes. 

By Mr. Gould. 

Q. Do they generally have second class boys in the kitch­

en. 
A. Some first class and some second class. 

Q. Never wholly of one kind. 



( 141) 

A. No, sir; they take them out of the first and second 
classes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you ever see Governor Plaisted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When. 
A. Last February, or a year ago February. 
Q. ·when he was out here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where did you see hirn. 
A. In the dining room. 
Q. Did he say anything to you that day. 
A~ He asked me if the boys ever lost any meals here, and 

I told him yes. 
Q. How many boys go without their meals. 
A. There don't any now. They haven't lost their meals 

since that day he went away from here. 
Q. How many lost their meals before he was here. 
A. Ten or fifteen every meal. 
Q. What do you mettn by losing a meal; going without 

your dinner or supper. 
A. Yes; and going without breakfast. 
Q. Did you have anything to eat when you went without a 

meal. 
A. No, sir; when they lock them up they give them one 

slice of bread. Before the governor came here they did n't 

give them anything at all. 
Q. How soon before they would have somdhing to eat. 
A. The next meal. 
Q. When did they get the slice of bread. 
A. When they were locked up. 
Q. When you go without your dinner don~t you have :my-

thing to eat from breakfast to supper time. 
A. No. 
Q. Did boys lose their dinner. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Supper. 
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A. Yes, and sometimes their breakfast. They have stood 
boys in the floor without their breakfast because they didn't 
have their hair combed. 

Q. vV ns Mr. Freese in charge of the dining room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did boys have to stand in the floor in the dining room 

when they went without their meals. 
A. Yes, right out in front of where the boys set. 
Q. "r asu't they allowed to have something to eat when the 

other boys went out. A. No, sir. 
Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here have you known 

boys to go without something to eat from breakfast to sup­
per time. A. Yes. 

Q. Ever known them to stand in the floor in the dining 
room and see the other boys eat. 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And they not have anything to eat at all. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Positive about that. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Who have you known that has been made to do that. 
A. Pendergrass and Nichols. Nichols was in the floor the 

day that Governor Plaisted came here. 
Q. Didn't Pendergrass have ~nything to eat at all. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Didn't Nichols. 
A. No, sir, and I have stood out in the yard on parade and 

had nothing to ~at while the fellows were eating. 
Q. What has been the longest time you have been without 

anything to eat. 
A. Breakfast to supper time. 
Q. What is the longest time other boys have been without. 
A. I don't know . 
. Q When was this. 
A. It was about a year ago they done this. 
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Q. vVhen was the governor here. 
A. Last February. 
Q. Has any one had any talk with you about your coming 

in here. A. No, sir. 
Q. Any of the boys. A. No, sir. 
Q. Any of the officers said anything to you. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Did you know that we were here. Yes. 
A. Did you know you were to be called in here. No, sir. 
Q. Has a1iybody said anything to you about it. 
A. No sir. 
Q. How do you know it was February that the governor 

was here. 
A. Because I can remember it was February. It was fast 

winter-February or January. 
Q. How do you know it was Governor Plaisted. 
A. He said he was governor, and I knew when he was go­

ing through the school room; Mr. Wentworth said, '~ Gover­
nor, won't you take a chair." 

Q. You didn't know whether it was Governor Plaisted or 
some other governor. 

A. No, sir; but I guessed it was Governor Plaisted. 
Q. vV as any one with him. 
A. No, sir; he was alone. 
Q. Did you see him about the building with anybody else._ 
A. No, sir; only Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Any other gentlemen with him. 
A. No, sir. He has been here twice. Some of his coun-

cil was with him then. 
Q. When was that. 
A. A year ago last spring. 
Q. You don't know who was with him in February. 
A. No, sir ; there wasn't no one then. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Can you read. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Have you seen anything in the papers about Governor 
Plaisted being here. 

A. No. 

Charles A. Dyer. Committed in 1876. Was then eight 

years old. Sentenced by Judge Knight of Portland. Crime, 

larceny of goods valued at 50 cents. Alternative sentence 

thirty days in jail. Is in second class, "C." 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. vVere you ever a witne::ss in a court room. 

A. No. 
Q. "½r ere you ever in the Municipal Court room in Port­

land. 

A. Yes sir. 

Q. Ever see the judge call a man to testify and hold up his 

hand. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know what it is to take an oath. 
A. Yes. 

Q. What is it. 
A. They swear on the Bible. 
Q. If a man tells a falsehood what is the punishment. 
A. He won't go to heaven. 
Q. Where did you go to church in Portland. 
A. Down on Preble street. 
Q. vVhat is the minister's name. 
A. I don't know. 

Q. Do they have Christmas trees there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. '''"here do they have them; in the main room. 
A. I can't remember I have been here so long. 

Q. Can you remember any of the ladies that are there. 
A. No. 
Q. I want you to stand up nnd take the oath to tel1 the 

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but th~ truth, and then I 
want you to tell us everything we ask you, just as it is, 
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becauac you know all about it and we don't. Will you tell me 
the truth. 

• A. Yes sir. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox. 
, Q. How long have you been here. 

A. Six years and three months the 6th of next mouth. 
Q. What was you brought here for. 
A. Playing truant in school and stealing. 
Q. What school did you go to. 
A. School street. 
Q. Have you got a father and mother. 
A. A stepmother and my own father. 
Q. Where did you steal from. 
A. I don't know exactly the place ; it was off from a stand 

that was outside. 
Q. Did you steal more than once. 
A. Yes ; a good many times. 
Q. The police compfo.ined against you. 
A. Yes ; they catched me all the time. 
Q. How do you like Mr. Farrington's treatment toward 

you. 
A. I like him well enough. 
Q. Does he treat you kindly. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do all the officers treat you kindly. 
A. No sir; Mr. Owen don't. 
Q. What does he do. 
A. Sometimes at the table some boy will be whispering, 

hollering right out loud, and he will call my name, and I 
have to meditate, and the other boys will get up and tell him 
and he would pay no attention to them. 

Q. How do you have to meditate. 
A. Have to stand up and fold my arms and face the hoard. 
Q. How long. 
A. An hour and a half or two hours. 
Q. Ever have to touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 

10 
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Q. How long do you hnve to touch your toes. 

A. Sometimes he will keep some boys two hours. 
Q. I want you to tell me truth. Did you ever know a boy 

to he kept in that position two hours. 
A. Yes; but it wasn't Mr. Owen, it was Bartlett kept 

Cox down two hours. Bartlett has gone away now. 

Q. Did anybody ever punish you. 

A. Mr. Owen did. 

Q. How. 
A. Down at the table another boy whispered, and he 

would take my name, and I would have to meditate. He 

has done that two or three times lately. 

Q. What other way have you been punished. 

A. None that I can think of. 
Q. N e,'er been punished in any other way. 

A. No, not for anything I didn't do. 

Q. Ever punished for anything you did do. 

A. Yes. 
(l What did you do. 
A. I was in quite a number of scrapes. 
Q. Tell me one. 
A. Ferguson was going to set the house afire, and they 

said I knew it. Mr. Farrington called me np about it, and 
put me in the tower and kept me a week and put me down 
to ''C" in my grade. 

Q. What did you have to eat. 

A. Only had dry bread; and sometimes he would give you 

a" drink of water. Didn't have any water to drink with the 

bread. I had to take a drink first, and eat the dry bread. 

Q. What did you do nights. 

A. Slept; but I didn't sleep half the time. 
Q. What did you sleep on. 

A. Had bla11kets and slept on the floor. 
(,l,. Didn't you have any sack. A. No. 

· Q. How many blankets did you have under you. 

A. Two or three, and a comforter over us. 

Q: Who was in with you. A. Lovejoy. 
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Q. How long ago was that. 
A. Six or seven months ago. 
Q. Cold or warm weather. 
A. ·warm weather. 

Q. Didn't you have anything to eat besides bread. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Not for the whole seven days. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Sure about it. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Did yon have a vessel up there. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Who used to go and empty it. 
A. We used to empty it every morning. 
Q. Yon went through the dormitory to empty it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who used to go with you. 
A. Mr. Freese. 
Q. Then what did you do ; go right back. 
A. Yes. 
Q. "That other punishment have you received. 
A. They let me out!:iide, and me and another feller ran 

a way, and they caught us and put us up in the tower and 
kept us five or six days, and then put us in the cell and k.ept 
us a day and a half and fed us on the same thing. 

Q. When was that. 
A. In June. 
Q. Did you have to work in the cell while you were there. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever have any other punishment. 

A. Yes. 
Q. What. 
A. Hartford, Griffin and another boy was going to set the 

house afire and I knew about it and they made me sleep:,on. 

the floor at night. 
Q. Did you have anything to do with setting the fire·. 
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A. No. I knew about it and they said I was as Wol'se as 

they was. 
Q. Who told you that. 
A. It was Mr. Wentworth, I guess, said I was about ns 

worse for not telling. 
Q. Which Mr. Wentworth was it. 
A. The one that is here. 
Q. How long ago was that. 
A. Most a year ago. 
Q. \Vas Mr. Farrington here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he talk with you about it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did he say. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Why didn't you tell if you knew they were going to 

set the fire. 
A. The boys would call me "Supe" and everything. 
Q. You didn't want the boys burnt up. Why didn't you 

tell of it. How did you know it. 
A. They told me of it. 
Q. Did they try to set the building on fire. 
A. No sir, but they had it all planned up. 
Q. Did they have any matches. 
A. No, but _they had some kerosene. Lanemand got it 

down in the kitchen. 
Q. What did he put it in. 
A. In a bottle. He had it up in the bed amongst thP 1,traw. 
Q. He had the bottle there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When did he say he was going to do it. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. How was he- going to light the kerosene. 
A. He was going to get some one to get a match. 
Q. Where was he going to carry the kerosene. 
A. Up in the corridor where the third class used to sleep. 

Only one boy sleeps up there now, - Bain. 
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Q. Did you ever get to fighting with any boy. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What boy. 
A. Friel. 
Q. Any other. 
A. Yes, Lovejoy. 
Q. Any other. 
A. Yes, Goyette. 
Q. Did Mr. Freese ever punish you for fighting. 
A. Yes, he has given me five extra chairs. 
Q. Ever made you stand up. 
A. Not for that. 
Q. Did you ever have to stand up in the dormitory. 
A. Yes, he used to make me stand up till 12 o'clock, and 

one night me and McGowen were fighting and we had to 
stand up all night and me and Rankins stood up the night 
before that. 

Q. How long the night before. 
A. All night. 
Q. Two nights right off. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Didn't go to bed at all. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you go up to the dormitory after fighting and 

stand up all night. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Was Mr. Farrington here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he know about it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you tell him. 
A. I didn't think it would do any good if I did. 
Q. Why didn't you think it would do any good. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Wasn't you sleepy the next day. 
A. Yes, I slept in the day time what time I could get. I 

worked in the i:;ewing room then. 
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Q. Did this boy McGowen stand up two nights right off. 
A. No, it was me that stood up two nights. 
Q. And Mr. Farrington knew about it. 
A. Yes. I heard Mr. Freese tell him about it, and he came 

in there when I was in the dormitory. 
Q. Who stood up with you thnt night. 
A. Rankins stood up with me the first night and McGowen 

the next night. The watchman used to go to sleep himself 
in the middle of the night. 

Q. Didn't you go to sleep when he went to sleep. 
A. No, sir. I was afraid he would wake up and he used. 

to lick the boys with a big thwk leather strap. I was afraid 
he would wake up and catch us. 

Q. Do you get enough to eat here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they ever strike you with a ruler. 

A. Yes, I have had lickings lots of times. 
Q. How many times. 
A. I don't know. 

By Mr. Gould: . 

Q. What is you grade. 
A. Second class C, with twenty merits. I have been in 

the first class two or three times. 
Q. Ever in the third class. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Which class had you rather be in. 
A. The first. 
Q. Why. 
A. Have more privileges. 
Q. Why don't yon get there and stay there. 
A. I am trying to now. 
Q. Turned over a new leaf. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are you kept warm. Are you ever cold here in the winter. 
A. No sir, we ain't cold. 
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Q. Did Mr. Frem,e ever strike you in bed after you were 
asleep. 

A. These wet the bed boys would be asleep and wouldn't 
go to the can, and he would take a strap and lick them. I 
used to stand up nights and see him. He used to keep me 
till 12 o'clock every night I stood up. 

Q. How much have you stood up since Mr. Freese went 
away. 

A. I don't know, two or three times. 
Q. How late. 
A. Quarter past nine and ten and half past ten. 
Q. Ever stand up later than that. 
A. No. 
Q. ·what were you stood up for. 
A. Whispering down at the table. 
Q. Who made you stand up. 
A. The new officer. I don't know his name. 
Q. He has charge of the dining room and dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has he ever whipped you. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Does he ever whip any of the boys when they are 

asleep. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Never saw him strike anybody. 
A. No, he treats the hoys good as far as I can see. 
Q. Do you say that Mr. Owen don't treat the boys gootl.. 
A. He don't treat the boys as good as the new officer. 
Q. Where do you work. 
A. In the second class chair shop. 
Q. Where were you before that. 
A. In the third class chair shop. I got out of the sewing 

room six or seven months ago. I staid there over two years. 
Q. Do you remember the day Governor Plaisted was here. 
A. No, sir. I was sick then up in the dormitory. 
Q. Were you in the hospital. 
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A. No, up in the corridor. 
Q. Have you ever been in the hospital. 
A. Yes, when I had the lung fever. 
Q. How long were you sick. 
A. A week. 
Q. Did they treat you kindly. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did they give you to eat. 
A. I don't know the name of the stuff. 
Q. Toast. 
A. I think it was. 
(1, Pretty good wasn't it. 
A. YeR. 
(~. Do you like to be in the hospital. 
A. No, sir ; I don't like to be there sick. 
(i. Like to be there well wouldn't you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know anything about boys goiug without meals. 
A. Yes; I have been without myself. 
Q. "\Vhen was it, and what for. 
A. Whispering down at the table, a good while ago; they 

used to lock them up while the other boys were at their 
meals, and let them out after recess. 

Q. How is it now. 
A. They don't do it now. 
Q. How long lrnve you been without food. 

•A. I don't know. 
Q. What is the longest do you think. 
A. Two meals-morning and noon. 
Q. Didn't have anything to eat from one night's supper up 

to the next night's supper? are you sure of that. 
A. No, sir; I ain't sure of that. 
Q. You better not say it if it isn't true. 
A. I know what the consequences is if I say it, _and it 

ain't true. 
Q. ,rhat. 
A. I won't go to heaven. 
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Q. Ever had to go without your meals since Mr. Farring­
ton has been here. 

A. I don't remember. 
Q. Can't remember whether you have had to go without 

your meals or not. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Does Mr. Farrington treat you kindly. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is the food al ways good. 
A. Some of the boys don't like the soup. 
Q. Do you. · 

A. I like it well enough. 
Q. Were you one of the boys that asked to have bread 

and molasses instead of corned beef. 
A. Yes, on Monday. We used to have beef Monday, and 

didn't like it at all. 
Q. Did you want bread and molasses or corned beef. 
A. Bread and molasses. 

By Dr. Thompson; 
Q. 1'T ere you in the sewing room last May when the boys 

undertook to set the fire. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you have anything to do with it. 
A. I knew about it; they told me they were going to. 
Q. Do you know how they set the fire that time. 
A. Put a coal in a bag of rags. 
Q. You were up before the board of trustees. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you report any of these things to Mr. Farrington. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Why. 
A. I didn't like the fun of the fellows calling me names. 
Q. Hasn't Mr. Wentworth read a paper to you asking you 

always to report all these cases, saying if you did report you 
should be protected. Do you remember it. 

A. No, sir. 
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Q. Do you know that Mr. Parrington knew that you were 
stood up all night long. 

A. I don't know exactly. I should think he ought to. He 
came in and saw me standing there. 

By Mr. Pox: 
Q. Do you know whether he knew how long you stood 

there. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What time of night would he come in. 
A. About ten o'clock. 
Q. Can Mr. Parrington see you through his door. 
A. Ho can look through the glass, and he catches fellows 

doing something sometimes. I don't know whether he saw 
me through there or not. 

Q. Are you sure that Rankins stood up with you all night 
the first night. 

A. Yes. 

Louis Nichols: - Committed by the Bangm· Police Court 
in April, 1880. Is now 13½ years old. Sentenced for steal­
ing property valued at thirty cents. 

By Mr. Pox: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Two years and a half. 
Q. Where did you come from. 
A. Bangor. 
Q. Who sent you here. 
A. Judge Goodnough. 
Q. Do you know what it is to take an oath. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Suppose you take an oath and tell a wicked story, a 

falsehood ; what is the consequence. 
A. Hell fire. 
Q. ·where did you go to church while in Bangor. 

A. Pirst Baptist. 
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Q. Always been to church there. 
A. As long as I lived there. 
Sworn by Mr. Fox. 
Q. Now I want you to tell us the whole truth and speak 

right up. Don't be afraid of anybody, and tell us the thing 
just as it occurred. Have you been punished since you have 
been here. 

A. Yes. 
Q. By whom. 
A. By the super. 
Q. How did he punish you. 
A. On the hand with a ruler. 
Q. How many blows did he give you. 
A. Ten. 
Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Bring any blood. 
A. No, sir; he made black and blue spots on my hand. 
Q. Did you go right to work after he punished you. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I went to draw the strand of cane through and it hurt 

me where he hit me. 
Q. Did you tell the officer. 
A. No, sir, I did my work after a little while. 
Q. What had you done that he punished you that day. 
A. Being up ten times in the class in meditation. 
Q. What is the class in meditation. 
A. When a boy is up ten times for whispering at the 

table they lick him. They used to lick him on the tenth 
time, and now they lick him on the eleventh. 

Q. Were you ever punished in any other way besides be-
ing licked with a ruler. 

A. Yes, by stan~ing on the line. 
Q. How long did you have to stand on the line. 
A. Two weeks, I think. 
Q. How did you stand on the line. 
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A. Mr. Wentworth did it because I lost a peg, and I bor­
rowed one of his and Smith found mine and I lost his and 
he told me to stand on the line until I found it. I stood on 
the line until Smith found it and came and gave it to me. 

Q. Was tlmt in the workshop you stood on the line. 
A. No, in the yard. 

Q. How long did you stand there. 
A. Every recess until Thanksgiving. 
Q. You stood on the line how long. 
A. Two weeks. 

Q. For losing the peg. 
A. Yes. 

Q. What other punishment did you have. 
A. That is all. I have had extras for using profanity. I 

Jost my peg and didn't think and began to swear. 
Q. What were the extras. 
A. I have got five extras. I had seventeen extras and he gave 

me seven weeks to do them and this is the fifth week and I 
have got them all done but three. I shall have them all done 
this week. 

Q. Did you ever see Governor Plaisted. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Ever see him in the building. 
A. Yes, I think I have. 
Q. When did you see him. 
A. One Saturday I was in the floor and he came up and 

asked me what I was here for and I told• him whispering on 
parade. He asked me if I couldn't have any dinner and I 

told him no. He asked me if I couldn't have some bread 
and I said yes. He asked me if I couldn't have water and I 
said no, not until to-morrow noon, and he said he guessed he 
would have to see about that. 

Q. Couldn't you have had ,vater. 
A. No; there was some out in the yarq before that, but he 

passed it all round to the large boys and I didn't get any. 
Q. Couldn't you go into the rooms and get some water if 

you wanted to. 
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A. No, sir; unless I had gone down m the kitchen, and 
the doors were locked. 

Q. Did you have milk for supper that night. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you ever go without your meals. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you been without your meals. 
A. A good many times. 
Q. How many. 
A. About a hundred. 
Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you been without food. 
A. One day I went without food every meal, for one day. 
Q. Didn't you have anything to eat at all tl:.at day. 
A. No ; they offered me bread, but I didn't take it ; it was 

dry, and it would make me thirsty. 
Q. Couldn't you have had any milk to drink. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Wouldn't they give you any water. A. No, sir. 
Q. Was Mr. Farrington here then. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you tell him of that. 
A. I couldn't; he is usually up in his room. 
Q. Did you tell any of the officers. 
A. I asked the officer who had charge of the room if I 

could not have some water, and he said no. 
Q. Who was it. 
A. Mr. Bartlett. 
Q. Is he here now. A. No, sir. 
Q. When was this. 
A. June. 
Q. When was the governor here. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. How do you know it wus Governor Plaisted. 
A. I don't know ; but it looked like Governor Plaisted. 
Q. Where did you see him; where have you seen him. 
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A. Ithink I saw him in Bangor, in an office. 
Q. In what office. 
A. In his office, I think. 
Q. What kind of a looking man is Governor Plaisted. 
A. I can't tell. 
Q. Has he got whiskers. 
A. I think he has. 
Q. Small or a large man. 
A. About the same as him. [Pointing at Dr. E. A. 

Thompson, who was standing near the witness. J 
Q. Do you know the color of his hair. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Has he got a moustache. 
A. I don't; know. 
Q. Do you know whether Mr. Farrington knew that you 

went all day without anything to eat. 
A. No, sir; I do not. · 
Q. After you went without your breakfast did you see Mr. 

Farrington. 
A. No, sir; I did not. 
Q. Did you tell any officer you hadn't had any breakfast. 
A. No, sir; and that day I worked smart till dinner time, 

and then I wa~ put without my dinner, and I didn't think 
that was right, and then that night I got put without my 
supper; but I didn't care about that, and after a while the 
trustees came and said if I couldn't eat I couldn't work. 

Q. What trustee said that. 
A. I don't know; I have forgot. 
Q. Do not the officers tell you that when you are punished 

or have any complaints to make, to come and report it to Mr. 
Farrington? Haven't the boys here a right, when they are 
ill treated in any way, to come to him. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Hasn't Mr. Farrington told you to come and tell him. 
A. Ho told the whole school so. 
Q. Why didn't you tell him about this. 
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A. I didn't think I could get anything by it. 
Q. Why not. 
A. Because it was an officer that punished me. 
Q. Suppose it was; Mr. Fttrrington told you he was going 

to look after you boys; why didn't you tell him. 
A. He didn't tell us about coming and reporting the officers 

until after that. He told the boys that about two months ago. 
Q. Was that the first time you knew it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have enough to eat. 
A. Yes; most of the time. 
Q. Don't you all the time. 
A. vVe have good food all but Tuesday. 
Q. What food do you have then. 
A. Soup. 
Q. What is the trouble with the soup. 
A. It is too salt, and we don't get no potatoes. The 

kitchen boys arc large boys, and they always take out the 
potatoes for their chums. When they come to a large boy's 
plate they will fill his plate full of potatoes, and when they 
come to the small boys at the other end they won't give 
them no potatoes, but put in some bread. 

Q. Who fills the plates. 
A.. McGovern, I think. 
Q. Did you ever tell the officers you didn't get so many 

potatoes as the big boys. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I didn't think of it. 
Q. Didn't Mr. Farrington tell you to come to him and 

make all the complaints you had. 
A. Yes, but this was before. 
Q. Do you get potatoes now. 
A. ,v e get more than we did before. 
Q. Why did they treat the large boys better than they did 

the little boys. 
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A. Because the large boys can fight better than the little 
boys and the kitchen boys want to get chums with the big 
boys, so if ai-ybody went for them they could take their part. 

Q. Do you ever fight here. · 
A. Sometimes. I was out in the yard this afternoon and 

a boy named Bell came up and began to hit me, and bunged 
my lip up for me. 

Q. Did you say anything to anybody about it. 
A. No, sir. Mr. Owen caught him and stood him on the 

line for it. 
Q. Are you ever punished in the dormitory. 
A. Yes, some of the time I get stood up. 
Q. Were you ever put in the cell. 
A. Y cs, one time me and Gray and Jackson were reported 

by Mr. Wentworth and given extras and put 111 the cell until 
night. The next week I started to make mine up and I have 
got mine all made up but three. 

Q. Were you ever put in the tower. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When. 
A. One night, about this time, until ten o'clock. 
Q. Did any officer ever strike you when you were in bed. 
A. Yes, Mr. Freese. 
Q. What did he strike you with. 
A. A strap. 
Q. How many times. 
A. Once in a while I would be lying in bed and it would 

be hot, and I would leave my sheet on me thinking it wouldn't 
come off, and then, because it would be off my legs a little, 
Mr. Freese would come up with a strap and hit me three 
times. 

Q. Where would he strike you. 
A. Right on the legs, and bring blood. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What kind of a stmp was it. 
A. A leather strap about so thick. [Measuring. J 
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Q. Have you been struck since Mr. Freese went away. 
A. No, sir. 

By Dr. Thompson. 
Q. Did you tell Mr. Farrington or Mr. ,v entworth that 

you were struck. 
A. No. I told Mr. Wentworth that I got stood up for 

nothing. Me and a boy was wrestling and I put him down 
three times right off and Mr. Freese blew the whistle, and 
then the boy tried to throw me down. I stood right still and 
didn't do anything and Mr. Freese told me to stand up. I 
told Mr. Wentworth about it and he didn't do anything, and 
Mr. Freese began to laugh at me about it. He made me 
stand up until half past twelve. 

By Mr. Chadbourn. 
Q. You say he drew blood, did he draw blood so you 

wiped it off on your hand. 
A. No, but there would be blood spots all over me, so the 

~ 

blood would come right up to the skin. 
By Dr. Thompson. 

Q. Why didn't you tell Mr. Farrington. 
A. I don't know. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Were you afraid of Mr. Freese. 
A. No. 
Q. Was afraid that if you told he would punish you more. 
A. I did at first, but after I found out what he was I wasn't. 

I wasn't scared. One night I was standing up and a boy 
named Morrison had a watch and when I got hold of it there 
was no watch to it only the cases tied together with thread. 
I borrowed Mr. Freese's knife and I smelt of the knife and, 
thought I smelt tobacco, but wasn't sure, and I touched my. 
tongue to it and I said there was tobacco on the knife, and 
he said, "No, it is only apples where I pared applet> out at_ 
the farm to-day." 

Q. Do you use tobacco. 

11 
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A. No, not since I have been here. I used to use it before 
I came here. 

Q. Smoke and chew. 
A. I smoked, I was just learning to chew. 
Q. Do any of the boys use tobacco here. 
A. No, sir; there aint no boys got any; they would if they 

could. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do yo think any of the boys would like a chew of 

tobacco. 
A. If you heard them talk I guess you would think they 

would. 
Q. Have you ever been sick since you have been here. 
A. No, sir. 

Michael Cady: Committed by municipal court of Portland 
for truancy in May, 1879. Is now 11½ years old. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. ,v ere you examined a few days ago before the board of 

trustees. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were you sworn. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Were you ever in a court room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where did you come from. 
A. Portland. 
Q. Were you ever in the municipal court room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever see the judge call a witness to testify. 
A. No. 
Q. Is it right or wrong to tell the truth. 
A. Right. 
Q. Is it right or wrong to tell a lie. 
A. Wrong. 
Q. What have you been told in this institution about that. 
A. That it was wrong to tell a lie. 
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Q. Do they tell you anything about God punishing you if 
you tell a falsehood. 

A. They said it was wrong in the sight of God to tell a 

falsehood. 
Q. Where did you go to church in Portland. 
A. Didn't go to church. 
Q. Never been to church. 
A. No. 
Q. Are your parents living. 
A. Yes. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox: 
Q. Now, I want you to tell us the truth, just as things. 

occurred, without reference to any man or any body of men. 
We are here to find out just how Mr. Farrington and the 
different officers have treated you. Have you ever been, 
punished since Mr. Farrington has been here. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How many times. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Have you been punished by Mr. :Farrington. 
A. Yes, about two years ago. 
Q. What was that punishment. 
A. Out in the hall with a ruler. 
Q. What did he whip you for. 
A. I don't know what I done. 
Q. Haven't you been whipped with a ruler since two yea.re:.. 

ngo. 
A. I don't think I have, I don't remember. 
Q. Been punished in any other way. 
A. Yes, by extra chairs and demerits. 
Q. Been stood on the line. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. The longest time was a week. 
Q. How long did you stand at any one time. 
A. During recess, just as long as we had recess. 
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Q. Did you have to stand in the recitation room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long there. 
A. During the whole evening. 
Q. Did you ever have to touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did they make you stand thnt way. 
A. Fifteen minutes. 
Q. Did you ever complain to the officers. 
A. No, Sir. 
Q. Did any of the officers besides Mr. Fnrrington ever 

whip you. 
A. Yes, Mr. Freese. 
Q. Do you know where he is. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What did he whip you for. 
A. I got up in my sleep one night. 
Q. With what did he whip you. 
A. A piece of window cord. 
Q. How do you know he whipped you. 
A. I waked up when he was whipping me. 
Q. Did he draw blood. 
A. No, sir, he left marks on my legs. 
Q. When was that. 
A. Last August I guess. 
Q. Did he ever whip you other than that time. 
A. Yes, twice before that. 
Q. Did yon ever have to stand ou a line in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. From eight o'clock till twelve. 
Q. When was that. 
A. About three months ago. 
Q. What for. 
A. vYhispering at the table. 
Q. Were you ever put into the tower. 
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A. Yes, before Mr, Farrington came here. 
Q. Been put in since Mr. Farrington came here. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever been pu~ in a cell. 
A. Once, when Mr. Wentworth was superintendent. 
Q. Did you ever see Governor Plaisted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When. 
A. I believe it was the last time he was here. 
Q. How long ago was that. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Who did he come in with. 
A. He came in with some gentlemen, I don't know what 

their names were. 
Q. Do you remember how many came in with him. 
A. No. 
Q. What were you doing. 
A. Eating dinner. 
Q. Did you have any talk with the governor. 
A. No. 
Q. How did you know it was Governor Plaisted. 
A. He spoke to us in the school room, and one of the 

gentlemen with him introduced us. 
Q. Do you know whether any of the boys had to go with­

out their food. 
A. They did when Mr. Farrington first came here. I don't 

know that they h~ve lately. 
Q. How did they have to go without their food. 
A. They used to be locked up in the morning at breakfast 

time, and only used to have a slice of bread, and if they 
whispered at the table they would have to go. I don't know 
how many times without going into the dining room, and on­
ly have a slice of bread. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. What do you mean by a slice of bread ; how big a 

slice. 
A. One of those slices we have now. 



Q. Such as we saw on the table down stairs. 
A. Yes, sir. 

[Several slices that were left from the boys' supper were 
brought in and exhibited to the commissioners. J 
By Mr. Fox: 

Q. What did they give these boys to drink. 
A. Didn't give them anything. 
Q. Is the bread good. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know whether any of the boys were in line 

when Governor Plaisted was here. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Have you ever been in the hospital. 
A. I have been there, but never have been sick. 
Q. Have you always had enough to eat and drink. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has the food always been good. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you been comfortably clothed. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you been cold nights. 
A. No, sir; I can't remember of being cold. I always 

had enough on. 
Q. Have you any complaints to make against any of the 

officers. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. None whatever. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What boys have you seen punished within six months. 
A. I can't remember. 

Q. Can't you remember any on~. I mean by the superinten­
dent or by any of the officers; any severe punishment. 

A. I don't seem to remember. 
Q. Do you know whether any boys had to stand up all 

night. 
A. When Mr. Freese first came here they used to. He 
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stood boys up two nights-one night all night, and the next 
night he stood them up until twelve o'clock, in the dormitory. 

Q. Who were they. 
A. McGovern and Dyer. They had to stand up all night 

one night, and the next night until twelve. 
Q. Who stood up with Dyer. 
A. McGovern. 
Q. Did Rankins ever stand up. 
A. I don't know; I don't remember. 
Q. Do you know of any boys being put in the tower. 
A. Yes ; I used to see a boy, by the name of Bain, taken 

to the tower about every night by Mr. Freese. I don't know 
when they let him out. 

Q. Do you know about boys being put in the cell. 
A. They have been put in the cell in the evening, for not 

doing their i;;tint. 
Q. Have you seen them there as you passed by. 
A. No; I would seP them when they were taken out. 
Q. Do you know how long they were kept there. 
A. The boys that were put there to make np their stint 

only staid from eight to ten o'clock. 
Q. Do you know whether boys that have been put there 

for other things were kept there longer than that. 
A. Boys that run away have been kept there a week. 
Q. What else are they put there for. 
A. I don't know ; some great things. 
Q. Do yon know the longest time they have been kept 

there. 
A. Sometimes a week, and sometimes eleven days. 
Q. Do you know what they have been fed on. 
A. Bread and water, I think, but I ain't sure. 
Q. The food, you say, is always good. 
A. Yes; it has al ways tasted good to me. 
Q. Have all the officers, except Mr. Freese, been kind to 

you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did Mr. Farrington tell you, with the other boys, that 
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when you had any complaints to make, to make them to him. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know whether the boys did do that. 
A. I don't know. I haven't had any complaints to make 

since I have been before the board of"' trustees. 
Q. Did you make any complaint then. 
A. I had some, hut I didn't make any. I told it to them. 
Q. You never had made any complaints to Mr. Farrington 

about it. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. [Pointing to the bread on the table. J Are those aver­

nge slices of bread, such as you say were given to the boys 
when they were shut up. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know what Mr. Freese was sent away for. 
A. No. sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Has any one talked with you about coming in here. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any of the boys. 
A. No; I didn't know I had anything to do about coming 

in here. 
Q. Did you know we were here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you know what we were h~re for. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you hear any of the boys say anything about it. 
A. No. 
Q. Have a-ny, of the officers said anything to you about 

coming into this room. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Who told you to come in . 
. A-- Mr. Wentworth. I was reading in my reader and he 

told me to come in here. 



( 169) 

By Dr. Thompson: 
Q. You were up before the trn::,tees. 
A. Yes. 
Q. You showed me the stripe::; on your legs. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What reason did you give for not reporting it to Mr. 

Farrington. 
A. I told you I didn't know why I didn't. 
Q. I asked you if you were afraid to, and you said no. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. Didn't you say it wasn't consequence enough. 
A. No, sir; I don't think I did. Mr. Donahue asked me 

if I thought he ill-treated me, and I said I didn't think he 
did. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Did you have marks on your legs. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you exhibit them to the trustees. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Albion Little : 
Q. If you felt that you were abused by the officers would 

you feel perfect freedom in going to Mr. Farrington or Mr. 
Wentworth and telling them about it. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did Mr. Freese whip you to punish you or wake you 

up. 
A. I don't know. I remember when I waked np he was 

wh~pping me round the post, and he hurt his hand some­
where, and didn't seem to feel very good about it. He used 
to tell down stairs how a boy got up in his sleep last night 
and he whipped him with a strap, and he used to laugh about 
it. 

Q. Who did he tell that to. 
A. Mr. Davis and Babbidge and Woodward. 
Q. How long have you been in honor. 
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A. I have been in the first class since a year ago last J ully. 
I was in the third class a year and four months. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. How often do you go into the city. 
A. When the first class goes to church or on excursions. 
Q. Are you one of the boys that went to the Barnaby con--

cert some time ago. 
A. No, sir; I never went to a concert. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Are your stints such that you can easily perform them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do all the boys in the chair shop have stints they can 

do. 
A. I don't know about that. When I worked in the chair 

shop I always had a stint I could do. 

Alfonzo P. Whitten. Committed August 19th, 1875. 
Now 20½ years old. Crime, assault and battery. 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. Do you know that it is wrong to tell a falsehood· 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know what the punishment is for telling a false-

hood ·under oath. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you know whether there is any punishment. 
A. I suppose there is. 
Q. Do you think it is wrong in the sight of God to tell a 

lie. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you ·think he wm punish you for it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. I am going to administer an oath to you that you will 

tell the truth to questions I and these gentlemen will ask 
you, and I want you to tell it to us just as though you were 
going to tell it to a boy out at recess. 
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[Sworn by Mr. Fox. J 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Altogether, seven years. 
Q. What were you put here for. 
A. Assault and battery. 
Q. Where were you sent from. 
A. Kennebunk. 
Q. Parents living. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here how have you been 

treated. 
A. I have been treated well enough, as well as I want to 

he treated. 
Q. Been treated kindly. 
A. Yes. 
Q. By all the officers. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Every one of them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you had enough to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you been warmly clad. 

A. Yes. 
Q. In the winter have you had all the bedding you wanted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Had any punishment inflicted upon you. 
A. One punishment from Mr. Far~ington. 
Q. When was that. 
A. I think in July or August. 
Q ... What for. 

A. Trying to rnn away. 
Q. What was the punishment. 
A. A whipping on my hands. 
Q. How many blows. 
A. Twelve I believe. 
Q. Has he punished yon in any other way. 
A. No, sir. 
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Q. After he punished you what did you do. 
A. I told him I would never try it again. 
Q. Did you go right to work. 
A. No, it was in the afternoon in vacation. 
Q. After he whipped yon what did you do. 
A. I went right on and behaved better. 
Q. Were you working on the farm at that time. 
A. No, sir; I jnst got up out of the third cla.ss. 
Q. Did he break the skin when he feruled you. 
A. No, sir. 
ci. Was your hand discolored. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any other punishment. 
A. No, sir; that is the only punishment he has done to me 

since he has been superintendent. 
Q. Have auy of the other officers punished you at all. 
A. No, sir; when I was in the third class (I don't call it 

much of any punishment) the officer took hold of my collar 
uu<l took me out of the ranks, and I slipped down and he 
pulled me up, and he is the only one that ever shook me 
round. 

Q. Have you seen any of the other boys punished. 
A. I have seen Mr. Owen shake boys around. 
Q. How does he punish them. 
A. Take them by the collar and yanks them around. I 

saw him take Harris out of the seat and slat him round and 
his feet struck against the benches. 

Q. Did he fall down. 
A. He couldn't help falling down. 
Q. Was he a large boy or a small boy. 
A. He is a foolish hoy, and didn~t work nor nothing. 
Q. Do you know why Mr. Owen treated him so. 
A. No, I don't know what he was doing. 
Q. What other punishment have you seen the boys receive. 
A. Gillen asked him for some cane and Mr. Owen said, 

yes he could have some, and he had been growling about 
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something- Owen had - and he went down to the tower to 
get some and I saw him coming out and Gillen got to talking 
to him, and Mr. Owen told him to go back into the tower 
again, and then he struck him in the mouth and knocked him 
over. 

Q. When was that. 
A. In July, I believe, in vacation. 
Q. What did Gillen do. 
A. He didn't do anything; he took Gillen nnd held him 

down amongst the ropes they tie round the chairs. 
Q. Then what did he do. 
A. Gillen got up and went to his bench and went to work. 
Q. Did Mr. Farrington know of his knocking Gillen down. 
A. I don't know whether he does or not. 
Q. Did you ever see any boys punished in the dormitory. 
A. Not by this officer. 
Q. Ever seen them punished by Mr. Freese. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you ever see him do. 
A. See him lick them with a little whip he had made out 

of one of these window ropes. 
Q. How did he whip them. 
A. Struck them everywhere he got a chance. He didn~t 

care where he struck them. 
Q. How many times did he strike them. 
A. Sometimes five or six cracks and sometimes ten. 
Q. Ever know any of the boys to cry. 
A. Yes; a good many cried. 
Q. Did you ever know him to bring blood when he struck 

them. 
A. No. 
Q. Did he ever make them stand up in the floor. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Until 12 o'clock; and some nights,he would go to sleep 

and cheat the boys out of three hours, and keep them up till 
two or three o'clock in the morning. 
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Q. Did you ever know a boy have to stand up all night. 
A. I don't know as I have. It might be when I was 

asleep. 
Q. How long have you known a boy to be kept in the 

tower. 
A. Mr. Freese kept a boy in there five nights. 
Q. Is that the longest time you have known them kept 

there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have they been kept in a cell. 
A. A week. 
Q. Do you know what they were fed on. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. How do you know that. •· 
A. That is the rule they always had. 
Q. How often do they have bread and water. 
A. That is more than I can tell; I never was up there. 
Q. Do you know what they had to sleep on. 
A. The boys say they sleep on the floor with blankets. 
Q. You only know that they were fed on bread and water 

from what was said. 
A. That is all I know. 
Q. Were you ever in the hospital, sick. 
A. Just once since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
Q. How long were you there. 
A. Two days. 
Q. Did you have good treatment. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have a doctor. 
A. Yes; Dr. Webster. 
Q. Who else came to see you. 
A. Mrs. Farrington came in sometimes. 
Q. Was it warm or cold weather. 
A. I believe it was warm weather. 
Q. Did yon ever see a boy in the cell for any serious 

offence. 
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A. No, Rir; I never saw boys in the cells, because I never 
went in the cell-room when any one was in the cells. 

Q. Who carries up the bread and water to the boys in the 
cells. 

A. The dining room officer. 
Q. Did you ever know any boys to have handcuffs on 

them. 
A. No; but I have seen them have an iron ball on their 

feet. 
Q. When. 
A. When Travers and Griffin went away. 
Q. How long ago was that ; within a year. 
A. I can't tell; it is since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
Q. How heavy was it. 
A. I can't tell. I wasn't here then. I went away before 

that, but I came back just before they went away. 
Q. What were they made of. 
A. Iron. 
Q. Were the two boys fastened together. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where did you see them. 
A. In the office. I believe Mr. Farrington was in Port-

land. 
Q. Who put the irons on them. 
A. Mr. Wentworth. 
Q. How long were the boys in the office with the irons on 

them. 
A. I don't know. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Were tte boys then going away from the school. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did you see them the next day. 
A. No. 
Q. What became of them. 
A. I believe they were locked up in the cells. 
Q. Do you know how long they were here after they had 

the irons on. 
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A. No, sir. 
Q. How happened you to be here and see them then. 
A. I went away with a farmer, and run away from him 

and came back here. 
Q. You came back of your own accord. 
A. Yes, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know of any boys here that have had to go 

without their meals. 
A. Not since this superintendent has been here. 
Q. Can you think of any occasion when any of the boys 

have had to go without their meals since he has been here. 
A. No, sir; I cannot. 
Q. Do you remember of the governor being here. 
A. No, sir; I wasn't here. 
Q. When did you come back. 
A. The 4th of May. 

By Dr. Thompson: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. In all, seven years. 
Q. Is the tower used now as much as it used to be , 
A. Not so much now as it used to be. 
Q. Has it been used as much within a year as it used to be. 
Q. I can't say. I haven't been here all the time. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know whether the boys rather be put in the 

tower or in the cells. 

A. I have heard some say they rather be in the tower and 
some say they rather be put in the cells. 

Q. Have you ever been in the tower with the door shut. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Little ; 

Q. The last time you wrote to me you were up in Hollis .. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. How long were you in Hollis. 
A. I don't know, I think it was seven or eight months. 
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Q. You were afterwards down at Gardiner, wasn't you. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How long did you stay there . 

.. A. About four days. I staid at Mr. vVaterhouse's in 

Hollis about eight months and then went home and staid two 

weeks and then came hack here and staid two months and 

then ran away and staid most nine months-all last winter. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. What were you doing during those nine months. 

A. VV orked in the factory. 

Q. Did you come back of your own accord. 

A. No, sir, I got caught. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you earned any money here. 
A. Yes. 

Q. How much have you earned. 

A. I believe a dollar and a half. 
Q. How do the boys know anything about the rules and 

regulations. 

A. All the rules they know is what Mr. Wentworth tells 

them in the school. 
Q. Do you always do your stints. 
A. Yes, I do. 

Cl Is it hard or easy work. 
A. Some has hard and some easy stints. 
Q. Any difference between them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. vVho has the hardest. 

A. I don't know who has got the hardest. 

Q. ·why do they make any difference. 

A. Some officers will give a boy a stint he can't do. 

Q. Why does he do thnt. 
A. I don~t know. 

Q. Do you think a big boy gets any more foo~l than a 

small boy. 
A. Yes. 

12 
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Q. "\Vhy is that. 
A. The kitchen boys give some of their chums more food. 
Q. Do the kitchen boys fare any better than other boys. 
A. They used to, I don't kuow whether they do now or not. 
Q. Does Mr. Farrington know that one boy fares any bet-

ter than another. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do the other officers know it. 
A. Mr. Owen did, and he stopped it, and they don't do it 

now. 
Q. Do the boys have to stand np in the dining room. 
A. Not nntil they get through. 
Q. Suppose a boy whispers in the dining room. 
A. They take his name and he has to stand up in the med­

itntion class. 
Q. Don't they stand them up in the dining room. 
A. They stand them up after they eat their victuals, but if 

they whisper they hand their name in to the superintendent 
and he has them in the meditation class. 

Q. Do they have anything to eat while standing up. 
A. Yes, they take their victuals from the table. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Did they used to stand up without their victuals. 
A. Yes, but that was before Mr. Farrington came here. 
Q. And not since. 
A. No, sir. 

Wi1liam Pendergrass: Committed for larceny of three dol­
lars, by the municipal court of Portland, May 9th, 187H. 

Was then eight years old. Is now in first class '1 B." 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Were you ever in a court room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know what it is fo take an oath and be a wit­

ness. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. ,vhcre are you from. 

A. Portland. 
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Q. Father and mother living. 

A. Yes. 
(i. Where do they live. 

A. No. 17 Hanover street. 

Q. ·when you were in Portland, di<l you used to go to, 

church. 

A. I didn't always. I did sometimes. 

Q. What church. 

A. Can't tell you. 

Q. On what street. 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Go to Sunday school. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Over three years. 
Q. What did you come here for. 

A. Stealing horses. 

Q. Who was with you. 
A. My brother. 

Q. Is he older than you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How much do you weigh. 
A. 64 pounds. 

Q. How old are you. 

A. Ten years old last June. 

Q. How have you been treated here. Have you been:, pun-­

bhcd by the officers. 

A. A year ago last winter when I was in the ::;hop and I 
wanted to go to the closet, and I was doing like that, [tap­

ping the floor with his foot,] and Mr. Owen came up and 

threw me down. on the floor and knocked the wind out of me. 

(i. "\Vasn't you making a louder noise than that. 

A. Perhaps I was. 
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Q. What did yon do after that. 

A. Mr. Owen picked me up and carried me and set me 

down on the platform, and then he picked me up again and 

hrought me up in the hall of the chair shop. He a~ked me 

if I had come to and I told him, yes. 

Q. vYhat do you mean by that. 

A. If I had got my brealth. 

Q. Did he whip you again. 

A. No, sir. He brought me m and let me sit down on a 

seat in the shop. 

(i. Did you go to work. 

• A. No, my finger \Yas hurt. 

Q. How did you hurt it. 

A. He stepped on it. 

Q. Did you te 11 him he stepped on it. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you cry. 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When did you go to work. 
A. In the aftemoon. 
Q. Did yon tell Mr. Farrington of this. 

A. :N"o, sir. 

Q. Don't Mr. Farrington know it now. 

A. I guess he does. 
Q. Who told him. 

A. I never said anything about it. 
(i. vVhat mude you think ~fr. Farrington knew nnythi11g 

about it. 

A. I don't know. 

(i. Diel you know that we were coming over here. 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know what we are here for. 

A. No. 

Q. Diel yon hear any of the hoys talking about our being 
here. 
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A. Yes. I heard that the trustees were staying there. 
Q. What did they say they were staying here for. 
A. They didn't say anything to me. 

Q. Was you whipped by any other person except Mr 
Owen. 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. Were you ever put in the cell. 
A. No. 

Q. Ever put in the tower. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did you stay there. 
A. About half a day. 
Q. ·who put you in the tower. 

A. Mr. Wentworth, the assistant super. 
Q. Have you been there more than once. 

A. Yes; three times. 
Q. How many times did you stay each time. 
A. Once I staid one forenoon, and then half the afternoon 

and then three hours. 
Q. Ever been feruled on the hand. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who by. 

A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. How many blows did he give you. 
A. "\Vhen I was up ten times; I suppose ten blows. 
Q. Did he strike you on the hand. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have enough to eat. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Is the food good. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do all the boys have enough to eat. 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Ever know a boy to go hungry. 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Ever know a boy to go without his dinner_. 

A. Yes ; I have been that way. 
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Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
A. I think I have. 
Q. How long did you have to go without food. 
A. One meal. 
Q. Have any bread when you went without. 
A. Yes; they passed it round. 
Q. Didn't they allow you any other dinner. 
A. They gave us bread and then some water. 
Q. Did you ever know any of the other boys to have to go 

without their dinner or supper. 
A. There have been a lot of boys, but I don't remember 

their names. 
Q. Did you ever get a whipping in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What for. 
A. Playing. 
Q. Who whipped you. 
A. Mr. Freese, with a strap. 
Q. Have you seen any of the boys whipped smce Mr. 

Freese has been away. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do they stand them up. 

A. Yes. 
(i. How ]ate. 
A. Ten o'clock. 
Q. "\Vho have you seen stand up. 
A. I have, for disorder at the table. 
Q. Do you know of any hoy that had to stand there all 

night. 
A. Yes; ·when Mr. Freese was here. 
Q. ·who has stood there all 11igh1. 
A. Dyer and Rankins. 
Q. How do you know they stood there a1l night. 
A. Because they told me in the morning, and I waked up 

in the night and saw both boys standing there. 
Q. Do you have to get up nnd use the can. 
A. No, sir. 
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Q. Have you seen any of the boys whipped for not wak-
ing up and using the can. 

A. Yes; I have seen them when I have been standing up. 
ci. Have you ever seen any boys in the cells. 
A. No, sir; I never saw the cells. 
Cl You don't know where they are. 
A. I know where they are, hut I never saw them. 
Q. Did you ever see the boys with anything around their 

wrists; were they tied. 
A. No, sir; I never see any myself. 
Q. Ever see any one have anything around his feet. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who. 
A. Griffin. 
Q. What did he have. 
A. Shackles. 
Q. What for. 
A. He run away. 
Q. vVho put the shackles on. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. ""Where did you 8ee him. 
A. In the yard; in the third class yard. 
Q. How long did you see him there. 
A. Every day for a week at recess. 
Q. Was he there for a week with these shackles on. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When was this. 
A. Some time ago. 
Since Mr. Farrington came here. 
A. I think it was. 
Q. Did you ever see Governor Plaisted. 
A. I saw him when he came out here. I saw him in the 

school room. 
Q. Did he make a speech to the boys. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who was with him. 
A. Some men. 
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Q. Have you ever been in the hospital. 
A. Ye:3, about a day; hut I hnd no doctor. I had a sore 

throat. I went down to my meals. 

Dr. E. A. Thompson, of the Board of Trustees, sworn by 
Mr. Fox, testified as follows: 

By Mr Fox: 
Q. Have you read Mr. Donahue's testimony. 
A. I have. 
Q. Do you dissent from the statements he there made. 
A. We never made any report. I simply sketched off 

something as the result as for as we had gone. Mr. Don­
ahue says. "There is something here I am not satisfied with." 
Mr. Chadbourn asked him what it was and he said he wanted 
to investigate something in the dormitory. I said, 11 All right 
we will stay tomorrow and go into it." 

Q. Then the substance of Mr. Donahue's statement is 
correct. 

A. Yes. 
Q. What do you desire to state to the commissioners about 

the treatment of these boys here. 
A. I have been connected with the board two years I think. 

I suppose our general line of business as trustees has been all 
gone over wHh. ·when I have made my visits I have spent 
my time mostly with the boys. I have generally spent two 
days here, arriving here at 12 o'clock and leaving the next 
afternoon. I have examined the boys with reference to their 
physical condition particularly. I ha.ve heard all the com­
plaints from the boys and invited them to make all the com­
plaints they had to make, and I invariably investigated and 
inquired into them to see what ground there was, and I have 
also examined the food every time I have been here, and the 
hospital if there wn,s any sick in it. I can say that the phys­
ical condition of the boys bas improved without any question. 
It has greatly improved within the last two years, and within 
ten years vastly improved. Ten years ago I was a member 
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of the governor's council aud on the committee on the reform 

sehool. Two years ngo there were a great many boys here 
with sore eyes, and there has been a marked improvement in 

that respect. Another thing, the habit of self abuse among 
the boys bas been materially lessened. 

Q. How do you gain that information. 

A. By a personal exnmination of the boys privately and 
talking with them as well as from general observation. 

Q. How, has the t1~eatment of the officers toward the boys 
been. 

A. As far as I have been able to find out it has been kind 

with a very few exceptions. The case of Freese is the only 

case of maltreatment of the boys I have known for two years. 

By Mr. Haskell. 

Q. _Have you known of the practice of standing boys with 
their fingers to their toes. 

A. I have seen them do it and got out of sight and watched 

them to see what it amounted to. They would stand that 

wny, then perhaps put thei.r hnnd down and rest on the floor, 

or get up and the officer would see them perhaps and make 

them take their places again. 
Q. Is it a puni~hment suita.ble to be inflicted. 

A. I don't suppose it would be to keep a boy any length 
of time . 

. By Mr. Gould. 

Q. VVhat shon1d you say was an unsuitable time to keep a 

boy in that position. 
A. I should not think ten minutes would be proper to keep 

a boy in that one position. I have seen boys stand so and I 
don't think I ever saw one stand a mmute. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Do yo think it a suitable punishment to be inflicted. 

A. I don't see any particular objection to it unless it tires 

a boy out. I suppose it is something like holding a book out 

;1ny length of time. I never saw a boy whom I thought was 
injured in that way. 
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Q. Have you ever read through the book of punishmerits. 
A. Yes; I always read it when I come here. 
Q. vVas it brought to your attention, that boys had been 

kept in the cell at times varying from three to eight days, 
without a bed except blankets and on pread and water. 

A. I knew the boys were never put in the cell except 
for some severe offence. I supposed they had blankets enough. 

I never saw a boy in the cell but once since I have been here, 
and he was at work. I saw a boy in the tower once. 

Q. vVas you aware that a boy was compelled to sleep in 
there on the floor for a fortnight. 

A. No. 

Q. Have you ever been in the tower. 

A. Yes, a number of times. It is octagon in shape, per-
hags eight or ten feet in diameter. 

Q. Any windows in it. 
A. A window boarded up with holes in it. 
Q. How many holes. 
A. Three or four two or three inch auger holes. 
Q. With the exception of that is there any other chance 

for-light. 
A. No, I think not. 

Q. Was you aware that Bain was kept rn a cell prepared 
with a bunk bed for two months. 

A. I don't seem to recall that. 
Q. Were you aware that Bain slept from July 22d to 

August 2d in the tower on the floor without a bed except 
blankets. 

A. No, I didn't know anything about it. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. ,v ere you aware that any of the other boys were kept 

in tlie cell for six or eight days. 
A. Yes, a week at a time. 
Q. And fed on bread and water. 
A. Yes, as a pumshment. 
Q. The book of punishments you have read through. 
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A. Y cs, only I saw the slips before it was put upon the 
hook. I see what stints they have, and the extra work and 
the different degrees of punishment. 

Q. Diel you at the time know what offences these punish­
ments were given for. 

A. I don't seem to recollect these particular cnses. 
Q. It was reported to you, and you hecame aware of the 

punishment, and you at the same time knew what the offence 
was. 

A. Yes. 

Q. VV as that brought to the whole board's attention, or to 
you as a monthly visitor. 

A. All these papers are thrown upon the table and exam­
ined hy the full board. 

Q. If the Bilin boy was compelled to slrep a fortnight m 

the tower, wns that fact talked about hy the trustees. 
A. I don't seem to recollect, I can't recall the case. 
Q. The case of the boy put into the cell for six days and 

fed on bread and water. 
A. We talked over all these things, and finally inquired 

into what the offence was. 
Q. The trustees justified it. 
A. We considered these grave offence5, and I never heard 

the question raised but what it was a suitable punishment. 
Q. How about shackling the boys. 
A. The boy Griffin was a troublesome boy, and I labored 

with him a good deal, and he refused to do better. He had 
a weight placed upon one ankle, ·which rested upon a support 
attached to the shoe. It was simply a weight he used to have 

to carry round. 
Q. How much did it weigh. 
A. I don't know. I suw him walking around with it. It 

was an iron ring. 
Q. How long did he wear it. 
A. I don't knmv, I never saw him with it on but once. 

Q. \Yhere did you see him with it or~ . 

• 
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A. In the yard with the other boys. I enquired how it 
was p11t on and saw it was attaehed to the boot. 

In regard to the sick boy, \Yinn, I wish to say that on the 

21st of Febl'uary, the day we had our meeting here, I \Vent 

h1to the hospital a nnmher of times to see him. I think I 

went in three times while I was here, and staid quite a while 

and examined him to see what the trouble was. It was 

reported by the doctor at first that he thought he had a slow 

fever, but about that time he thonght there was evidence of 

tl'onble with the brain, and he did begin to show a little of it 

at the time. I was satisfied that it was going to be fatal. 

At the time I was in there, the thermometer was about 67, 0 

and I noticed when, in exumining the boy, I turned down the 

clothes, he ,vould make an effort to draw them up again. I 

examined him in regard to his temperature, and fonnd his 

temperature at tho extremities was some\vhat low. I told 

them to he careful and keep the room at a little higher tern­

perat11r0, and to let in all the sun that could shine in, so as to 

keep his temperature np. He was feeling the effect of the 
low temperature. 

Q. \Yas the room warmed with steam. 

A. Yes, it was comfortable for me to be in there. 

Q. ,vas the full head of steam on. 

A. I presume not. There was a thermometer there. 

Q. Is there anything else yon wish to say. 

A. In talking with the boys, I learned that it was the cus­

tom to deprive them of food to a certain extent, and I think 

at the May meeting I said I was opposed to having any pun­

ishment upon the boys by depriving them of food; that the 

boys should have their meals and some other method of 

punishment resorted to. I think Mr. Donahue and Mr. 

Chadbourn both agreed with me, and Mr. Farrington also. 

Q. ,vhen was that. 

A. At the last May meeting. I would ask a boy if he got 

enough to eat. ''No." '' vVhy? do you have to go without 

your meals?" '' Yes." '' Can't yon have all the bread you 

want?" "Yes, I can have all the bread I want;" and they 

• 
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would all come down to that. For instance, last April I had 

heard then that the governor had charged that the boys went 

without their meals, so I enquired around what boys he 

talked with. I asked one boy if he saw the governor when 

he was here, and he said he did. I asked him if he \Vas one 
of the boys that told him he had to go without his meals. 

He said he did. I asked him if he told the truth. He 
stopped a minute and said '1 No." I asked him what he meant 
by saying it. "v\T ell," said he, "I didn't have what I wanted 

to eat." I asked him if there was another boy that said so, 

and he pointed over across to another boy. I don't recollect 
now who the boy was. 

Q. What did you gather their meaning to be, that at the 

time of punishment they had to go without their food except 
bread and water. 

A. The boys would say, '' ,v e don't get enough to eat;" 

and I would ask them about it and sometimes they wonld say 

they didn't like soup. I would ask them if they didn't have 

what bread they wanted and they would admit that they did; 
that they_ had all the bread they wanted. Sometimes a boy 

would say he didn't like milk, and some boy would object to 
· this and some to that. 

Q. Did you then find out that there had been a habit of 
standing boys up, and instead of giving them their regular 

meal giving them bread. 
A. My impression is that I asked Mr. Farrington if the 

boys had not been deprived of some of their food and given 
bread instead, and my impression is that he said it had some­

times been done, but in May we corrected that. 

Henry M. Griggs, recalled, and testified ns fo1lows: 

By Mr. Fox. 
Q. What was the temperature of the hospital kept at. 

A. Mr. ,v entworth directed me to keep it as near H8 poR­

sihle at 65° or 68° when the boys were abed, and when they 
were about to get up to heat it about five or ten ckgrecs 

warmer. 
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Q. Did you do so. 
A. I did. 
Q. How often did you go in. 
A. Every day when it was cold once or twice, and when it 

was very cold from five to ten times a day. 
Q. Did you always look at the thermometer. 
A. Yes ; invariably. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. ·with the thermometer at zero and below is the steam 

power sufficient to keep it at the desired point. 
A. In some rooms it is not. It is not in the officers' sit­

ting room. 
Q. In the part occupied by the boys, I mean. 
A. I don't think there is any part of the building that the 

boys stay in but what you can keep at any temperature you 
desire with the thermometer at zero outside. 

Q. How is it when it drops to ten or twenty below. 
A. There has been no time when I have been here but 

what that part of the building could be sufficiently warmed 
to a temperature of 70°. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. What is the thermometer in the dormitory kept at. 
A. I don't know; there is no thermometer, except in the 

hospital, that I have taken any notice of. I never had any 
complaint that the dormitory was too cold. 

By Dr. Thompson : 
Q. In the summer time do you let the· steam iilto the din-• 

ing room. 
A. Never. 
Q. When you had the trouble with the hoy Rankins, was 

it for turning on the steam anywhere. 
A. No. 
Q. The boy stated that he was in the dining room and was 

turning on the Rteam, when you interfered. 
A. There is no steam there in the summer. Those pipes 
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are onl) connected w1th the large boilel' and we don't use 
that in the summer. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Did he fool with any of the steam pipes. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Couldn't he have been fooling with a steam cock in the 

kitchen. 
A. In tl:ie boys' kitchen he could. 
ci. Where is the cock to turn the steam on to the dining 

room. 
A. In the dining room. 
Q. ·was any part of this trouble between you and the boy 

in the dining room. 
A. No, sir; it was all in the kitchen. 

Adjourned until Thursday, October 26th, at 3 P. M. 

THURSDAY, OCTOBER 26th, 1882, 3 o'clock P. M. 

Met at the Reform School pnrsuant to adjournment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell; Roscoe 
L. Bowers, of the Governor's Council; 0. B. Chadbourne 
and Thomas F. Donahue, of the Board of Trustees ; and 
Albion Little, Esq. 

Elmer Chambers: Committed in March, 1880, by Judge 
Knight of the municipal court of Portland. Guilty of steal­
ing ginger ale, a wallet at a fair, and disturbing a church 
meeting. Is in First Class '' C," with 40 merits. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How old are you. 
A. Fourteen the 28th of last August. 
Q. Ever in a court room. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know what it is to tell the truth. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is it wrong to tell a lie. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think you would be punished if yon should tell 

a lie under oath. 
A. Yes. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Two years and seven months the 25th of this month. 
A. Have you ever been punished while you have been 

here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many times. 
A. I can't think how many times, but a good many times. 
Q. Have you ever been punished severely. 
A. Not very severely. The worst licking I ever got was 

ten blows with a stick by Mr. Farrington. 
(.J,. What did he punish you for. 
A. A boy came up to me and said something I didn't like, 

and I fired my tools at him. 
Q. ,vhen was that; how long ago. 
A. I can't remember; jt was before GorgonR went home 

and he -went home in June, I think. I got punished in Au­
gust for not doing my stint. 

Q. How. did you get punished then. 
A. I got ten blows. 
Q. Did you have to do your stint after that. 
A. Yes; I done my stint most of the time after that. I 

fell behind, but he gave me a chance to make it up. 
Q. vVere you ever punished hy Mr. Farrington or any of 

the other officers, except by a ferule. 
A. By Mr. Freese. 
Q. Ever put into a cell. 
A. No, sir; I was pnt into the tower. 
Q. How long was you in the tower. 
A. I was put in there a night before the hoys went to bed; 

between seven and eight, and I got out some time in the 
night. 



( 193) 

Q. Who put you in there, 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Who let you out. 
A. Either him or Mr. Deering, the watchman. 
Q. Have you been punished -in any other way. 
A. For talking on the line. Mr. Owen came up and took 

me by the nape of the neck and led me to the gate, and 
made me put my fingers on my toes, and he choked me after 
I got my fingers there. 

Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. Yes; he left the print of his finger nails on me. 
Q. What grade were you in. 
A. Second class, B or A. 
Q. How long did you have to stand so. 
A. Fifteen minutes. 
Q. Where was Mr. Owen. 
A. In the gate. 
Q. Did you tell Mr. Farrington about this. 
A. No. 
Q. What did he take hold of the back of your neck for. 
A. Talking on the line. 
Q. How long were you on the line. 
A. Pretty near two months. I was behind on some extras 

and I had to stand on the line till I got them made up. 
Q. Where did you have to stand. 
A. On the edge of the parade. There is a piece of plank 

goes all round the par~de and you have to stand on that. 
Q. At recess. 
A. Yes, every rece:,s. 
Q. What was that for. 
A. Ifor net fixing my chairs and getting too much extra 

cane I got extras and had to stand on the line tili' I rnade 
them up. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Couldn't you play at all at recess time. 

13 
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A. Perhaps once or twice he would let us run round the 
yard once. 

Q. How often did you have to stand in the position of 
touching your toes. 

A. About every time he caught me whispering or talking. 
Q. Whom do you mean by" he." 
A. Mr. Owen. 
Q. Did the other officers punish you in that way. 
A. Mr. Wentworth stood me some of the times with my 

fingers on my toes h1 school. 
Q. What is the longest time you have been made to stand 

in that position. 
A. An hour. 
Q. An hour. 
A. Yes; Mr. Doughty stood me that way an hour, and 

Mr. Norton stood me and Herrick that way an hour for play­
ing in the shop. 

Q. How long are you in the shop. 
A. An hour and twenty or forty minutes. 
Q. How Jong was this after you went in. 
A. Twenty or thirty minutes after we went in I have seen 

him stand a boy down that way and keep him the rest of the 
time until they go out. 

Q. What boys. 
A. Mr. Doughty stood me and McCue so. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Who else. 
A. Herrick ; he has gone home now. 
Q. Have you always had enough to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever know any of the boys to have to go without their 

food. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Sometimes two meals a day, sometimes one and some­

times three. 
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Q. Have you ever known anyone to go all day without 
food here. 

A. Yes; Larrabee. 
Q. Who else. 
A. Iceton. He has gone home. 
Q. Any body else. 
A. Not that has gone without three meals. 
Q,. Who has gone without two meals. 
A. I did. 
Q. How many times. 
A. I can't think how many times. 
Q. When you went without didn't you have anything to, 

eat. 
A. I had a slice of bread. 
Q. When you say you went without food you mean youJ 

went without your ordinary meals. 
A. Yes. 
Q. They al ways let you have bread. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Let you have as much as you want. 
A. One slice. 
Q. Have any water. 
A. No. Sometimes we would ask Mr. Owen or Doughty­

(he has gone home,) for some water when we was going out,, 
and he might give you some that the boys had left, but he-· 
wouldn't give you none when he gave you the bread. 

Q. Do you remember any instance when you couldn~t 
have what water you wanted. 

A. Not in the dining room ; but in the yard sometimes he 
would get one pail of water for the whole lot of fellers, and1 

then when that was gone, we would ask him for more and: 
he wouldn't get it. 

Q. When you were being deprived of your meals and giveil, 
bread did they give you all the water you wanted. 

A. No, sir. 
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Q. Did you ever ask for water and not get it? I mean 
when you were only given bread. 

A. I never asked for it. 
Q. Why didn't you ask for it if you were thirsty. 

A. Because I thought I wouldn't get it. 
Q. Have you had a talk with any of the boys about this 

foves6gation or about these gentlemen being here. 
A. Talked about the hoys being called in. 
Q. Do you know who was called in. 
A. Yes; Dyer, ·Whitten, Pendegrass, Rankins and Louis 

Nichols and- that is all I remember. 
Q. Did they talk with you about it? Did they tell you 

they had been called in. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Did they tell you what they said. 
A. Whitten told me something. I asked him what he told 

about Mr. Owen and he told me some things but I have for-• 
gotten now. 

Q. Has any one of the officers told you you would be called 
in here. 

A. No, sir; none. 
Q. None of them. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know whether the boys came to any conclusion 

what to say. . 
A. No. 
Q. Did any of the boys te11 you what to say. 
A. No. 

Q. Has Mr. Farrington, or any of the officers, spoken to 
the classes about the investigation. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Said nothing about it. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What is your stint. 
A. Twenty-four chairs a week. 
Q. Is that the stint for each boy. 

A. That is the highest stint; two or three have got that. 
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Q. Wlty do they make you do the highest? Becam,e you 
are a better workman. 

A. Because we are the best workers. 
Q. What is the next stint. 
A. Twenty-three, twenty-two and twenty. 
Q. Suppose you don't do your twenty-four a week. 
A. I get reported and have to stand in the meditation class 

till I make it up. Just as soon as you get made up what you 
were behind you can go out of the meditation class. 

Q. What is the lowest stint that a boy gets. 
A. Three chairs a week. 
Q. Have yon ever seen Mr. Owen beat or strike any of 

the boys. 
A. I have seen him strike Jackson with a strap. 
Q. Did you ever see him handle any of them roughly. 
A. I see him take Pendegrass up by the jacket and slam 

him down on the floor, and Pendegrass laid there a little 
while, and he took him out in the entry and in about five 
minutes he came to, and he set him down in the seat. 

Q. Di<l you ever see him handle any other boy as roughly 
as that. 

A. Not so rough as that. 
Q. "\'Vhat have you seen him do. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Have you seen Mr. Farrington, Mr. Wentworth or any 

of the teachers handle the boys roughly. 
A. I have seen Mr. Bartlett. 
Q. How long ago waH he here. 
A. He went away month before last or last month. He 

told Whitten to come out here, and Whitten asked him what 
did he do, and he told him to come out, again, and then he 
run and caught hold of him and slung him down on the rocks. 
Whitten tried to get away, but he tripped him up and held 
him down on the parade. 

Q. Was that reported to Mr. Farrington. 
A. I don't know whether it was· or not. 
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Q. When you have been treated unkindly ana unjustly 
have you ever told Mr. Farrington of it. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Why haven't you told him? Hasn't Mr. Farrington 

told all the scholars here that when they had any compluints 
to make to come to him. 

A. Yes; but the reason I didn't tell him I didn't like to 
have the boys call me names. 

Q. Has Mr. Farrington or the other teachers told you 
what the rules and regulations of the school were. 

A. Mr. ·w entworth read them to us. 
Q. Have they told you what the punishment would be if 

you broke them. 
A. Said we would be punished in some way, but he did1it 

say just the way. 
Q. Have you seen any boys punished in the dormitory. 
A. I have seen Mr. Freese whip Worthington. I told that 

the last time I was called up. 
Q. Did he whip him severely. 
A. He whipped him harder than he did the other boys. 
Q. Do you know of any punishment in the dormitory since 

Mr. Freese went away. 
A. No, sir; I never saw this watchman punish any boys; 

only stand them up. 
Q. How long do they have to stand up. 
A. Half-past nine or ten o'clock. 
Q. How does he wake up the boys that want to use the 

cnn. 
A. He comes along and takes hold of the quilt and pullE, 

it off, and they get so used to getting up they will get right 
up; Mr. Freese, when a boy was little sleepy, he would 
strap him and make him go to the can. 

Q. Have you got any complaint to make about the way 
you have been treated. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you been treated as well as you ought to. 
A. I have lately. 
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Q. How long ago was it you were not treated as well as 
you ought to be. 

A. In vacation, when I had to stand on a line, and Mr. 
Owen took me by the neck and slung me round, and made 
me put my fingers on my toes. · 

Q. You didn't tell Mr. Farrington of that. 
A. No. 
Q. You don't think of anything else about the other boys 

that you want to tell us. 
A. He took Grace the same way he did me, and pinched 

him a litter harder than he did me. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. You understand that it is against · the rules to talk 

when you are on the line. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is your bed and clothing in the dormitory sufficient; 

are you warm enough nights, or are you cold nights. 
A. Yes; we have good warm clothes on the bed. 
Q. "'\\T arm enough. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When you say you go without food you have a slice of 

bread. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Was you here when Gov. Plaisted was he.re. 
A. I was in the school hut wasn't called out. 
Q. Was you in the dining room when Governor Plaisted 

was here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were you standing up. 
A. No. 
Q. Did the boys then have to go without their food. 
A. I think the trustees or somebody stopped the officers 

from keeping the boys without food. 

George S. Patterson : Committed by the Supreme Court 
at Belfast, in May, 1881, [or setting fire to a building in the 
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rnght time. Alternate sentence s1x years in state prison. 
Was then fifteen years old. Is now in the first class. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A., About a year and a half. 
Q. Is it wrong to tell a falsehood. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know that you will be punished if you tell a 

falsehood under oath. 
A. Yes. 

Sw(,rn by Mr. Fox. 

Q. How have you been treated, since you have been herE,, 
by the officers. · 

A. Been treated pretty well. 
(~. Have you ever been punished. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How. 
A. Been put down in the second class twice. 
Q. vVhat other way. 
A. Stood in the meditation class, and had extra chairs, and 

stood on the line. 
Q. Have you been compelled to touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long a time have you been compelled to stand in 

that way. 
A. Pretty near a half an hour sometimes. 
Q. Who made you do that. 
A. Mr. Owen. 
Q. Any other officer. 
A. Not that I can remember. 

Q. Why did Mr. Owen make you do that. 
A. I turned round to laugh at something, I can't remember 

what. 

Q. "r ere you ever put in a cell. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever put in the tower. 
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A. No, sir .. 
Q. Ever punished in the dormitory. 
A. Mr. Freese has made me stand up until twelve o'clock. 
(l Ever stood up under this new watchman. 
A. Yes, a little over half an hour. 
Q. Ever seen hoys punished in the d01 mitory. 
A. Yes, I saw Smith punished. 
Q. How was he punished. 
A. Licked with a window cord. 
Q. By whom. 
A. Mr. Freese. 
Q. '\Vas he punished severely. 
A. Yes, and locked up in the tower. 
Q. How old a boy. 
A. Fourteen or fifteen. 
Q. How long is the longest you have seen any of these 

boys compelled to stand touching their toes. 
A. I have heard boys say they touched them three-quarters 

of an hour or an hour. 
Q. Did you ever see any of the officers or teachers do 

anything to these boys--punish them severely. 
A. I see Mr. Owen kick a boy named Winter. 
Q. What with. 
A. His shoe. 
Q. Did it hurt him. 
A. I didn't think he hurt him much. 
Q. Where did he hit him. 
A. On the leg. 
Q. Did he complain of the blows. 
A. No. 
Q. Did he continue about his work. 
A. Yes, he wanted him to cut some hair and he didn't do 

it, and he kicked him and slapped him beside the head and 
knocked off his hat. 

Q. Did he strike him more than once. 
A. No, I didn't see him. 
Q. Ever see him strike any other boys. 
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A. Yes, I have seen him strike other boys. 
Q. Severely. 
A. No, sir, not very severely. 
Q. Ever see the blood brought by any of these blows or 

by any of the officers. 
A. Robinson was struck by Mr. Owen and cut his ear. 

I heard the boy say that he did. I didn't see it. 
Q. What Robinson was it. 
A. William Robinson. 
Q. Did you ever see Mr. Owen or any other officer cuff or 

strike a boy. 
A. I saw Mr. Bartlett throw a boy down on parade. He 

aint here now. 
Q. How long has he been a way. 
A. Two or three months. 
Q. What officer was he. 
A. Third class chair shop. 
Q. Were you ever in a cell. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Nor the tower. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Were you ever compelled to go without your food. 
A. Yes, once when I first came here. 
Q. W a8 Mr. Farrington here then. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did you go without. 
A. One meal. 
Q. Have bread at that time. 
A. No. 
Q. Have anything to drink. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What meal was it. 
A. Supper. Mr. Doughty was chair shop officer and he 

put me without my supper. 
Q. Did Mr. Farrington know of it. 
A. No; I never told him. 
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Q. When you have been whipped rn any way have you 
informed Mr. Farrington. 

A. I never was whipped. 
Q. ·well, punished. 
A. When I was punished by standing up in the dormitory 

it wouldn't do any good. to tell him. 
Q. Why not. 
A. Because he would believe the officer and wouldn't be­

lieve me. 
Q. If you were severely punished wouldn't you tell Mr. 

Farrington of it. 
A. I might tell him. 
Q. Don't you think it would do any good to tell him. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Why not. 
A. Because I have told him things and he would believe 

the officer. 
Q. Don't you believe he would do the square thing by you 

as between you and the officers. 
A. He didn't seem to. 
Q. Suppose you were unjustly whipped by Mr. Owen and 

you went and told Mr. Farrington the truth about it, don't 
you think he would do what was just about it. 

A. I think he would be on the opposite side. 
Q. Why do you think that. 
A. Because I have told him when I got stood up in the 

dormitory and it didn't do any good. 
Q. Do you know of any boys that have told him anything 

and he has taken the side of the officer. 
A. I can't name the boy but I have heard boys say so. 
Q. Have you any complaints to make about the way you 

are treated, or any other hoy is treated. 
A. I think sometimes boys get their names taken for noth­

ing at the table. A hoy brought in some crusts of bread and 
put them down by my plate and Mr. Owen took my name 
and I had to meditate. 

Q. Ain't you allowed to put crusts down by your plate. 
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A. It appears so by that. 
Q. Do you think one boy is treated better than the others. 

A. I don't know as they are. 
Q. Do the large boys fare any better than the small boys. 

A. No, sir, I can't say that they do. 

Q. Do the large boys pick on the small boys at all. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Have you anything to say about anything you think is 
not right. 

A. I was put <lown in the second class for nothing once. 

Q. Why didn't you tell Mr. Farrington about it. 
A. I di<l and he said it was right. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. What was the reason you were put down. 

A. I had a paper in my hand, and another boy came along 

and I told him to read it, and he read it aloud and I got put 

down for it. The kitchen officer, a womnn, was there when 
he read it aloud. 

Q. ·what paper was it. 
A. A weekly newspaper. I picked it up on top of the tin 

oven. 
Q. Did you ask the boy to rettd it. 
A. Yes. 

Q. What was it he read. 

A. Something about self-abuse. 
Q. Who was there. 
A. The kitchen woman. 

Q. And that was the reason you were put down. 
A. Yes. 

Q. It was an improper article to be read in her presence .. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Anything else you have to complain of. 

A. When it was stormy the other night, the boys couldn't 

have any water and they got down and drinked out of a mud 
puddle. 

Q. What boys. 
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A. I don't know what boys they were, it was after school 
let out. 

Q. Did they ask for water. 

A. They asked Mr. Owen for water and he wouldn't let 
them have it. They ate salt fish for supper and they were 
pretty dry. 

Q. You say they asked Mr. Owen for water. 
A. Yes, they asked him if they could go down in the 

kitchen and get a pail of water and he wouldn't let them. 
Q. Is that the usual custom to let a boy go down in the 

kitchen to get a drink. 

A. The usual custom is to let a boy go down and get a 
pail. 

Q. Which yard was it. 
A. The third clat:;s yard. One boy was over by the gate 

and two down hy the steps. I told Mr. Owen they were dry 
and were down there drinking and he said "Humph.': 

Q. Did you tell Mr. Farrington of that. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. How long after supper was it that you were dry. 
A. An hour and a half, I believe; it was from the time we 

went into school until it let out. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are you one of the kitchen boys. 
A. Yes, back kitchEin. 
Q. Are you one of the boys that puts the food into the 

bowls and plates. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you ever yourself give some boys any better or 

larger portion of food than you did others. 
A. Yes, I have sometimes. 
Q. Why did you do that. 

A. It is the custom to do it. 
Q. You did let the larger boys have more of it. 
A. Yes, boys that work harder. 
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Q. Did the officers know that the boys did it. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Suppose a boy wants more food after he has eat what 

was furnished him, what does he do. 
A. He can have what bread he wants, that is all. 
Q. Does he ever take the bread from the dining room. 
A. I have seen boys do it. 
Q. L, it against the rules to do it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long can they stay in the dining room and eat. 
A. Twenty minutes. 
Q. Got to finish in that time. 
A. Yes. 
Q. A boy after he eats his food can have what bread he 

wants. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ask for it five, eight or ten times. 
A. Yes, as far as I see. 
Q. Is the food always good. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever had any bad food since Mr. Farrington has been 

here. 
A. No. 
Q. Bread always sweet and the meat and vegetables good .. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Was you one of the boys that petitioned to have corned 

beef changed to bread and molasses. 
A. No, I wasn't here. 
Q. Do you think of any other severe punishments that the 

boys have received. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Chadbourn : 
Q. When you gave the boy the newspaper did you expect 

him to read it aloud. 
A. No, sir, I didn't think he would. I told Mr. Went­

worth so and he said he knew better. 
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By Mr. Fox. 
Q. How came the paper here. 
A. It was one of the regular papers they have here. 

By Mr. Bowers : 
Q. Do you ever have cucumbers on the table. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Cheese. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Apple sauce. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Doughnuts. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Puddings. 
A. Yes, Tuesday mornings. 
Q. Gingerbread. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Brown bread. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Tomatoes. 
A. Yes, but not a great many of them. 
Q. Green corn. 
A. Yes. 
Q. String beans. 
A. No, sir, we have peas. 
Q. Strawberries. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do all the boys have these, or only members of the 

first class. 
A. All the boys. 
Q. Are these given on any particular holiday or on any 

day of the week. 
A. Any day of the week. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Suppose they have apple sauce, could they have a 

second helping if they wanted it. 
A. No, sir. 
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By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How many strawberries would each boy get. 
A. Four or five large spoonfuls, I should think. 
Q. Have you talked these matters over with any of the 

boys. 
A. Yes, I spoke something about the water. 
Q. Who did yon tell that to. 
A. Scollay and Frank Thihbetts. 
Q. Did you know we were here making an investigation. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How did you know it. 
A. I talked with the boys that were called up. 
Q. Did they tell you what they said. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What further was said about it. 
A. Nothing. 
Q. Did they ask you if you had been called in. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you talk with any of the officers about it. 
A. I spoke to Mr. Owen about it. 
Q. What did you tell him, what was the whole conversa­

tion. 
A. I don't remember; I said something to him about it. 

I don't remember what I said. He made no reply to me. 
Q. Who was present at the time. 
A. He was standing in the gate and there were other boys 

around there. 
Q. Did they say anything. 
A. No. 
Q. Does Mr. Farrington know that you spoke to him 

about it. 
A. No, I think I asked him if he was going away. He 

didn't say anything. I couldn't say that he heard me. 
Q. ,vhat made you ask him if he was going away. 
A. I heard some of the boys say he was going away. 
Q. How happened they to say that. 
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A. I can't say1 
Q. vVhat brought it into your mind. 
A. Hearing the boys say it. 
Q. Don't you know why they thought so. 
A. Because some of the boys had been called up. 
Q. Suppose they have. 
A. He hain't used the boys very well and I didn't know 

but he was going on that account. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Do the boys generally think Mr. Owen hasn't used 
them well. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know of any boys here that think any of the• 

other officers haven't treated them well. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you ever heard any boy i;ay that any of the other· 

officers have not treated them well. 
A. No, sir, only Mr. Freese. 
Q. Are there any officers here, male or female, that have, 

not treated the boys well besides Mr. Owen. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. You don't think of anything here that you want to tell 

us that you think is wrong and ought to be righted. 
A. The boys think we ought to have a change in Tuesday?'s. 

dinner. They don't like soup. 
Q. Why ; is it on account of the meat. 
A. They say it ain'~t made right. 
Q. Is it sour. 
A. No, they don't like it. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. How much of the soup served out is not eaten by the 

boys. 
A. Two-thirds of it is left pretty near every week. 
Q. D(you make the soup. 

14 
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A. No, McGovern makes it. 

Q. ·what is done with the soup that is brought back. 

A. Put in the swill. 

Q. Have you ever known the officers to come to the 

kitchen and get soup and take it a way to eat. 

A. Yes, but I can't tell now who it was. 

Q. Do you know whether they left it or ate it up. 

A. No, sir. 

Rev. S. W. Adriance, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Will you be kind enough to tell these gentlemen whnt 

you know in relation to this boy that was in the hospital, or 

anything connected with the school that you desire. 

A. Mr. :Farrington had asked me sometime before to come 

over and preach to the boys some Sunday afternoon, and he 

sent over for me on the 19th of February. I :filld upon 

turning to my journal that I came once then and once in 

May. I remember the day very well; it was a stormy day. 
I had made an appointment to come before, hut the storm 
prevented me, and I didn't know but it would on that day. 
However, I came over, and as I got here early, I su~tgested 

to Mr. Farrington that he show me over the building. He 

took me around in different places, into the dining room and 
dormitory, the place where they washed, and generally over 

that portion of the building. Then he asked me to go into 

the sick room. A boy was there and I spoke with him, said 

a few words, I have forgotten what now. He answered me. 
He was reading a paper or looking ut the pictures, and that 

fact suggested to me to ask about papers. I offered to send 

over some papers which I had at home and which Mr. ]?ar-• 

rington afterwards obtained from me. I was in the room a 

few minutes and then went on looking over the building. 
Q. Did the boy make any compluints nt all. 

A. No, he appeared like a boy who was sick; it struck 

me, when I first looked at him, like a boy that had consump­

tion. He was quite feeble. He was looking at this paper, 
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and I went up and put my hand on his forehead and said a 
few words to him. He answered in monosyllables, the same 
as any boy would. 

Q. Was he feverish. 
A. As feverish as all sick people are. I did not notice any 

hot fever. 
Q. Anything like delirium. 
A. No, sir, not at all; nothing of that kind. He was en­

tirely conscious, so as to answer, and was looking at the 
paper. His eye was clear and bright. 

Q. How was the tempernture of the room. 
A. I should say about the temperature of this room­

about 72. 0 

Q. Did you notice whether the air seemed to be pure or 
impure. 

A. It struck me as being a pure air, as pure as I ever 
found in a sick room, and I made some six hundred calls in 
the course of the year. 

Q. Did you notice anything about the ventilation. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you notice the windows over the doors. 
A. No, sir, I didn't look round to notice them. I was 

particularly interested in the sick hoy. I aJterwards, at my 
next call, went into the hospital, and there were four boys 
there then. 

Q. How cold was it, this day you were there first. 
A. It was cold and snowing. It wasn't bitterly ~old, but 

one of those snow storms we have in February, a flurry of 
snow; and that passed away so, if I remember rightly, I had 
a service in the evening which was quite fully attended. 

Q. ,vho was in the room at the time you were there. 
A. No one except Mr. Farrington and I. 
Q. Which door did you go in, the one from tho dormitory 

or the other one. 
A. The one from the dormitory. I thought th~ room was 

quite pleasant and there seemed to he a number of illustrated 
papers around, one of which the boy had in ,his_hand. 
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William Rohmson. Committed in May, 1881, by a trial 
justice, in Eastport, for vagrancy. ,vas then 14 years old. 
Is in tlie first class. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Since the 20th of May, 1881. 
Q. Why were you sent here. 
A. I didn't want to go to school. 
Q. Have you ever been treated unkindly by any of the 

officers. 
~- Mr. Owen has pinched my ear and made it sore. He 

was in the tower, and I went to get me a chair so I could 
work, and when he came down he caught hold of my ear and 
stuck his finger nails in it, and I scratched it and made it 
sore. 

Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. It didn't hurt me much; it made me cry a little. 
Q. Have you been treated unkindly by anybody else. 
A. Mr. Griggs was digging out the sewer one day, and I 

looked down and he struck me over the legs with the hoe 
handle. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What was you doing. 
A. I was under the shed. I don't know hut I was in the 

way, but he didn't tell me to get out of the way. 
Q. You were not working on the job. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any other boys round there. 
A. I don't remember. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you seen any of the officers strike or ill-treat any 

of the boys. 
A. Yes; I saw Mr. Owen take Pendergrass up one day 

and fire him up in the air, and he came down and struck his 
head on the floor, and he couldn't breathe for a little while. 
And I saw Mr. Bartlett take a boy by the coat collar and 
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drag him round on the parade, and pound him up and down 
-took hold of his coat collar and churned him up and down. 

Q. Anything else. 
A. I saw Mr. Owen one day take a boy and hump his 

head round and scratch his face. 
Q. What did he bump his head against. 
A. He dragged him around the parade and shook him up 

and down. The boy was lying on his stomach, and he was 
churning him up and down. 

Q. What was that boy's name. 
A. Louis Nichols. 
Q. Did Nichols cry. 
A. Yes; his face was cut and bleeding. 
Q. When was this. 
A. Quite a while ago-six or seven months ago. 
Q. When you had your ear cut did you tell Mr. Farring-

ton. 
A. No. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I didn't w~nt to tell him. 
Q. Hasn't Mr. Farrington told you to come and make 

complaints to him. 

A. Yes. 
Q. vVhy didn't you tell him. 
A. Yon could hardly notice it at first ; I did the most of it 

myself, scratching it. 
Q. ,vhen you have been punished in any way have you 

told Mr. Farrington of it afterwards. 
A. I have sometimes. 
Q. What did he say when you told him. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Have the rules and regulations of the school been read 

to you. 
A. Mr. Wentworth read them to us. 
Q. How often. 
A. Only once since I have been here. 
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Q. Does he tell you if you break the rules what the pun­
h,hment will be. 

A. He said we would be punished. I don't know as he 

said what the punishment would be. 
Q. Have you seen any boys punished or ill-treated in the 

dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How. 
A. Mr. Freese would hit them over the head with a strap 

or rope. 
Q. Would he strike them severely. 
A. Yes; make big stripes over their legs. 
Q. Did yon ever see any marks on the boy's person when 

he struck them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How would they look. 
A. Great big, wide marks, and black and blue. 
Q. Ever break the skin. 
A. No; but I have seen their legs black and blue. 
Q. ,vhat would he strike them for. 
A. Because they were doing something out of the way. 
Q. Do you know of boys being compelled to stand in the 

dormitory. 
A. Yes; up to twelve and one o'clock. 
Q. What for. 

A. For walking in the yard after the whistle hlowed to 
pass into the school room. 

Q. vV ere you ever put in a cell. 
A. No. 
Q. In the tower. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Gou Id. 
Q. In the meditation class. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long h.ave you stood in that class. 
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A. Sometimes nine o'clock; sometimes ten and eleven 
o'clock at night. 

Q. Were you ever compelled to touch your toes. 
A. Yes ; lots of times. 
Q. How long did you have to stand so. 
A. I can't tell for certain, but I think it was an hour and a 

half the other night. 
Q. Were you compelled to stand so an hour and a half. 
A. It seemed to me it was. 
Q. How long do you know you have stood so. 
A. An hour. 
Q. Are you sure of that. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you ever seen any of the boys beside yourself 

stand as long as that. 
A. I don't know. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you ever seen any of the boys with irons about 

their legs or wrists. 
A. Yes ; boys with a great, big, heavy iron hanging on 

their legs. 
Q. When. 
A. Not very long ago ; it was since a year ago the 8th of 

fast July. 
Q. Who have you seen with irons about their legs. 
A. Travers and Griffin. 
Q. Where were they. 
A. Walking about the yard. 
Q. Which yard. 
A. Third class. They run away. They had it on when I 

came here. 
Q. How long did they have it on after that. 
A. A year, I think. 
Q. How large was it. 
A. It was a great, big, round thing. 
Q. Did they have it on when they wel.1t into the dining 

room. 
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A. What did they do come night. 
A. Wore it to bed. 
Q. How much should you think it weighed. 
A. One of them would weigh sixteen pounds. 
Q. How much do you weigh. 
A. I don't knw. I should think 85 pounds. 
Q. Did this iron weigh a fifth or a sixth of what you 

weigh. 
A. I think it did. 
Q. Did you ever try to lift it. 
A. No ; it was never off his leg. 
Q. Describe the iron; how does it look. 
A. It looks like the lower part of t'hat globe on that lamp. 

There was a hole in it, and two or four scre.ws to screw it on. 
One of the boys run away with one and broke it. 

Q. Any chains to it. 
A. No; there was a plate screwed on to the heel of the 

boot, and a rim came up for it to rest on, and when they 
walked around it made au awful racket. 

Q. Who wµs the last boy you knew to have it on. 
A. These were the only two boys I ever saw have it on. 
Q. Do you know what it was put on for. 
A. Running away every chance they could get. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Couldn't they run away with that on. 
A. Yes; Travers did run away with it on. He helped 

knock the watchman, Mr. Flint, down and then run away 
with the other boys. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. How long hefore that did Travers have the iron on. 
A. He had it on when I came here the 20th of May. 
Q. ·when was the trouble with the watchman. 
A. I don't know; I know they went to jail the 8th of July. 
A. How do you know he wore 'it a year. 
A. Because it wasn't the next July after I came here, it 

was the July after that. 
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By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you see these boys for a month with that iron 

around their legs. 
A. Yes, I did. 
Q. Four weeks. 
A. Yes ; every day. 
Q. How near was his bed to you. 
A. One of them used to sleep along side of me. 
Q. 'When he had this thing on. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you seen any of the boys punished rn any other 

way than you have stated. 
A. Stood on the line until further notice. 
Q. Do you know of any boys that have had to go without 

their meals. 
A. Yes, I have. 
ci. How many meals. 
A. I am sure I went without two, dinner and supper, when 

Mr. Doughty was there. 
Q. How long ago. 
A. It will be ·a year pretty soon. 
Q. Have you had to go without them l8tely. 
A. No, sir; not since some little time ago. 
Q. Didn't they give you a piece of bread when you vrnnt 

without. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they always have bread enough. 
A. Yes; I guess so. 
Q. Who did you ever see that didn't get enough to eat. 
A. Badger. 
Q. Was he punished. 
A. No. I heard him ask at the table yesterday if he 

couldn't have some more-dishwater he called it. 
Q. What did he mean by that. 
A. Stewed beaus. He called it so because he didn't have 

any beans in it. 
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By Mr. Gould. 
Q. vVhen did you come here. 
A. Twentieth of May, 1881. 
Q. WhPn did Travers and Griffin go away. 
A. In July. 
Q. Did you ever see them with the iron off. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you think the larger boys are better treated than 

the small boys. 
A. Yes; I saw it to- day. The boys at the table wanted 

more gravy and Mr. Owen sent all the larger boys to get the 
gravy in the kitchen nnd let the small boys go without. 

Q. Are you a large boy or a small boy. 
A. A small boy. 
Q. Did you ever see one of the boys in the cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q,. How long have you known a boy to have been in the 

cell. 
A. A week. 
Q. Did you ever tend out on a boy in the cell. 
A. No; but I was in the hospital and I know a boy was 

taken up Saturday and he staid until a week from the next 
Sunday. 

Q. Did he have water while he was there to wash with. 
A. I don't know whether he did or not. 
Q. Who was the boy. 
A. Seguin. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. Do you know why Travers and Griffin was sent away. 
A. Griffin was trying to srt the house afire. 
Q. How do you know. 
A. I heard so. 
Q. Are you treated any better now than you were six 

months ago. 
A. I don't think I am. 
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By Mr. Chadbourn: 

Q. Didn't it hurt you when the man struck you with the 
hoe. 

A. No, not much. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. He didn't mean to hurt you, only to get you out of the 

wny. 

A. That is all. 

John Bell: Committed in September, 1880, by Judge 
Knight of Portland, for larceny of property valued at $12. 
Was then fifteen years old. Is in the first class. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Is it wrong to tell a falsehood. 
A. Yes. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox. 
Q. How have you been treated since you have been here. 
A. Treated pretty well. 
Q. How many times have you been punisL.ed. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. How many should you think. 
A. Three times. 
Q. vVhen were you first punished. 
A. About a month after I came here. 
Q. How were you punished. 
A. Licked with a ruler. 
Q. How many blows did he .give you. 
A. Ten on the hand. 
Q. What did he punish you for. 
A. Whispering at the table in the dining room. 
Q. Did you know it was against the rules to whisper. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who told you. 
A. The boys. 
Q. Did the teachers ever tell you it was against the rules. 
A. No, the officers did. 
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Q. Did you whisper more than once. 
A. No, not when I got my licking. 
Q. Who punished you. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Who punished you the second time. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. What for. 
A. Being up ten times in the meditation class. 
Q. Is it a part of your punishment in the meditation class 

to touch your toes. 
A. If you whisper in the meditation class, you have to 

touch your toes. 
Q. Did you whisper in the class. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you had to touch your toe&. 
A. No, sir; yes, I have since I have been here. 
Q. How long did you have to stand in that way. 
A. Ten or fifteen minutes. 
Q. Did you ask to stand so. 
A. No. 
Q. Ever hear a boy ask to stand so. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Didn't you ever hear a boy say he would like to change 

his position and touch his toes. 
A. Yes, when they are tired. 
Q. How long does it take them to get tired. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. How long have you known a boy to touch his toes. 
A. Two hours. 
Q. Touch his toes two hours. 
A. That is what Cox said Mr. Bartlett stood him. 
Q. Did you see him. 
A. No, sir, he told it to me. 
Q. Were you ever in a cell. 
A. No. 
Q. How many blows did you get at the third punishment .. 
A. Ten. 
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Q. 'What was the third pudshment for. 
A. ·whispering down in the dining room. 
Q. Who did you whisper to. 
A. Samuel Leighton, when be was standing out in the 

floor. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What do boys have to stand in the floor in the dining 

room for. 
A. If they don't behave themselves. 
Q. Do they lose their meal when they stand up. 
A. They have a slice o.f bread. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you seen any of the boys ill treated by any of 

the officers. 
A. Mr. Owen has taken my name for nothing. When I 

don't whisper, he takes my name and gives me demerits. 
Q. When you get so many demerits are you punished. 
A. No, sir, stopped from going up in my grade. 
Q. Have you seen any of the boys punished by any of the 

officers. 
A. Hillman asked Mr. Owen jf he could have something 

to eat and he took his name for it. I happened to be going 
into the dining room day before yesterday for water and Mr. 
Owen told me to go out, and I didn't happen to hear him 
and he took my name and made me meditate night before 
last till half past nine. 

Q. Don't the boys go to bed about 8 o'clock. 
A. No, sir, not the boys in the meditation class. 
Q. What time do they go. 
A. About half past nine. 
Q. Ever seen boys stand up in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. All night. 
Q. Who stood up all night. 
A. Charlie Dyer and McGovern, and I think Rankins. 
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Q. How long have you seen other boys stand up. 
A. Mr. Freese used to keep them up until twelve o'clock. 
Q. Any boys had to stand there lately. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever seen boys in the cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. A week. 
Q. How do you know they were there a week. 
A. Count the days. 
Q. Did yon go by the cells. 
A. No; the boys that goes up every morning tells me. 
Q. Do you know about boys being put in the tower. 
A. Yes, I have been in the tower myself. 
Q. How long. 
A. About half an hour. 
Q. What for. 
A. Some boys had crumbs on the floor and they couldn't 

find out who it was and so he put five or six of us in the 
tower. 

Q. Do you know of any boys wearing irons on their feet. 
A. Yes, there was two boys, Travers and Griffin. 
Q. Know where they wore it. 
A. No. 
Q. What kind of a thing was it. 
A. It was an iron thing and every time they walked it 

would go up and down. 
Q. Was it pretty heavy, 
A. Yes, Griffin said it was heavy. 
Q. Did you ever see it when it was not on one of the boys. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. How much should you think it weighed. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you know how long they wore it. 
A. No, sir. 
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Louis Seguin, Jr. Thirteen years old in March, 1882. 
Sentenced by the judge of the municipal court of Biddeford. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Almost eight months. 
Q. Have you been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes, by Mr. Farrington. 
Q. How many blows. 
A. Ten with a ruler. 
Q. Which do you prefer to be punished in that way or put 

down in your rank. 
A. Rather be put down in my rank. 
Q. Why. 
A. Because it isn't so hard punishment. 
Q. Hadn't you rather have a whipping and be over with it 

and not lose your rank. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. When did you get your first punishment. 
A. About three weeks after I came here. 
Q. What for. 
A. Being disobedient in the school room. 
Q. What was the next punishment. 

A. In the meditation class, was up ten times and got ten 
cracks. 

Q. Who gave them to you. 
A. Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Whereabouts. 
A. On my hands. 
Q. Make it black and blue. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What was the third punishment. 
A. Standing on the line. 
Q. How long. 
A. All the time we were in the yard for two days. 
Q. How long was that. 
A. About three hours. 
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Q. Did you ever have to touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long did you stand that way. 
A. I stood two hours. 
Q. Who made you do it. 
A. Mr. Owen. 
Q. Have any of the officers whipped you besides Mr. F:ar-

rington. 
A. Yes, Mr. Owen. 
Q. What did he whip you with. 
A. A strap. 
Q. What part of the body. 
A. Over the face. 
Q. "rhen was that. 
A. About two months ago. 
Q. Did he make you cry. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many times did he strike you. 
A. Once. 
Q. What had you done. 
A.. I asked him could I stand up, and he told me no, and 

I looked up again and he hit me. 
Q. v\T ere you ever put in the cell or tower. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever have to stand up at night. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Sometimes four hours. 
Q. What officer made you do that. 
A. Mr. Freeze. 
Q. Have you had to stand up since he went away. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Two hours. 
Q. What for. 
A. For making a noise when the officer hlowed the whistle 

in the yard. 
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Q. Have you ever seen boys in the cells. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever waited on them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. A week. 
Q. ·what did you do. 
A. Carried up the bread and water. 
Q. How often did you carry it up. 
A. Once every morning. 
Q. Who were the boys in the cells. 
A. Campbell and Pendleton. 
Q. How long were they there. 
A. Aweek. 
Q. How do you know. 
A. Because I was up there six-days. 
Q. Did the boys have any water besides what you carried 

up. 
A. Not that I know of. 
Q. How did they wash their face and hands. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did they have a vessel there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who carried that out. 
A. I did in a pail. 
Q. What did they have to sleep on. 
A. Blankets. 
Q. Any sack. 
A. No. 
Q. How many blankets. 
A. Two. 
Q. Were you there nights. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you ever known any boys to be whipped by the 

officers. · 

15 
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A. Yes, I saw Pendergrass whipped with a strap hy Mr. 
Owen. 

Q. Where did he whip him. 
A. In the face. 
Q. Strike him more than once. 
A. Yes, twice. 
Q. See any other boys whipped. 
A. Yes, Charley Bartlett. Mr. Owen struck him with a 

strap over the face and made his face black and blue. 
Q. What did he do. 
A. I don't know. I think he put his fingers on his toes 

and he looked up. 
Q. What kind of a Htrap was it. 
A. A leather strap. 
Q. ,vhere did he keep it. 
A. In his desk. 
Q. Did you tell Mr. Farrington when Mr. Owen whipped 

you with the strap. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Why didn't you tell him. 
A. I didn't know it would do any good. Fellers said it 

wouldn~t do any good to report him and so I didn't. 
Q. Hasn't Mr. Farrington told you to report such things 

to him. 
A. He told me after they whipped me. 
Q. Have you seen boys stand up in the dormitory since 

Mr. Freese went a way. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Until ten o'clock. 
Q. Seen any boys put in the tower. 
A. No, sir: 
Q. Have you had enough to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know of any boys that have had to go without; 

food. 
A. No, sir. 
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By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Do you work in the chair shop. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What is your stint. 
A. Twelve a week. 
Q. Do you al ways do it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have any spare time. 
A. Have two days to make extras. 
Q. Have you ever seen any boys punished in the yard,. 

dragged round or kicked or beaten. 
A. I see Mr. Owen sling boys around. 
Q. Who have you Reen him throw around. 
A. Somerton; he caught hold of him by the back of the· 

neck and squeezed his neck so he couldn't breathe. 
Q. Who else. 
A. He caught me by the back of the neck and took me to 

the gate and put me with my fingers on my toes. 
Q. Anybody else. 
A. I saw him strike Gillen with his fist. I can't teU where· 

he hit him. He was in the tower, and I see him stuike at 
him. 

Q. Have you ever been in the hospital. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. When the boys were in the cells how many times did· 

you go up. 
A. Once. 
Q. How much bread did you carry them. 
A. Two slices apiece and a dipper full of waiter- to, drink. 
Q. Have any towel there to wipe their face and hands 

with. 
A. No. 
Q. Have any water to wash with. 
A. No. 
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By Mr. Bowers : 
Q. Who carried up their suppers. 
A. Thfrd class chair officer. 
Q. Who carried their dinners. 
A. I don't believe they had nny--on]y two meals a day. 

By Mr. Chadbourne : 

Q. Ever see the boys thumb their nose when they were 
standing with their fingers to their toes. 

A. No, sir. 

George W. Pendleton. Committed from Bucksport in 
March, 1881, for truancy and vagrancy. \Vas then ten years 
old. Is in the third class. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox. 

Q. Have you been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes. 

Q. How many times. 
A. Once. 
Q. How was you punished. 

A. Mr. Farrington whipped me with a ruler for beiug up 
ten times in meditation. 

Q. Were you ever in a cell. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Ever in the tower. 
A. Yes. 

Q. How long did you stay there. 

A. Two days and a half and two nights. 
Q. Wasn't you allowed to come out nt all. 
A. No. 
Q. Who waited on you. 

A. Mr. Farrington brought me things to eat. 
Q. What did you have to eat. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. How much bread. 
A. Two slices, twice a day. 
Q. What time. 
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Q. In the morning, right after breakfast, and again after 
supper. 

Q. How much water. 
A. Sometimes two dippers and sometimes one. 
Q. Did yon have water to wash your face and hands. 
A. No, sir; not while I was in there. 
Q. Didn't you wash your face and hands. 
A. Not till I came out. 
Q. Didn't you have anything to cleanse yourself with. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Didn't you comb your hair. 
A. Yes; I had a comb. 
Q. Who gave it to you. 
A. I bought it. 
Q. "\Vho was with you in the tower. 
A. I was alone. 
Q. vVas Mr. Farrington the only one that brought you any-

thing to eat. 
A. The only one I know of. 
Q. What was you put in for. 
A. Running away. 
Q. When was this. 
A. A little over a month ago. 
Q. Didn't you think it was wrong to run away. 
A. Y cs; but another boy got me to run away. 
Q. Is the can kept in the tower. 
A. Not in the same room I was in. 
Q. Who used to ~mpty the vessel you had there. 
A. Mr. Farrington used to bring up a boy. 
Q. How many times a day was the vessel cleansed. 
A. Only in the morning. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. vVas there a cover to it. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Was there any water put in it. 
A. Yes ; it was rinsed out in the morning. 
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Q. After the vessel was cleansed was any water put in it 
it and left in it. 

A. Yes; about a pint. 
Q. Did you use the vessel except to make water in. 
A. No. 
Q. Didn't use it the other way. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you seen the boys punished in any other way. 
A. I have seen Mr. Owen slat the boys round. 
Q. Have you seen any of the other officers whip or kick 

the boys. 
A. I saw Mr. Willey, the third class officer, slap a boy 

pretty hard side of the head. 
Q. Where did he do it. 
A. Down in the dining room. He hauled the boy out of 

line, and struck him side of the head, and the boy told him 
to keep still. 

Q. Was the boy knocked over. 
A. No, sir. Mr. Willey choked him a little while, and 

Mt·. Farrington came in,and I don't know what he did with him. 
Q. Who was the boy. 
A. Gillen. 
Q. Have you had to go without your food. 
A. Yes; when I first came here, seven or eight months 

ago, but putting bo) s without their dinners was stopped. 
• Q. Who stopped it. 

A. Some of the trustees. 
Q. When was it i;topped. 
A. Seven or eight months ago. 
Q. Who told you the trustees stopped it. 
A. The officer at the table told me, Mr, Owen. 
Q. What class are you rn. 
A. Third class. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Ever been in the second class. 
A. Yes, two months and got into the first class and then I 

run away and got put in third class B. 
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Q. How far did you get when you ran away. 
A. Two or three miles. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How did you tear your clothes. 
A. In the shop this morning. 
Q. Will you be whipped for that. 
A. No, sir. 

William Gillen. Committed in 1876 as a vagabond. Was 
then eight years old, 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox. 
Q. Have you been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q, How long have you been here. 
A. Six years. 
Q. What are you here for. 
A. I havn't any home. 
Q. What' class are yon in. 
A. First class. 
Q. How many times have you been punished. 
A. I can't tell. Mr. Farrington has licked me with a 

ruler and Mr. Owen has punched me. 

Q. What with. 
A. With his fist. 
Q. Break the skin. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Was your face swollen at all. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What did he strike you for. 
A. I had a little trouble in the shop and when I got out 

in the entry he got at me about something and punched me. 
Q, Were you impudent to him. 
A. Not that I know of. 
Q. What had you done. 
A. I hadn't done nothing ; he put his hand on my shoulder 

and I knocked it· off, and then he struck me. 
Q. Did he hurt you much. 
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A. Not very much. 
ci. Knock you over. 
A. No, sir. 
ci. Has any other officer struck you . 
.A. No, sir, only Mr. Willey, the third class officer. 
Q,. What did he strike you with. 
A. On the head with his hand. 
Q. What did he strike you for. 
A. He said I was pushing the table down m the dining 

room. 
Q. Were you pushing the table. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Make any bunch on your head. 
A. No. 
Q. What other officer has hurt you. 
A. None. 
ci. Have you ever been in a cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Three days and nights. 
Q. What for. 
A. I used to get there for not doing my stint. 
Q. Who fed you while you were in the cell. 
A. That was when Mr. Parker was here. 
Q. What did he give you to eat. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. Have you been there since. 
A. No. 
Q. How often did you have bread and water under Mr. 

Parker. 
A. Twice a day. 
Q. Have you been in the tower under Mr. Farrington. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you had to stand in the dormitory. 
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A. Yes, I stood up one night till 9 o'clock. 
Q. Under what officer. 
A. The new watchman. 
Q. What for. 
A. Whh,pering. 
Q. Do you know of any officer striking any of the other 

boys. 
A. I can't remember their names, but I have seen officers 

kick boys. 
Q. What officer have you seen kick boys. 
A. I saw Mr. Owen kick some one in the shop. 
Q. Do you know the name of the boy. 
A. No, sir; it was quite a while ago. 
Q. Did he kick him hard. 
A. Pretty hard. 
Q. Ever see him do anything else as a punishment to any 

boy. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you ever had to stand and touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you t,tood in that position. 
A. Sometimes fifteen minutes. 
Q. Ever seen any boys whipped or knocked down or 

dragged round the yard. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who. 
A. I can't remember their names. 
Q. What was done. 
A. I have seen them dragged up to the gate when we 

were on the line for doing something. 
Q. Who did it. 
A. Mr. Owen ; he would take them by the collar. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Was the boy on his feet all the time. 
A. He was on his feet when he took hold of his collar, but 

when he took hold he dragged him off from his feet-kind of 
yanked him. 
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Q. Have you talked with any of the boys about this inves­
tigation. 

A. No, sir. 

Edward N. Campbell: Committed by Trial Justice Rogers 
of Searsmont, Maine, in January, 1880, for the larceny of 
property valued at one dollar. Was then eleven years old. 
Is in third class "C." 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Two years and nine months. 
Q. What are you here for. 
A. Stealing. 
Q. How many times have you been punished. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. What have you been punished for. 
A. By Mr. Farrington for being up ten times in the medi-

tation clnss. 
Q. Ever been in the cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. A week. 
Q. How many nights. 
A. Seven days and seven nights. 
Q. \,v-asn't you allowed to come out of the cell. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What was you there for. 
A. Running away. 
Q. What did you have to do when you were in the cell. 
A. Didn't have to do anything. 
Q. Who waited on you. 
A. The Super. 
Q. Who brought the food to you. 
A. The Super. 
Q. How much did you have. 
A. Bread and water twice a day. 



( 235) 

Q. What did you have to sleep on. 
A. Bed most of the time. 
Q. On the floor. 
A. No, sir, it was a kind of a seat. 
Q, What month was it in. 
A, Last month. [September, 1882. J 
Q. Did you have blankets. 
A. Yes, four. 
Q. Any sack of straw or anything to put on the bench. 
A. No, sir; two blankets. 
B. ,v as you warm enough. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you have your face or hands washed while you 

w2re there. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have your hair combed. 
A.· No, sir. 
Q. Did Mr. Farrington bring you bread and water all the 

time. 
A. Mr. ·wentworth did when he was gone. 
Q. Did any of the boys wait on you. 
A. No, sir, only cleaned out my pot. 
Q. How often. 
A. Every morning. 
Q. Have water to cleanse it out with. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Water al ways stand in the pot. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Cover to it. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever see any of the boys in the cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did they have water to wash with. 
A. No, sir; they never do. 
Q. vV ere you ever tied by your hands or feet. 
A. Yes, one day. 
Q. Who tied you. 
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A. Mr. Wentworth tied my hands behind me. 
Q. What with. 
A. A piece of chair cord. 
Q. Did he tie them tight. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. When was that. 
A. A year ago last summer. 
Q. What did he tie them for. 
A. Whispering in the ·school room. 
Q. Did you ever have to go without your food. 
A. When I first came here two years ago. 
Q. Ever been without your food since then. 
A. Not that I remember. 
Q. Did any of the officers ever lick or strike you. 
A. No. 

Q. Have you ever seen any of the boys licked. 
A. Yes, I saw Mr. Owen take a boy and knock the -wind 

out of him. 

Q. Ever see him lick a boy. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you ever see a boy dragged about the yard. 
A. No. 
Q. Have you ever been put in the tower. 
A. No, sir .. 
Q. ·which had you rather have, ten cracks on the hand 

or be degraded. 
A. Rather have ten cracks. 
Q. Why. 
A. I don't know. I don't want to get down in my grade. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I am trying to get up now. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What is your grade now. 
A. Third class C. 
Q. What is there lower than that. 
A. That is the lowest grade. 
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Q. Have you ever been in the first class. 
A. Yes. 
Q. You got down when you ran away. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How far did you get when you ran away. 
A. About four miles. 
Q. Did you ever see a boy have anything round his feet. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who. 
A. Travers and Griffin. 
Q. Do you know how long they wore it. 
A. About a month, I think. 
Q. Do you know what they had to wear it for. 
A. For running away. 
Q. Was it ever put on you. 
A. No. 
Q. Why did they put it on them. 
A. The cells were full. 
Q. Which had you rather do have a chain put on you or 

be put in a cell. 
A. I rather have a chain. 
Q. Do you know of any boys ever· having handcuffs put 

on them. 
A. No, sir. 

James T. Smith: Committed by Judge Knight of the 
Portland municipal court in May, 1879, for assault and bat­
tery. Is in the third class and is twelve years old. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Four years next May. 
Q. '\Yhat are you here for. 
A. I fired a rock and hit a feller on the head. 
Q. Where was that. 
A. Saccarappa. 
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Q. Have you been punished since Mr. Farrington has been 
here. 

A. Yes, I have been licked and locked up. 
Q. How was you licked. 
A. On my hand and on my behind. 
Q. Had you rather be punished by a ruler or ferule or be 

degraded in your rank. 
A. Rather be punished by a ruler. 
(l How many cracks did Mr. Farrington give you. 
A. Sometimes four, sometimes six and sometimes eight and 

ten. 
Q. Suppose he said you can be degraded or have ten 

cracks, which had you rather have. 
A. Ten cracks. 
Q. Were you ever in the cell. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. I have been there a night and a day. 
Q. Did they whip you before they locked you up. 
A. No, they never whipped me before they locked me up. 
Q. What did they lock you up for. 
A. They locked me up one night for doing something in 

the school room. 
Q. Were you ever in the tower. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Howlong. 
A. Almost five days and nights. 
Q. Since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What for. 
A. Trying to run away. 
Q. Who was with you in the tower. 
A. Tripp was there almost a day with me. 
Q. What did you have to eat~ 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. How much. 
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A. As much as I wanted. 
Q. How much water. 
A. A dipper full. 
Q. All the water you waiited. 
A. Yes, a dipper full. 
Q. Did you have a vessel there. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who emptied that. 
A. The dormitory boys. 
Q. Was there a cover to it. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you have water to wash with. 
A. No. 
Q. Wasn't you washed while you were there the five days 

and nights. 
A. No. 
Q. Hair combed. 
A. I didn't have light enough to see whether it was or not. 
Q. Is it dark in there. 
A. It is when you first go in;. it isn't after you have been 

there a while. 
Q. How does the light come in. 
A. Through the holes. 
Q. How large are the holes ; about as big as a· silver dol-

lar. 
A. Yes, bigger; almost as large as that knob on the door. 
Q. How many holes. 
A. Two of them. 
Q. Did Mr. Owen ever punish you. 
A. Yes ; he has stood me on the line with my fingers on 

my toes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Half an hour one time. 
Q. Has he punished you in any other way. 
A. He has given me demerits. 
Q. Did he ever strike you. 
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A. I don't remember as he ever did. 
Q. Ever shake or kick you. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you ever see him kick any boy. 
A. No ; I have seen him slat them round the table in the 

dining room ; took them by the collar. 
Q. Did he hurt the boys. 
A. I don't know; they cried. 
Q. Did any of the officers ever hurt you. 
A. The super did when he licked me. 
Q. Ever see Mr. Owen have a strap. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever see any of the officers kick or strike a boy. 
A. Yes. I saw Mr. Willey shake a boy until he fe]l down 

on the floor, and he said he fainted away. I don't know that 
he fainted away. 

Q. What was the boy's name. 
A. Robert Galley. 
Q. When was this. 
A. Last September or the first of October. 
Q. You don't know that he fainted awaY.. 
A. No ; I heard the boys say he choked Galley till he 

fainted awav. _., 

Q. Did you ever see any boys in the cell. 
A. No. 

Robert Galley. Committed in November, 1879, by Judge 
Knight, of the Municipal Court of Portland, for truancy. 
Was then eleven years old. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Three years next month. 
Q. Have you been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many times. 
A. I can't tell. 
Q. Ever been punished on the hand. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Been put down in your rank. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Which had you rather have as a punishment, be put 

down in your rank or whipped on the hand. 
A. Rather be put down in my rank. 
Q. What officers have whipped you. 
A. They all have. 
Q. How many times has Mr. Farrington whipped you. 
A. More times than I have got fingers and toes. 
Q. What with. 
A. A ruler. 
Q. Have the other officers punished you. 
A. They have shook me up. Mr. Owen cut my lip. 
Q. What with. 
A. He slat me round and threw me up against the gate. 
Q. How long ago. 
A. Three or four months ago. You can barely see the 

scar now. 
Q. What did he do it for. 
A. I had a brass nut, and I asked him if he wanted a nut, 

and he thought I meant something bad and he grabbed me by 
the collar and shook me. 

Q. Did you faint away. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any of the other officers punish you. 
A. Mr. Willey choked me so I didn't know where I w3s. 
Q. Where was that. 
A. In the third class chair shop. 
Q. When was it. 
A. When I first came here. 
Q. Did you faint away. 
A. I don't know what I done. I didn't know I was there. 

There (putting his finger on his shoulder) is the scar where 
I fell against the bench. 

Q. Tell us what Mr. Willey did. 

16 
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A. I went out for a chair and he didn't know what I was 

out after, and he took me by the ear and by the muscles of 
the arm and says ''You did it for nothing." I" humphed," 
like that, and he choked me up against the partition, and the 
boys said I fell down. The first thing I knew I was out 
with my fingers on my toes. 

Q. What time was it when you found yourself there. 
A. Before nine o'clock in the morning. 
Q. Do you know what time it was when he seized you. 
A. No. 
Q. You couldn't tell how long it was from the time he first 

seized you until you came to. 
A. No. 
ci. Was Mr. Farrington here then. A. Yes. 
Q. Did you tell him. 
A. No ; I didn't know that he would say anything to him. 
Q. Hasn't Mr. Farrington told you to come and tell him 

when you were punished by the officers. 
A. No ; not that I know of. 
Q. Hasn't he told the school i;o. A. No. 
Q. Have you ever been put in a cell. 
A. Yes. I was in seven or eight days for not doing my 

stint. He let me down Sunday to go to the priest. 
Q. Were you in the cell night and day, except when you 

went to church. A. Yes. 
Q. What did you have to eat. 
A. Two slices of bread, and water. 
Q. How much water. 
A. As ·much as I wanted to drink. 
Q. Whwbrt>ttght 1t to you. 
A. I had two meals a day, and Freese brought one and 

Bartlett the other. 
Q .. Did you have a pot there. 
A.•Yes. 
Q. Who cleaned that out. 
A. I did. 
Q. You were allowed to come out then. 
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A. No ; a boy came up with a pail and he brought it down. 
Q. Did you have water to wash your hands and face. 
A. No. 
Q. Didn't you have your hands and face washed the whole 

seven days. 
A. No ; not till I came down ; and I done forty-one chairs 

and a half while I was up there the seven days. 

By Mr. Chadbourne : 
Q. Were you behind forty-one and one-half chairs~ 
A. No; but one week I didn't do as many chairs as I 

ought to, and I got extras. 
Q. How many chairs can you bottom a week. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. How many do they give you. 
A. Sixteen. 
Q. Can you do it. 
A. I haven't since they gave it to me. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I couldn't work good. 
Q. Why not. 
A. I could do it if I tried. 
Q. Why don't you try. 
A. Too busy doing something else I hadn't ought to,db .. 

By Mr. Fox: 
· Q. Don't you expect you are going to be punishedl if you, 

don't do as you are told. 
A. Yes ; I do get punished for it. 
Q. What officers have you seen strike any boy wiitbihi the­

last three or four months. 
A. Mr. Willey pulled Frank Hillman's ears so they w.ere· 

black and blue, and Hillman hadn't done anything .. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Did you see his ears black and blue. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he make a mistake in the boy. 
A. He thought it was Hillman done it. 
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By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did Hillman tell him it wasn't him. 
A. Yes; and Mr. Willey said he needn't t.ell him that. 
Q. Did you ever see Governor Plaisted. 
A. Yes. I saw him the afternoon I came down out of the 

cell. 
Q. Where did you see him. 
A. In the dining room; he and another man. 
Q. Do you remember who the other gentleman was. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. What was the governor doing. 
A. Around talking with the boys. 
Q. Do yon know of any of the boys having to go without 

their food. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who. 
A. I used to go without my meals, but it has been a long 

time ago. 
1.Q. Do the boys now have all the bread they want. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Aud all the water. 
A. Sometimes the boys don't have enough water out in 

the yard. 
A. Because Mr. Owen wouldn't get it. The third class 

have enough, but the first and second don't. 
Q. Have you seen boys out in the yard drink from mud 

holes. 
A. Yes; I have done it myself when we didn't have enough 

water. 
Q. What had you been eating, salt fish. 
A. We have salt fish Fridays. 
Q. Have what water you want ::tfter it. 
A. Yes, since this super came here ; but this was quite a 

while ngo. 
Q. Haven't you seen the boys drinking in that way since 

Mr. Farrington has been here. 
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A. I used to see the boys drink out of the spout as it 
came down from the house. 

By Mr. Little : 
Q. Who was superintendent when you drank out of the 

mud hole. 
A. Mr. Parker. We could have water but we didn't have 

the pails. The boys chipped in and got two new pails. 
Q. Where did they get the money. 
A. Made extra chairs. 
Q. Do boys have to buy the pails now. 
A. There hasn't been one bought for a good while. Mr. 

Wentworth sold them a pail. 
Q. Do you know what they paid for it. 
A. We paid twenty-five cents for ours. 
Q. Did you help pay for it. 
A. No, I had extras to do for punishment. 

By Mr. Chadbourn. 
Q. What did Mr. Farrington say to you when he put you 

in the cell to make extras. 

A. He talked as good as he could and told me I would 
have to stay there till I had done so many chairs. That week 
he saw I wasn't working as good as I _could and I wasn't 
going to get my chairs done and so he put me up there to do 
that week's chairs and the next week's too, and then I got 
twelve or thirteen extras for cane. We get a bunch of cane, 
and if there aint enough in it to finish the chair, they make 
you do extras to pay for it. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do they make you pay for cane when the bunches are 

short. 
A. They tie the cane up in little bunches, and we· get a 

bunch with a chair, and if we don't have enough in the bunch 
we have to do chairs enough to pay for the extra cane. Mr. 
Willey has a sheet of paper, and he marks down when you 
are two are three strands short, and when there is ten or 
twelve you have an extra. 
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Q. Who counts out the cane. 
A. The chair boys. The other morning there was only 

-sixteen strands in a bunch and there ought to be twenty .one. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. Don't you sometimes waste cane. 
A. Yes, some of them do. 
Q. If you didn't have to pay for the cane there wonld be 

more ·wasted. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you ever been in the hospital. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Ever taken care of the boys that were sick. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you had to stand up in the dormitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Until two o'clock in the morning. 
Q. Have you under the new watchman. 
A. I never stood up pnder him; he is a better man than 

the other one. 
Q. How long do the boys have to stan<l up under the new 

one. 
A. Half past nine or ten. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Have you ever been in the second class. 
A. Yes, but I have spent most of my days in the third 

class. 
Q. Why don't you get into the first class. 
A. Too many demerits. 
Q. Have you said anything to the other boys about these 

gentlemen being here. 
A. No. 
Q. Any of the officers talked with you. 
A. No. 
Q. How would you like to work, on the farm. 
A. I rather do most anything than make chairs. 
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Hiram L. Badger: Sentenced by the Ellsworth police 
court in September, 1874, for burning a building. 

Sworn by Mr. Fox. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Eight years. 
Q. How old are you. 
A. I am eighteen. 
Q. Have you been punished since Mr. Farrington has been 

here. 
A. Yes, a good many times. 
Q. How. 
A. On the hand with a ruler. 
Q. How many blows is the most you have received. 

A. Ten. 
Q. Did you cry. 
A. Not very much. 
Q. Did it make your hand black and blue. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Been whipped on any other part uf your body. 
A. Yes, on my back with a ferule. 
Q. Clothe8 on. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Been punished in any other way by any other officer. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Hfwe you been put in the cells. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. Five days and nights. 
Q. When was that. 
A. Last January or February. 
Q. What for. 
A. Striking a boy in the yard. 
Q. What did you strike him with. 
A. My fist. 
Q. Did you mean to strike him. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. What did you have to sleep on. 
A. Three blankets and comforters. 
(~. Have any sack. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Blankets and comforters on the floor. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you have to eat. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. How much bread. 
A. All I wanted. They brought it up in the morning and 

after supper. 
Q. Did you have water to wash with. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. vV asn't you washed while you were thne the five days 

and nights. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Hair combed. 
A. No. 
Q. Have to work while you were there. 
A. No. 
Q. Have anything to read. 
A. No. 
Q. Who did you talk with. 
A. Boys in the next cells. 
Q. Talk all you wanted to. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were you allowed to talk to boys in the other cells. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Was the door that opens from the cel1 room into the 

big hall open or shut while you were in the cells. 
A. Shut all the time. 
Q. The wooden door to the cell was not shut. 
A. No, only the iron one. 
Q. Did the bread given you in the morning last you all 

day. 
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A. No; I ate all the bread when I got it, but I had all I 
wanted. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Were you ever in the tower. 
A .• es. 
Q. How long. 
A. Two days and two nights and a part of the next day. 
Q. vVhen was it. 
A. A year ago last February. 
Q .. Any one with you. 
A. Yes, Martelle. 
Q. What was you there for. 
A. Running away. 
Q. Were your hands tied. 
A. No. 
Q. Ever have your hands or feet tied. 
A. No. 
Q. Ever had to wear anything round your feet. 
A. No. 
Q. What boys have you seen punished severely. 
A. I don't know any one that has been punished very 

severely. 
Q. What is the most severe punishment you have known. 
A. In the cell over a week. 
Q. Fed on bread and water. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know anything about Mr. Owen beating or 

striking the boys. 
A. I saw him strike one boy by the side of the face, and 

the next morning there w3:s prints of his fingers from his eye 
to his ear. 

Q. What was the boy's name. 
A. Charley Bartlett. 
Q. When was that. 
A. I think it was since July. 
Q. What was it for. 
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A. I don't know. I believe it was for getting up on the 
platform. They don't allow boys on the platform. 

Q. Have you had any trouble in the dining room lately. 
A. Only once in a while. The other day the beans were 

all passed on one side of the table and the water th~ came 
out of the beans on the other side. I told Mr. Owen I 
wanted something to eat, and he told me to stop in and Jet 
me go out and get some beans and bread. 

Q. Do you know of any boys going without their suppers 
or dinners. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know of Mr. Owen's keeping a strap. 
A. Yes, I have seen him strike a boy over the back with a 

strap. It was Charley Leighton. 
Q. What kind of a strap. 
A. A sole leather strap two inches wide and a foot and a 

half long. 
Q. Did you ever see Mr. Willey strike anybody. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Little : 
Q. Do you ever get more punishment than you ought to 

have. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you think the other boys do. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you talked with the boys about this investigation .. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Have any of the officers said anything to you about it .. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Donahue: 
Q. If Mr. Farrington should say "I am going to confine 

you," and give you your choice between the tower and the 
cel1, which should you prefer? 

A. One is about as bad as the other. One i8 too hot and 
the other too cold. 
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By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Which had you rather have, ten blows or be degraded. 
A. Ten blows. 
Q. Why. 
A. The blows wouldn't hurt my character any. 

By Mr. Little: 

Q. You have some pride about being up in your rank. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Were you here before they had the graded system. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Which do you like best. 
A. This. 
Q. Yon like this better than you did the old-fashioned 

truth and honor. 
A. Yes; in this you can keep getting honors. 
Q. What is the prospect about your discharge. 
A. The trustees said they would see what grade I was in 

the 'next time they met'. 
Q. You stand a better chance of being discharged when 

you are up in your grade than when you are down. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Do you expect to be discharged. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What would you do if you were discharged. 
A. I would do any honest work I could get to do. 

Charles vV. Bartlett. Committed by the Municipal Court 
of Portland, Augnst 18, 1880, for the larceny of three dol­
lars. Is in second class A. 

Sworn, and examined by Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. Two years and two months. 
Q. Have you been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When. 
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A. I don't remember. I haven't got a licking within a 
month. 

Q. Been in the celJ, or the tower. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Has Mr. Farrington ever whipped you. 
A. Yes; he has given me ten cracks o.n the hand for being 

up ten times. 
Q. Has Mr. Owen ever struck you. 
A. He struck me on the face with his hand. 
Q. Wnat for. 

A. I said, '' Mr. Owen, can't I have some decent cane." 
Q. Did he knock you over. 
A. No, sir; I jumped up and commenced to cry. 
Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Any marks on your face. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How Jong did the marks stay there. 
A. Only a couple of days. 
Q. Did he ever strike you more than once. 
A. He took me hy the collar and slat me round. 
Q. What did you do. 
A. I sauced him. 
Q. What for. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did any of the other teachers ever strike you. 
A. Mr. Bartlett took me by the collar and carried me into 

the dining room: he took me by the neck and carried me 
down stairs. I was whispering on parade, and he called me 
out of line and took me down with him. He squeezed my 
neck. 

Q. When was that. 
A. Quite a long time ago, when Mr. Bartlett was here. 
Q. Did he hurt you. 
A. He hurt me a little. 
Q. What did he do when he got you down there. 
A. He told me to take my place at the table. 
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By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. How much do you weigh. 
A. I think H6 pounds. 
Q. Any of the other officers ever strike you. 
A. No, sir, except Mr. Freese has with a strap. He used 

to stand us up and then when he would get asleep we would 
get to laughing and playing and the first thing yon knew you 
would get a hit with this strap or rope. 

Q. How long have you stood in the dormitory. 
A. Until twelve o'clock. 
Q. From eight till twelve. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you had to stand with your fingers on 

your toes. 
A. Twenty or thirty minutes. 
Q. Do you have to do that often. 
A. Not very often now. 

Charles E. Jackson. [Colored. J Committed in Novem-
ber, 1881. Was then ten years old. Common runaway. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. A little over ten months. 
Q. Has anyone whipped you. 
A. Yes, sir, Mr. Farrington. 
Q. How many times. 
A. Three times, I think. 
Q. How many blows did he give you. 

A. Ten. . 
Q. Had you rather haye ten cracks or be degraded. 
A. Rather be degraded. 
Q. What other officers have whippod you. 
A. Mr. Owen has knocked me round. 

Q. How. 
A. He has slapped me side of the face and knocked me 

round. 
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Q. Ever strike you with a strap. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where did he hit you. 
A. Side of the face. 
Q. When was that. • 
A. A week ago to-day. I went up and asked him could 

I go out and he wouldn't let me. 
Q. It was because you asked him to go out. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you want to go out for, to the water closet. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has Mr. Owen ever struck you more than that oue 

time. 
A. Yes, he strikes me every time he gets a chance. 
Q. What with. 
A. A strap. 
Q. Has he struck you to-day. 
A. No. 
Q. Did he strike you yesterday. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Where did he strike you. 
A. In the face. 
Q. What with. 
A. A strap. 
Q. Did he make you cry. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How much do you weigh. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did he ever strike you with anything but a strap. 
A. With his hand. 
Q. What officers besides Mr. Farrington and Mr. Owen 

have whipped you. 
A. None. • 
Q. Any teacher in the school. 
A. No, I have been in the cell one day but not in the 

tower. 
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Q. What did you have to eat. 
A. Bread and. water. 
Q. Have all the bread you wanted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. All the water you wanted to drink. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you ever have to stand on a line. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Howlong. 
A. One day. 
Q. Did you ever have to touch your toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long. 
A. A half an hour. 
Q. What for. 
A. If a feller says he wants to go to the closet, he has to 

touch his toes a half an hour. 
Q. Did you want to go to the closet. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Do they treat you just as well as they do the white 

boys. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Don't they make any difference on account of your race. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do the big boys treat you badly. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do any of them pick on you. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Donahue: 
Q. Do any of the large boys stand up for you when you 

get into trouble. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Who are they. 
A. Richards and Swett. 
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Q. They won't let the boys pick on you. 
A. No. 
Q. How did you make friends with Richards and Swett. 
A. Played with them and they played with me. 
Q. Didn't you give them anything. 
A. No. 

Ralph B. Richards: Committed in October, 1881, by the 
Supreme Court for manslaughter. Is fifteen years old. 

Sworn and examined by Mr. Fox : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. A little over a year. 
Q. Been punished since you have been here. 
A. Yes, I have been whipped and been put in the tower. 
Q. What was the whipping for. 
A. Behind on my stint. 
Q. Who whipped you. 
A. The Super. 
Q. How many blows. 
A. Ten. 
Q. Which had you rather have ten blows or he degraded. 
A. Rather have the whipping. 
Q. What was you in the tower for. 
A. Runaway scrape. 
Q. Did you attempt to run away. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long were you in the tower. 
A. Three or four days. 
Q. What did you have to eat. 
A. Bread and water. 
Q. Who brought it. 
A. Mr. Bartlett fetched it once or twice, nnd the super 

once. 
Q. Did you have all the bread you wanted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. All the water you wanted. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Did you have any chance to wash you while in the 

tower. 
A. No. I washed me, what little I could, with some of 

the water given me to drink. 
Q. How did you wipe your hands. 
A. On my handkerchief. 
Q, Who was with you in the tower. 
A. No one. 
Q. Have you had any trouble with the officers since you 

have been here. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Have you obeyed their orders for the most part. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Occasioned them some trouble. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Been punished any more than you think jri,st. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Deserved what punishment you got. 
A. Yes. 

Adjourned until Friday, Oct. 27th, at 3 P. M. 

17 
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FRIDAY, OCTOBER 27th, 1882-3 o'clock P. M. 

Met at the Reform Schoo] pursuant to adjournment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell; Hon. 
R. L. Bowers, of the Executive Council; and 0. B. Chad­
bourne and Thomas F. Donahue, of the Board of trustees of 
the Reform School. 

All the testimony of the boys having been read by the 
stenographer to Superintendent Farrington and Assistant 
Superintendent Wentworth, the Commissioners announced to 
them that they could now recall any or all of the boys, and 
put such questions to them as they desired. 

Alonzo Rankins was recalled : 

By Mr. Farrington : 
Q. How long have yon been here. 

A. Seven years. 
Q. In what class are you. 
A. First class. 
Q, How long have you been in the first class. 
A. Not quite a month yet. 
Q. Have you ever been in the third class. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you worked in the kitchen. 
A. Five or six months. 
Q. Who is the kitchen officer. 
A. Miss Swan. 
Q. Is the engine room near the kitchen. 
A. Yes; right side of it. 
Q. What has been your work down there. 
A. Sweeping floors, washing table and washing floors,, 

washing steps and cleaning off tables, and I take the mugs 
off. 
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Q. In your testimony the other day yon said you had been 
well treated. Is that so. 

A. Yes. 
Q. While you were kitchen boy you had some trouble 

with the engineer. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has he usually used you well. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did this trouble arise because you went into the dining 

room to turn on the steam. 
A. He growled at me one spell for turning on the steam. 
Q. Did he at this time. 
A. It was before that. 
Q. How long before. 
A. One or two months. (The stenographer i:eads the-

previous testimony of the witness.) 
Q. That is correct, is it. The trouble took place because· 

you wouldn't mind Griggs in regard to turning on the steam .. 
A. Yes. 
Q. You were accustomed sometimes to turn the steam on,. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Having charge of the dining room that was one of the· 

things you were allowed to do. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Just before the trouble occurred with Griggs that same· 

morning you went in to turn on the steam, and he told youi 
not to, and this trouble occurred. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was it a difficult or easy thing to do to turn on the· 

steam. 
A. All you have to do is to turn a wheel. 
Q. Where is the wheel located in the dining room. 
A, Over on one side, towards the front part. 
Q. Who used to tell you to turn the steam on. 
A. Miss Swan. 
Q, You did it that morning to warm the dining room for 

the boys. 
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A. Yes. 

Q. ·what time of day was it when the trouble occurred. 

A. Morning; just after breakfast. 

Q. Do you know whether the boys were in tho dining 

room at the time or not. 

A. They were when he first began to growl at me. 

Q. vVere the boys in the dining room when you went in to 

turn on the steam. 

A. No, sir, they were up in the school room. 

Q. You went in to turn the steam on just before tlie boy8 

came down to breakfast. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And Miss Swan told you to. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you remember whether the painters were here at 

the time or not. 

A. I don't remember. 

Q. Do you remember when you had the trou hle with 

Griggs nnd while he was holding you by the collar you used 

any threatening language to him. 
A. I didn't. 
Q. Did you say, " I'll kill you." 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you say, "I'Jl fix you." 
A. No. 

Q. Or, "I'll murder you." 

A. No, sir. 

Q. You used no threatening lang:rnge of any kind. 

A. No, sir; I never said any words to him at all. I didn't 
I 

threaten him. I don't know as I said anything to him. 

Q. Did you tell him if he would let you up you would go 

and sit down. 

A. Yes. 

By Mr. Wentworth : 

Q. Did Griggs offer to let you get up while he was holding 

you on the :floor. 
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A. He might have. 
Q. Did he tell you you might get up if you would behave 

yourself. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did you say if you did get up you would kill him. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you say if you got up you would have your revenge 

on him or you would fix him. 
A. No. 
Q. Yon were taken up to the cell and how long did you stay 

there. 
A. A week. 
Q. Could you look out of the cell window and see the 

boy~ at play. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Could you speak with them when the window was 

open. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you do it all. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Could you talk with the boys in the dormitory. 
A. No sir. 
Q. Could you talk with any dormitory boys when they 

were in the hospital. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many meals did you have a day. 
A. Two. 
Q. Did you have all you wanted to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. In the food that was given you did you have enough to 

make three good meals of all you wanted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. So you really had three meals a day. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have good water to drink. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Have anything extra like meat or doughnuts. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you see one of the officers every morning. 
A. Yes, and every night. 
Q. In addition to that you saw me every night did you. 
A. Yes, after the boys had gone to bed. 
Q. Did you see Mr. Farrington or any of the boys. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Didn't any boy go up with Mr. Freese in the morning .. 
A. Yes, one. 
Q. When I went up every night did I speak pleasantly to 

you. 
A. Yes. 
Q . ..Ask how you were getting along. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ask you if you had enough to eat and drink 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I ask you if you had any request to make. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And tell you if you wanted anything to send for me. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Said this about every 11ight did I not. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I talk to you kindly about your offence. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I try to get you to promise to be a good boy. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I bid you~~ good night" every night when I went off. 
A. Yes. 
Q . ..All the time you were locked up you received kind 

treatment and careful attention, did you . 
..A. Yes. 
Q. vVhen the boys were in the yard at play could you see 

what they were playing. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you used to be there a good deal and watch them. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Could you hear what they said. 
A. No. 
Q. You could hear them when they hallooed. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are they frequently hollering in the yard. 
A. Sometimes. 
Q. So far as your experience in the school goes, do you 

think all the officerR from the superintendent down try to 
have the boys do what is right. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think they try moral agencies first, talk with 

them and try to reason with them, and urge them to do right. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And after that fails resort to punishment_. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you always have all you want to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is the food good. 
A. Yes. 
Q. During the seven years how many superintendents 

have you been under. 
A. Three or four. 
Q. vVhat was the ru Je in regard to disorderl.} boys, when 

at the table when Mr. Farrington came here. 
A. The night watchman used. to stand them up in the 

dormitory. 
Q. What did the other officers do? Did they stand them 

m the floor. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Mr. Farrington found that rule or custom when he came 

here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Hc_,w long after he came here before he made a change. 
A. A year. 
Q. Do you think the food was improved for the better 

very soon after he came here. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. After Mr. Farrington came here was the change made 
that when a boy was stood in the floor he should have all the 
bread he wanted. 

A. YeR. 
Q. If n boy should lose his n~eal could he by going to the 

superintendent or the assistant get his -meal? What would 
be your opinion of it. 

A. I think he could. 
Q. Do you know of any hoy from last January to the 

present time that has been deprived of a single meal. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you know of a boy for a number of months before 

January, that was deprived of a single meal. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Wasn't the change that no boy should be deprived of 

what bread he wanted made soon after Mr. Farrington came 
here. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Mr. Farrington came here two years ago ; should you 

think this change was made over a year ago. 
A. Yes. 
Q. But boys were still stood in the floor but given all the 

bread they wanted. 
A. Yes. 
Q. ·was any change madf last May in reference to standing 

boys m the floor. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Have boys been stood in the floor since last May. 
A. Yes. 
Q. ·what boy. 
A. Cox. 
Q. Was he stood in the floor or up by the window sill and 

allowed to eat from the window sill. 
A. He was stood out in the floor. 
Q. How long ago was that. 
A. When Mr. Freese was here. 
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Q. Yon think tho quality of the food is better now than it 
usPd to be. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was the change sudden or did Mr. Farrington begin to 

improve it when he came here and has he kept improving it 
to the present time. 

A. I think he has. 
Q. It has been growing better and better all the time. 
A. Yes. 
Q. ·w edneRdays the boys have beans; do they have all 

they want. 
A. I suppose they do. 
Q. If a boy eats up all the beans in his plate and asks the 

officer for more, does he get them. 
A. Yes. 
(i. Suppose it i~ meat day and he eats all the meat on hi8 

plate, can he raise his hand and ask for more. 
A. No, sir, because there ain't none left over. 
Q. Never. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do the boys have cucumbers with vinegar. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Apples. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Apple-sauce. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Puddings. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Tomatoes with sugar on them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Green corn. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Green peas. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Strawberries. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Mince pie. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Hot biscuit. 
A. No. 
Q. Don't you have hot bread in small rolls. 
A. Yes; at Christ~1rns. 
Q. At any other time. 
A. Not that I know of. 
Q. Ever have chicken. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Turkey on holidays. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. When you were confined six days in the cell, which 

cell was it. 
A. The cell next to the window. 
Q. Any window in the cell. 
A. No ; you could look through the barred door and then 

out of the window. 
Q. Does the window sill come clear to the floor. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you mean to say you went to turn the steam on be-

fore the boys came down to breakfast. 
A. Yes. 
Q. ""\Vas that when Griggs was growling at you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When did he take hold of you, right then. 
A. No; it was after I got done my breakfast. 
Q. Did you eat your breakfast with the other boys. 
A. Yes; the kitchen woman comes in and calls for the 

kitchen boys before the other boys pass out. 
Q. Had she called you out that morning before Griggs 

took hold of you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Had she told you to sit down before Griggs took hold 

of you. 
A. No. 
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Q. vYasn't the trouble between you and her first, or was 
it before you and she had the trouble that Griggs took hold 
of you. 

A. It was between me and her first. 
Q. vVhat was the trouble between yon and Miss Swan. 
A. She said I stole some sugar. 
Q. Then did Griggs tell you to sit down, or how was it. 

Tell it just as it occurred. 
A. I can't remember how it begun at first. 
Q. While you were in the cell during the six days, did yon 

have an opportunity to wash your face and hands. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any water brought to you except what you had to 

drink. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you u·ndertake to turn on the steam that day, and 

did you turn any on. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What month was it. 
A. July. 
Q. Do they turn steam on to the dining room in the 

month of July. 
A. I think it was then. 
Q. Are you sure you turned the steam on at the time you 

bad the trouble with Griggs. 
A. It was before that. 
Q. How soon before. 
A. Quite a while before. 
Q. How long. 
A. A month or so. 
Q. The trouble with Griggs, when you didn't mind Miss 

Swan, wasn't the time you had trouble with him about the 
steam. 

A. No; that was the first trouble we had. 
Q. "'Then you are in the cell, can you talk with the boys 

out in the ya.rd. 
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A. No, sir. 

Q. Are you allowed to talk with them. 
A. No. 

Q. Are you allowed to talk with anybody except the offi-
c(•rs when you are in the cell. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. How often do you have puddings and pies. 

A. Once a week we have had pudding and pie. 

(l When do you have hot biscuit and apple sauce and 
strawberries. 

A. vVe huve them every summer. 
Q. How often ; once a week, once a month 1 or once a 

day. 

A. I don't know for sure. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. w·hen you were in the cell, wns the door that goes 

from the cell room to the large room locked. 
A. Yes; it was locked all the time. 

By :Mr. Fox: 
Q. When you say you know of no boy being deprived of 

a meal, you mean that you know of no boy being compelled 

to go without bread. 
A. Yes; I don't know of any one going without anything 

at all. 

John McGovern, recalled. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. How oldare you. 
A. I shall he eighteen in April. 

Q. How long have you been here. 

A. Two years, Sunday. 
Q. Where are you from. 

A. Calais. 
Q. What were you sent here for. 
A. Breaking and entering. 

Q. What is your grade. 
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A. Second class C. 
Q. Where are yon employed now. 
A. Work in the kitchen. 
Q. How long have you worked there. 
A. Most a year and a half. 
Q. What part of the work do you do now. 
A. Boiler boy. I am one of the cooks. 
Q. What is your work. 

· A. I make the coffee, bake the beans, cook the potatoes, 
cook the fish, fry the doughnuts, fry the pork, make the 
gravy, clean round the boilers after they use them, pick over 
the beans and put them in soak and that is about all. 

Q. Do you cook the meat. 
A. Yes; and make the bean soup. 
Q. Make the meat soap. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have you bMn a boiler hoy a year and a half. 
A. Yes. 
·Q. Do you have anything to do in the dining room. 
A. Pass the bread for the boys while they are eating. 
Q. Do the boys have bread put in the table before they 

go into dinner. 
A. Yes. 
Q. vVhy do you have to pass the bread afterwards. 
A. If they don't have enough bread on the table I have 

to go out and get more. I have a basket to bring it in. 
Q. How do you know when a hoy wants bread. 
A. He raises his hand. 
Q. A1 e you told how much bread to give the boys. 
A. One slice at a time. 
Q. Suppose he wants a second slice. 
A. After he eats the first he can have the second. 
Q·. Suppose he wants a third slice. 
A. He can have it after he eats the second. 
Q. Is there any limit to the amount you are to give him. 
A. Give it to him till he gets enough. 
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Q. Do you always see every boy that wants bread. 
A. Most always. 
Q. Suppose you don't notice him. 
A. The officer sees him and gives it to him, or tells me a 

boy wants bread and to give it to him. 
Q. Are you ever called upon to give the boys any thing 

but bread. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. If you have reason to believe a boy is most done, and 

if you give him a whole slice he will not cat the whole of it, 
do you give him less. 

A. Sometimes break it in two. They sometimes make a 
motion that means half a slice. The officen~ have told me to 
give the bread on the plates all out just before I went in the 
kitchen after more. 

Q. Do you think the officers try to be economical about 
the bread. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do the boys ever grumble at your cooking. 
A. Some of them do. 
Q. Do you think they have reason to. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do the officers ever come to get any of the food the 

boys have to eat. 
A. Yes; I have seen officers come in after hash and soup. 
Q. Do you al ways have enough so there is some for the 

officers. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do the boys have all the soup they want. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. If they want more do you give it to them. 
A. No. 
Q. What do you make the soup of. 
A. Meat, potatoes, cabbage, carrots, turnips, parsnips, 

pepper, salt, and flour to thicken it with. 
Q. Do you ever put in rice. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Do the boys like rice. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you put in pieces of bread. 
A. Yes; when it is done. 
Q. Do you think the soup is good. 
A. It is made good. 
Q. Are you always given what you want to make a good 

soup. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Vv entworth. 
Q. Suppose a boy should raise his hand after he had eaten 

all his soup, what would the officer do. 
A. Tell him there wasn't any more. 
Q. Do you know of that being done? 
A. Yes. 
Q. When. 
A. Mr. Owen has done it. 
Q. Is there much soup left. 
A. No. 
Q. If there was soup left, do you think a boy would have 

to go without if he wanted more. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did you ever know a boy who didn't get all the soup 

he wanted. 
A~ No. 
Q. Did you ever know me to go in and get some of the 

soup. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you remember wha.t you were making the day the 

Executive Council were here and visited the kitchen. 
A. Soup. 
Q. Did some of the council examine the soup. 
A. A man came up and tasted the soup and said it was 

good soup. 
Q. When you came here, if a boy was disorderly at the 

table, what was done with him. 
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A. If a boy whispered at the table, they would stand him 
out in the floor. 

Q. Did he have any bread to eat. 
A. Only what he had got at the table. 
Q. Was that custom changed so that any boy stood in the 

floor could always have all the bread he wanted. 
A. I have seen boys stood in the floor without anything to 

eat at all. 
Q. Di_d they do it because they were compelled to or 

because they didn't care for anything more. 
A~ I don't know about that. 
Q. Do yon know of a single case, within a year and a half, 

where any boy has been deprived of bread against his will. 
A. Down at the table when he was eating his meals. 
Q. Yes. 
A. No. 
Q. About last May, for instance, was there another change 

made in reference to standirg boys in the floor. 
A. I think there was. 
Q. Since then, have not boys disorderly at the table been 

punished in some other way. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have yon ever known a boy, since you have been here, 

go without bread because the officer wouldn't allow him to 
have any. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Not a single instance. 
A. No, sir. I have known a boy to stand in the floor 

without food or bread, and the officer never offered him any. 
Q. Have you known an instance where a boy has refused 

bread when it was offered him. 
A. Yes. I have seen officers offer boys bread, and they 

refused to take it. 
Q. Do you rem em her one· day I offered you some bread 

and you refused to take it. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Do you remember my telling yuu you better take it 
because it was nice bread and you would feel better. 

A. Yes; but I have been locked up without their offering 
me any bread. 

Q. Do you think you could have had bread if you had 
asked for it. 

A. I don't know . 
. Q. You did not ask for it. 

A. No. 
Q. Do the boys ent a, good denl of gingerbread. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they have a good many doughnuts. 
A. The second and third class have one doughnut a week. 
Q. How many do the first class have. 
A. Two doughnuts every Saturday night, and two or three 

through the week. 
Q. Do they have as many now ns they did. 
A. No; the boys got to betting doughnuts and selling 

them. 
Q. Have you been sick since you have been here. 
A. No ; but I had a sore leg all summer. 
Q. ·what was the matter with it. 
A. An ulcer. 
Q. Did you have the doctor examine it. 
A. Yes; three times. 
Q. Did you receive any treatment other than what the 

doctor gave. 
A. Yes; from you. 
Q. Did I look after it every day. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did the bnndage have to be taken off and appUcations. 

made to it. 
A. Yes, and bandaged up ('Very day. 
Q. Was that attended to faithfully. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think that the· officers here, in dealing with. 

18 
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boys try to influence them by talking with them and show­

ing them what the better way is before resorting to punish­
ment? State what you think; what is your honest opinion 

about it. 
A. I don't know nothing about it. 
Q. 'When you do wrong does Mr. Farrington talk with 

you about your offence and, by kindness, try to get you to 
do what is right. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do I do the same. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Try to get you to do right by talking to you. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. Who did the boys sell tl1e doughnuts to. 
A. I can't remember. They would bet doughnuts. The 

other day I bet two doug~nuts with a feller we would have 
hash for supper, and it was hash, nnd I got the two doughnuts. 

Q. You say you refused to take bread from Mr. Went--
worth. .Why did you refuse it. 

A. I didn't like dry bread. 
Q. Wouldn't he give you water to drink. 
A. I suppose he would if I had asked him. 
Q. Is there much soup left on the table. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Don't the boys like it. 
A. A good many don't like it and some do. Them that; 

don't like it don't touch it. 
Q. If they don't eat that what do they have. 
A. Bread and water. . 
Q. Do all the boys have all the doughnuts they want. 
A. No; I don't think the second and third classes get all 

they want when they only get one a week. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. How much soup comes back from the table not eaten 

by the boys. 
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A. Ahout half of it. 
Q. Is that so every Tuesday. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How long has that been so. 
A. Quite a while. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. What do you do with the soup left over. 
A. Put it in the swill barrel. 

By Mr. Wentworth : 
Q: How much bread have you ever known a boy to eat .. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Four or five. 
A. I think some can eat more than that. I think Badger 

could eat fifteen. 
Q. Are you sure that some boys have eaten five or six. 
A. Yes; there ain't a day but some feller eats five or six. 

slices. 
Q. Do you have milk quite often. 
A. Yes; in the summer time twice a day. 
Q. How much. 
A. A mug full. 
Q. How much do the mugs hold. 
A. Some don't hold quite a pmt and some hold over· a pmt .. 
Q. Do the boys like milk. 
A. Yes. 

Hiram L. Badger, recalled. 

By Mr. :Farrington : 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. A little over eight years. 
Q. How old are you. 
A. I was 18 last May. 
Q. For what were you sent here. 
A. Setting a barn on fire. 
Q. How many superintendents have you been under. 
A. Four. 



( 276) 

Q. How long have I been here. 
A. I believe it was two years ago the 15th of last April. 

I remember of Mr. Parker bringing you into the dining 

room. 
Q. Do you remember what the general character of the 

food was when I came here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How for back, as regards food, does your memory go? 

Can you tell what you had when you first came here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is the food now what it was when I came here. 
A. No. 
Q. What change has been made in it.. 
A. Molasses and bread instead of corned beef. 
Q. Do you remember why that change was made. 
A. The boys complained, said the corned beef was rotten. 
Q. Do you think it was. 
A. I think it was rather tough; I didn't like it much. 
Q. ·what did you used to have with the corned beef. 
A. Gravy and potatoes. 
Q. Were the potatoes good. 
A. Sometimes they were; · sometimes they were rotten. 
Q. How large a portion of them were rotten. 
A. I have found two or three out of a platefnll. 
Q. Now you have bread and molasses; do you have all 

you want. 
A. Sometimes I do, and sometimes I don't. 
Q. Do you have all the bread you want to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Has there been a change in any other :n·ticle of food. 
A. Doughnuts instead of gingerbread, Sunday night. 
Q. Have doughnuts every Sunday night. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When in the first class do you have doughni1ts oftener 

than every Sunday night. 
A. Yes; once or twice a week besides. 
Q. How many do you have. 
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A. One at a time. 
Q. Ever have two at a time in the first class. 
A. Not since I have been here in the first class. 
Q. Have two doughnuts Sunday night. 
A. Yes; the second class only has one. 
Q. Do you have hash. 
A. Yes; sometimes vVednesday night. 
Q. Do you have puddings in the first class. 
A. Have something that goes for pudding. 
Q. What is it. 
A. Bread and water mashed up. 
Q. What else is there in it. 
A. Eggs and some kind of spice put in. 
Q. Have any raisins in it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. It is what is commonly called plum pudding. 
A. Yes. 
Q.- In the first class do you have butter. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Brown bread and butter. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Cheese. 
A. Had cheese one night the other week. 
Q. Ever have cheese for dinner. 
A. Two or three Sundays we had it. 
Q. Ever have it any other day than Sunday. 
A. Yes ; one Tuesday we had molasses and cheese instead 

of soup. 
Q. Do you ever have milk. 
A. Yes ; about every day. 
Q. Have it fur breakfast and supper both. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did _you have it for breakfast and supper most all 

summer. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you use to have milk for breakfast and supper two 

years ago. 



( 278) 

A. I don't remember. 
Q. Did you three years ago. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you think, since I have been here, it has been the 

effort of the superintendent to improve the food and make 
the changes that would be pleasing to the boys. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think it has been changed for the better stead--

Hy since the present superintendent has been here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have green peas and green corn. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Are there any other extras that you have that occur to 

you. 
A. Apple sauce, and sometimes they pass around apples 

at the table. 
Q. Ever have cucumbers and vinegar. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Cucumber pickles. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever have tomatoes with sugar on them. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you on holidays have mince pies. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Ever have chickens and turkey. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many slices of bread do you ordinarily eat at a 

meal. 
A. Three or four. 
Q. If you want any more, can yon have it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Is it any boy's duty to give you bread, if you raise your 

hand at the tnble. 
A. Yes. 
Q. If that boy doesn't notice you, does the officer call his 

attention to it frequently. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Better than it used to be. 

A. Sometimes, and I have seen times when it hain't been 
so good. 

Q. Do you like soup. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Would you rather have bread and molasses. 
A. I don't like molasses very well either. 
Q. What would you like to have instead of soup. 
A. I don't know of anything. 
Q. Do you like beans. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How often do you have them. 

A. Twice a week. Stewed beans Wednesdays and baked 

beans Saturdays. 

By Mr. Wentworth : 
Q. Are officers allowed to stand boys in the floor and. not 

give them bread to eat. 

A. Not now. 
Q. vV ns that the cw,tom when Mr. Farrh,igton came here. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did Mr. Farrington change that custom so tlrnt officers 

were required to give boys what bread they wanted. 
A. I don't know whether it ,vas him or Governor Plaisted. 

Q. When was it changed. 
A. The last time Governor Plaisted was out here, I believe. 

It stopped at that time. 
Q. Wasn't it stopped before that time. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Are you one of the boys that saw the governor when 

he was here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you say anything to him while he was here. 

A. No, sir. 
Q,. Didn't say a word to him. 

A. No, sir. 
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Q. Never mentioned the subject of meals. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you see him in the dining room. 
A. I saw him in the third class chair shop. 
Q. Did you see him in the dining room. 
A. No, sir; I don't remember. 
Q. After going into the yard, the day the governor was 

here, didn't you have any talk with the boys in relation to 
what you told the governor. 

A. No. 
Q. Did you tell the boys that you told the governor you 

didn't have enough to eat. 
A. No. 
Q. Did any boy ask you what you told the governor that 

story for. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you say t0 any boy that the reason you told him 

the. story was because you wanted to stuff him. 
A. No. 
Q. HQW many slices of bread have you ever eaten at one 

meal. • 
A. Ten. 
(l Of the size that are usually on the table. 
A. No, the small slices. 
Q. How many of the common slices have you eaten. 
A. Five. 
Q. How many plates of beans have you ever eaten at any 

one meal. 
A. Two. 
Q. Did you ever eat more than two. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you on one occasion try to see how many beam1 

you could eat, and ate so many you got sick. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. Do you remember the time Governor Plaisted was here. 
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A. I remember he was here. 
Q. Has any boy in this school, since Mr. Farrington has 

l1een here, been required to go without bread before the 
governor was here. 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Has Mr. Farrington always told you you could have all 

the bread you wanted. 
A. At the table. 
Q. ·when you were standing up in the floor. 
A. Not that I know of. 
Q. Do you know of any boy that has had to go without 

bread for one day since Mr. Farrington has been here. 
A. I don't know of any one. 
Q. They have always had what bread they wanted. 
A. I haint got anything to say. 
Q. Do you recall any boy that has had to go without 

bread for a single day :,ince Mr. Farrington has been here. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. When a boys raises his ,hand does McGowen give him 

. what bread he wants. 
A. Sometimes he does and sometimes he don't. 
Q. Why. 
A. He will point to a piece on the plate that aint fit to eat. 
Q. What is the trouble with it. 
A. Perhaps it has been in the gravy or among the potatoe 

peelings. 
Q. If a boy doesn't have a piece of bread on his plate and 

asks for more will he give it to him. 
A. Yes. 
Q. If he has a piece on his plate he is required to eat that 

first. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. vVentworth: 
Q. Do you remember when the Executive Council went 

through the building shortly after the governor was L.ere. 
A. No. 
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Q. Do you remember some company came here and weht 
all over the building shortly after the governor was here. 

A. I don't remember any company. 
Q. Don't you remember when they were here I stopped 

at the head of the dining room stairs and just as you came 
through the door I asked you to stop a minute. 

A. I remember that. 
Q. And then I said, '' Colonel, here is the boy that didn't 

have enough to eat when the governor was here." 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you remember Col. Robie asked you if you had 

enough to eat and you told him you did. 
A. I don't know what I told him. 
Q. Diel he question you carefully in regard to your food .. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you make any complaint to him. 
A. Not that I know of. 
Q. When I said you was the boy that told the governor 

you didn't have enough to eat did you deny it. 
A. I think I did. You said I had the reputation of telling 

him so. 
Q. Are you sure you denied it. 
A. I don't remember whether I did or not. I think I did. 

George S. Patterson, recalled. 

By Mr. Wentworth : 
Q. What are you here for. 
A. Setting fire. 
Q. How many fires did you set. 
A. Two. 
Q. What did you set fire to. 
A. One was a house a man lived in and one was a house 

nobody lived in. 
Q. Both dwelling houses. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you set a third fire in the grass. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. ,vas there someone with you. 
A. Yes, 
Q. How old was he. 
A. He was 21 and I was 16. 
Q,. vVhat was his sentence. 
A. State prison for life. 
(~. You committed the same offence and came here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Something has been said about your being put down in 

your grade on account of a paper you asked a boy to read to 
Miss Swan; were you put down in your grade. 

A. Yes. 
Q. For what. 
A. Asking the boy to read a paper. 
(l vVas it something obscene and n1lgar. 
A. It was about self abuse. I asked him to read it, but 

I didn't think he would read it aloud. 
Q. Did you ask the boy to read it to Miss Swan. 

I 

A. No; I had the paper in my hand and showed it to him 
and asked him to read it, and offered to give him a doughnut. 

Q. Did he read it to Miss Swan. 
A. He read it aloud. 
Q. In the presence of Miss Swan. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When you were called up about it did you tell the truth. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Right off. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Didn't you deny that you had hired the hoy to read it; 

deny that you offered him anything. 
A. I said I offered him a doughnut, and he said I offered 

him an extra chair. 
Q. Do you remember on one occasion Mr. Freese threat­

ened to punish a boy because the boy reported :Mr. Freese to 
me. 

A. I heard some boys say he threatened to punish him. 
Q. Did I call you up and ask you about the conversation. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Diel I ask you how Mr. Freese did in the dormitory. 
A. Yes; and told me not to pay any attention to Mr. 

Frecse's threats. 
Q. Did I ask you to tell me how Mr. Freese managed in 

the dormitory. 
A. I don't remember that you did. 
Q. Diel I tell you to report to me anything that you saw 

wrong in the dormitory. 
A. I don't remember that you did. 
Q. Did I tell you if a boy reported anything that Mr. 

Freese or any other officer did I should protect the boy. 
A. No, sir; I don't think you did. 
Q. Did you think I did want you to report or didn't want 

you to report. 
A. I thought you did. 
Q. What made you think so. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Did I ever ask you to report to me. 
A. I think you did once~ 
(,lo vVhen. 
A. In the school room. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. vVhen you set the buildings afire were you sober or 

drunk. 
A. Drnnk. Father sent me to the doctor's with twenty­

five cents, and I took it and bought rum. I turned state's 
evidence. The paper I asked the boy to read was the Ox­
ford Democrat. 

Michael Cady, recalled : 

By Mr. Wentworth : 
Q. ,vhere are you from. 
A. Portland. 
Q. How long have you been here. 
A. :Five years the 19th of last September. 
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Q. Been here under how many superintendents. 
A. Four. 

Q. Al ways get enough to eat. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Before, and when Mr. Farrington came here, what was 
the rule relative to boys gomg without their meals at the 
table for disorder. 

A. They used to go without their meals. 
Q. What would the officer do. 

A. Put the boy without his dinner and stand him in the 
floor, or report him to the super. 

Q. Did they used to stand a good many boys in the floor. 
A. Yes. 

Q. After Mr. Farrington came here was there any change 
made in that custom. 

A. Yes; the boys didn't go without their meals so much. 

Q. And were the officers required to give the boys what 
bread they wanted. 

A. I don't know whether they were required to; they did. 

Q. How long ago was the custom changed by Mr. Farring­
ton to giving the hoys all the bread they wanted when they 
were stood m the floor. 

A. Most two years ago. 
Q. During the past two years do you think any boy has 

been deprived of all the bread he wanted to eat, against the 
boy's will. 

A. No, sir; I have heard some boys complain; I don't 

know whether they had enough or not. 
Q. Do you know of any boy that was obliged to go with­

out bread when he wanted it, within two years. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Suppose any boy was in danger of losing his meal, do 

you think if he went to the superintendent or assistant super­

intendent he would get it. 

A. Yes. 
Q. What makes you think so. 
A. Because they wouldn't make him go without. 
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Q. Since Mr. Farrington came here ·has the quality of the 
food improved. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did it improve all at once, or has the improvement 

been gradual. 
A. I should think it was gradual. 
Q. Did it commence soon after Mr. Farrington came here. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have the boys had cucumbers. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Pickles. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have they had apples frequently. 
A. Yes; Mr. Fanington has pa::ised them around in a 

basket. 
Q. :More than you used to have. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you have ginger-bread. 
A. Yes; we have that oftener than we used to. 
Q. Brown bread and butter. 
A. Once a week. 
Q. Puddings. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Sliced tomatoes and sugar. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Green corn in its season, and green peas. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Strawberries. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Mince pie. 
A. They haven't had any since I have been in the first 

class, only Thanksgiving. Before I got up in the first class 
they had them every Sunday morning. 

Q. Do they have chickens Thanksgiving. 
A. Yes. 
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Q. Turkeys. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you have both meat hash and fish hash. 
A. Yes. 
Q. During the five years you have been here, have the 

boys ever been as well fed as they are now. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. Do you think they are well fed now. 
A. Yes. 
Q. The food is good and sufficient in quantity. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you remem her the time when Mr. Freese threat-

ened to punish a boy because he reported Mr. Freese to me. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I make an investigation at that time. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I call up any boys in refarence to it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many. 
A. About six. 
Q. Did I spend most of the forenoon investigating it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I call you up. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did I say to you. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Did I ask you to tell me all you knew about it. 
A. Yes, and I told you. 
Q. What did I say in reference to boys reporting to me 

anything in reference to what Mr. Freese or any officer did. 
A. You said you would protect them against any officer; 

that it was none of the officers' business what they told you 
or Mr. Farrington. 

Q. You gathered from what I said that I wouldn't allow 
Mr. Freese to punish a boy for reporting anything to me. 

A. Yes, and you told the whole school, Sunday morning, 
that you would protect any boy for reporting an officer. 
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Q. When was that. 
A. Quite a while ago. Last summer I think-three or 

four months ago. 
Q. What did I say about boys having a right to come to 

me and make a report in reference to any officer. 
A. You said they would be protected. 
Q. Did I say they had a right to come to me. 
A. Yes, and they would be protected. 
Q. Did I ask you to report to me anything that you knew. 
A. I don't remember; I think you did. 
Q. Did I say I would protect you if you told me anything. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did I ask you about Mr. Freese's management in the 

dormitory, about his using tobacco. 
A. No. 
Q. Did I ask you in reference to his giving boys reading 

matter. 
A. Yes, you asked me if I knew about Mr. Freese giving 

the boys any reading matter, and I told you he gave two 
boys some reading stuff, and they ·were called up sometime 
after that and taken away and done something to. 

Q. Did I ask you if he ever used improper language 
towards the boys. 

A. I don't remember. You asked me if I ever heard him 
call any boys " Supe," and I told you yes, he called Custer 
" Supe." 

Q. vVhat did I tell the boys on Sunday morning; did I 
read a paper to them. 

A. I don't remember whether you read a paper to them or 
not. 

Q. Can you say what I told the boys. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did I say this, [ rea<ls, J " Every boy has the ri~ht and 

it is his duty to report to the superintendent, or assistant 
superintmident, all violations of the rules and regulations of 
this school that may come to his notice, whether such 
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violations are committed by officers or boys. · Every boy has 
a right at all times of free access to the superintendent and 
assistant ~mperintendent, to whom he may make such state­
ments as he may desire concerning himself, other boys or 
officers ; and no officer will be allowed to interfere directly 
or indirectly with the exercise of this right by any boy. 

A. Yes, I think you told us that. I don't think you 
read it. 

Q. Did I say that no officer will be allowed to prevent or 
attempt to prevent any boy from reporting to the superin­
tendent or assistant superintendent by gifts, promises, per­
suasion, ridicule, threats or punishment of any kind; or by 
criticising the character, reputation, motives or conduct of 
those who report, or hy trying in any way to bring them into 
disfavor with others; or by disparaging remarks on the 
principle of reporting; or in any other way,whatsoever. 

A. Yes, I remember the first part of it. I don't remember 
the last. 

Q. You understood that boys were expected to report to 
the superintendent or me any misdemeanors on the part of 
the officers. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was this before Mr. Freese strapped you in the dor­

mitory. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And you understood when Mr. Freese strapped you 

that you bad a right to come to me and tell me all about it. 
A. I didn't think of it at all. 
Q. If you had thought of it would you have thought you 

had a right to come and tell me of it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think if Mr. Farrington or I had known of it, 

we would have allowe<l the watchman to strap you. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. What class are you in. 
A. First class, honor 12. 

19 
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Q. Have yon ever been over to Portland. 
·A.Yes. 
Q. Ever go to church. 
A. Yes; once to a church pretty near Portland-it wasn't 

in Portland. 
Q. Ever been fishing. 
A. Yes; over to Cape Cottage. 
Q. Ever been to the islands. 
A. Yes; once last summer. 
Q. How long were you down there. 
A. One day. 
Q. Take dinner on the island. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have a good dinner and all you wanted to eat. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you do. 
A. Played, and fished, and went in swimming, and played 

hall. 
Q. How many boys should you think were with you. 
A. Sixty or seventy-five-no, sixty-five. 
Q. Did you march through the streets in Portland. 
A. Yes; from Brown's stable down to the wharf. 
Q. March back again in the evening. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What time did you come back. 
A. About 9 o'clock in the evening. 
Q. How do you get along in the school. 
A. First-rate. 
Q. Do you think the boys generally like to go to school. 
A. No, sir; they don't seem to. 
Q. How do you like to go. 
A. First-rate. 
Q. Are the boys punished as much now as formerly. 
A. I can't say whether they are or not. 
Q. Do you think as a rule the officers try to secure obedi­

ence by using moral influences on the boys without punish­
ing them. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Do you think they try hard to secure good order with­

out punishment. 
A. I don't know surely whether they do or not, but I 

think they do. 
Q. In school what method has been lately started to secure 

order? Explain the merit roll. . 
A. vYhen a boy behaves well all through the week he gets 

his name 011 the merit roll, and when he gets it on four times 
he gets it 011 the star roll, and then they get a card. 

Q. Do the boys run away as much as they used to. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you think they feel better contented than they used 

to. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Is it because they don't want to run away, or because· 

they don't get a chance to. 
A. I don't know. 

By Mr. Farrington : 
Q. Have you been out on the farm a good deal this season .. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Out in the front part a good deal. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you go to the farm freely. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Could you go down alone to the creek. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Were there other boys that could do the same. 
A. Yes; two front part boys. 
Q. Did the farm officer used to allow the boys to work i11 

different parts of the field, away from him. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When some of them had a little time on their hands­

and there was no work to do, could they roam around the­
barn and play there. 
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A. Yes. 
Q. Did the boys have a chance to run away if they had 

been disposc-'d to. A. Yes. 
Q. Were you out in haying"time at work on the hay. 

A. Yes; I was out with Mr. Davis. I didn't work hay­

ing, I worked in the garden. 

Q. Did Mr. Davis' boys use to work at a distauce from 
the house and barn when he was in the house sometimes. 

A. Yes; they have been down at the farther end of the 
corn piece when Mr. Davis was at the house. 

Q. Did you ever think about running away. 

A. No. 
Q. Do you think the boys had as good a chance to run 

away this summer as they used to have. 

A. Yes ; better. 

Q. Wh} didn't they run away this summer, when they had 
so good a chance. 

A. I don't know. 
Q. Do they seem to be contented. 
A. Yes. I suppose when they talk about runniug away 

they don't tell it before all the boys. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Why didn't you run away. 

A. I thought I was trusted and I wouldn't nbuse my trust. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Do you work in the front kitch_en. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Do the boys have more entertainments than they us('d 
to. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do they like to have these entertainments. 

A. Yes; they all seem glad when it is time to go up into 
the chapel. · 

Fred P. Owen, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified : 

By Mr. Farrington: 

Q. Are you the second class chair shop 'Officer. 
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A. I am. 

Q. Have you read the testimony, or beard the stenographer 
read the testimony of the boys, especially that part that re­
fers to yourself. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Do you acknowledge that those statements, as to your 

treatment of the boys, are true. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Louis Nichols, in his testimony, says the big boys pick 

on the little ones. How is that. 
A. That is not so ; they do not. 
Q. Is it sometimes true that large boys are inclined to im­

pose on Ii ttle ones. 
A. They are inclined to. 
Q. Do you consider yourself placed in the yard and in 

duty bound to protect the smaller ones in case the large boys 
should undertake to impose upon them. 

A. I do. 
Q. Nichols says you caught a boy who struck him, and 

stood him on the line. 
A. I don't remem her it. 
Q. If you saw a boy strike a small one in that way, would 

you catch the boy who did the striking and stand him on the 
line. 

A. I most certainly should. I should either stand him on 
the line or have him punished in some other way. 

Q. ,vhat is " standing on the line." 
A. A boy is placed in a certain position on the edge of the 

parade, facing the house, and not to engage in any play what­
ever. 

Q. You sometimes give that punishment, do you. 
A. Yes. 
Q. You are allowed to do that by the superintendent. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Are you directed to do it. 
A. I am. 
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Q. Suppose a boy is stood on the line and he feels that he 
was unjustly treated, do you consider that he has any chance 
to appeal from your decision ; that he has a right to come to 
me or Mr. vV entworth. 

A. He has. 
Q. Do you think the boys know that they have that right. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Have they sometimes told you that they would report 

you to Mr. Wentworth. 
A. Yes; and I have told them to do so at once. 
Q. Did you ever try to prevent a boy from reporting you 

to me or Mr. Wentworth. 
A. Never. 
Q. Is such a statement, on the part of the boys, that they 

will report you, made frequently or rarely. 
A. Rarely. 

Q. Alfonzo Whitten says he saw officer Owen take a sort 
of foolish hoy out of his seat and slat him around. 

A. I took the boy off from his seat and stood him in the 
floor. I did not slat him around. 

Q. What was he doing. 
A. Cutting up canes that we use for seating chairs. It is 

the cane sent here by the manufacturers to make the chair 
bottoms. He was sitting there cutting it up with a knife. 

Q. You took him by the collar and stood him in the floor. 
A. YeR. 
Q. Did you do anything more to him. 
A. No. 

By Mr. Chadbourne: 
Q. Had you told him to stop cutting cane. 
A. No. 
Q. Docs every boy in the shop know that it is wrong to 

cut up cane. 
A. There is no doubt in the least but that he knew he was 

destroying good cane and he knew he had no right to do it. 
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A. No. 
Q. Has he ever made a chair. 

A. He has tried to make them, but he destroyed the 

greater part of the cane. I tried as hard as I could to teach 

him, but finally gave him up as too hard a specimen. He 

helps me about piling the frames and lugging chairs and such 
work as that. 

Q. He is a boy that can do labor that require::; no skill. 

A. Yes. 

By Mr. Farrington : 

Q. You have been unable to teach him skilled labor. 

A. I have been unable to teach him to make chairs. 

Q. Have you ever spoken to the superintendent about the 

boy. 
A. I have. 

Q. ,vhat did he tell you. 

A. He told me to do the best I could with him and try to 

keep him employed with whatever I could. 

Q. '\Vilham Pendergra~s testified that a year ago last 

winter he was knocked down by Mr. Owen. Have you any 
recollection of anything of that kind. 

A. I wasn't here a year ago last winter. I came here 

October 27th, 1881. 
Q. Have you ever, as thi::_;: boy says, knocked him down. 

A. I have not. 
Q. Have you ever picked him up and carried him up 

stairs. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. He says you asked him if he had come to. Did you 

ever ask him that question. 

A. I have not. 
Q. Have you ever in any way thrown him down intent10n­

ally. 

A. No. sir. 
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Q. Do you know that he has ever fallen down at your 

han<ls when you did not intend he should fall down. 

A. I do. 
Q. State what yon know about that. 
A. He wns very disorderly in the shop, and on this occa­

sion I told him repeatedly to keep still and go to work. He 

still continued and I took him by the collar and shook him a 

little, and when I let go of him he fell down hut by no inten­
tion of mine. vVhen he fell down, I ~iccidentally stepped on 

his finger and it marred the skin just a little-just cut it a 

trifle. I picked him up and stood him on his feet and asked 
him if he would go to work. He said he couldn't; his finger 
was sore. I did his finger up and he went back and went to 

·work. 

Q. Did he complain of it at the time. 
A. He did not; he apparently had no hard feelings at all. 
Q. Did he object to working. 

A. He did before his finger was done up, but he did not 
after it was tied up. 

Q. Di<l he object to working before this disturlmnce took 
place. 

A. No; he was standing at the bench making this disturb­
ance. He did not 8ay he wouldn't work, but he continued 
the noise without refm,ing to work. 

Q. In the testimony of Elmer Cbnmbers, he says he was 
stanJing by the post on the line talking and you came up and 

took him by the back of the neck and led him to the gate 

and made him finger his toes, and that the marks of your 

hand were left on his neck. State what you know about 
that. 

A. He was standing on the line, and he knew he was to 

stand there without talking. I was standing in the gate 

holding both yards. He did not stand quietly and I took 
him over by the gate and stood him with his fingers on his 
toes. 

Q. Did you intend the position you put him in as a pun­

ishment for not standing on the line properly. 
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Q. Did he so regard it. 
A. Yes. 
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· Q. If he had stood on the line properly, should you· have 
punished him in that way. 

A. I should not. 

Q. Did you take him by the hack of the neck. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Did you take hold ~f him with sufficient force to leave 
any mark. 

A. I might leave my hand marks. I didn't break any 
skin. 

Q. Do you mean such an impression as I make in pressing 
my hand, which immediately disappears, or do you mean 
marks that would remain. 

A. I left no marks that would remain over five minutes, 

and probably not that time. 

Q. Did he make any complaint of it at the time. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Or immediately after. 

A. No, sir; he never said anything to me about it. 
Q. In his testimony, as reported in the paper, he says 

standiug on n, line means this : a strip of board is on the 

edge of the parade, and the boys have to stand on the board 

at rccef,S. Is that a correct description of the line? Is it a 
piece of board. 

A. No, sir; it is a strip or piece of joist about five inches 
wide placed there, partially buried in the sand, and is for the 

purpose of sustaining the brick. The top of the joist is very 

nearly on a level with the bricks of the parade, which the 

joist keep1, in place. It is so nearly on a level that it is 
agreeable to stand on either. 

Q. So if the foot couldn't rest on the joi~t it could easily 
rest on the bricks. 

A. Yes; it may be a half an inch lower than the bricks, 

for the purpose of allowing the wash from the bricks to flow 
off. 
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Q. He says he wasn't alhwed to play for two months, and 

was only allowed to run round the yard once in a while. 

A. He lrns been on the line for nearly two months for not 
doing extras, ·which he might have done if he chose. 

Q. Did he know that was why he was standing on the 

the line. 

A. He did. 

Q. For what was he given the extras. 

A. For not fixing his chairs as he was told. When a boy 

puts in a bad strand of cane it is broken out and given him 

to be repaired, and it is supposed to be done promptly. 

Q. Is it necessary to a correct management of the shop 

that the boy shall do such repairing promptly. 

A. Yes; and if he does not do it promptly before he 

leaves the shop, it is given to some other boy, and he is re­

quired to make a new chair in place of it. 
Q. Is there anything in the character of the work which 

stands iu the way of boys fixing the chair that is given him 

immediately. 
A. No reason whatever. 
Q. Did this boy know if he didn't do it immediately he 

would have to stand on the line. 

A. He knew he would be punished and that he would get 

an extra ehair for it, and if the extra wasn't done by the end 
of the week he would have to stand on the line m'til it was 

done. Extras given by me in that way. the boy has the rest 

of the week to do them in, and if he don't do them in that 

time he stands on the line until he does do them. No boy 

has a stint but what he can finish Friday, and the rest of the 
time he has for play, or work on extras, as he chooses. 

Q. The same witness says you put him on bread and water 

diet. Do you know of any time when you put him on bread 

and water diet. 
A. No, sir; I know I have not. 

Q. Have you any authority to do it. 

A. No, sir. 
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Q. Do you think the superintendent would allow you to do 
it. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. He says he saw you strike Jackson and saw you when 

you struck Pendergrass. Must the striking of Pendergrass 
referred to what you have already testified about. 

A. It must. 

Q. Has there been any time when you struck him if you 

did not do it then. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you strike him at tlmt time. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Have you ever struck Jackson. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. He says he saw you take Grace by the neck. vVhat 

do you know about that. 

A. That was a similar case to Chambers'. I ren1ember 

one time of standing him in a similar position to ,vhut I stood 

Chambers, for disobeying my rule about standing 011 the line. 

I stood him with his fingers on his toes fifteen minutes. 

By Mr. Chadbourne: 
Q. How do you know it was fifteen minutes. 
A. Because that is my rule. I carry the time in my 

pocket. 
Q. Is that a rule of your own making or one that is given 

you. 
A. I have been told by the superintendent not to stand a 

boy in that position over fifteen minutes. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. Have you ever exceeded that. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How long have you kept a boy in that position. 

A. Nearly an hour, of his own nccord. I told a boy in 

the shop oue day to go to work and he said he won ldn't, and 

l tol<l him he might stand with his fingers on his toes until 

he got ready to go to work, and he stood that way nearly an 
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hour before he concluded to go to work. He had the privi­

lege of going to work at any time. 
Q. ·when was the order of the supedntendent given. 

A. I cannot say whether it was before or since that. 
Q. If it was given before that time then you broke the 

order in doing it. 

A. Y cs; if it was given to me before that. 

By Mr. Farrington: 

Q. When was it you kept the boy with his fingers on his 
toes nearly an hour. 

A. In Febrnary, I think. 

Q. Who was it. 
A. James Cunningham. 

Q. Is he here now. 
A. He js, 

Q. The next witness, Patterson, testifies that he has been 

treated pretty well, but had been put down in his class, and 

stood in meditation, and made to touch his toes a half an 
hour ut a time, and was punished in that way by ::\fr. O·wen. 
Do yon know anything about that. 

A. He has been punished in that way by me, but never for 
half an hour. 

Q. Are you sure you never exceeded fifteen minutes in his 
case. 

A. I am. 

Q. He says he saw Mr. Owen kick Winter m the leg. 

Did you ever kick him in the leg. 

A. Never. 

Q. Did yon ever kick any boy in the leg. 

A. Never. 

Q. Did yon ever kick any boy at all. 

A. Never. I am absolutely positive of that. 
Q. He says he saw you strike a boy in, the side of the head. 

Did you ever do that. 
A. No, sir . 

• 
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Q. He says you struck a boy named Robinson and cut his 
ear; didn't see you do it, but heard that you did it. 

A. That is false. 
Q. Did you ever touch his ear. 
A. I left my desk to go into the tower after some cane and 

he went to the desk, which he had no right to do while I was 
away, and meddled with my book. When I came back I 
took him by the ear and led him out in the floor, and made 
him stand there awhile. .I did not cut his ear; he made the 
sore hi1m;elf. 

Q. How do you know he did. 
A. I saw him do a part of it, and he told me he was going 

to make it sore and keep it sore as long as he could. He 
told me so twice. 

Q. He says he was sent to the class in meditation by Mr. 
Owen for putting crusts of bread by the side of his plate, 
and there has been something said here about one boy, or the 
large boys, getting more than the small boys. What is your 
duty in the dining room. 

A. I take charge of the dining room at noon-time. My 
duty begins there at five minutes of twelve. I precede the 
boys, and it is my duty to see that the food is equally and 
fairly distributed on the plates, and if there is anything seri­
ously out of the way it is my duty to either call the superin­
tendent or assistant if. I cannot rectify it, and I have done so. 
I went in one time and found on the kitchen boys' nnd lnrge 
boys' plates a double quantity of potatoes, and on the others 
about half as many. I cnlled Mr. \Ventworth, and he ad­
vised that the plates be shifted, and the small boys he given 
the kitchen boys' plates and the small boys' plates to the 
kitchen boys. In regard to the crusts, the boys like the encl 
pieces better than they do the other part of the loaf. Why 
they like it better I don't know. This hoy had piled the 
crusts, or end pieces, all round bis plate, thus depriving the 
other boys of what he and they call better bread. He hatl 
been told repeatedly not to do that. I put him in the medi­
tation class and gave him five demerits. 
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Q. Are there plates on all the tables especially designed 
for bread. 

A. There are. 
Q. Are the boys allowed to select the best pieces and pile 

them up around their plates. 
A. They are not. 
Q. Do you know anything about the boys being kept short 

of water, and, being thirsty, drinking out of a mud puddle. 
A. It is the practice to let any boy I can trust go to the 

kitchen after water when it is a proper time. The boy came 
to me at an improper time and I told him he couldn't go. It 
was about half-past seven in the evening. The stairway w:as 
dark, the kitchen dark, and they had never been accustomed 
to have water at that recess. It is the watchman's recess, 
and instead of having water in the yard he had water in the 
dormitory, and the boys passed to the dormitory in fifteen 
minutes after this recess. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did the boys drink the water in the yard. 
A. There might be a few boys. I didn't see any boys 

drink water in the yard. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q~ Could you have left the yard at this time. 
A. I could not. 
Q. °"r as the kitchen dark so it would not have been pru­

dent to let them go in. 
A. It was. 
Q. Is there water in the dormitory that the boys can have 

after they get in there. 
A. There is. 

Q. And these boys were to go up there, and they knew it, 
in fifteen minutes. 

A. Yes. 
Q. And they could get water up there. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Chadbourn; 



( 303) 

Q. Is there al ways water there for them. 
A. Yes; two cans there for that purpose. 
Q. Are there monitors in the dormitory who are instructed 

to deliver water to the boys. 
A. There are. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Is it the practice of the boys to drink water in the dor­

mitory. 
A. Yes; and after they go to bed. 

By Mr. Chadbourn : 
Q. How long had it been smce they had a supply of 

water. 
A. They came from supper at six o'clock. I can't say' 

whether they had milk or coffee for snpper, or water in the 
yard. 

Q. What do you mean by water in the yard. 
A. Water iu pails, between ten minutes of six and six. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. What time was this that he complains he had no water. 
A. Half past seven. the recess holds until a quarter to 

eight. 
Q. Do boys in the yard have water to drink when they 

want it. 
A. They do. , 
Q. All three yards alike. 
A. They do. 
Q. Did you ever hear any complaint that they did not 

have all the water they wanted. 
A. Never. 

By Mr. Farrington : 
Q. Is it always possible for you to go and get water when 

you have charge of the yard.' 
, A. No; and it is impossible when I am in the gate hold­

ing both yards. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. What do you mean by holding both yards. 
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A. I stand in the gate between the second and third class 
yard and hold both yards. 

Q. When you are holding both yards, are you the only 
officer in either yard. 

A. Yes. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Where do you have to go to get water. 
A. Send a boy to the kitchen. 
Q. How much does he get. 
A. He takes a ten quart wooden pail. 
Q. For how many boys. 
A. There are about twenty boys in the third yard; after 

they dispose of one pail of water it is customary to go and 
get another. 

Q. Have you more than one pail. 
A. Yes ; one pail for each yard. 
Q. ·where do the pails come from. 
A. The boys buy them. 
Q. Why do the boys buy them. 
A. I don't know. 

Mr. Farrington: 
The pail sits in the yard, and unless the boys have some 

property in it they ~ill be sure to kick it around and break 
it. So we charge them 25 cents for the pail, and they buy it 
by making extra chairs. They all chip in and buy it, and it 
is their pail and every boy is interested to take care of it. 
You put a pail in there that belongs to the school (and I am 
speaking from experience) and some boy comes along and 
gives it a kick, and then another, and it is destroyed. It is 
often impossible for the yard officer to find out who breaks it, 
and pail after pail was destroyed until we adopted this 
method. They have a pail now that they have. had all sum­
mer, and it is just as good as new. 

Q. Patterson says he talked over this matter of investiga­
tion with you, or spoke to you about it. He don't remember 
what he said. Do you remember anything he said to you. 
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A. I remember that he said something, but I cannot re­
member what he said. 

Q. He says he might have asked you if you were going 
away .. Does that help your recollection. 

A. He may have asked me if I was going to get the G. B. 
I don't know exactly whether that was it or not. 

Q. Robinson says, "I saw Mr. Owen drag a boy around 
the parade until his face was all scratched up ; his face was 
scratched and bleeding." 

A. That is absolutely false. I never dragged any boy 
around. 

Q. Did you ever drag Louis Nichols around. 
A. I guess not. 

By Mr. Chadbourn: 
Q. What makes you say you guess not? It is either true 

or it is not. 
A. It is not true. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. If you recall the incident tell us what it was. 
A. The boy was standing on the line and was saucy, and I 

shook him a little. 
Q. Then it is true that yon took hold of him. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And you shook him. 
A. Yes; and I let alone of him and he fell down and cut 

bis face a little. 
Q. What did you mean by saying there was no truth in 

the statement. 
A. Well, I didn't drag him around, and I didn't churn 

him up and down. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. How could he fall down and cut his face s<~ as to bleed 

if you had hold of him as you say. 
A. He didn't help himself in the lea$t. 
Q. What made him fall down. 

20 
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A. I shook him and he fell <lown. He fell down when I 
let go of him. 

q. Did he fall down or did you push him down. 
A. I didn't push him down. 
Q. Was the boy Louis Nichols. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How much did he cut his face. 
A. He cut a slight place on the side of his nose. 
Q. What cut it. 
A. Where he struck the ground. 
Q. Frozen ground ; cold weather. 
A. It was last fall, in November. 

By ,Mr. Donahue: 
Q. "'\Vhat did you do with him. 
A. I took him down in the bath room and cleaned his face 

and put some sticking plaster on it. 
Q. What time did this occur. 
A. About five o'clock. 
Q. Did he go to word the next morning. 

A. Yes. 

By .Mr. Gould: 
Q. What had the hoy been doing. 
A. He was saucy while standing on the line. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. The same hoy says, "Hillman asked Mr. Owen for 

something to eat yesterday, and he took his name for it and 
made him meditate." What about that. 

A. He asked me for some more food in a very ungraceful 
and ungentlemanly way, and purposely, too. He spoke 
without permission, too. A boy should raise his hand, and I 
or the bread boy attends to him, and he asked without per-

• mission simply for the amusement of the others. 
Q. Did it ca11se amusement. 
A. It did. There was a laughing sensation. 
Q. When a boy wants more food what does he do. 
A. Raises his hand. 
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Q. Does every hoy know that. 
A. He does. 
Q. Is Hillman a loud voiced boy. 
A. He is. 
Q. Has he an uncouth way of expressing himself. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Does he put on a still more uncouth way in order to. 

excite merriment. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did he do that at this time. 
A. He did. 
Q. What did you do. 
A. I reported him upon a blank to Mr. Farrington. 
Q. Louis Seguin testifies that he was touching his toes~ and! 

was tired, and asked to be allowed to go to work, and Mr .. 
Owen struck him. Wlrnt have you to say to that. 

it. 

A. I say it is false. 
Q. Have you ever struck a boy over the face. 
A. No, sir, with one exception. I did not strike this boy~. 
Q. Do you recollect the inddent referred to; if so describe· 

A. He waH standing on the platform with his fingers on his. 
toes, and I told him he hadn't stood there l~mg enough. He 
was resting with his hands on the floor. Eich boy is expectedi 
to stand there fifteen minutes and not over that. l..,req_uently· 
they think they have been there fifteen minutes when they 
haven't been there five. I always know what fane I put 
them there, and what time they are going to get up. I didn~t 
strike the boy at a11. 

By Mr. Little : 
Q. If there was no truth in the statement why do you. 

recollect it. 
A. I never stood that boy up but a very few times. He· • 

is a boy I never punished in that way but a very few times. .. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Did you strike him anywhere. 
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A. I did not. 
Q. Did you lay your hand on him. 
A. I did not. He is a boy that usually stands wel I m 

that position. 
Q. What do you mean by that. 
A. I mean he stands right there and doesn't keep hitching 

round. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
(l He says he saw you strike Charley Bartlett over the 

face. Do you remember that. 
A. Yes. Charley Bartlett was standing with his fingers 

on his toes for disorder in the shop, and didn't stand well 
and tvas saucy and impudent, and asked questions that he no 
need to and knew I could not grant, . and I was irritated by 
perhaps a dozen more boys wanting something at the same 
time, and I gave him a slight cuff acrm;s the face with the fllat 
of my hand. I should not have struck the hoy if I had 
realized what I was doing. 

Q. Do you know whether the superintendent became 
acquainted with that affair. 

A. He did. 
Q. Did he speak to you about it. 
A. He did. 
Q. What did he say. 
A. He charged me most e°'1phatically that I rnuf-t never 

allow myself to do anything of that kind again. He said I 
must not touch a boy or lay my hands on him. 

Q. Did you think he meant what he said. 
A. I did. I think he always means what he says. 
(l, Do you always do as he tells you. 
A. He prohably knows what my position is a good denl 

better than many others. Perhaps these gentlemen do not 
know or understand how nervous a man will get with sevent,r­
fi.ve or eighty boys under him and all the temptations I have 
to undergo. 

Q. The witness says he used a strap about eighteen inches 
long, that he kept in his desk, and used it only to whip the 
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boys ·with. Did you use a strap when you struck Charley 
Bartlett. 

A. I did not. 
Q. What did you use. 
A. My hand; I am as positive of that as I am of my life. 
Q. How long ago did this take place. 
A. Within two months. 
Q. What do you know about the strap. 
A. I did have a stmp that was given me by Mr. Freese. 

It is a pliable strap about Bixteen inches long and one and 
one-quarter inches wide. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Such as barbers use. 
A. Yes; it is thicker than they use. 
[The strap is produced and found to be seventeen inches 

in length, one and one-half inches in width and three-six­
teenths of an inch thick. J 

Q. Is that the strap you used. 
A. That is the strap spoken of; the strap I have used m 

the shop. 
Q. Didn't you say you had used it. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Did the superintendent know you had it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did he say. 
A. He told me not to use it. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. Did the superintendent tell you that the first time he 

knew you had it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. The same witness says he saw you strike Gillen; 

that Gillen was in the tower at the time. Do you know any­
thing about that. 

A. Yes. 
Q. State it. 
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A. I was going into the tower after some cane and Gillen 
came in after some and he kept complmning to me about the 
cane being poor and talking saucy and blaming me about it, 
and I took hold of him and shook him some and asked him 
if he was ready to keep still complaining to me about the 
cane and he said he was and I let him up and gave him a 
bunch of cane and he went to his bench quietly. I did not 
strike him. 

Q. George Pendleton testifies that you struck him in the 
face, in the chair shop. Did you do that. 

A. I did not. 
Q. Are you positive in regard to it. 
A. I am. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Did you ever strike George Pendleton in the shop. 
A. I never struck him in or out of the shop. 

By Mr. :Farrington: 
Q. Did you ever tell Pend le ton that the trustees stopped 

the boys going without food. 
A. I never did; the boys told me about it. 
Q. You don't know how they found out about it. 
A. No. 
Q. Smith says he has seen Mr. Owen slat boys around the 

table. Have you ever slat any boys around in the dining 
room. 

A. I never allowed myself to do anything of the kind. 
Q. vVas there any other table except in the dining room 

that Smith could refer to. 
A. No. 
Q. Is Smith in your shop. 

A. No, sir; he has been iu the third class shop. 

Q. Galley says you threw him: about and cut his lips be­
cause he offered you a brass nut. 

A. He came up to me and in an insulting manner asked if 
I didn't want one of his nuts and presented a brass nut in 
the hollow of his hand. I took the boy and gave him a 
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shaking and stood him on the line and made him touch his 
toes, and while shaking him h~ bit his lip. I didn't throw 
him against the gate but I did shake him and he bit his lip. 

Q. How long did you keep him with his fingers to his 
toes. 

A. Less than fifteen minutes, for the recess was only fif­
teen minutes, and this was during recess. 

Q. Jackson says he has been knocked round and that 
you struck him in the face. 

A. That is absolutely false. 

By Mr. Ha8kell : 
Q. Did you ever strike him with the strap. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Did you strike him a week ago. 
A. No, sir. 

[The stenographer reads the testimony of Jackson. J 
By Mr. Albion Little. 

Q. Do you recall the circumstances that he alludes to. 
A. Yes; he came to me and ·wanted to go to the water 

closet a few minutes before the boys passed out, and I told 
him to go to his bench and wait. I did not strike him. 

Q. Did you use the strap. 
A. No, sir; the strap has not been used for three months 

except to strap knives on. 

By Mr. Donahue : 
Q. Did you get the strap to strap knives on. 
A. I didn't have any idea about it. Mr. Freese thought it 

would be a fine thing to keep the boys away from the desk 
and I used it so a few times, hut I didn't use it after Mr. 
Farrington spoke to me about it. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. The witness says yon struck him with your hand. 

A. I deny it. 
Q. He says Mr. Owen makes boys touch their toes half au 

hour for asking to go to the water closet. 
A., That is false. 
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Q. Explain to the comrmss10ners how you are situatEid 
about letting boys go to the w:iter closet. 

A. I have from forty to seventy-five boys, and at ten min­
utes of seven they have a chance to use the closet before they 
pass into the shop, where they remain till nine, and then they 
have the privilege of using the closet again. If it becomes 
necessary for a boy to use the closet between that time, I 
grant the request and take the risk of unlocking the gate and 
leaving the shop, which I have to do. 

Q. You have to be away from the shop long enough to go 
down the steps and go to the gate which opens mto the yard. 

A. Yes; I have to do that every time I let a boy go to the 
closet, other than at the regular time. 

Q. Are there certain boys that ask more frequently than 
others. 

A. There are. 
Q. Do you consider their habits, when a boy asks you. 
A. I do. 
Q. If you refuse a boy, is it because you think you are 

reasonable and right. 
A. I consider that it is unnecessary. I know that certain 

boys are obliged to go oftener than others. I always deter-­
mine how long they must wait before I decide. 

By Mr. Donahue: 

Q. Have you seen the statement I made in reference to 
yom trouble with the Doyle boy. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Was it correct or not. 
A. It was not correct, fully. 
Q. State the inaccuracies. 
A. In one paper it was stated that you said you were an eye 

witness. You came into the shop, as I remember, soon after it 
occurred, but I think before I had done talking with the boy, 
and if I understand my position, I was not in a fighting atti­
tude. 

[The stenographer reads to the witness the testim~ny of 
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Mr. Donahue, in regard to the trouble between the witness 
and the Doyle boy. J 

Q. Is that correct or not. 
. A. I do not understand myself to he in a fighting attitude. 
I was calmly asking Dc)yle if he would go to his bench and 
work. 

Q. Did I sny tmything to you about your treatment of the 
boys and the right you had to punish them. 

A. You did. 
Q. What did I say. 
A. You told me I had no right to lay a hand on any boy. 
Q. What reply did you make. 
A. I told you I had tried to adhere to that. 
Q. You have heard my statement that yon knew you ex­

ceeded your authority and were willing to take the conse­
quences of it. Do you recollect the statement. 

A. I do. 
Q. You made that statement. 
A. I did. 

Adjourned until Saturday, Oct. 28th, at 3 P. M. 
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SATURDAY, OCTOBER 28, 1882-3 o'clock P. M. 

Met at the Reform School pursuant to adjournment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell. 

Mr. ·Farrington: 
I should like to inquire of the commissioners whether I mn 

considered here the party on trial, occupying the place of a 
d~fendant, and the witnesses testifying before the commission 
a.re considered witnesses either for or against the superinten­
dent in this case. 

Mr. Fox: 
I do not consider it so at all. I do not consider anybody 

on trial. We are here simply to investigate the facts of the 
management of the school as to the treatment of the boys. 
'\Ve have n right to call anybody as a witness that we see fit 
to call, and while we cannot compel their dton<l:rnce, at the 
same time if they do come they must answer such questions 
as are put to them. I do not consider that there is any 
defendant. 

Mr. Gould: 
That is my idea of it exactly. 

Mr. Haskell: 
My views of the object and purposes of the conumssrnn 

are that we are to inform ourselves by semi-judicial public 
investigation of the treatment of the boys in this reform 
school, and in order to do that we are to call, and it is our 
duty to call, such witnesses as will give us any light, and if 
the officers of the institution can directly or indirectly, by 
their own testimony or by calling witnesses give us any light 
it is their duty to do so. I do not understand that this is 
an investigation against any particular person as defendant, 
but simply to ascertain the condition and management of the 
school. 
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Mr. Farrington: 

Then I am to understand that what I may do in bringing 

forward witnesses, whether they arc questioned by myself or 

by the commissioners, they are not to be considered witnesses 

in my behalf, but that I am simply doing what I can to aid 

the commissioners in their investigation. 

Mr. Fox: 

I do not understand that you bring forward any testimony 

in your behalf at all. I understand that we ask for all the 

· testimony and to give us further light or to make matten, plain 

you have the right to put quch qustions as you may see fit. 

Mr. Gould: 

That is as I understand it, and liave all the way through 

the investigation. 

Mr. Haslrnll: 

In regard to that my views are these: \Vhile we are in 

search of the trnth we say to Mr. Farrington,~~ Have yon any 

statemenb to make yourself, or can you produce any ·witness 

which will lead us to a full understanding of the trnth. If 
you can yon have permission so to do and we take it as a 

part of the examination and it goes upon the record. 

Horace F. Willey, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. What position do you hold. 
A. Third class chair shop officer. 

Q. How long have you been here. 
A. I came here the 19th of September, 1882. 

Q. ·where are you from. 

A. Cherryfield, ,v ashington county. 

Q. Have you, at any time while you have been here as an 

officer, struck any of the boys. 

A. Yes. 

Q. What boy. 

A. One boy by the name of Gillen, in the the dining room. 

Q. How did you strike him. 

A. With the palm of my hand. 
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Q. "\\'hat part of his person. 

J\.. Side of his head. 

Q. vVby did you strike him. 
A. I called him out from the first class table and told him 

I wanted to speak to him after the other boys passed out, and 

he attacked me without further notice. 

Q. How did he attal'k you. 

A. By clinching me around the waist, trying to throw me 

down and trying to bite me. 

Q. How large a boy is he and what is his weight. 

A. I should think something like one hundred and twenty­

five pounds. I don't know. 

Q. "\Vns Mr. Farrington there at the time. 

A. He was at the time I struck the hoy. I don't know 

whether he saw me. 

Q. Is that contrary to the rules and regulations, for an 

officer to strike a boy. 

A. Yes, sir; an officer is not allowed to strike a boy. 
Q. Then you violated the rule. 

A. I did in that case, but self-defence is the first law and 

I was defending myself, and I handed the boy over to Mr. 
Farrington for chastisement. 

Q. Did you hurt the hoy when you st~uck him. 
A. He says I did not, and I don't think I did. 
Q. Did you knock him over. 

A. No, sir; I couldn't very well for he had his arms around 

me, and when I struck him his head was against my brea.:5t 
trying to bite me. 

Q. You look upon that as self-defence. 

A. I do. 

Q. Do you know what was done with the boy after that. 
A. He was locked up. 

Q. For how long a time. 

A. I can't tell, for I don't know. He was out the next 

morning. 

Q. Have you struck any of the other boys. 
A. No, sir; I have not. 
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Q. Did you ever in any way touch Pendergrass. 
A. No, sir; I never laid a hand on him or punished him in 

any way except to stand him on the line. 
Q. He says you struck him in the face in the dining room 

for pushing the table. 
A. That is a mistake; you have reference to Gillen. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Is this occurrence of shoving the table the time of the 

attack. 
A. Yes, sir. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have you had any trouble with any of the other boys. 
A. Yes; I had some trouble with Galley. 
Q. Had any trouble with James Smith. 
A. No. sir; I have not. The day I had the trouble with 

Galley the boys had got in the habit of going out in the hall 
to get chairs and as the chair boy could get them I positively 
forbid their going out; but Galley went out and began to 
make a rumpus, and I went out and took him by the arm aud 
led him iuto his bench and went to my desk. He began to 
sauce me and I went up to his bench and asked him if he 
was going to behave himself, and he said, "No, sir." I took 
him by the neck with the intention of standing him with his 
fingers on his toes. He slid down by the side of the wall 
behind his bench and of course I let go of him. I told µim 
to get up and go out into the floor, and he did so, and I stood 
him there with his fingers on his toes some twenty minutes. 
That is the boy that said I shook him until he fainted. 

Q. Didn't you have your hand on his throat. 
A. I did on the side of his neck ; I didn't have my hand 

on his throat. 
Q. Did you leave any marks on his neck. 
A. I did not. 
Q. Did you look to see. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you know whether he was anyway faint. 
A. I do not. 

• 
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Q. Did he show any signs of it. 
A. No, sir; not in my eye. 
Q. How soon did he get up from the floor. 
A. Just as soon as I spoke to him; immediately after he 

went down. 
Q. In fulling did he strike his head against nnything. 
A. I don't know. He claims that I stepped on his finger 1, 

which I didn't do. 
Q. Don't you know that that boy was somewhat uncon-• 

scions. 
A. No, sir; not at all. 
Q. When he got up did he have his entire senses. 
A. He certainly did or he would not have minded me. 

He got up immediately and came out in the floor and stoorl 
twenty minutes ·with his fingers on his toes. 

Q. Was your attention called to his condition by any of 
the other boys. 

A. No, sir, it was not. 
Q. Do you know that the boy complained after that to any 

officer of the institution. 
A. I do not. 
Q. Do you know whether he was punished by other officers 

at that time. 
A. I think not, because I did not report him to the super­

intendent; 
Q. Did you see him at supper that night. 
A. I did. 

By Mr. Gould. 
Q. Why didn't you report him to the superintendent. 
A. Because he told me to manage all such trifling affairs 

as I could, and there was nothing about that that I thought 
needed reporting. 

Q. By the rules you are not allowed to take hold of a boy. 
A. I know it now; but I didn't know it at the time. 
Q,. How long had you been here before you knew the rules. 
A. Some two weeks. 
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Q. Had not the rules and regulations been made known 
to you. 

A. Yes; I had some rules in my desk made by Mr. Far­
rington and the trustees in regard to yard duties, but I think 
it was something like. a fortnight, perhaps less, before Mr. 
Farrington gave me the trustees, by-laws and I have gone by 
those as near as possible since. 

Q. One of these rules and regulations is that an officer 
shall not strike a hoy. 

A. Yes. 
Q. How many times have you read them. 
A. I have read them over twice and refer to them most 

every day. 
Q. Should you have reported this first offence to Mr. 

Farrington had he not been present. 
A. I certainly should, but he was present and I reported 

him on a blank. 
Q. Was that a more aggravated offence than the last one. 
A. It was. I don't think I hurt either boy. 
Q. Have you known of any severe punishments by the 

officers upon the boys. 
A. Nothing only what is allowed them to do. 
Q. ~ver seen them strike a boy. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Any kicking. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Are you in the yards at recess. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. All the time. 
A. I go into the yard in the morning at ten minutes of 

seven and hold the third class until seven o'clock; then at 
five minutes past nine and hold them until twenty minutes 
past nine. At noon I take them in the yard at twenty min­
utes past twelve and hold them until ten minutes of one. I 
have charge of both yards then. 

Q. Are those the onl) two cases in which you have laid 
your hand on the person of any boy. 
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A. Yes; I have put my hands on a boy's shoulder and led 
him into the hall several times. but I never used any vio­
lence to my recollection. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you know whether Galley's person was examined 

after the fall on the floor. 
A. I do not. 
Q. You do not know whether his body showed any signs 

of striking the floor or the desk or anything. 
A. No; when the boy went down, he was trying to get 

away from me. He didn't fall down; he slid down by the 
side of the wall and I told him to get np and he got up. 

Q. What was between you. 
A. The chair stand, and he was next to the wall and I was 

on the other side of the bench. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What could he have struck, if he had fallen. 
A. I don't know anything, unless he struck his shoulder 

against the standard of the bench, and I don't see how he 
could do that. I don't see how I could push him down, 
when I was on one side of the bench and he on tlw other. 

[The stenographer reads the testimony of Galley. J 
Q. What do you say to that. 
A. I did not take the boy by the ear; I merely took him 

by the arm and took him to his bench anJ went to my own 
desk, and as soon as I turned around, he began to sauce me, 
and I went up to his bench and asked him if he was going to 
stop and he said no, and then I did as I told you. 

Q. In what class was Galley. 
A. Third class. 
Q. What is the general character of the boy. 
A. He seems to be a very good boy, except he is very 

mischievous; he is all the time in some kind of mischief and 
plnguing the other boys. There doesn't seem to be anythrng 
very bad about him, but he is continually plaguing other 
boys in the shop. 
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By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Do you say when you first came here you didn't know 

that the officers were not allowed to lay their hands on the 
boys. 

A. I do. 
Q. How long was it before you knew that they had not 

that right. 
A. It was not but a few days. 
Q. Did you understand tha,t while the rule in terms said 

you were not to lay hands upon boys yet in minor cases you 
were at liberty to do it. 

A. I understood in minor cases I should punish them as 
all other officers did, hy standing them on a line, or with 
their fingers on their toes, or send them to the meditation 
class. 

Q. Did you know of the treatment of the boys by Mr. 
Freese. 

A. No, sir; he went away before I came here. 
Q. Are you ever in Mr. Owen's room. 
A. I have only been in twice since he has been here, while 

the boys were_ at work in the shop. 
Q. Do your duties call you where you see him while in 

charge of the boys in the yard. 
A. Yes, in the yard. 
Q. Have you seen the papers and read the testimony of 

the boys. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Can you tell why it is the boys make so much more 

complaint of the treatment they receive from Mr. Owen than 
from the other officers. 

A. I think I can. They want to give Mr. Owen the 
'~G. B." as they call it, and that is what they are up to. 

Q. Why. 
A. They do not like him as an officer, I believe. 
Q. Why do they not like him. 
A. I don't know. 

21 
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Q. Is he severe with them. 
A. No) sir; he is not. In what I have seen he has been 

very kind and eonsiderate, and as a general thing he has not 

been strict enough. 
(l Isn't it a fact that the boys have a prejudice against 

him. 
A. They do. 

Q. More than any other officer in the school. 

A. :More than any other officer I know about. 

Q. Is the prejudice univen,al. 

A. Yes: the boys I have charge of have the same preju-­

dice against Mr. Owen. 

By Mr. Donahue: 
Q. Do you hear that same talk against the other teacherM 

and officers. 

A. Yes. 

Q. 'f,o the same extent as against l\fr. Owen. 

A. No, not so much. No officer has charge of the boys so 
much :is Mr. Owen does. 

Q. What boys does Mr. Owen have charge of. 

A. First and second class. 
Q. "\Vhich boys are the hardest to manage. 
A. The third clas8 are supposed to be, but as a general 

thing they behave better in the shop. 
Q. Why. 

A. I can't say. 

(l. What is the average age of boys in your shop. 

A. I can't ~my. 

Q. What is the average weight. 
A. I can't tell you that. For a guess I shouldn't say they 

would average more than ninety or a hundred pounds. I 
don't know as they would as much as that. 

Q. How does Galley average. 

A. He is a little larger than the average. I have one boy 

that will weigh 130 and another that will weigh 135. 
Q. Are they, mentally, stupid or bright. 
A. One of them is a bright boy and the other is not. 
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Q. VVhy do they stay in the third class. 
A. For had behavior. 
Q. Vicious or mischievous. 
A. l\fo;chicvou8, what I have seen of them. 
Q. In what class are the boys with the worst dispositions. 

A. I think I have some of them in the third class. 

Q. Are those boys bright and intelligent. 

A. Some of them are and some are not. When I came 

here there were twenty-five boys in the third class. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. I understand you that the boys have told you enough 

to satisfy you that they want to give Mr. Owen the gr:mcl 
bounce. 

A. That is so. 

(i. What boys have told you that? Name them. 

A. I have heard more than half of the boys say it-Mc .. -
Govern, Patterson, Louis Nichols, and a great many others .. 
lu the bath room to-day, Nichols came up to Mr. Owen and 
~ays, ,i "Te have given you the i G. B.' havent we." 

Q. Did yon have any talk with Nichols. 
A. I made him shorten his talk, and told him if I heard· 

anything more I should report him. 
Q. Ha<l Nichols said nnything previous to this, tlrn.t satis--

ficd you that he wanted 1'fr. Owen to have the grand hmmce. 
A. No, sir; hut he has said it among the other boys. 
Q. What have you heard him say. 
A. I heard him say several times, •i We are going to. give 

Mr. Owen the G. B." 
Q. Did he assign any reason. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Did he speak of any ill treatment by him. 

A. No, sir ; the boys say he gives them too many de-

merits. 
Q. \Vho says that. 

A. The boys in general. 
Q. ·what are their names. 

A. Sprague and J. Smith. 
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Q. Have you heard McGovern assign any reason. 

A. No. sir. 
Q. Have all these G. B. conversations been since the 

investigation begun. 

A. Yes; since the boys were called in. 

Q. Nothing before that. 

A. I have heard them talk about their dislike for Mr. 

Owen previous to the investigntion, but did not hear them 

say they were going to give him the G. B. 
Q. Did they assign any reason for disliking him. 

A. Yes; I have heard them say he gave them too many 

demerits, and took their names at the supper table for nothing-. 

Q. Haven't you also heard some of the boys say that Mr. 

Owen illtreated them. 

A. No, sir; I never heard a boy say that Mr. Owen ill­

treated him in any way. 

By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Did you ever hear them say that he punished them. 
A. No ; except to stand them on the line. 
Q. How long have you known him to keep a boy in the 

yard on a line. 

A. During one recess. 
Q. Never known him to keep a boy longer than that. 

A. Perhaps he has, but not to my knowledge. I don't 

pretend to look into his affairs at all. 

Q. Have you seen boys continually, day after day and re­
cess after recess, kept on the line by Mr. Owen? I mean th(' 
same boy. 

A. No, sir; I have not. I am only in his yard occn~ionally 

when I go to the gate and look into his yard. 

By Mr. Farrington: 

Q. Is there any rule of this institution made by the trns­
tees which forbids an officer to touch u hoy. 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Have you read the rules made for the officers by the 
trustees. 
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A. I have read them, but I can't exactly recollect what it 
says in the by- laws about that. We are not allowed to use 
violence on a boy; but \Vhcn a boy behaves badly we are to 
report him to the Super. 

Q. Is that a rule of the superintendent or is it in the trus­
tees' rules. 

A. I think it is in the trustees' rules. I haven't been here 
but a little while. 

Q. On page !), § 8, occurs this, "No person shall inflict 
any corporal punishment upon any boy without direction 
from the superintendent except as hereinbefore authorized." 
vVhat is your understanding of that rule. 

A. I understand that no officer is allowed to use violence 
on the boys without the direction of the superintendent. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Do you understand that rule includes standing them 

with their fingers on their toes. 
A. No; I don't call that corporal punishment. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. I suppose you would call that discipline rather than 

punishment. 
A. Yes, sir. 

By Mr. Donahue : 
Q. How docs Mr. Owen show his kindness. 
A. Talking to them in a kind manner and telling them 

what they ought to do and what they ought not to do. 
Q. Have you heard him express himself to the boys in that 

way. 
A. I have. 
Q. What have you heard him say. 
A. I can't remember; but when he caught a boy doing 

something he ought not to in the yard he would tell him he 
ought not to :1nd then he would stand him on the line and 
the boy would sauce him. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you remember who he said that to. 
A. No, sir. 
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By Mr. Haskell: 

Q. Has the state of things got so in the first and second 

classes that it is harder for Mr. Owen to govem the classes 

than_ it would bo for a new man or for yourself. 

A. I don't know about that; but I pity the next man that 

takes his place. It has got no\v where the boys are running 

things. 

Q. Have you had any difficulty with your class. 

A. I have and they make their __ brags ahout it. 
Q. What do they say. 

A. If I punish a boy in any way, tell him to stand on a 

line, they say they will tell the trustees about it and give me 
the G. B. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. What boy has said that. 

A. A boy by the name of Grace said it yesterday. 

Q. Did you pnnish him for it. 

A. I stood him on the line. 

Q. Did you punish him by placing his fingers on his toes. 

A. No, sir; I stood him on the line for fifteen minutes. 

By Mr. Donahue: 

Q. Have you made a rPcord of that punishment. 

A. No, sir; we don't make a record of a punishment of 

standing a boy on the line. 

Q. vVhat is the length of time you have stood a hoy with 

his fingers on his toes. 

A. About twenty minutes. If a boy stood up straight 

every time my back wae turned I left him there longer. I 
think I have had a hoy down forty minutes, but he wasn't 

standing with his fingers on his toes more than half of the 

time. 

By Mr. Farrington: 

Q. Did you ever have a boy with his fingers on his tors 

forty minutes. 

A. No, sir; not over twenty minuteR. 
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Q. Did you ever hear a boy ask to change his position by 
putting his fingers on his toes. 

A. I have in the meditation class. 

By Mr. Haskell : 

Q. vVlrnt is the position of the arms in the class in medi­
tation. 

A. Folded for the first half an hour, and for the next half 
hour with the hands behind them. 

Q. Are they allowed to stand first on one foot and then on 
the other. 

A. Both feet. 

Q. They are required to stand at "attention." 

A. Yes; but of course they don't do it all the time. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. Do you know of any officer going armed since you 

have been here. 

A. No. 
Q. Ever know of their having brass knuckles. 
A. No, sir. 

Q. Or a revolver. 
A. No, sir; not since 1 have been here. I have known 

officers to use revolvers outside, down on the fiirm, an<l l 
have used one myself. 

Q. Is it one you have about you in the huil<ling. 
A. No, sir; I keep it in my trunk in my room. 

Q. It is kept now here else. 
A. No, sir. I take it out to shoot at a mark, and Mr. 

Rounds and Dearborn do the same. 

By Mr. Donahue : 

Q. Do you have any strap. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you have any ruler. 

A. Yes. 
Q. To punish the boys. 
A. No, sir. There is a ruler on my desk, and M_r. Far­

rington comes in and uses it occasionally. 

• 



• 

. ( 328 ) 

·E. P. 'Wentworth, recalled, testified: 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. When the bCJys are in the cells how often is the vessel 

emptied. 
A. Every morning. 
(l Are they allowed outside of th<" walls of the cell for 

the necessities of nature or are they to use the vessel. 

A. They use the vessel in the cell. 
Q. Any covers to the vessel. 

A. No. 
Q. Arc they filled with water. 
A. No; hut I think there is often water left in them. 
Q. While boys are confined in the cells is it true that they 

are not furnished with water and towels for the purpose of 
washing. 

A. They are not. 

Q. 'While they are there all they have for food is bread and 

water. 
A. It is; hut they are supplied with all the water they 

need to drink and often some extra. 
Q. Are there any incidents that have occurred since Mr. 

Farrington has been here, or any changes in the discipline, of 
which the commissioners have not been informed, which will 
tend to give us a more fu 11 understanding of the case, espe­
cially in regard to the discipline and punishments. 

A. I think not. 
Q. Has this system of punishment by confinement in the 

cells, by standing boys with their fingers on their toes, and 
by feruling, ever been a subject of discussion and considera-­

tion, to your knowledge, by the trustees or by the superin-­
tcndent. 

A. Yes; often. 

Q. From your experience what effect do such punishments 
have upon the boys. 

A. As a rule they have an excellent effect. 
Q. Are you able to say whether certainty of punishment 

is more efficient than severity. 
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A. I think it is. 

Q. In your opinion would it be possible to govern the 

school without the methods of punishment now in force. 

A. Not as at present organized. 

Q. What do you mean by that. 

A. I think that if a portwn of the boys was under the 

control of one mun all the time he could get along with them 

with very little punishment. 

Q. How many such boys are there in this institution out 
of the 109. 

A. That is a difficult question to answer. I think that 

thirty-five boys might be picked out, and if put in charge of 

a man and woman, such as might be procured for a sufficient 

salary, I think good order could be obtained with but little 

punishment. I believe, however, that necessarily there must 

he punishment of some kind. 

Q. ·would those ptmishments be anything like the severity 

of those now practiced here in the school. 

A. I think there would be cases of punishment as severe as 

any praeticed in this school, but they would not be very fre­

quent. If we took thirty boys out of the institution and put 

them under the care and management of a man and woman, 
some of the boys would, no doubt, have to be punished 

occasionally quite severely, or else returned to the school or 

some other place for diseipline. 

Q. vVould it he possible to have these thirty boys in charge 

of a man and womna without having them confined within 

prison limits. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Can you tell me the average age of the boys in the 

school. 

A. I should think the average age might be fourteen years. 

Q. Is it a faet that the third class is comprised largely of 

the smaller boys in the school. 
A. There are ·quite a number of small boys in that class. 

Q. Is it on account of the rigor of the discipline that keeps 

them there. 
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A. ·No, sir; it is mainly because they are bad boys. In 

fact that is the reason. 

Q. Is it not a fact that the first class is composed mostly 

of the larger boys in the school. 

A. :Most of the large boys are in the first class. 

(l, Have you known since Mr. Farrington has been here 

of any other severe punishment being inflicted hesidcs whip­

ping and confinement in the cells or tower. 

A. I have not. 

Q. Something has been said about irons for the feet of 

boys. Tell us what you know about that and how they have 

been used? "\Vhat was the occasion for their use. 

A. There were two boys here who were very bad boys-­

Elbridge Griffin, who weighed about 160 pounds and Stephen 

Travers who ·weighed perhaps 140. They were desperate 

enough, I think, to have committed almost any crime. They 

were engaged in a conspiracy to escape or to attack officers 

the most of the time after :Mr. Farrington came here. On 

one occasion they broke out of the third class chair shop 
when the officer was standing in the lrn11 nnd nrn across the 
field. They were captured after a little while and brought 

back, and in order to prevent their escaping ngain an iron 

ring was put around the leg of each of those two boys. 

Q. vY ere the rings fastened together. 
A. No; the boys ,vere sepnrate. The 1fog was made in 

two parts nnd fitted around the ankle. Each hoy had a ring 
around one leg. 

Q. How large was that ring. 

A. I should think it might have been three or four inches 

wide. It is an iron band and is perhaps an inch an a half 

thick. 

Q. How close was it upon the leg. 

A. It left room enough to play up and down upon the leg. 

Q. Over the ankle. 

A. I don't know but that it might come clown over the 

ankle. 
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Q. Upon what did it rest. 

A. There was a steel arr:mgtHnent that went under it and 

was fastened to the heel of the shoo so that the weight of the 
iron came upon that. · 

Q. How was the ring fastened. 

A. It was in two parts ·with set screws so arranged that 

the two parts could be scmwed together. 

Q. ,vas the iron worn over the clothing. 

A. Under the pants and over the stocking. 

Q. How much did the thing weigh. 

A. I am unable to state the weight of it. 

Q. Give your judgment. 

A. I)erhaps it weighed ten pounds. 
Q. Is there one in existence about the institution now. 

A. I think there is. 

Q. How long did these boys wear it. 
A. I nm unable to tell you; but several months. 

Q. Do you mean more than two months. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is the time they wore it a matter of record. 

A. No, sir; it is not. They were not put on for punish­

ment, lmt to keep the boys from running away. 
Q. vVere they allowed outside of the yard. 
A. No, sir; hut boys of that charaeter might nevertheless 

get away, and they were put on simply to keep them from 
running away. 

Q. How many months do you think they may have worn 

them. 
A. I should think perhaps four months. 

By Mr. Gould. 

Q. Did they wear them clay and night. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Wear them to bed. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Upon one leg pnly. 

A. Yes. 
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By l\fr. Fox: 

Q. Diel they take the stocking off at night. 

[One of the irons and the stump that supports it was here 

brought in and exhibited to the commissioners. Its weight 

is eleven pounds. J 
ci. ,vhat did the other one weigh. 

A. I believe eight poun<ls. 

Q. How long have these irons been here. 

A. I believe less than two years and a half. 

Q. W'ho purchased them. 

A. Mr. Farrington. 

Q. Do yon know where they are manufactured, or any­
thing about the origin of them. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Are the8e the only irons that you have knowu the boys 

to wear about here. 

A. The only ones I remember of having seen. The other 

one the boy ran away with, and it has never been brought 

back. 

Q. Do you know what the practical effect of we~ring tlmt 

was; whether it chafed or injured the leg. 

A. It did not. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. \Y ere any other boys compelled to wear that except 

Travers and Griffin. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Which of the two ran away. 

A. Travers. 

Q. \Vhat became of the other boy. 

A. He was delivered to tlie court for conspiracy to burn 

the building. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. vYas punishment of this kind ever inflicted on the boys 
before 2\fr. Farrington came here. 

A. No, sir. 
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By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. "r as this put on for a punishment. 
A. I did not understand that it wa~ put on for punishment, 

but simply to enable us to keep the two boys. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Was Griffin delivered to the authorities when he had 

this on his leg. 
A. It was taken off before he was carried to the city. 
Q. Have you been present at the sessions of the trustees. 
A. I have at some of them. 

Q. Did you go about the building with the trustee at his 

monthly visit. 
A. I frequently do. 
Q. Who else is present. 
A. Usually no one but me and Mr. Farrington. 

Q. At such time have you and Mr. Farrington brought to 

the notice of the trustees the condition of the boys. 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. And the punishments they have received for the offences 

committed. 

A. Yes. 
Q. And have you spoken, yourself, of the severity of the 

. punishments at any time. 
A. I have been questioned in reference to the punishments 

and spoken of them. 
Q. Have you, at any of these meetings, been asked by 

the trustees in relation to the condition of the school and 
whether you had any recommendations to make. 

A. Yes, I don't know as I have ever been asked if I had 
any recommendations to make. 

Q. If there was anything you thought was for the benefit 
or improvement of the school you would have felt free to 

make it would you. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did you make any suggestionR that you thought would 

lead to an improvement of the school. 



( 334) 

A. In my own department, ·where I had special charge, I 
tried to improve without baying very much to anybody about 
it. I don't know that I have tnJkcd with the trustees very 
much. I have talked with Mr. Donahue considerably, with 

reference to the school. 
Q. Have you talked with the trustees in relation to the 

severity of punishments and the offences con1mitted. 

A. Only in a general way. 
Q. Have you ever, to the trustees, objected to these pun-

ishments. 
A. I have not. 
Q. Have you ever said they were too severe. 
A. No. 
Q. Are any of the punishments mentioned by the boys too 

severe. 

Mr. Haskell : 
I do not think he should be required to express an opinion. 

I can see that if I was in his place it might be very embar­
rassing for me to express an opinion as to the management 
of my superior officer. If we have the facts it is for the 
commissioners to determine whether or not the punishments 
are too severe. Of course he can answer if he pleases, but I do 
not think he should be required to answer if he does not 
choose to. 

Q. You have heard Mr. Haskell's remarks and if you 
think that an answer will put you ju an unpleasant position 

you are at liberty to decline to answer the question. I should 

like to know whether you at any time ever expressed to the 
trustees any opinion that a change should he made in the 

severity of the punishments for the offences committed, and 
that they should be ot a more lenient character. 

A. I do not remember that I have ever made any sugges­
tions looking towards a milder discipline except that I have 
constantly and quite urgently recommended the establishment 
of a house near by here and transferring a portion of our 

better boys and keeping them there without walls or bars. 
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Q. Hnve you ever ohjccted to the severity of any of the 

puuishments. 
A. No, sir; I never have to my recollection. 

Q. Are they in your opinion too severe. 

A. I remember one ppnishment I thought was too severe, 

and that was standing a· boy in the dormitory too long. 

·vvhether he stood all night or not I cannot say. 

Q. You refer to Dyer and the other boy. 

A. Yes; I did object to that to Mr. Fanington after it was 
done. I didn't know it was to be done. Mr. Farrington a,nd 

I bilked it all over and he had the same objection that I had. 

He said he would see the watchman and talk with 111111 and 

intimated that it would not occur again. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. vVas that punishment inflicted by the watchman. 

A. It was, and was unauthorized. 

Q. Is that the only punishment in your opinion that has 
been too severe. 

A. I do not recollect of any authorized punishment that I 
think has been too severe. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Have the trustees heen cognizant of these punishments, 

that you are uware of. 
A. I think they have. I know they have the most of 

them. 

Q. Did the trustees know that boys stood up all night. 
A. No; I don't think they knew it. 
Q. Do you think they knew that boys were confined in the 

cells five or six days and nights. 

A. Yes. 
Q. And that others were put in the tower. 

A. I think they did. 

Q. How many of the board. 

A. I should think the whole board new it. They must 

have known it if they examined the punishment book. 

Q. Do you know that they did examine it. 
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A. I have seen them examine it; but how much they examined 

it I don't know. 

By l\f r. Gould : 
Q. How often do the trustees visit the school. 
A. The board meets four times a year, but one of the 

trustees makes a visit every month and frequently we have 
two visits in one month. 

Q. What is this book. 
A. The trustee8' record. t 

Q. What is the object of the book. 
A. To keep an account of the monthly visits of the trus­

tees he1·e. 
Q. Then by this book there has been no visit by the trus­

tees since the first of June. 
Mr. Donahue : 

Dr. Grindle, one of the trustees, who lives at Mr. Dese1t, 
was_ to have made the visit in July. He could not come and 
wrote a letter asking me to make the visit for him. I re­
ceived the letter too late to make the visit and consequently 
no visit was made in July. I mean official visit. I have 
visited the school from two to three times a month. The 
quarterly meeting was held in September. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Can you give us the dates that Travers and Griffin 

left the institution. 

A. I can. Travers escaped July 9, 1881, and Griffin was 
delivered to the court August 3d, 1881. 

Q. vV ere the regulur visits of the trustees, either quarterly 
or monthly, made during the four months prior to the escape 
and remanding of these boys. 

A. I am unable to state positively. There were trustees 
here. 

Q. Did the trustees know of these irons being on the boys. 
A. Some of them knew it. 
Q. Did they object to it. 
A. I never heard any objection. 
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By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Did they see the boys about with the irons on their 

legs. 
A. Some of them did. Mr. Donahue did, and I think 

some of the others, but I cannot state who. 

By Mr. Donahue: 
Q. Didn't they all know it; and has not the clanking of 

the irons about the leg been referred to by the trnstees. 
A. I do not remember about the others, but I do remem­

ber Mr. Donahue. 
Q. Do you know that the trustees went to the dormitory 

on several occasions, and the clanking of the irons on the, 
legs of these boys was referred to. 

A. I am unable to say. 
Q. Did you ever show it to the trustees. 
A. I can't state whether I did or not. Mr. Donahue visit­

ed the school and took considerable interest in the school. 
Q. Are all punishments made a matter of record. 
A. No. All corporal punishments are made a matter of 

record. 
Q. Did you ever tell the trustees that boys were confined1 

in the tower, on bread and water, for six days and nights. 
A. I don't think I ever told them directly. I think I have· 

heard the trustees talk in reference to it. I have seen the 
trustees go to the tower when the boys were in there. 

Q. Did you ever show the trustees arom1.d and have boys, 
confined in the cell without intimating it to them. 

A. I don't know of any such instance. 
Q. "\\T ould yon regard it as your duty to do so. 
A. I should be likely to speak of it as a matter of general'. 

information. 
Q. Why was the iron worn about the foot not made a mat-­

ter of record. 
A. No one suggested that it should be a matter of record, 

und it wasn't done as a punishment. I don't know of any. 
reason why it should be a matter of record .. 

22 
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Q. Do you know whether Dr. Thompson ever referred to the 

punishment slips being kept in that way rather than on the 
book. 

A. He said he wanted the slips copied on the book. 

Q. Do you know that any trustee ever saw that iron be­

fore or examined it. 

A. I cannot state positively. I have no doubt of it. 

Sarah P. Farrington, sworn by Mr. Fox: 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. Are you the daughter of Superintendent Farrington. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How long have you been in the institution. 

A. I began work here in August, 1880. I have written 

out a short statement of my experience here, which I will 

read. It is simply an account of my experience since I came 

here. 

Carne to the Reform School by request of the trustees. 
Began work the first of August, or a little more exactly, on 

,.the evening of July 31st, 1880. Grade, th1rd class .. 

As the boys say, '' I never done nothin' to get here ;" didn't 
,even steal property to the value of thirty cents. Think I 
,_understand the nature of an oath. At any rate I've been to 
Sabbath school ever since I was big enough. As nearly as I 
can rec~ill I've been to four concerts in the city and to church 

several times when I could get some one to take my place 011 

J:t Sunday. The whole work for Sunday is ns hard, and often 

;harder, than the work of the other six days of tho week. The 

,onJytimeJ feel _perfectly free to take an opportunity to <lo mi I 
,.choose is after eight o'clock at night, and then, if the weather is 

cool, I cnnnot set up any length of time, for, since the pres­

.ent superintendent has taken charge the steam is turned off 
the front part, of .the house into the dormitory for the benefit 

of the boys. 

:J have been sick three months from overwork. I have been 

the .on~ offic~1· in .in, ;room with from twenty to a hundred 
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boys, and so far as physical strength or immediate assistance 
was concerned was entirely at their mercy. I was not here 
at the time of the governor's visits. I was taking a vacation. 
I have been in a cell once. Badger, a hoy who had run away, 
came back with a cut hand, and I went up and carried arnica 
and rags to do it up in. I had taught one winter term in a 
district school before coming here. I came here to teach, 
and to those who regard teaching as an old colored woman 
did, who said, "I tell you what, of all the lazy, good for 
nothin' jobs, this here sittin' down in a cheer all day with a 
book in your hand, hearin' children say their lessons is the 
laziest of all," I had an easy task before me. 

I thought I knew something about what it was to work 
before coming here, when I was finishmg my college course, 
at the same time keeping house for myself and two brothers, 
giving music lessons, playing the organ in church and teach­
ing a class in Sabbath school, but concluded I knew nothing 
about work and care and privation after I'd been here two 
months. 

I began my work here full of philanthropic ideas generated 
by stories I had frequently read of young ladies who went 
into highways and hedges and won the hearts of all the street 
ara.bs by kind words, and had conquered bad boys in school 
by inviting them to their homes or talking with them, and 
those boys had grown up honorable and respectable men, 
dating the day of their improvement from the day the young 
ladies had spoken to them. I thought if I can only get the 
good will of these boys, I shall find them easy enough to 
control. I thought I knew something about boys, having 
been brought up in a family with five boys, attended a mixed 
school and a college where nearly all the students were 
young men. 

My experience here has been a series of surprises. I wa8 
told that these boys would lie. I did not appreciate the 
truth of the statement till I had occasion to call some boys 
into the floor for some misdemeanor I had seen with my own 
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C.) es. The hoys came into the floor, hut on their way ont 

gave me the information that they '' hadn't done nothin', " 

whereupon I began to question within myself whether I had 
not been mistaken, though, of course, I said nothing to them 

about it. 
Later I found it necessary to report boys, having been in­

formed that it was against the rules of the institution for me 
to inflict corporal punishment without specrnl authority. I 
wrote out the blank in the prescribed way and handed it to 

the Super. When he got time amid the multiplicity of his 
cares to look up the case he came to me after he had seen the 
boy and asked, "Are you sure that boy was whispering and 
laughing in school?" "Why, yes, sir." ""\Yell, you come 
and see him, he denies it right up and down." I went to 
see him, hut he assumed such a pitiful and abused air and 
asserted his innocence so decidedly that I concluded that I 
couldn't believe my own eyes and senses and that he was 

right. 
vVith my present knowledge of the boys there exists not a 

doubt in my own mind that the boy lied, and that with few 
exceptions any boy here will do the same thing if he thinks 
he can gain a httle advantage by it. I was told that these 
boys would steal, but did not realize the fact until I missed a 

handkerchief from the wash, and it was found in the pos­
session of a boy who worked in the laundry; he had torn out 
my name which was written in one corner and claimed it as 
his own. 

I was told that I should have to look out for articles kept 
in my desk in the school room. I thought I did until I found 

articles missing when I came to lock my desk after school 
which were there when school began. Accordingly I kept 
my desk locked all the time and then missed things which I 
found by examination could be taken from the hack of the 
drawer underneath the table. I could not believe it possible 
that a boy could or would take anything from there when I 
had been in the room, but the fact remained as a proof, no 
doubt some will say, of my inefficiency and inability. All I 
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will say to such is to put themselves 111 my place and then 
see what they think. I soon found that the amount of favor 
with which the officer was regarded by the boys was meas­
ured not by the amount of good the officer taught them or 
tried to teach them, but by the number of demerits she gave 
them and the number of times she reported them. The less 

. there was and the worse she let them act the better they liked 
her. Consequently I found myself regarded with anything 
but love, for I did not beheve it the best way to let the boys 
run the shool room or let them go without trying to teach 
them something. In order to keep them within bounds it 
was absolutely necessary to give demerits and report boys 
and I then wondered what under the sun could be done to 
make those boys learn anything or behave half decent. 

I have been fooled and called uames and sauced until I 
concluded that unless I had the patience of forty Jobs and 
the faith of as many Abrahams I should not be able to ac­
complish any good here. I have thought more than once in 
my desperation that I might just as well let the boys do as they 
chose, I never could learn them anything either in behavior 
or books and I didn't know as it did them any good to try 
for I felt sure they didn't appreciate it, and their friends 
came here and found fault because their boys were not doing 
any better, and always considered the reason to be that such 
an officer was "down on" their boy, never for an instant con­
sidering that the hoy might be at fault. 

I think very likely I may have had some boys punished 
who were not so much to blame as some others, but I am 
sure that every boy whom I have had punished dcsel'ved it 
and my conscience has troubled me only because I feared I 
had been to lenient and that the best good of the boys re­
quired more punishment th:rn I had the heart to ask for 

them. 
For example, a boy in the school room whistles or makes 

a loud noise with his mouth with the deliberate intention 
of disturbing the school. Perhaps it is writing day. I have 
from thirty to forty beginners in writing, nearly ull of whom 
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could not write even their names when they came here and 
the clisturhance occurred in one part of the room while my 
attention \vas occupied in another. Of course whistling is 
out of order in a school room, but the question comes, "How 
is the right hoy to be found out aud punished?" When I 
first came here it wns absolutely necessary for me to let such 
things pass unnoticed, for the boys would not tell me and 
everyone would disown it if nsked, besides I had all I could do 
to contain myself sufficiently to simply call a boy into the 
floor when he wns whisperiug and laughing and carrying on 
in a way that would have got him a whipping in most any 
other school but which written out on a blank would sound very 
tame. It would not do for me to tnlk to them or get pro­
voked and scold. They would delight in that and say, 
''Didn't we get her wild?" 

I have occasionally taken a boy whom I knew deserved :a 

whipping and talked with him nfter school. He would appear 
so penitent and make such good promises for the future that 
I went out of the school room congratulating myself on hav­
iug conquered him with kindness-, and on the prospect of 
having at least one well behaved boy in school. This delu­
sion lasted until school began the next day. I am fully con­
vinced thnt for all the good effect the talking had on the bad boy 
he might just as well lmve been one of the posts in my room. 
I should not have expected any penitence or promises from 
tlrnt, bnt I did from the boy, hut that was all it amounted to. 
I have often reported boys for whom I had done all I could, 
and concluded that patience had ceased to be a virtue so far 
as taking any more from them was concerned, but the super-­
intendent, in his fatherly kindness and long suffering, has 
not whipped them hut still given them a chance to do better. 

I said my experience here had been a series of surprises. 
I was surprised one day, a few days ago, when Willie Pen-• 
dergrass came into my room a little while before school, as 
he usual1y does to put around pen and ink, and said, ' 1 I didn't 
get half enough to eat this noon." I inquired as to what he 
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room for so much as he said he ate, I asked, " Will, what do 
you cull enough?" '' Oh," said he, '1to have my belly full all 
the time." 

There are pleasant things about life at the Reform School. 
It is pleasant to see the improvement in the boys' condition, 
physically, and mentally, and morally. I have seen boys 
who came here clothed 111 rags and covered with dirt, with 
long, uncombed hair, and bearing evidence of neglect and ill­
treatment, provided with clean, whole clothing, washed, well fed 
and well cared for, given a chance to go to school and furnished 
with social entertainments and religious instruction, such as 
they would, in all probability, never have obtained else­
where, who now hid fafr to make respectable men. I have 
also reason to believe that many of the boys at the present 
time appreciate what the school has done and is doing for 
them. The boys with whom I have had to do have constantly 
grown more teachable and shown greater interest in their 
studies, and seem to regard their teu.chers as friends. I have 
less cases to report and less to demerit, and they will many 
of them heed and possibly profit by a "talking to." 

,v e also receive, from time to time, the testimony of par­
ents of the boys who are pleased with the advancement and 
improvement their boys have made. One gentleman who 
came here to see his son, said to me, "I was surprised, very 
much snrprised, to receive a letter from Henry, written by 
himself, and could hardly believe it possible ; for when he 
went to schooi outside of here he never learned to write; he 
wouldn't learn." 

Another man, who came to see his son for the first time 
nfter the boy was brought here, exclaimed, " Why, you've 
got your hair combed, vVillie; who combed it. I don't 
km>w as I ever saw you with it combed before." 

One boy, whom we were told, when we came here, could 
not he taught, did not know enough to learn anything, has 
been taught to make chairs, can read and write his own letter. 
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When officers from other reform schools, strangers to us, 
as two did awhile ago from Deer Isle, and say~~ Why, your 
boys look better than ours do; they look healthier and seem 
more pleasant and cheerful," it is pleasant to me. 

Such things as these are pleasant, and when we see such 
improvements, get such appreciative and encouraging words, 
we feel repaid for all the exertions we have made and all the 
patience-trying times through which we have passed to get 
the boys where they are. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. That reads like a romance. What is your age. 
A. I shall be twenty-four the 18th of next November. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Was your handkerchief stolen. 
A. It was sent into the laundry, and afterwards it was 

found that one of the boys had it. My name was on the cor­
ner, and that had been torn out. 

Q. Was the matter reported to the superintendent. 
A. It was reported. I don't remember who looked it np. 
Q. Do you remember whether the boy was punished or 

not. 
A. I don't remember whether he wa1:1 or not. I don~·t 

remember any circumstances about it beyond what I have 
stated. 

Q. How many of these boys do you think c:m be controlled 
by kindness. 

A. I thmk all the boys are more or less affected by acts of 
kindness. There is a difference in the boys abont appreciat-~ 

ing them. Some do and some do not. 

By Mr. Haskell : 

Q. What effect has religious instruction upon the boys-­
such as they get here. 

A. The effect, so far as I have seen it, is to make them re-­
spect religion. 

Q. Do yon think that it makes any better boys of them. 
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A. Yes. When I fin,t came here they would take no no­

tice of a paper or a card that had on it the word '' Christian," 
and now they are as mnch interested in those papers and re­

ceive them with as much favor as any other paper. 
Q. Do they receive them with any more favor because the 

pame Christian is on them. 
A. No. 
Q. Which do they prefer, a secular or a religious news­

paper. 
A. I think they would prefer the secular paper. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. You are one of the teachers; have the boys ip your 

class made a decided improvement intellectually. 
A. Yes. 

Q. You have nothing to do with them except in the school 
room. 

A. Yes; Saturday evenings and Sundays I hold the boys, 
as we call it, from six o'clock till half-past seven. During 
that time I entertain them or let them ente1 tain themselves. 

Q. How do you entertain them. 
A. I give them books to read, or let a boy read a book, or 

read it myself. Sometimes I carry in papers for them to look 
at, and occasionally I have carried in stereoscopic views 
which they seem to enjoy very much. 

Q. Is their behavior ·whilo you amuse them in that way 
always good. 

A. That depends considerably on whether they are very 
much interested. In case of the stereoscopic pictures only 
one boy can look at a time, and the others have to be looked 
after. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. How do they behave in Sunday school. 
A. I should like to have you come in and see. Each boy 

has a book with the lesson in it, and I tell them the story of 
the lesson as well as I can., and make it as interesting- as I 
can. When that has been <lone, if they have any questions 
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to ask they ask them, and if I can answer them I do so. 
Then I ask them the questions that are put down in the lei:lson 

paper and I read the answers and they repeat them in concert. 
They go over it in that way until the lesson is learned. 

Q. Do. they seem susceptible to religious teaching or are 
they not affected by it at all. 

A. They are influenced by it. Sometimes they will mani­

fest a dislike to learning the lesson by answering in a gruff 
tone of voice, and then the only way is to ask the question 
over again. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. How many <lo you have in your class. 
A. The number varies, but I should say, on an average, 

ahout twenty. 
Q. Are they of all denominations. 
A. Yes. 

Q. Are they punished at any time for not getting their les­
sons. 

A. When I tell a boy, as I do sometimes, that he is to re­
peat the Golden text, and he does not do it with the other 
boys, I have kept him in tu learn that lm;son. 

Q. Does the system of merits and demerits apply to Sun­
day exercises as well as week days. 

A. Yes, sir. 

J. R. Farrington, recalled, testified: 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. ~Yhere did you get this iron. 
A. I sent to New York for it. 

Q. Did you have it manufactured for the occasion. 
A. No, sir; they have them on sale for such purpose. 
Q. Do you know where they are used. 
A. I do not. I bought them especially for these two boys. 
Q. Did you find it on sale, or send to some penal institu-

tion for it. 
A. I sent to no penal institution. I found them on sale. 
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I t bought they would answer the purpose I wished to accom­
plish. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you buy the other at the same time you did this 

one. 

A. I did not. The other was lighter than this. 
Q. Did you yourself pay for them. 
A. I did. 
(-l. Did you charge them in the account to the State. 
A. I did. 
Q. "\Vas the account presented to the trustees. 
A. It was. 

Q. vYas their attention called to the different items of that 
account. 

A. The trustees in their examination of accounts adopt 
their own methods which I have observed in particular. It 
is for one member to take the papers and read them to such 
extent as they desire and then pass them to another member 
and so they pass the scrntiny of two members and perhaps 
more. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Did the trustees know of the use of these instruments. 
A. They did. 
Q. How many of them. 
A. I cannot speak from recollection; but I know that the 

boys wore them while the trustees were here several times, 
and I know that the trustees spoke about them and asked an 
explanation. 

Q. Diel they make any objection to its use. 
A. Not any that I recollect of, and if they had, I should 

certainly have recollected it. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Are the accounts of the reform school examined and 

approved and audited by a committee of the Executive 

Council. 
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A. I so understand it. I send the full account to the 
council. 

Q. So they would see the bill and understand any pur­

chases you might make for the school. 
A. Yes. 
Q. They are thus made aware of every purchase you 

make. 
A. Yes. 

By Mr. Donahue : 
Q. Do you remember that I ever called your attention 

to a complaint that Griffin made to me about wearing that 
iron. 

A. I don~t remember of your speaking to me about it. 
Q. Don't you remember that I spoke to you one morning 

and told you that Griffin complained bitterly about wearing 
that thing about his leg, and do you remember your reply to 
me. 

A. I do not. 
Q. You don't remember that you said to me that ~~ the 

moment that was taken from Griffin's leg away he went." 
A. I do nut remember it. · 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Had Mr. Chadbourn seen it. 
A. He inevitably must have seen it. 
Q. Did Dr. Thompson see it. 
A. He must have seen it while he was here and the boys 

wore it. 
Q. How about Mr. Grindle. 
A. He must have seen it if he was here while the boy 

wore them. 
Q. Do you remember that Mr. Chadbourn saw it while in 

use. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And the same in reference to Dr. Thompson. 
A. Yes. 
Q. And they all saw it. 
A. They inevitably must have seen it. 
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By Mr. Donahue: 
Q. Did you consult the trustees about buying that iron. 
A. I don't think I did. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Did you buy these irons when you first came here. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you remember what you paid for them. 
A. No. 
Q. Were the bills for them sent to the Executive Council. 
A. They were. 

Fred P. Owen, recalled and testified as follows· 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. When did you come here. 
A. October 27th, 1881. 
Q. What is your age. 
A. Twenty-three last July. 
Q. ·what was your business before you came here. 
A. I was employed on my father's farm and have taught 

school more or less. 
Q. Where is your native place. 
A. Buxton. 
Q. What pay do you get. 
A. Twenty-five dollars a month. 
Q. How many boys do you have charge of .. 
A. Anywhere from 40 to 90; the average number of 

workers wont exceed 60. 
Q. Does any part of your duty require you to take charge 

of a greater number. 
A. Yes; my duty iq the yard gives me charge of usually 

about 90. 
Q. How many meals do you superintend a day. 
A. One meal ; the dinner. The night watchman takes 

charge of the breakfast table and the third class officer the 
supper table. 

Q. What are your duties in the yard. 
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A. In the morning at the present time from ten minutes of 
seven to seven and then again from nine to twenty minutes 
past, then twenty minutes of twelve until twelve, then from 
two o'clock until half past two, ten minutes past five till 
twenty-five minutes past five. 

Q. Is that the laRt. 
A. No; yard duty from ten minutes of six until six and 

again from ha]f past seven until a quarter of eight and that 
includes all my duty in the yard. 

Q. How many hours do you have to give in the shop 
altogether. 

A. About five hours and a half. 
Q. Have you any other duties besides what you have 

specified. 
A. Boys are in the yard all Saturday afternoon when it is 

pleasant and if it is unpleasant I hold them in the school 
room. 

Q. When you came here were rules given you about dis­
ciplining the boys. 

A. No; not disciplining the boys. 
Q. Have you been made acquainted with the rules that 

you were not allowed to inflict corporal punishment on a boy. 
A. I have. 
Q. ,,Then were you made aware of that. 
A. Sometime in January, I think. I don't know as I can 

remember the month. It was sometime last winter. 
Q. When did you first know of it. 
A. When I first came here. 

Q. Were the rules of the trustees made known to you 
when you first came here. 

A. They were in the middle of the winter. 
Q. Prior to that time what was your knowledge of them. 
A. Simply from the previous officer. 
Q. He instructed you. 
A. Yes. 

Q. The superintendent gave you no instructions. 



( 351) 

A. I think he said something about not punishing boys; 
not whipping boys. 

Q. Did you understand prior to the winter that you were 
forbidden to administer chastisement to boys for minor 
offences. 

A. I did; but I never saw any written or printed rules 
until the middle of the winter. 

Q. Who fixes the stints in the shops which the boys are 
to do. 

A. I arrange the stints and they are approved by the 
superintendent or assistant superintendent. 

Q. What is the basis of your arrangement of these stints. 
A. The boy's capacity for work; his strength, endur:ince 

and willingness. 
Q. Is willingness an ele_ment in it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. How many chair bottoms are given to your best workers. 
A. Twenty-four a week at the present time. 
Q. Has the amount been increased or diminished since you 

have been here. 
A. Increased. 
Q. How many. 
A. I can't recollect the highest stint when I came here, 

but I think it was about twenty. 
Q. What is the lowest stint yon now have. 
A. Three. 
Q. ·what is about an average stint. 
A. Fifteen. 
Q. Does a boy get his stint at the beginning of each week. 
A. He is made known at the beginning of the week what 

his stint is. 
Q. Is it increased or diminished according as his behavior 

may have been. 
A. His stint is seldom changed. 
Q. Suppm,e they do not perform their stint. 
A. Then they have to stand in the meditation class until 

they make up what they are behind. 
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Q. When does he have to meditate. 
A. Every evening. except Sunday evening, beginning at 

eight o'clock and holding until nine or half-past nine, depend­
ing somewhat on the behavior of the boy in the class. I 
never had boys meditate after ten o'clock. 

Q. Have you confined boys in the cells for not making up 
their stints. 

A. No, sir. 
Q. Have you known of their being confined for that pur-

pose. 
A. I have. 
Q. Under whose direction was that. 
A. The superintendent's. 
Q. Suppose a boy's cane falls short? Suppose he don't 

have enough to complete his chair bottom. 
A. He comes to me and I give him more. If he has used 

it fairly and justly I give him one, two or three strands as ho 
may need. If I have seen him wasting cane then I charge it 
to him, and when he has ten strands charged against him he 
has to make an extra chair. That is a preventive against the 
waste of cane. 

Q. While the boys are in the yard are they required to 
stand on a line. 

A. Yes; for disobedience of yard rules. 
Q. How long have you required a boy to stand on the line. 
A. Two months under me. That was for not doing extras 

which he might have done. 
Q. Are they required to maintain any particular position. 
A. They are. They are to maintain a quiet position, fac­

ing the house, and are not allowed to jump around, play or 
engage in any sport. 

Q. Required to stand at "attention." 
A. No, sir; not so strict as that. 
Q. Have you had a boy stand on the line two months in 

more than one case. 
A. No. 
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Q. Was he an insolent boy. 
A. H2 was, and idle. 
Q. Vlhat was his stint. 
A. Twenty-four chairs a week. 
Q. How old a -boy. 
A. Fourteen, I think. 

Q. What other punishments are you allowed to administer 
besides giving the punishments of standing on the line and 
putting them in the meditation class. 

A. I am allowed to give them demerits and also extra 
chairs for whispering. 

Q. Do you ever require them to stand with their fingers on 
their toes. 

A. Occasionally. 

Q. How long. 
A. Not exceeding fifteen minutes. 
Q. How long have you required a boy to stand in that 

way. 
A. Not over fifteen minutes. One boy stood of his own 

will, as I told you before, nearly an hour. 
Q. What was his name. 
A. Cunningham. 
Q. The strap you produced here last night you said you 

kept in your desk. Were you allowed to use it on the boys. 
A. I was not. 
Q. Did you use it on them. 
A. I did. 
Q. How many. 

A. I can't remember; but I should say perhaps three or 
four. 

Q. Haven't you any more than that. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Was that before or after the written rules were made 

known to you. 
A. After. 

23 
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Q. ·w .. hy did you disobey the rules by using the strap on 

the hoys. 

A. I Jid it untou:sciously, without thinkmg of the rules. 

Q. Have you ever inflicted any other corporal punishment 

on the boys. 

A. Yes. I stmck a boy, hy the name of Bartlett, a slight 

hlow in the face. 

Q. Do you have any trouble in governing your boys. 

A. Y t>S. Frequently they whisper; and that is one way 

of annoying nn officer. Then idleness in the shop and com­

plaining about their cane and work when it is as satisfac­

tory as it can be made. Then one hoy may punch another, 

take his tools, and frequently he steals another hoy's cane 

when his owa falls short. 

Q. Are the infractions of order in your shop mostly of a 

vicious or mischievous class. 

A. Mostly mischievous; they are sometimes saucy and im-

pudent. 
Q. What age is the youngest boy. 
A. In my shop, I think, nine. 

Q. What is the average weight of the boys .. 

A. I should say about 85 pounds. I think there is one 

boy nineteen and one twenty. 

Q. Do the boys make any complaint about the justice of 

your giving them merits or demerits. 

A. Sometimes they do. 

Q. Do you hear their complaints and judge whether you 

have given them too many, and change them. 

A. I do. But I very seldom change them, for I usually 

decide before I give them whether the boy deserves them or 

not. I never decide until I know the case fully. Some­

times I give a boy thib chance. If he is orderly in every 

respect, and don't receive any more throughout the month, I 

remove those I have given him. 

Q. Do you ever change a number you have once fixed. 

A. No, sir. 

Q. That is unalterable. 
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A. Yes. The rule in giving demerits is to give five or 
ten, never exceeding ten for one offence. 

Q. For disorder at the table do you give demerits. 
A. I do. 

Q. "\Vhen a boy is up ten times in the meditation class 
what happens. 

A. Nothing, now. I believe it was the custom to whip 
them when they were up ten times, but that was changed. 

Q. ·when was it changed. 
A. I don't know. I should say six or eight months ago. 

Henry M. Griggs, recalled: 

It was asked me if I heard Rankins make any improper 
remark to Miss Swan. At that :ninute I did not hear him, 
hut fifteen or twenty minutes before I heard him tell her 
that when his folks came here he was going to have her 

hounced, because she was going to report him for some con­

duct. 
In his testimony he says the trouble occurred about turn­

ing on the steam. At one time he says it occurred that 
morning and then he says it occurred some time before. It 
could not have occurred at any time. There was no wheel: 
there. It was taken off soon after I came here, so the boys. 
couldn't meddle with it. ,vhenever it was necessary to turn'. 
the steam on I had to take a monkey wrench to do it. h 
eould not be turned off without some instrument of that kind·,, 
and all the instruments there were kept under lock aud key 
hy Mr. Farrington's direction. No hoy is ever allowed' to,, 

turn on the steam except McGovern, the boy that tends the· 
kettle, when he wants it for cooking. 

Adjourned until Monday, October 30th, 1882, to meet in.. 
Portland, at the office of T. H. Haskell, at 3 o'clock p .. m._ 
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PORTLAND, MbNDAY, Oct. 30th, 1882-3 o'clock P. 1\I. 

Met at the office of T. II. Haskell, pursuant to adjourn­

ment. 
Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell. 

E. P. ,v entworth, recalled, and testified: 

I should like to con ect my testimony given on Saturday. 
I stated that Travers and Griffin wore the iron hand:-:. or rings 
about four months. On further recoll(~ction I rem cm ber that 
they did not wear them the entire time, but at first they wore 
common shackles, and then these bands were ordered to take 
the place of the shackles. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. Did the shackles fasten the two boys together. 
A. No; they fastened the two feet together the same as a 

pair of handcuffs would the hunds. They were linked so the 
boy could take pretty nearly a full step. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Has it been the custom of the superintendent to put a 

· placard on the b,oy's hack when they run a-way. 
A. Not since I have been here. They have sometimes 

worn a suit of rt different color, hut after wearing it a, little 
while both sides were nearly alike. 

Cl It has been stated to me that some of the boys wore a 
placard on their backs with R. vV. on it. 

A. I will take it back. Some boys did have a placard on 
their hacks with R. A. on it. I think that was under Col. 
Parker. I am ce1fain that Mr. Farrington nor myself never 
put R. vV. on for Run Away. In regard to the food, I don't 
know but that I have already given my iden~, hut I wrn sny 

that at the time Mr. Farrington came to the school the cus­
tom in vogue was for the officers to stand the boys in the 
floor without food, as a punishment for disorder at the table. 
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Soon after Mr. Farrington came here I called his attention to 
it, and told him I didn't think it prudent for the officers to be 
allowed to do that, and I suggested that the officen: be notified 
not to do it without permission of the superintendent in each 
individual case. He took the matter into consideration and 
shortly afterwards notified the officers that no boy was to be 
stood in the floor without being given what bread and water 
he wanted. So far as my observation extends since that no­
tice was given, no boy has been stood in the floor without 
being given all the bread and water he wanted. 

Q. When was that change made. 
A. I should say at least six months before last February. 

I am positive that it was more than a year ago. 
Q. Are yon sure that so1ne officer did not take it upon 

himself to stand a boy in the floor without food, notwithstand­
ing the order. 

A. No boy would go hungry without telling me of it. 
Q. Yes; but they didn't tell you about being punished in 

the dormitory or punished in the shops. 
A. Boys were not punished without permission to any 

great extent. 
Q. Mr. Owen aud :Mr. Willey testify that they did it. 
A .. Mr. Willey says he struck the boy in self-defence, and 

I knew thut within ten minutes of its occurrence. 
Q. M1·. Freese punished the boys and you were not told of 

it.. 
A. Yes ; but that was in the dormitory at night, and I 

can't say why the boys did not report it. But I can say that 
I have not known a single instance of a boy being deprived 
of food Hince that order was given. I mean of what bread 
and water he wanted. 

The boys have been frequently consulted in reference to 
the food they have at the table, and attempts have been made 
to change the food so as to suit the wishes of the boys. When­
ever it seemed to be nearly unanimous that a certain dish 
was wanted it has been given. 
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In regard to the soups I wish to state that I have examined 

the soups very often and have frequently taken the boys' 

soup in for my own dinner in preference to the dinner on the 

officers' table. 

Some talk hns been made in reference to the water in the 

yard. The officers have been instructed to furnish the boys 

with all the water they need in the yard, and so far as I ·know 

they have done so. The case that was spoken of where the 

boy wanted some water at the last recess in the evening was 

within fifteen minutes of the time for him to go into the 

dormitory where he could have all the water he wauted. 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. How was it when the boy was compelled to drink out 

of the mud hole. 

A. I don't believe that. I never knew of auy such rn­

stance. 

Q. Do you believe it since the officer testified to it. 

A. I don't believe any boy ever drank out of a mud hole 

because he was so thin:,ty, and couldn't have water. 

As to stints in the chair shop which it has been testified 

were raised I think that needs a little explauation. Of 
course when a hoy is committetl he knows nothing about 

chair making and he is given no stint. After he learnt, how 

to make a chair he is given a very small stint whid1 is grnd-­
ually increased as the boy becomes more skrnful. So it i1~ 
true that stints are raised in that way hut it is not trnc that 

any boy is now given a greater stint than it has been cus-­

tomary in this or other reform schools to give. I think there 

has been no time since I have been at the reform school that 

boys have not done as high as twenty-five chairs. I havn 

known a stint to be as high as twenty-seven. 

By :Mr. Gould : 

Q. Do you know ,vhether it is customary for i\Ii:c,;s Swan 

to look at the soup. 

A. I cannot state positively as to that. 



( 359) 

Some boy testified that the pails were purchased by the 
boys. Originally the pails were furnished by the State, but 
the boys stove them up and they were required to replace 
them and those tbey have taken good care of. 

In regard to cane, every boy when he takes his chair 
frame is furnished with cane enough to properly seat it. If 
he does not waste or destroy it he has an ample quantity. If 
he does waste it he is obliged to pay for the extra by doing 
extra work. I never knew them to fail to get cane enough 
in the first instance to make their chair. They frequently 
and most al ways count their cane and see that it is :ill right, 
and I should suppose if they found it short the would tell 
the officer and have it made right. 

By Mr. Donahue : 
Q. How long did Mr. Freese remain after the investigation. 
A. I think some three or four days. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. ·was he discharged or did he resign. 
A. He was discharged. 

By Mr. Haskell: 
Q. vV~s he discharged by order of the superintendent or 

the trustees. 
A. By order of the superintendent. I think after the in­

vestigation the trustees declined to take any action and left 
it entirely with the superintendent. 

In regard to Mr. Owen, when he came to the school his 
predecessor in office remained a few days to instruct him in 
relation to his duties, and ·when he went away I went into the 
shop myself and was there the most of the time dui·ing the 
first week. I instructed him in regard to his duties and also 
in regard to the rules about the corporal punishment uf boys, 
so that he understood when he took charge of the chair shop 
that he had no right whatever to punish a hoy with corporal 

punishment. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Are the rules of the trustees in print: 
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A. They are and are funished to the officers. Since Mr. 
Farrington has heeu superintendent a copy has heen in the 

officers' sitting room most of the time. 

The case of Louis Nichols when I first read the newspaper 

repmt I aidn't recognize it, hut on thinking I do remember 

some circumstances about it. One of the lady teachers 

asked me if I had noticed Nichols' face. I told her I had 

nut, and she said the boy said that Mr. Owen did it. I told 

her I would see the boy and ask him about it. I called the 

boy up aud a::,ked him what the matter was with his face. He 
hung his head and didn't seem to be inclined to answer at 
first, and then he said he fell down. I asked him if he fell 

down or was pushed down, and he said he was standing on 

the line nnd was very insolent to Mr. Owen, and I think he 

told nw the words he used, and Mr. Owen took hold of him 
to make him stand properly on the line and he fell down and 

scratched his face. He did not seem to think that Mr. Owen 
was to blame. 
By .Mr. Gould: 

Q. Did he say that Mr. Owen took him in the house and 
put some sticking plaster on his face. 

A. Yes. The boy seemed to think it was an accident, and 
he had no ill feelings against .Mr. Owen. 

In regard to Bnrtl1:;tt, Mr. Farrington told me that Mr. 

Owen struck him (Bartlett), and wished me to look at his 
face, and I did and found it was swollen a little on one side. 
l saw it the next day. 

In regard to Robinson, l was informed two or three weeks 
before the Commission met that Robirn,on was busily at work 

scratching his ear to make it sore, hoping he might get a 

chance to testify against Mr. Owen. 

I am satisfied that if any boy was used the way Pender­
grass says he was used in the presence of the other boys, I 

should have heard of it; that if the boy 'himself did not tell 
of it the other boys would. 



( 361) 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. vV hat about the hoy who showed to us the scar on his 
i:,houlder, where, he said, l\lr. vVilley threw him down .. 

A . .My private opinion is that the boy lied. I think the 
scar came from some other source. 

I wii;h to say something in regard to boys being expected 

to report when not properly treated by officers. It \Vas told 

me that Mr. Freese threatened to punish a boy because the 

boy had reported something to me in reference to Mr. Freese, 

and I spent the entire forenoon in investigating the matter. 

I culled up and examined a half a dozen boys. I spoke very 

earnestly in regard to it, for, at the time, I felt quite indig­

nant at what I supposed 'Mr. Freese had been doing. 

I then wrote out a paper, a part of which I have already 

read in questioning the boys. After writing the paper I went 

to Mr. Farrington and told him what I had heard and showed 

him the paper. He sai<l he wanted to look it over carefully, 

and the ucxt day he returned it to me with his name at the 

bottom of it. I then called :Mr. Freese in, and asked him in 

relation to 1t, and he expla:1ned, showing that he had no in­

tentions to, and did not really, threaten the boy at all. I 
showell him the paper and he said he acquiesced in the senti­

nwnts, and he would go by them. In a week or ten days I 

took the paper into the school room and spent three-quarters 

of an hour in talking to the boys abont the points covered by 

it. I read it section hy section, talking about each section 
as I read it. I have here the original paper that I reacl. It 
was not read to Mr. vVilley or Mr. Owen. 

Thomas F. Donahue, recalled, testified: 

By :Mr. Haskell : 

Q. Expbin what notice the trustees had about the use of 

these bands or weights. 

A. In regard to the iron weight ,vorn by Griffin I never 

f'xnmined it but I knew Griffin wore such a weight, because 

he complained bitterly to me about it. He said he would 
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like to have it taken off; he said it was very heavy and he 

was trying to get up so he might get it off. :My impression 
is Griffin had advanced to the second class from the third. I 

aske<l him if it affected him any more than the weight of it, 

and he said 110. I saw Mr. Farrington und told him that 

Griffin complained bitterly about that weight on his leg and 

he would like to have it taken off. Mr. Farrington said 

Grifliu was a noted runaway, and when the weight comes off 

Griffin goes. I told Griffin I couldn't do anything about it. 

In regard to the shackles that Mr. ,v entworth has men­

tioned here this afternoon, I never heard of or saw them. I 

am quite sure that the other trustees knew about this iron 

weight that Griffin wore. 

By Mr. Gould: 

Q. "\Yas it ever discussed at the trustees' meeting about the 

propriety of their wearing the weight. 

A. Ko, sir: I never heard it mentioned. Griffin wore it 

some time before I knew anything about it, and before the 
quarterly meeting took p1nce Griffin had escnpccl, or Trn.vcrs 

had escaped, and I didn't know he wore a weight. 

By l\fr. Haske11: 

Q. Were the weights concealed by the clothing. 

A. Y cs. Tho only knowledge you could hnve that a hoy 
wore it was the noise; there was a certain clanking tu it as 
he stepped. 

Henry A. Hart, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

I commenced going out to the Reform School at the time 

Mr. ,voodbm-y was there, about twelve years ago, as a 

teacher in the Sunday school, and since then I have been 

there more or less talking to the boys on Sunday. vYhen 
Col. Parker was there I think I was there only twice. Since 
Mr. Farrington came here I have been hero once and often 
twice a month. I have been here at almost all the meetings 

of the society which we formE>d. Mrs. Stevens and I con-­
sultcd together al.>out forming the society. vV c had some 
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temperance meetings and thought it would be better for the 

boys to have the society offieere<l by themselves and they 
would take more interest in it. vVe mentioned the matter to 
Mr. Farrington, and he acquiesced in it, and has rendered 
every assistance in his power. I think it is quite a tax on 

the officers as the boys have to be prepared and dressed and 
their clothes changed; hut it has been done very cheerfully, 

and in every request I have made I have found Mr. Farring­
ton and Mr. ,v entworth very cheerful and willing to do 

everything they could. They have always seemed to mani­

fest the greatest interest in the boys, and I judged from what 

I saw from the appearance of the boys, those I have talked 
with individually, that the whole management of the school 

was as mild and pleasant as it could be. 

Of course I know nothing about these individual cases of 

punishment. I have been in the dormitory when the boys 

were standing on the line and when some of the hoys were 

stooping over. One evening I went down and there were 

two or three boys bent over. I took particular notice and 

spoke to the hoy, nnd looked in his face to see if he was ex­

periencing any suffering from the position. As I spoke to 
him he looked up smiling and hright. I saw he hadn't been 
there a great while and wasn't suffering. Some of the hoys 
have been nt my house. One boy named Vining has been 
several times at my house and was quite a chum of my boy, 
and they would talk together about things, and my boy 
would repeat them to me, and from very many little things I 
formed a very favorable opinion of the school. 

The boys on Sunday seem to be bright and cheerful; and 
there is a decided' difference in the looks of the boys now 

than what it was when I first came to the school. The disci­

pline and management is different, the cells have been done 

away with nnd there is much less punishment, or severe pun­
ishment, now than at those timei-:. In all my interconrHe with 
Mr. VVentworth and Mr. Farrington ~ have found them anx­

ious for the good of the boys and seeking their ·welfare. 
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By Mr. Haskel]: 

Q. Diel you know the system of punishment practiced 

there which the evidence has disclosed. 

A. I knew nothing about the irons. I knew that the boys 

were punished for serious offences and that corporal punish­
ment was inflicted. 

Q. Did you know that boys were confined in the cells for 

n week without anything to lie upon but blankets on the 
floor. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And no opportunity to wash their hands or face, and 

with a vessel given them to answer the calls of nature which 
was cleansed but once a day. 

A. Yes; boys who have been confined there have told me 
that. They all spoke of it as extreme punishment. 

Q. Do you regard it as humane treatment. 

A. I do not know anything you can substitute for it that 

would be more humane. 

Q. You don't think there is :my necessity for their wnshing 
their face and hands daily. 

A. I don't see that there is any necessity for it. In case 
of puni::;lunent you donit seek comfort. I think there ure 

boys that require just such treatment. 

Q. Do you think it humane and proper treatment to con­

fine a boy in a dark room for eight days without a chair to 
sit upon or a bed to sleep upon with only such light as would 
come in through two or three holes about two inches in 

diameter, bread and water fed to him twice a day, and the 

vessel emptied once a day. 

A. I have already answered that. If you are going to in­

flict punishment I don't know why it should not be done. If 
I had been one of the trustees and this had been in vogue 

twenty years I don't know why I should differ with my pre­

decessors. 
Q. You think it is humane treatment. 
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A. I don't know anything to substitute for it. I think it 
is as humane as any puni$hment you can fix upon for a severe 
punishment. 

Q. Do you think it is a suitable punishment to be inflicted 
for a grave offence. 

A. I do. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you think it a suitable punishment for the offences 

they committed. 
A. I don't know. 
Q. For instance, for fighting on the stairs, standing all 

night long. 
A. I should think that was too severe. 
Q. The society you speak of was the "Garfield Temper-

ance Society." 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they manage it well. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do they seem interested. 
A. Y cs; the Sunday school 1s the most orderly school I 

have been in. 

Joseph R. Farrington, reca11ed, testified: 

Perhaps I can say best what I desire ·by beginning hack to 
when I came to the institution. I took as careful a view of 
the premises and the work before me as I could, :rnd gave my 
first attention to the condition of the school, wishing to ascer­
tain as exactly as possible the position in which I found dif ... 
ferent departments of the school. 

I found there were about 120 boys that were to he provid­
ed for, and that they were to be, under the law, which was 
my guide, disciplined, governed, educated and employed. I 
found that in connection with the school there was a large 
farm, a large stock, teams and all the appurtenances. I 
found that the farm and all its accompanying stock was in­
tended to contribute to the good of the institution; that in 
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order that it should accomplish the greatest possible good for 
the institution that it, as well as the school itself, must he 
carefully looked after and attended to. In taking an inven­
tory of the farm I found it could be improved; that the 
stock, which consisted mostly of milch cows, were intended 
to supply the boys with milk, ~tnd that the amount was insuffi­
cient to give the boys the milk they required for one meal a 
day; that in the teams and other equipments and farm tools 
there was a great lack, and what things there ,vere were in a 

dilapidated condition. As an illustration, the first year the 
money spent in the repair of harnesses was sufficient to pur­
chase a good set of double team harnesses. Carriages were 
in a like condition, and that ran through the whole of the 
outside affairs. 

The building itself was in fair repair, except a great mun­
her of lights of glass were broken, and the school room 
showed a lack of care and required immediate attention, as 
did the fixtures and appurtenances. 

Of course these outside matters were indications to me of 
w!rnt I might find within, and I found I was not mistaken. I 
directed my attention to the material interests of the school, 
and to the physical, moral and intellectual condition of the 
boys. I considered my work was to improve the institution 
in this direction. 

I wa~ told by those who had charge of the school when I 
went there, that the boys were accustomed to pick loc~s, 
and I found marks on the locks where they had exercised 
their skill. One of the first things I paid my attention to 
was the locks. This was necessary in order to secure the 
property of the school. Clothing was stolen, books would 
be stolen and destroyed. 

I found that the subordinate officers were unable to control 
the boys sufficiently for their own good, and the prosperity 
of the school, with what moral suasion I and the officers could 
give. I commenced the infliction of corporal punishment. I 
wish to say th:;tt iu my interpretation of the corporall punish­
ment which the law requires shall be made a record of I took 
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the practice of my predecessors, three of ,vhom had recorded 
their punishments in the book I found there. Those were 
punishments with the ruler and by confinement in the cells. 
As I received no instructions from any party CJr any hint that 
other records were required, I made none until lvithin a very 
few months. 

Before giving corporal punishments I invariably talk with 
the boy, and try to influence him to do better, and I only 
infliet the corporal punishment when I think it is absolutely 
necessary. 

To go back to the condition in which I found the institu­
tion and the influences which led me to adopt what would be 
called a stricter discipline or method of government. 

The commissioners have been in the dormitory and they 
remember the elevated floor reached by stairs, where the 
third class boys used to sleep. They wm remember that the 
spreads upon the beds were all clean, neat and tidy. ·when 
I went there the beds were without spreads. I asked the 
reason and was told the boys tore them to pieces, and they 
had to be taken off as a punishment for their misconduct. ...'\S 
soon :1s I could, I procured spreads and put them on, and 
had no difficulty in keeping them there. The officer in charge 
frequently reported sheets missing or torn and pillow cases 
torn or missing. I immediately instituted a method of care 
by which sheets and all bed clothing was carefully noted, so 
that each boy was accountable for his own bed clothing, and, 
though it required a good deal of attention and some corpo­
ral punishment and other punishment in the way of making 
boys pay for the clothing they destroyed, I succeeded in the 
course of a few months of labor in obtaining perfect order in 
regard to the clothes and saved a large amount in that direc­
tion. Now it is exceedingly rare that any article of bed 
clothing is torn or is missing. Among the uses made of bed 
clothes when I went there was tearing them into strips and 
attempting to get over the walls with them, or to lower 
themselves from the windows. 
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The clothing the boys had upon them was in exceedingly 
poor condition. There was not a full change of clothing, 
except in boys' shirts. There were no Sunday :::;uits or pre­
tence of any. Their shoes were in a dilapidated condition, 
and it was impossible, when Sunday came and religious ser­
vices were held in the chapel, to furnish each boy with a de­
cent suit of clothes. a suit that was whole, and by that I 
mean patched and free from holrs. Some of the boys had to 
go with holes and tears and an appearance of general dilapi­
dation. 

In the matter of discipline, the things that took my atten­
tion at first was the profanity of the boys in the yard and a 
spirit of insubordination, especially in the yard ; the fact of 
frequent quarrels, bloody faces and bloody noses. The out­
side boys would obtain tobacco and distribute it to the inside 
boys. 

The boys, to accomplish their purpose of insubordination, 
were accustomed to conspire, and three or four, or may he a 
dozen, would conspire together and agree upon a plan to es­
cape. 

I addressed myself as promptly as possible to meeting 
these difficulties, and in regard to the clothing I procured 
new every day suiti:; as soon as they could be made. All the 
clothes are manufactured at the school by boys, under the 
care of an officer, who sees that they do their work we1l. As 
soon as they ·were provided with the every day snits they 
were furnished with the Sunday suits of nice, durable mate­
rial, which we were able to obtain at a very low price. New 
shoes were immediately procured for them, nnd stockings 
provided. 

In the matter of insubordination, efforts were immediately 
directed towards influencing the boys in the direction of their 
own good, and to lead them to see that their own welfare 
cons1sted in their obedience to the rules, and our effort was 
to break up that clannish spirit ·which would ever show itself 
in resisting the authority of the school. After a great deal 
of pains, talking with the boys and trying to show them the 
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better way, we succeeded in creating a spirit of honor among 
the boys and breaking up the clannish spirit. Thereafter it 
gradually came to be possible for us to become aware in a 
very little time if any boys were plotting any serious mis­
chief. As time went on it was so generally understood by 
the boys that were disposed to conspire that their plots would 
be discovered, that· plotting was given up. ,v e succeeded in so restraining the boys by the methods 
with which they were surrounded, and so infl.ueuced them to 
see what was for their own good that the better disposed 
would make no attempt to escape, and that was evidence to 
us that the boys were becoming more trustworthy, and we 
allowed them more liberties outside the school. As a result, 
the first class gradually ·increased, until it now numbers 
seven-tenths ( 7-l0ths) of the school, although at first it only 
embraced one-third ( ½). 

The work upon the farm has been done by the boys, under 
the charge of a farmer, the gardener and tlie teamster. At 
first the outside boys were exceedingly inclined to escape, 
and caused us a good deal of trouble· in that direction, but 
now the idea of escape does not seem to be entertained in 
any serious degree, and it has been a long time since an out­
side boy has attempted such a thing. 

Of course the boys were to be employed, and the greater 
part of them were to be employed inside the building. ,vhen 
I ,vent there the employment was cane-seating, and I contin­
ued that same business. When I went there there were 
three chair shops, but from motives of economy the shop 
was enlarged so m; to put the first and second class together, 
and requiring the third class to work by itself as it did before. 
Each boy is assignrd a stint, according to his capability. A 
large portion of our boys are boys who have never known 
what it is to work. So far as their habits are fixed at all 
they are in the direction of idleness, and their tastes are in 
the direction of idleness. Therefore, to carr1 out the law 

24 
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that these boys shall be employed it is necessary that we 
should enforce obedience to that law. Frequently it occurs 

that a boy will refuse to do his a1lotted tnsk, and the qucs•­

tion occurs, how shall we induce him to complete his task? 
The first inducement is to give him a task that he can 

perform in five days out of the six, and in many cases they 
can easily do it in from four to four and a half. If he does 
not do it in five days he must labor five and a half, and still 
it ,,ras found that boys would fall behind in their work. 

Then we told them that after their tasks were done they 
might work for themselves at a fixed price, and we allowed 
them within one cent on each chair of the amount the State 

received for the work. This induced a good many boys to 
do their stints and devote a part of their leisure time to 
working for themselves. But that did not reach all cases. 
I then deprived such boys of their play, and that accomplished 
additional good, but still there were boys that refused to do 
a reasonable amount of work. Such boys were warned as 
they were reported from time to time, and put on probation, 
and still they refused to do their tasks. Then I said to such 
boys that they might work and complete there tasks in the 

cells. 
To illustrate-one of these boys that was behind was 

visited by his mother, and as I was going by I heard her ask 
him why he did not make up his stint. I stepped along and 
asked him how many chairs he could do in a week if he 
worked smart, and he said seventeen. His stint was seven and 
a half. Turning to his mother, I said, ~~that tells thew hole story." 

I never felt myself at liberty to allow boys to be idle 

in case they could work. I have felt that the law was bind­

ing upon me that I was to keep the boys employed. Another 
requirement of the law is that the boys shall be instructed, 
snd certainly for the practical business of every day life, one 
of the necessary elements of instruction to boys is that of 
industry, habits .,of industry, and one of the severest tasks 
we have is to overcome these old habits of idleness. So that I 
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feel dou hly bound to keep the boys employed, not only that 
they should receive the necessary work to keep them out of 
mischief, but that they should receive the instruction which 
the State in its kindness for them rnsists that it shall have. 

As to what is more generally meant by mstruction, Mr. 
,v entworth has informed you of what is done, and I suppose 
there is no need of my going over it again. I will say this, 
that in all my experience as a teacher, of whi~h I have had 
quite a number of years, I never met with a more successful 
or faithful teacher than the assistant superintendent. I have 
never found boys under so good, faithful, efficient and kind 
care as the boys of the reform school are under the care of 
Mr. ,v entworth. The best wish I could have for my own1 
boys would be that they m!ight have as good. 

I am responsible for the moral and religious instructio.u @f 
the hoys. I have already alluded to some of the immoralities 
in the school, that of profanity, and I wish to speak. 0£.' 

another that was working idiocy and deatfi, and that was. 
self-abuse. "\Ve devoted ourselves early and constantly to. 
reforming the boys in that respect, and it is the verdict of alL 
who see the boys now and know what they were that there· 
hns hcen a marked improvement in that respect, a most won­
derful change in that regard. We have talked to them kindly, 
faithfully and plainly, and so have their friends and the trus-. 
tees. 

In the matter of profanity, the habit was so fixed that at 
the officers' meeting, which we are. accustomed to. hold every 
week, they said it was impossible, and when I stro-v-e to sug-­
gest means and ways they thought it was impossible. I told' 
them we must at least try, and I was sure a good degree of 
success would follow our efforts, and I am happy to say that; 
it hns followed them. When profanity was the rule before. 
it is now the exception. 

It is a habit of the boys to complain of their officers. They 
have been told repeatedly by me and Mr. W'entworth,. that in 
case they thong ht themselves ill treated by. the· officers or 
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other boys in the yard to come to either of us and make 
known their case, and in ~very instance they should receive 
kind and careful investigation and treatment. In every cnse re -
ported to me I have made such examination as to Emiisly rnysl'lf 
what my line of duty was, and if the officer was in the wrong, 
as I sometimes find officers do err, I have been to the officer 
and warned him of his error and told him that it must not he 
repeated, and I have tried to mark out for them :t better W:t) 

of dealing with the boys. It must be because I lrnve nevc>r 
told the boys that I have scolded or reproved an officer that 
they have got the idea that I take no notice of their com­
plaints. 

By 
1

Mr. Haskell: 
Q. Have yon ever remonstrated with Mr. Owen nhout the 

use of the strap. 
A. I have, and received from him assurances that he would 

not repeat the transgression. I want to say here, that in my 
opinion the transgressions have not been so lllllllCl'OUS as 
cited by the boys. I know that in cases I have examined 
they nre so exaggerated that it was hardly possible for me to 
recognize in their statements when I heard them read the 
actunl occurrence of which I wss cognizant. 

A few months after I took charge of the schoo 1, we were 
visited as required by law by the Governor and Council. 
The Governor went through the building with n eigar in his 
mouth, and after viewing the different departments of the 
school, by invitation, he addressed the boys and told them 
that they were not sent there as criminal::;, that they were 
not sent there for wrong doing but because they were unfor­
tunate; that many of them were lacking parents and friends 
and the State had adopted them as wards and placed them 
there to be instructed. He spoke at length to tlwm of the 
misnomer attached to the school, that the boys were not sent 
there to. be reformed, they did not need it, and nsked them to 
vote, whether they would prefer that the school should be 
called an industrial school rather than a reform school. The 
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general tenor of his remarks was in this direction. They 
voted unanimously for the change. · 

The first manifestation of its effect upon the boys was that 
as they went to recess they began to say, "New Super, new 
Super," thinking from the tenor of the Governor's remarks 
that there was to be a change, and they were not to be disci­
plined and employed, but as they have since said were to be 
allowed to do as they pleased. 

I had occasion the next day to talk with a boy reported to 
me for misconduct, and he judged from the nature of his of­
fence and the talk I made that he was to be punished, and he 
says, "The Governor says we are not here to be punished." 
I found in a number of instances that the same idea pre­
vailed. 

I took occasion a few evenings after to talk as I was ac­
customed to the boys just before prayers, and asked them 
concerning the different brai1ches of the government. They 
seemed to be ignorant, but after a while I explained it to 
them so they understood it. I explained the difference be­
tween the legislative, judicial and executive departments, 
and then repeated to them the law that applies to every one 
of the boys; that I was placed there to see not only that the 
law was carried out but also to act in their behalf. This talk 
had the desired effect for the time, but the spirit remains. 

Another difficulty we labor under is that we are misunder­
stood, and the method of recording punishments is one of the 
reasons of our heing misunderstood. A boy is reported and the 
superintendent talks with him and he promises to do better. 
In a little while he is reported again, and he again talks with 
the boy, and at last he puts him on probation, telling him if 
he repeats the offence within such a time punishment will be 
given him. Punishment at first is a light one and then a 
little heavier. The punishment book does not show the actual 
steps which lead up to the punishment, so it is imposible 
to get a just and fair idea of the character of the boy or the 
efforts of officers in his behalf before this lust and greatest 
effort is made. 
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Our boys are select boys in one sense. It is a select 

school, but none of the boys are sent here becaus~ they are 
too good or too obedient to stay at home. They al'e selected 
for the opposite reasons. Too frequently we are compared 
with schools where the larger portion of the boys are from 
good families, and the sentiment of the school is almost 
always on the side of order and obedience, while the matel'ial 

we have to deal with is of the opposite character, and requires 
different measures and more persistent, continued and some-­
times more severe action. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Are there any boys that you feel sure will never do 

right. 
A. No, sir; it is right for them to eat and they will do • 

that surely. 

By Mr. Hart: 
Q. State whether these best boys can be depended upon 

not to sometimes indulge in some serious infractions of the 
rules. 

A. We do depend upon them and trust them, and they 
rarely disappoint us. 

Adjourned until Tuesday, October 31st, at 3 P. M. 
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PORTLAND, TUESDAY, Oct. 31, 1882-3 o'clock P. M. 

• Met at the office of T. H. Haskell, pursuant to adjourn-
ment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell. 

Dr. Charles E. Webster, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Do you remember the hoy that was sick at the hospital 

in the reform school, and afterward died, by the name of 
Winn. 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did you attend him as his physician. 
A. I did. 
Q. How many times did you visit him. 
A. I don't know the exact number of times. He was 

taken sick about Christmas, and I visited him until his death, 
in March. 

Q. Of what disease did he die. 
A. Tuberculosis. 
Q. What treatment, so far as you yourself know, was giv­

en him by the officers or the superintendent and his family. 
A. I judged that he received the kindest treatment possi­

ble. 
Q. Was the boy, at any time you saw him, delirious. 
A. He was not delirious, as I recollect it, until within two 

or three days of his death. 
Q. Was he half unconscious at any time. 
A. I didn't observe him so. 
Q. AtS to the size of the room of the hospital for the pur­

pose for which it is used, what is your opinion about that. 
A. It is very e:ood si.ze, with height proportioned to its 

length and breadth, and, I think, large enough. 
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Q. Ifcnv many patients will it accommodate comfortably as 
patients should be accommodated. 

A. About three. 
Q. You would not want to put in more than three. 
A. No. 
Q. How is the ventilation. 
A. Very good. It is ventilated by the transom windows 

in the dormitory, by the stove-pipe in the chimney, and that 
is all except through the window. I think in the winter 
there is a double window on. 

Q. As to the light coming in there when the boy was sick, 
what is your view about that. 

A. I think it was beneficial. The sun never laid in upon 
the boy at all. 

Q. Tell us what you think about the food that is given the 
boys; about the quality and quantity of it. 

A. I can tell you very little about the quantity of it; the 
quality of it is good. 

(l I mean in regard to the boys in the hospital ; whether 
it was proper food or not. 

A. Yes. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Is the food that is furnished the boys in the school such 

food as they thrive upon. 
A. They don't seem to grow thin upon it, and I think they 

are remarkably healthy for such a large lot of boys together. 
Q. How is the health of the school now as compared with 

when you first took charge as physician. 
A. I think there was more sickness when I first took charge 

than latterly. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. How long have you been physician. 
A. Two years last spring. 
Q. You were not physician under Mr. Parker. 
A. No. 

• 
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By Mr. Gould: 
Q. Do you think there is more sickness in the school than 

should be expected of an equal number of boys in confine­
ment. 

A. No, sir; I do not. 
Q. Have you given some attention to the sanitary condi­

tion of the building. Is it in proper condition as tu drain­
age. 

A. Yes; I have examined that somewhat. The drainage 
was looked after by Mr. Farrington, and has been improved 
very much. Before that I com,idered it in a bad sanitary 
condition. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Hi-tve you made any suggestion to the trustees or offi­

cers of the reform school as to what ought to be done so far 
a:-; the health of the boys is concerned. 

A. I have been asked by the superintendent in regard to 
the ventilation of some of the rooms, and given him my 
idea:-; about it. I made no recommendation to the trnstees a.t 
all. 

Q. Has a change been made in the ventilation at your sug-
gestion. 

A. Yes. 
Q. In what respect. 
A. The large school room has been ventilated through the 

chimney. 
Q. Have you read the testimony of these boys. 
A. I have looked over a part of it. 
Q. You notice that boys were punished by being com-

pelled to stand and touch their finge~s to their toes. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Should you regard that as detrimental to their health. 
A. Standing a :-;hort time I should not consider as detri-

mental. 
Q. How long a time would you advise it to be done. 
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A. I think it could be done twenty or thirty minutes with-
out injury to the health of the boy. 

Q. Is that a mode of punishment you would re~pmmend. 
A. No, sir; I don't think I should. 
Q. ·what should you say about standing a boy up all night 

and compelling him to go to work in the morning. 
A. I should not recommend that kind of punishment; I 

think it is too severe. 
Q. vYhat do you say about confining boys in cells or in 

the tower, and keeping them on bread and water for six or 
eight days und nights. 

A. I should not regard that as very detrimental if they 

had plenty of bread and water. I don't think for that length 

of time it would injure the health. 

Q. vV earing this iron ring or shackle upon the leg three 
months, is that in any way injurious. 

A. No, I should not regard it as injurious; but perhaps 
very uncomfi.u-table. 

Q. "\Y ould it injure the muscles of the leg in any way, or 
the foot. 

A. No, I should judge not. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. Do you remember of visiting the boy ·winn on the 

18th of February. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Do you remember anything with regard to his condi-

tion at that that time. 
A. I remember that he was as comfortable as he had been. 

Q. What time of the day did you visit him. 
A. In the afternoon; I think about four o'clock. 
Q. If he had been unconscious, or partially so, would you 

recollect it. 
A. I should. 

Q. How long before his death was that. 
A. About three weeks and a half; he died on the 15th of 

March. 
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Q. Did you give any directions in regard to the tempera­

ture of the room. 

A. I did. I directed that it should be kept quite warm; 

about 70° or 72°. 
Q. If at any time you had noticed t~e temperature of the 

roo~ to be too warm, would you have felt it your duty to 
speak about it. 

A. I certainly should. 
Q. Do you recollect that you ever had occaswn to speak 

of the temperature being too hig·h. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you remember of any member of the superinten­

dent's family giving especial care to the boy. 

A. Yes; the superintendent's son, Arthur, who gave al­

most his whole time to the boy, and nursed him very nicely 

indeed. I considered him as good a nurse as I ever saw. 
Q. Were you consulted with regard to what was proper 

food for the boy. 
A. I was, frequently, and gave directions in regard to it; 

and I have reason to believe that those directions were car­

ried out. 
Q. In relation to ventilating the part of the building of 

which you speak, were yon asked by the superintendent 
whether such a plan would be advantageous. 

A. I was inquired of, and I think my suggestions were 
adopted. 

Q. Were you attending physician at the school before the 

present physician took charge of it. 
A. I was. for a short time, when Mr. Buffum was superin­

tendent. 
Q. Take the matter of sore eyes; have the boys been 

troubled at any time, either under the present superintendent 

or under former ones, with that disease. 

A. They have, quite extensively, under both superintend­

ents, but within the last eighteen months there has been a 
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great change. Now there are very few cases, an::l before that 
they wern very frequent. 

Q. To what do you attribute that change. 

A. To tbe great care exercised by the officers. 

By Mr. Haskell : 

Q. How many visits did you make to the Winn boy .. 

A. I have my record here, beginning in J~inuary. The 

December vieits I have not here. I visited him January 3, 

10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 17, 20, 23, 2G, 29, 31; February 1, 2, 4, 

6, 8, 11, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 25, 27; March 1, 3, 

5, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15; and he died on the 15th of 
March. 

Lucilla Swan, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 

Q. ~r ere you present at the trouble between Rankins and 
the engineer. 

A. Yes. 

Q. ,vm YOU give an account of what was said and done 
between them. 

A. Rankins came down cross in the morniug, after break­

fast, and was unruly. I told him to sit down at the farther 

end of the room. He did sit down for a short time, then he 

got up nnd went to the sink and got his box to take the 
dishes from the table. I aceused him of stealing sugar. He 

said he didn't. He was very saucy, and I told him he better 

sit rlown in a seat again. He refused to do so, kept on talk­

ing, and Mr. Griggs, the engineer, told him to sit down. He 

refused to do thut, and said he would go and report me. I 
said, to whom; and he said, to my folks. I and Mr. Griggs 

laughed. He said. ~~ You laugh at me," and came towards 

Mr. Griggs and struck him. Mr. Griggs took him by the 
shoulders and told him to sit down on a seat, and he said he 

wouldn't. Mr. Griggs trie<l to make him sit down and Ran­

kins was trying to get towards the table, where the bread 
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knife was. They got over to the table after a while, and Mr. 
Griggs got him on to the table and choked him, and said he 
would let him up if he would behave. He said he wouldn't. 
Mr. Griggs got him on the floor and held him there, and 
asked him if he would behave then, and he said he wouldn't. 
Rankins says, '1 I will kill you if I can get anything." Just 
then Mr. Freese passed t:J:1e room and stopped at the door, 
and Mr. Griggs told him. to call Mr. ·w Pntworth; and very 
soon Mr. Wentworth came and took Rankins away. 

Q. Do you say that Rankins struck the engineer. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Did you request the engineer to interfere. 
A. No, sir; he was in the habit of doing so if I needed 

assistance. 
Q. Had you ever heard Rankins and the engineer have any 

trouble about turning the steam on. 
A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. ·when Wentworth came down and took Rau kins there 

did Rankins go peaceably. 
A. He did. 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Who makes the soup. 
A. John McGovern. 
Q. Do vou superintend it. 
A. Yes.,; I see to it, tell him when \o put in the different 

article:-,, and when it is time to put in the pepper and salt, and 
when it is cooked sufficient. 

Q. Is McGovern a good cook. 
A. He is. 
Q. Does he superintend the cooking of any other articles 

except the soup. 
A. Yes ; potatoes, meat and beans. 
Adjourned until three o'clock Saturday afternoon, N ovcm­

ber 4th. 
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SATURDAY, NOVEMBER 4th-3 P. M. 

Met at the office of T. H. Haskell. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell. 

Harry L. Milliken, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified: 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Where do you live. 
A. Portland, at the St. Julian Hotel. 
Q. How old are you. 
A. Fifteen. 
Q. ·vv ere you formerly at the reform school. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When did you leave there. 
A. A little over two months ago. 
Q. State what punishments you saw while you were there. 
A. I have seen them licked on the hand by Mr. Farring-

ton and Mr. "rentworth whh a ferule. I saw Mr. Owen slap 
Pendergrass around. 

Q. How did he take him. 
A. Took him by the shoulder and arm and threw him down 

on the floor, and thought he knocked the wind out of him, 
and he took hill). to the door and let him sit down a little 
while. Then he brought him in and let him sit down on a 
seat about a quarter of an hour. 

Q. Was Pendergrass hurt. 
A. He acted as though he was hurt. 
Q. What did he say. 
A. He said he was faint, as though his stomach was turned 

wrong side out. 
A. Do you know how soon he went to work. 
A. In about a quarter of an hour. 
Q. What was Pendergrass doing. 
A. He was away from bis bench. 
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By Mr. Gould: 
Q. \Vas Pendergrass a large or small hoy. 
A. A small boy; he would weigh about ciixty-five or 

seventy pounds. 
Q. Do you know of any other boy that Mr. Owen inflicted 

punishment upon. 
A. I saw him strike Gillen. Gillen went up to get his 

hat, and went to walk behind Mr. Owen, and Mr. Owen 
either pushed liim or strnck him and knocked lnm on to me. 
Then he locked Gillen up in the large entry. 

Q. Did Gillen cry. 
A. No. 
Q. Did you ever see him strike any, other boys. 
A. No. 
Q. Do you know of any other severe punishments that 

were inflicted upon the boys while you were there. 
A. They used to put cayenne pepper iu their mouths, and 

soap. 
Q. Did you ever see them put cayenne pepper in a boy's 

mouth. 
A. I have seen the boys go in and come out and say they 

had cayenne pepper put in their mouths, and they would go 

and drink water. 
Q. What was that punishment for. 
A. Swearing. 
Q. What was the soap for .. 
A. Talking nasty. 
Q. Was you ever locked up in a cell. 
A. Yes; for five or six hours. 
Q. You never had any pepper given you. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. Do you know the names of any boys that had pepper 

given to them. 
A. Yes ; Pendergrass did. 
Q. Do you know how often. 
A. Once or twice. 



( 384) 

Q. Did you ever see Mr. Owen use a strap on any boy. 
A. I never saw him hit anyone with it. He used to take 

it out and swing it round in the air to <lrive them away from 
the desk. 
By Mr. Gould : 

Q. It has been stated that boys had to drink out of mud 
puddles in the yard. Do yon know anything about that. 

A. There used to be ice in the yard, and sometimes it 
would be so cold that Mr. Owen didn't want to get water, 
and I have seen them put their heel in the ice and make a 

hole and drink. That was at the nine o'clock recess in the 
morning, I think. 

Q. Did you ever have to drink water in that way yourself. 
A. Yes. 
Q. Because you couldn't get water out of the pail. 
A. Yes. 
Q. vr asn't there any water hronght at all. 
A. Sometimes he would bring one pail of water and the 

big boys would drink it up, and there wouldn't be any for the 
others. 
By Mr. Fox: 

Q. v\T ouldn't they allow them but one pail of water. 
A. Yes; some recesses they would get two. 
Q. How often have you been compelled to drink water in 

this way. 
A. Quite often in this way. 
Q. Ever see them drink out of a mud puddle . 
.A. No, sir. 

By Mr. Gould: 
Q. What time of the day was it thnt you have seen them 

drink snow water. 
A. Nine o'clock in the morning. 
Q. Have anything to di-ink between breakfast and nine. 
A. No. 
Q. When the soap was put in your mouth, was it put in by 

Mr. Farrington or Mr. "\\,' entworth. 
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A. By Mr. Farrington's s:rster. 
Q. What was your grade when you were discharged. 
A. First class. 

By Mr. Farrington : 
Q. Are you discharged from the school. 
A. I don't know whether I am or not. I was let out on 

probation. 
Q. Have you been out at the school since you left it. 
A. Yes. 
Q. What did you do when out there. 
A. I looked over the walls and spoke to one of the boys. 
Q. Is it customary for visitors to climb over the walls, or 

come to the office. 
A. I have seen boys climb up on the walls. 
Q. Have you heard the officers send them away. 
A. Yes. 
Q. When Mr. Farrington's sister washed your mouth out, 

had you said something filthy. 
A. No, sir; I don't think it was. 
Q. Some improper speech. 
A. It must have beerr, or she wouldn't have washed my 

mouth out. 
Q. If boys came up on the platform back of Mr. Owen, 

could they take his cane without permission. 
A. I never saw them. I suppose they could get chairs and 

cane, if he didn't see them. 
Q. You say you saw Mr. Owen strike Pendergrass or 

throw him down,-did you think it wa8 an improper thing 
for him to do. 

A. I think it was. 
Q. Did you tell the superintendent of it. 
A. No, sir. 

25 
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Joseph R. Farrington, recalled, testified: 
This boy spent a large portion of the time he was at 

school in the third class, hut finally got into the first class 
and wns allowed by the trustees to go out on a vacation, with 
the direction that as soon as he returned to Portland he 
should report himself to the school, and that I was then 
either to prolong his vacation or keep him in the school as 
seemed best to me. Yesterday, the boy came to the school 
but did not report himself. He climbed up on the outside of 
the walls, which a person is forbidden to do, and of which he 
was fully aware. He was conversing with boys over the 
fence, and it was reported to me by the officer. I went out 
and told him how improper it was and that it was his duty to 
return to the school as soon as he came to Portland. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Was he allowed to go on leave . 
..A. No, sir; simply to visit his mother. 
Q. .A.bout this red pepper and soap . 
..A. I don't think any pepper has been given except what I 

have given myself. The boys got to using profane language, 
and where they were persisting in it I have sometimes taken 
as much cayenne pepper as would make the size of an ordi­
nary pea and put it in their mouth, telling them it was very 
cleansing and purifying, and I wanted them to receive the 
greatest benefit possible from it. It is a punishment that I 
have received myself, and I knew the effect would be very 
salutary. 

Q. Did the boys swallow it. 
A. No ; they generally spit it out. 
Q. Did you ever give them as much as a teaspoon full. 
A. Never; nor a half, nor a quarter. 
Q. Has this means of punishment ever been discussed by 

the trustees. 
A. No, sir. 

Adjourned until November 13th at 3 o'clock. 
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MONDAY, NovEMBER 13th, 1882-3 o'clock P. M. 

Met at the office of Thomas H. Haskell, pursuant to ad­
journment. 

Present-Commissioners Fox, Gould and Haskell. 

Charles B. Merrill, sworn by Mr. Fox, testified : 

By Mr. Fox: 
Q. Were you at the reform school with Gov. Plaisted .. 
A. I was. 
Q. State what you saw there. 

1 A. I went at the request of Governor Plaisted. As we­
went into the dining room he made inquiries of some boys­
standing in the floor, while the others were sitting at the 
table, but what those inquiries were, or the answers, I can't 
say. I did hear him inquire of one boy what he was stand-­
ing there for, and he said for punishment. He then talked 
with other boys, and went round among the tables and talked 
with such boys as were standing in that way. I didn't hear 
all the conversation, and had nothing to do with it. 

Q. Do you know whether any of the boys said that they, 
were deprived of food. 

A. That is what I understood at the time ; that the boys­
said they were there for punishment, and had nothing but 
bread. I was not there officially, and didn't pay so much at-­
tention as the governor did. He seemed to me to be quite 
interested, and examined the boys at some length about it. 

Q. You say that boys were standing up at· that time. 
A. Yes ; a few. I saw boys standing there and looking 

rather demure and uncomfortable, and I supposed they were 
there for some misdemeanor or other, and the governor told' 
me that they told him they were there without their dinner, 
and were often deprived of their dinners for punishment, and 
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had nothing but bread sometimes for two or three meals. I 
didn't question the boys at all. 

Q. Di<l you see any boys in the cells. 
A. No. 

Q. Did you go into the hospital. 
A. I did. 
Q. Did you see the hoy Winn. 
A. I just saw him; I didn't speak to him ; I wPnt in nnd 

it was so very hot that I came out. It was so uncomfortably 
warm that I stepped out. 

Q. How long were you in there. 

A. I stepped right out. The governor might have been 
in there fifteen minutes. Mr. Farrington was in there with 

him and when they came out-he locked the door. 
Q. Did you notice anything particular about the boy. 
A. No. I felt very badly to think that the little fellow, as 

sick as he was, should be locked up there alane and no one in 
the room. We had to unlock the door to get in and he 
locked him in when he came out. 

Q. Did the boy appear to you, in any way, delil'ious. 
A. I didn't notice particularly about that. I made no ex­

amination. The governor went up to him, and 1 think Mr. 
Farrington. I didn't go near the bed. It felt to me so un­
comfortably warm that I stepped out. 

Q. While there did you, yourself, talk with uny of the 
boys. 

A. I talked with little boys, I think, in a small room, 
where they were put in for vnccination. A number had been 

vaccinated and were kept in one of the recitation rooms. 
There was one very small hoy that attracted my attention hy 
his exceedingly small appearance, and I think he was there 
for some petty offence. I asked him what he wns there for, 
and he said '' stealing junk," or something or other of thnt 
kind. 

Q. None of the boys mnde any complaint to you. 
A. No, sir; the governor talked with the boys, but I had 

nothing to do with them. I was only n spectator. I di<ln't 
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consider that I had anything to do or say to them. The gov­
ernor was very much worked up, and when we came out he 
was asked to make some address to them. I said, "Don't 
you think you better say something to the boys." He said, 
"No, I can't: if I should undertake to I should preach rebel­
lion." The appearnnce of the boys in the dining room was 
anything hut creditable to any institution. The boys came 
in, and down went their bats on the floor ,-no place to hang 
them up, but they threw them on the floor behind them, and 
there they remained. 

Q. Do you know anything further that will throw any 
light upon this investigation as to the treatment of these 
boys. 

A. Not the slightest. 

By Mr. Farrington: 
Q. Did I understand you to say that several boys were 

standing up by the tables. 
A. Two or three boys were standing up. The governor 

walked round and talked with several boys. It may be that 
all that he talked with were not standing up. 

Q. Do you know that any boy except the boy leaning 
against the wall, whom he ~poke to when he first went in, 
was standing. 

A. Yes, sir. 
Q. Do you remember meeting me in town a week or two 

after you were out there, near the post office. 
A. I think I met you. I don't remember the time. 
Q. Do you remember what you said to me. 
A. No, sir. 
Q. You say that the room that the vaccinated boys were 

in was a small room. 
A. I didn't mean that. The room was plenty large enough 

for the number that were in there. 
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Thomas F. Donahue, says: 

I stated in my testimony that Col. Merrill didn't go into 
the hospital; I didn't see him there. I went in with Mr. 
Farrington and the governor, and the next time I saw Col. 
Merrill he was in the dormitory. I didn't notice that he 
came into the hospital. Of course, I have no doubt but Col. 
Merrill stepped in there, but he probably stepped out before 
I noticed him. 

Joseph R. Farrington, testified : 

When I went to the school in April, 1880, I found in use 
as a punishment the practice of standing boys in the floor and 
depriving them of food for disorder at the table. I very soon, 
within a few weeks, told the officers to do that only in aggra­
vated cases. In the following September, which was Sep­
tember 1880, I told the officers having charge of the boys 
that they must not deprive boys of food as a punishment, that 
in cases where they had been accustomed to deprive them of 
food they were to give them all the bread they could eat and 
furnish them with water. It was about that time I began the 
so-called class of meditation, which I have explained. It 
was adopted as a punishment instead of depriving the boys of 
food. In May of this year, at the suggestion of Dr. Thomp­
son, of the board of trustees, I entirely did away with the 
practice of standing boys in the floor of the dining room and 
depriving them of any portion of their meals. Early in 1882, 
I began to have boys who were persistent in idleness, pun­
ished by standing them in the class in meditation. I could 
do this because the discipline of the school had improved in 
regard to order at the table, and it was possible for me to 
make a change in the punishment for idleness. 

This punishment of standing them in the cluss of medita­
tion was sufficient for most of the boys who were idle, and 
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cured them of their idleness.. Of com·~" there would be oc­
casionally a relapse, when the application of the treatment 
would restore them to industry. But for some boys I was 
obliged to inflict a severer punishment, that of feruling. I 
found by experience that even feruling would not cure all the 
cases, and so, about two months ago, I began, as the com­
mission already know, to have boys work in the cells who 
had been idle and refused to do work during working hours 
in the shops. They were put in the cells at a quarter of 
eight, and were given a stint they could do in an hour and a 
half. I visited them at half-past nine, and if they wanted a 
half an hour more to finish I gave it to them. Such boys 
are fed precisely as the other boys are, and not kept on 
bread and water. They are kept there at work during these 
two hours in the evening. In case they do not perform the 
stint in that time they remain in the cell until morning, and 
when the other boys pass to the dining room they go with 
them and remain out until night. 

By Mr. Gould : 
Q. Do you mean to say that you never keep a boy in the 

cell working at a stint but one evening at a time. 
A. He is kept there ever_y evening until he accomplishes 

his stint. There was one boy-Galley-who has at two sev­
eral times been put in the cell and stayed there for a number 
of days, until he did a specified amount of work. That was 
for persistent idleness. 

By Mr. Haskell : 
Q. How many days was he there. 
A. If my memory serves me right it was a week. I also 

stated to the commissioners that the punishment book does 
not fairly state the efforts which the superintendent and offi­
cers make to secure obedience. I should, therefore, like to 
put in evidence these blanks. 

[Copies of the blanks will be found on page 394. J 
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By :Mr. Donahue: 
Q. You are quoted as saying that red pepper as a punish­

ment was never discussed by the trustees. 
A. I can't say that it was. 
Q. Don't you remember that some member of the board 

called your attention to the fact that you had administered 
red pepper. 

A. I do not. 
Q. Or soap suds. 
A. No. I think at some time the question has been asked 

bow mnch soap was used. I should say as much as is com­
monly used in washing one's teeth. 

Thomas F. Donnhue, testified: 

It came to my knowledge that red pepper was administered to 
the boys. I heard it from several sources, and that soap 
suds was given. At the next meeting of the board I called 
the attention of the members to it, and said to Dr. Thomp­
son that such was the fact, and, as he was a physician, asked 
him what effects such punishment would have upon the boys. 
I told him he was in a position to correct it. He said, ''Well, 
we will talk it over." Mr. Farrington came into the room 
soon after, and Dr. Thompson asked him if he ever gave red 
pepper to the boys as a punishment. Mr. Farrington said 
he did, on one occasion. Mr. Wentworth was asked by Dr. 
Thompson if he ever gave soap suds to a boy as a punish­
ment, and he said he did once. The rumor was that a spoon­
ful of red pepper was given, but I don't know the fact about 
that. One of the boys told me that Mr. Farrington's method 
was to ferule the boy, and if he failed then to make him cry, 
he administered red pepper freely. 

Q. Who was the boy that told you that. 
A. Patrick Collins; a boy now out on probation. 
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By Mr. Farrington: 

Q. Did Patrick Collins sny it had been done to him. 
A. I don't remember. 
Q. Did he say he knew it of his own knowledge. 

A. I don't remember. Mr. Fnrrington said in reply to 

Dr. Thompson, that that method of punh,hment would be 

discontinued. That was nearly a year ago. I don't know of 

uuy having been given since. 

The foregoing is a full and correct report of all the evi­

dence :ind testimony given before the commissioners appoint­

ed to investigate the treatment of the boys in the Reform 
School. 

REUEL SMALL, 

/Stenographer of said Commission. 
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[COPY OF PUNISHMENT BLANKS.] 

Reform School, July 31st, 1882. 

Name-Hanson, Hilman. 
Offence-Idling in shop and failed to do da.ily stint. 
J. B. Bartlett, officer. 
Punishment by J. R. Farrington. 
Warned 10 blows will he given if stints are not made up 

August 2nd. 
Made up. 

Reform School, July 31st, 1882. 

Name-Auglin, Connors, Douglass, Galley. 
Offence-Idling in shop and failed to do daily stint. 
J. B. Bartlett, officer. 
Punishment suspended by J. R. Farrington. 
Warned 10 blows will be given if stints are not made up 

by August 2nd. 
Douglass, Galley and Connors made up. 

Reform Schoot August 1st, 1882. 

Name-Larrabee, McCue, Wilson, *Lovejoy. 
Offence-Failing to do stint; not making up any on stint 

of July 31st. 
J.B. Bartlett, officer. 
Punishment suspended by J. R. Farrington. 
Admonished and warned of the fearful consequences of 

failure to make up this deficiency August 2nd. 
All hut vVatson made up. 
* Lovejoy excused-sick. 
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Refimn School, August 1st, 1882. 

Name-Anglin, Connor, Cox, Fergurson, Gray. 
Offence-Failed to do stint; idling in shop. 
J. B. Bartlett, officer. 
Punishment suspended by J. R. Farringt0n. 
Admonished and warned of the fenrfnl consequences of 

failure to make up their deficiencies hy Angust 2nd. 
All but Anglin made up. 

Reform School, August 2nd, 1882. 

Name-Auglin, Dyer, Savage, ·watson and Douglass. 
Offence-Idling in shop and failure to do daily stint. 
,J. B. Bartlett, officer. 
Punishment hy J. R. Farrington. 
Anglin, 10 blows on the posterior; Watson, on plea of 

sickness, allowed another day; Dyer, Douglass and Savage, 
admonished, meditate until made up . 

• 
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